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FOREWORD TO VOLUME THREE

I N the third volume of his travels Ibn Battuta visits the 
two large sectors of Islamic Society in the Central Asian 
and Indian zones. From Sarai which he visited at the end 

of volume II, he journeyed through the desert to Khwarizm 
and thence to Bukhara. Thereafter he moved southwards to 
the camp of the Sultan Tarmashlrin at which he stayed for 
fifty-four days. There is very little in the fourteenth century 
chronicles which relates to Tarmashirin or to the events of his 
reign. The chroniclers put his reign at 1326-1334 with some 
uncertainty about the second date. He was the first sultan of 
his dynasty in Transoxiana to adopt the religion of Islam, 
but there seems to be some evidence that he was hostile to 
the rule of the Sultan of India.

Ibn Battuta then crossed the Oxus to Balkh in the terri­ 
tories of the Amir of Herat and from there journeyed 
through the cities of Khurasan. It seems to be impossible that 
this journey could have been carried out in the time available. 
From Balkh he proceeded to Qundus for about forty days. 
Thereupon he crossed the Hindu Kush to the city of Ghazna. 
It is from this point that the crossing to the Indus valley is 
open to doubt. According to Ibn Battuta's statement he 
returned to Kabul and then crossed the mountains to the 
Indian side at Shashnagar and thence journeyed for fifteen 
days through the desert reaching the Indus at Janani.

Jana.nl is no longer extant but is in the district of Sehwan. 
After some further excursions he moved up to Multan which 
was the capital of Sind.

He awaited there the Sultan's order to move to Delhi and 
incidentally takes the occasion to describe some of the trees 
and fruits of India. He left there for Delhi where he arrived 
on the I3th of Rajab 734, equal to 2Oth March 1334.

He first describes the city of Delhi and gives an account of 
the rulers of the capital and then describes Sultan Muhammad 
ibn Tughluq.
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FOREWORD TO VOLUME THREE

It was probably a fortunate event that the seven years 
spent under the control of Muhammad ibn Tughluq was the 
period when the Sultanate of Delhi was at its height and the 
vigour and endurance of the Sultan was at its peak. Under 
his rule the treasures of India were distributed to persons 
from all the old territories of Islam and Ibn Battuta takes 
full advantage of them.

The Sultan's personality has been debated by Indian 
writers of the period and most of the cruelties inflicted by 
him on both secular and religious individuals were carried 
out without mercy. Ibn Battuta himself came under the 
Sultan's displeasure and very nearly succumbed to his 
punishment. However, after a period when he resigned all his 
possessions he suddenly received a notice to attend the 
Sultan's court and was given the office of conducting an 
embassy to China.

My warm thanks are due to Professor Charles Beckingham 
for his kindness in assisting me to edit this volume, and in 
reading the proofs, to Mr John Burton-Page for the photo­ 
graphs of Delhi, and to my wife, to whose kindly encourage­ 
ment this volume is indebted.
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CHAPTER IX

Turkestan and Khurasan

ATER ten days' journey from al-Sara we reached the 
city of Sarachuq (chuq means 'little', so that it is as if 
they said 'little Sara'), which lies on the bank of a 

great and swollen river called Ulusii, meaning 'the great 
stream'. 1 Over it is a bridge of boats, like the bridge of 
Baghdad. 2 At this city we reached the limit of the journey 
with the horses that draw the waggons. We sold them at the 
rate of four silver dinars per head, and even less, on account 
of their exhaustion and the cheapness of horses in this town, 
and hired camels to draw the waggons. In this city there is a 
hospice | belonging to a pious Turk of great age, who is called 
Ata, which means 'father'. He received us hospitably in it and 
called down a blessing on us. We were hospitably enter­ 
tained also by the qadi of the town, but I do not know his 
name.

From this place we went on for thirty days by forced 
marches, halting only for two hours each day, one in the 
forenoon and the other at sunset. The length of the halt was 
just as long as the time needed to cook and sup duqt, 3 and 
this is cooked with a single boiling. They would have with 
them [pieces of] dried meat, 4 which they put on top of this 
and they pour sour milk over the whole. Everybody eats and 
sleeps in his waggon while it is actually on the move, and I 
had in my waggon three slavegirls. It is the custom of travel­ 
lers in this wilderness to use the utmost speed, because of the 
scarcity of herbage. Of the camels that cross it the majority

1 Saraichiq, about 40 miles from the mouth of the Ural river, called in 
Turkish ulu-su, 'Great River' and by the Arab geographers Yayik.

2 See vol. II, p. 329.
3 See vol. II, p. 474.
* Arabic al-khall', apparently a Maghribine term, described by Dozy as 

salted or marinated beef or mutton, soaked in oil and then sun-dried.
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KHWARIZM

perish and the remainder are of no use except a year later, 
after they are fattened up. | The water in this desert is at 
certain known waterpoints, separated by two or three days' 
march, and is rainwater [in surface pools] and shallow wells 
under the sand.

After journeying through this desert and traversing it as 
we have described we arrived at Khwarizm, 5 which is the 
largest, greatest, most beautiful and most important city of 
the Turks. It has fine bazaars and broad streets, a great 
number of buildings and abundance of commodities; it shakes 
under the weight of its population, by reason of their multi­ 
tude, and is agitated by them [in a manner resembling] the 
waves of the sea. I rode out one day on horseback and went 
into the bazaar, but when I got halfway through it and 
reached the densest pressure of the crowd at a point called 
al-Shawr, 8 I could not advance any further because of the 
multitude of the press, and when I tried to go back I was 
unable to do that either, because of the crowd of people. So I 
remained as I was, in perplexity, and only with great exer­ 
tions did I manage to return. Some person told me j that that 
bazaar is much less crowded on Fridays, because [on that 
day] they close the Qaisariya7 and other bazaars, so I rode 
[again] on the Friday and went to the cathedral mosque and 
the college.

This city is in the dominions of the sultan Czbak, who is 
represented in it by a great amir called Qutludumur. 8 It was 
he who built this college and the dependencies annexed to it. 
As for the mosque, it was built by his wife, the pious khatun 
Turabak. 9 There is at Khwarizm a hospital, which has a

6 I.B. does not indicate his pronunciation of this name. The traditional 
Arabic spelling (adopted here) aims at representing a native pronunciation 
somewhat like Khorezm (see YaLqut's Geog. Diet., s.v.), but by Arabic 
speakers was commonly read Khuwarizm or Khuwarazm. This was properly 
the name of the region (Khore^mia), but often applied to its chief city, at this 
time (Kunya) Urgench, in the delta of the Amu Darya.

6 Apparently a Khwarizmian name.
7 See vol. I, p. 97, n. 115.
8 Qutlugh-tomiir (see n. 23 below) had taken the lead in securing the 

succession of Ozbeg Khan to the throne in 1313, and was for a time the 
administrator of his empire, but was transferred in 1321 to the governorship 
of Khwarizm.

• Turabak is buried in the mausoleum at Urgench (see Athdr al-Isldm 
al-ta' rlkhlyafi 'l-Ittihdd al-Suftylti, p. 27 and plate 18, undated).
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TURKESTAN AND KHURASAN

Syrian doctor called al-Sahyunl, after the town of Sahyun in 
Syria. 10

Never have I seen in all the lands of the world men more 
excellent in conduct than the Khwarizmians, more generous 
in soul, or more friendly to strangers. They have a praise­ 
worthy custom in regard to [the observance of] prayer- 
services which I have not seen elsewhere, namely that each 
of the muezzins in their mosques goes round | the houses of 
those persons neighbouring his mosque, giving them notice 
of the approaching hour of prayer. 11 Any person who absents 
himself from the communal prayers is beaten by the imam 
[who leads the prayers] in the presence of the congregation, 
and in every mosque there is a whip hung up for this purpose. 
He is also fined five dinars, which go towards the expenses of 
upkeep of the mosque, or of supplying food to the poor and 
the destitute. They say that this custom has been an un­ 
interrupted tradition amongst them from ancient times.

Outside Khwarizm is the river Jaihun, one of the four 
rivers which [flow] from Paradise. 12 It freezes over in the cold 
season in the same way as the river Itil freezes over,13 and 
people walk upon it. It remains frozen for the space of five 
months, 14 and often they walk over it when it is beginning to 
melt and perish in consequence. It is navigable for ships in 
summer time as far as Tirmidh, 15 from which they import 
wheat and barley, the journey downstream taking ten 
days.

Outside | Khwarizm is a hospice built over the tomb of the 
shaikh Najm al-Din al-Kubra, who was one of the great 
saints. 16 Food is supplied in it to all wayfarers, and its shaikh 
is the teacher at the college, Saif al-Din ibn ' Asaba, one of the 
principal citizens of Khwarizm. In the town also there is a

10 See vol. I, p. 105.
11 The other interpretation, 'warning them to attend the service', is 

grammatically possible, but mu'lim does not ordinarily convey this meaning.
12 See vol. I, p. 49 and n. 152.
13 See vol. II, p. 497.
14 According to the geographer Yaqut, it remained frozen over for two 

months.
16 See p. 570 below.
16 One of the major saints of the Suhrawardi order, killed in the Mongol 

capture of Gurganj in 1221; see his biography in Fawa'ili al-Jamal, ed. 
F. Meier (Wiesbaden, 1957).
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KHWARIZM

hospice, whose shaikh is the pious 'sojourner'17 Jalal ad-Din 
al-Samarqandi, one of the most saintly of men. He received 
us hospitably in it. Outside the city again is the tomb of the 
most learned imam Abu'l-Qasim Mahmud ibn 'Omar al- 
Zamakhshari,18 with a cupola over it. Zamakhshar is a 
village four miles distant from Khwarizm.

When I reached this city I encamped in its outskirts, and 
one of my companions went to visit the qadi, the sadr19 Abu 
Hafs 'Omar al-Bakri, whereupon he sent his substitute Nur 
al-Islam to me. This man saluted me and then returned to 
him, and thereafter the qadi himself came with a group of his 
associates and greeted me. He was a man young in years but 
mature in welldoing. He has | two substitutes, one of them 
Nur al-Islam, already mentioned, and the other Nur al-Dm 
al-Kirmani, who is a great jurist, severe in his decisions and 
vigorous in [defence of] all that pertains to God Most 
High.

When my meeting with the qadi took place he said to me, 
'This city is overcrowded, and you will have difficulty in 
entering it in the daytime. Nur al-Islam will come to you to 
conduct you in towards the end of the night.' So we did as he 
suggested, and lodged in a newly-built college in which no 
one was living [as yet]. After the dawn prayer, the qadi 
above-mentioned visited us, and together with him a number 
of the principal men of the city, among them Mawlana 
Humam al-Din, Mawlana Zain al-Din al-Maqdisi, Mawlana 
Radiy al-Din Yahya, Mawlana Fadl Allah al-Ridawi, 
Mawlana Jalal al-Din al-'Imadi, and Mawlana Shams al-Din 
al-Sinjari, the imam of the governor. They are men | of 
generous nature and virtuous character, and the prevailing 
school of doctrine among them is the Mu'tazilite, 20 but they 
do not make open profession of it because Sultan Ozbak and

17 A 'sojourner' is a scholar or devotee who has spent one or more years at 
Mecca or al-Madina; see vol. I, pp. 176, 221.

18 Author of a celebrated grammatical commentary on the Qur'an and 
other philological works, d. 1143.

19 I.B. rarely, if ever, uses the current Egyptian form of abbreviation in 
which al-Sadr stands for Sadr al-Din. In Eastern Persia and Transoxiana it 
seems that the term sadr was regularly applied to the chief qadi; see 
Barthold, Turkestan, 353-5. and P- 549 below.

20 The rationalizing school of Sunni theologians; see vol. II, p. 416, n. 18.
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TURKESTAN AND KHURASAN

Qutludumur, who is his governor over this city, are adherents 
of the [orthodox] Sunna.

During my stay there I used to attend the Friday prayers 
in company with the above-mentioned qadi Abu Hafs 'Omar 
in his own mosque, and on the conclusion of the service I 
went with him to his house, which is close to the mosque. I 
would then go with him into his reception hall, a most 
magnificent chamber, furnished with rich carpets, its walls 
hung with cloth, and a large number of arcaded niches in it, 
with vessels of silver-gilt and 'Iraqi glass in every niche. Such 
is the custom followed by the people of this country in [the 
adornment of] their houses. He would then produce a copious 
meal, being a man amply endowed with great wealth and 
landed property, and related by marriage to the amir 
Qutludumur, the husband of the sister of his wife, | whose name 
is Jija Agha. 21

In this city there are a number of admonitory preachers 
and revivalists, 22 the chief of whom is Mawlana Zain al-Dm 
al-Maqdisi. The khatib at the Friday services is Mawlana 
Husam al-Din al-Mishati, the eloquent orator, one of the four 
khatibs whom I have never heard surpassed in the whole 
world.

The Amir of Khwarizm. He is the great amir Qutludumur, 
and the meaning of his name is 'Blessed Iron', because Qutlii 
is [in Turkish] 'blessed' and dumur is 'iron'. 23 This amir is the 
son of the maternal aunt of the exalted sultan Muhammad 
Uzbak and the greatest of his amirs. He is the sultan's 
governor over Khurasan, and his son Harun Bak is married 
to the daughter of this sultan; her mother is the queen 
TaitughlT, who was mentioned earlier. His wife is the khatun 
Turabak, whose name is associated with famous benefactions.

When the qadi came to greet me, as I have related, he said
> to me, 'The amir | has learned of your arrival, but is still

suffering from the effects of an illness, which prevent him

21 For the title of aghd see vol. II, p. 434, n. 80.
28 Mudhakkirln, literally 'preachers who call men to remembrance', i.e. of 

the promises of reward and punishment in the Qur'an.
28 Qutlugh=' fortunate' (Radloff, Worterbuch, II, 996); tomiir is a dialect 

form of the normal Turkish tamur = 'iron' (P. Pelliot, Notes sur ... /a Horde 
d'Or (Paris 1950), p. 61). Qutlugh is commonly rendered by Qutlu or Qujluq in 
Arabic transcriptions of Turkish names.
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THE AMIR QUTLUDUMUR

from coming to visit you/ so I rode with the qa/Ji to visit him. 
On reaching his residence we entered a large audience-hall, 
most of the partitions24 of which were of wood, and went into 
a small hall; this had a wooden cupola with ornamental 
embellishments, its walls hung with coloured woollen cloths 
and its ceiling with gold-embroidered silk. The amir was 
[sitting] on a silk [carpet] spread for him, and had a cover 
over his legs on account of the gout with which they were 
affected, this being a malady very common among the Turks. 
I saluted him and he bade me sit beside him. The qadi and 
doctors of the law sat down [likewise]. He questioned me 
about his sultan, the king Muhammad Czbak, and about the 
khatun Bayalun, and her father and the city of Constan­ 
tinople. After I had replied to him on all these subjects, tables 
were brought in with food [of different kinds], roasted fowls, 
cranes, young pigeons, bread baked with butter, | which they 
call kuKjd,25 biscuits and sweetmeats. After these were 
brought other tables with fruit, seeded pomegranates in gold 
and silver vessels with gold spoons, and some in vessels of 
'Iraqi glass with wooden spoons,86 grapes and wonderful 
melons.

It is one of the regular practices of this amir that the qadi 
comes daily to his audience-hall and sits in a place assigned 
to him, accompanied by the jurists and his clerks. Opposite 
him sits one of the great amirs, accompanied by eight of the 
great amirs and shaikhs of the Turks, who are called ar- 
ghujis™ The people bring their disputes to them for decision; 
those that come within the jurisdiction of the religious law28 
are decided by the qadi, and all others are decided by those 
amirs. Their decisions are well-regulated and just, for they 
are free from suspicion of partiality and do not accept | bribes.

When we returned to the college after our session with the 
governor, he sent us rice, flour, sheep, butter, spices, and 
loads of firewood. In all of these countries [the use of] char­ 
coal is unknown, and likewise in India, Khurasan and Persia.

24 Literally 'compartments'. 8S A Persian term.
2« See vol. II, p. 442, n. 109.
" Arghujl is for yarghuji, the Eastern Turkish word for a person who 

decides such a lawsuit, fromyarju, 'a lawsuit', in the language of Khwarizm.
28 Generally those relating to marriage, inheritance and other matters of 

personal status.
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As for China, there they kindle stones in which the fire blazes 
up as it does in charcoal; then when they turn to ash, the 
Chinese knead it with water, dry it in the sun, and it serves 
them as fuel for cooking again until it is entirely used 
up. 29

Anecdote. A generous act of this qadi and of the governor. 
One Friday, after I had attended the service of prayers, 
according to my custom, in the mosque of the qadi Abu Hafs, 
he said to me, 'The amir commanded that you be given five 
hundred dirhams, and ordered also that a banquet should be 
prepared in your honour at a cost of another five hundred 
dirhams, to be attended by the shaikhs, doctors of the law,

13 and principal citizens. When | he gave this order I said to 
him "O amir, you are preparing a banquet at which those 
present will eat only a mouthful or two; if you were to give 
him all of the money it would be more useful30 to him". He 
said "I shall do so", and has commanded that you should be 
given the entire thousand.' A little later the amir sent this 
sum, accompanied by this imam Shams al-Din al-Sinjari, in 
a purse borne by his page. Its value in Moroccan gold was 
three hundred dinars. 31 1 had bought on the same day a black 
horse for thirty-five silver dinars and had ridden it on going 
to the mosque, and it was from that thousand and no other 
that I paid its price. Thereafter I became possessed of so 
many horses that they reached a number which I dare not 
mention lest some sceptic accuse me of lying, and my fortunes 
never ceased to expand up to the time when I entered the 
land of India. I had many horses, but I used to prefer this 
horse, give it special attention, and picket it in front of the

1 4 others. It remained with me up to the end | of three years, 
and when it died my affairs took a turn for the worse.

The khatun Jija Agha, the wife of the qadi, sent me a 
hundred silver dinars, and her sister Turabak, the governor's 
wife, gave a banquet in my honour, for which she assembled 
the doctors of the law and the principal citizens. This was 
held in the hospice built by her, where food is supplied to all

29 See Yule's Marco Polo, I, 442—3.
30 The variant reading noted in the edition does not change the sense. 
81 A Moroccan dinar weighed 4-722 grammes (as against the standard 

weight of 4-233 grammes in the East).
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wayfarers [from her benefaction]. She sent a furred robe of 
sable and an excellent horse. She is one of the most virtuous, 
pious, and generous of women—God reward her with good.

Anecdote. When I left the banquet which this khatun had 
given for me, and went out of the hospice, I found myself face 
to face with a woman in the gateway. She was wearing soiled 
garments, had a veil over her head, and was accompanied by 
several women—I do not know how many. She gave me the 
word of salutation, and I returned it, but did not stop with 
her nor give her any attention. Then when | I had gone out, 15 
a certain person overtook me and said to me, 'The woman 
that saluted you is the khatun.' I was covered with confusion 
on hearing this, and tried to go back to her, but I found that 
she had departed. So I sent my salutations to her through 
one of her attendants, together with my apologies for my 
action, the result of my having no acquaintance with her.

Account of the melons ofKhwdrizm. The melons of Khwarizm 
have no equal in any country of the world, East or West, 
except it may be the melons of Bukhara, and next to them 
are the melons of Isfahan. Their rind is green, and the flesh is 
red, of extreme sweetness and firm texture. A remarkable 
thing is that they are cut into strips, dried in the sun, and 
packed in reed baskets, as is done in our country with dried 
figs and Malaga figs. They are exported from Khwarizm to 
the remotest parts of India and China, and of all the dried 
fruits there are none which excel them in sweetness. | During 16 
my stay at Dihli in India, whenever a party of travellers 
arrived, I used to send someone to buy sliced melon for me 
from them. The king of India, too, when any of it was 
brought to him, used to send it to me, knowing as he did my 
fondness for it. It was his way to give pleasure to the for­ 
eigners by sending to them the fruit of their own countries, 
and he used to give special attention to learning their desires 
and supplying them accordingly.

Anecdote. On my journey from the city of al-Sara to 
Khwarizm I had been accompanied by a sharif, an inhabitant 
of Karbala named 'AH ibn Mansur, who was [by profession] 
a merchant. I used to commission him to buy robes and other 
things for me, and he would buy a robe for me for ten dinars, 
but say 'I bought it for eight', and so charge me with only
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eight dinars and pay the other two dinars with his own 
money. I was in total ignorance of what he was doing until I 
learned of it from remarks made by other persons. Not only 
that, but he had also lent me a sum of dinars, and when I

17 received | the benefaction from the governor of Khwarizm, I 
repaid him what he had lent me and wished to make a gift 
to him over and above that in return for his good services, but 
he refused to accept it and swore that he would never do so. I 
proposed to make a gift to a slave-boy whom he had, called 
Kafur, but he adjured me not to do so. He was the most 
generous-hearted of all the 'Iraqis whom I have met. He 
made up his mind to travel with me to India, but afterwards 
a company [of merchants] from his native town arrived at 
Khwarizm with the intention of proceeding to China, and he 
took the road with them. I remonstrated with him about this, 
but he replied 'These men, fellow-citizens of mine, will go back 
to my family and my kinsmen and will spread the story that 
I travelled to India to gain a livelihood by begging. This 
would be a disgrace for me. I shall not do it.' So he set out 
with them for China. I heard later on during my stay in 
India, that when he reached the city of Almaliq32 which is

is the last of the towns | in the province of Transoxiana and the 
first town in China, he stopped there and sent on a slave-boy 
of his with what he had of merchandise. The slave-boy was a 
long time in returning and in the meantime a certain merchant 
from his native town arrived and put up with him in the same 
caravanseray. The sharif asked him to lend him some money 
until such time as his slave-boy should arrive. Not only did 
he refuse to do so but, not content with the vileness of his 
conduct in failing to succour the sharif, he tried to bid against 
him for the lodging that he had in the caravanseray. When 
the sharif heard of this he was so upset by it that he went 
into his room and cut his throat. He was found with a spark 
of life still in him, but he said to them 'Do not wrong him, it 
was I who did this by myself,' and expired the same day— 
God forgive him. 33

The sharif had in fact told me [a similar story] about

32 Properly Almaligh, a town in the Hi valley, north-west of modern 
Kulja.

38 Suicide is regarded as a sin, and is very rare in Islam.

548



AL-KAT

himself. He had once received six thousand dirhams on loan 
from one of the merchants of Damascus. | This merchant met i9 
him [one day] in the town of Hamah, in Syria, and asked him 
for the money. He had sold on credit the merchandise that he 
bought with it, and was so ashamed at [his inability to repay] 
his creditor that he went into his room, tied his turban to the 
ceiling of the room, and intended to hang himself. But the 
appointed hour of his death was not yet come. He remembered 
a friend of his, a money-broker, went to him and told him his 
circumstances, and this man lent him some money which he 
paid to the merchant.

When I prepared to leave Khwarizm I hired camels and 
bought a double litter, the second side of which was occupied 
by 'Afif al-Din al-Tuzari. The servants rode some of the 
horses and we put horse-cloths on the rest because of the 
cold. [In this wise] we began our journey through the wilder­ 
ness which lies between Khwarizm and Bukhara, eighteen 
days' march in sands with no permanent settlement in them 
save one small township. I took leave of the amir Qutludumur, 
and he presented me with a robe of honour; the qaxjii too 
gave | me another, and came out with the doctors of the law 20 
to bid me farewell.

After travelling for four days we came to the city of al- 
Kat,34 the only settled place on this road, small and pretty. 
We encamped outside it, by a lake which was frozen over 
because of the cold, and the boys were playing on it and 
sliding over it. The qadi of al-Kat heard of our arrival (he is 
called Sadr al-Sharf a, 35 and I had already met him at the 
house of the qadi of Khwarizm), and came to greet me, 
together with the students of religion and the shaikh of the 
town, the pious and devout Mahmud al-Khiwaqi. 36 The qadi 
suggested that I should go to visit the governor of the town, 
but the shaikh Mahmud said to me 'It is the one that comes

34 Kath, the ancient capital of Khorezmia, on the right bank of the Amu 
Darya, about 35 miles N.E. of Khiva. The old town was undermined by the 
river, and the new city described by I.B. was built on a canal some miles to 
the south-west of the present town.

35 For the title of sadr see p. 543, n. 19 above.
88 I.e. of Khiva, on the left bank of the Amu Darya and situated on a canal 

deriving from the river. The exact function of the 'shaikh' of the town is not 
clear.
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who should be visited, and if this is a matter of concern to us 
let us go to the governor of the town and bring him.' They 
did so, and the amir came after a while, accompanied by his 
officers and servants, and we saluted him. Our intention was

21 to press on with | our journey, but he begged us to stay and 
gave a banquet for which he assembled the jurists, the chief 
officers of the troops, and others, [and in the course of which] 
the poets stood up to declaim his praises.

We continued our journey on the road known as Sibaya. 37 
Through that desert [it is] a journey of six nights without 
water, at the end of which we reached the town of Wabkana, 
one day's journey from Bukhara. 38 It is a pretty town, with 
streams and fruit gardens. Its inhabitants preserve grapes 
from year to year, and they have there a fruit which they call 
'allii. 39 They dry it, and people carry the dried fruit to India 
and China. One steeps it in water and drinks the liquid. In its 
green state the fruit is sweet, but when dried it acquires a 
slight acidity, and it has a great deal of pulp. I have never

22 seen the like of it in al-Andalus, nor in the Maghrib | nor in 
Syria.

Thereafter we travelled for a whole day through con­ 
tiguous orchards, with streams, trees and habitations, and 
arrived at the city of Bukhara, from which is derived the 
name of the Imam of the Scholars in Tradition, Abu 'Abdallah 
Muhammad ibn Isma/il al-Bukhari. 40 This city was formerly 
the capital of the lands beyond the river Jaihun, 41 but was 
laid in ruins by the accursed Tanklz, the Tatar, the ancestor 
of the kings of al-'Iraq. So at the present time its mosques, 
colleges and bazaars are in ruins, all but a few, and its in-

87 The term Sibaya does not seem to be found elsewhere. Yaqut (s.v. 
Sabira) mentions a village Sibara in the vicinity of Bukhara. The variant 
reading Siyasa is even more unhelpful.

88 Wabkana or Wafkand, a suburb of Bukhara three farsakhs north-west 
of the main city.

39 Persian dlu, "plum'. The yellow plums of Bukhara were especially 
celebrated.

40 See vol. I, p. 154, n. 319, and p. 554, n. 57 below.
41 I.e. the Oxus (Amu Darya). 'Transoxiana' reproduces the Arabic name 

of this province, 'What lies beyond the River.' Bukhara was the capital of 
the flourishing Samanid kingdom (900-999). Although sacked by Chingiz 
Khan in 1220, it soon recovered, and its ruinous condition at this time was 
due to its later destruction by the Mongol Il-khans of Persia in 1273 and 
1316.
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habitants are looked down upon and their evidence [in legal 
cases] is not accepted in Khwarizm or elsewhere, because of 
their reputation for factionalism, and making false claims, 
and denial of the truth. There is not one person in it today 
who possesses any religious learning or who shows any 
concern for acquiring it.

Narrative of the Origin of the Tatars and of their devastation 
of Bukhara and other cities. Tankiz Khan42 1 was a blacksmith 
in the land of al-Khata, and he was a man of generous soul, 
and strength, and well-developed body. He used to assemble 
the people and supply them with food. 43 After a while a 
company [of warriors] gathered around him and appointed 
him as their commander. He gained the mastery in his own 
country, grew in strength and power of attack and became a 
formidable figure. He subdued the king of al-Khata and then 
the king of China, his armies became immense in size, and he 
conquered the lands of al-Khutan, Kashkhar, and Almaliq. 44 
Jalal al-DIn Sanjar, son of Khwarizm Shah, 45 the king of 
Khwarizm, Khurasan, and Transoxiana, [however], pos­ 
sessed great power and military strength, so Tankiz stood in 
awe of him, kept out of his [territories], and avoided any 
conflict with him.

42 Tankiz is an Arabic transcription of Old Turkish tarjiz, 'ocean' (Radloff, 
Worterbuch, col. Ill, 1045), of which Chingiz (chirjgiz) is probably a Mongol 
dialect form. Tankiz (probably pronounced teygiz) frequently appears as the 
name of Turkish mamluk amirs; cf. vol. I, p. 78.

43 One MS. reads 'and stir up their ambitions'. A somewhat similar 
account of Chingiz Khan's origins is given by William of Rubruck (see 
M. Komroff, Contemporaries of Marco Polo, p. 94), and apparently reflects a 
popular story based on his original personal name of Temiijin (Turkish for 
'blacksmith').

44 Khata or Khitay ('Cathay') was the name given to the northern and north­ 
western provinces of China, which constituted a separate kingdom under the 
Khitan or Liao dynasty (see E. Bretschneider, Mediaeval Researches from 
Eastern Asiatic Sources, London, 1910, I, 208-9). Pekin, the capital of the 
Chin dynasty in China proper, was captured in 1215. Kashghar and Khotan 
(both in Sinkiang) and Almaligh (in Semiryechye; see n. 32 above) were 
occupied in 1218.

46 This again reflects popular legend, in which Jalal al-DIn, the son of 
Muhammad Khwarizm-Shah, has eclipsed the figure of his father, owing to 
his exploits against the Mongol invaders and later adventurous career in 
Persia and Azerbaijan; see Histoire du Sultan Djeldl ed-Dln of al-Nasawi, 
tr. O. Houdas, Paris, 1895. The episode of Utrar (on the Jaxartes or Sir 
Darya, 100 miles north of Tashkent), however, is historical; see Barthold, 
Turkestan, 396-9.
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It happened that Tankiz sent a party of merchants with 
the wares of China and al-Khata, such as silk fabrics etc., to 
the town of Utrar, which was the last place in the government 
of Jalal al-Dm. His governor in the town sent a message to

24 him, informing him of this event, | and enquiring of him what 
action he should take in regard to them. Jalal al-Din wrote to 
him, commanding him to seize their goods, mutilate them, 
cut off their limbs and send them back to their country— 
[displaying thereby], because of what God Most High willed 
to inflict of distress and suffering for their faith upon the 
peoples of the Eastern lands, weak judgement and a bad and 
ill-omened management of affairs. So, when he carried out 
this action, Tankiz made ready to set out in person with an 
army of uncountable numbers to invade the lands of Islam. 
When the governor of Utrar heard of his advance he sent 
spies to bring back a report about him, and the story goes 
that one of them went into the mahalla of one of the amirs of 
Tankiz, disguised as a beggar. He found nobody to give him 
food, and took up a position beside one of their men, but he 
neither saw any provisions with him nor did the man give 
him anything to eat. In the evening the man brought out 
some dry intestines that he had with him, moistened them 
with water, opened a vein of his horse, filled the intestines 
with its blood, tied them up and cooked them on a fire; this

25 was his food. So the spy returned to Utrar, j reported on them 
to the governor, and told him that no one had the power to 
fight against them. The governor then asked his king, Jalal 
al-Din, for reinforcements, and the latter sent him a force of 
sixty thousand men, over and above the troops who were 
already with him. When the battle was joined, Tankiz de­ 
feated them, forced his way into the city of Utrar by the 
sword, killed the men, and enslaved the children. Jalal al-Dm 
[then] came out in person to engage him, and there took 
place between them battles such as were never known in the 
history of Islam. 46

The final result of the matter was that Tankiz gained

*• Jalal al-Din defeated the Mongol army at Parwan (see p. 589, n. 199 
below), but was pursued by Chingiz Khan, hemmed in against the Indus 
river, and escaped with his life only by swimming across it into Sind: see 
Barthold, Turkestan, 445-6.
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possession of Transoxiana, laid waste Bukhara, Samarqand 
and Tirmidh, crossed the River [i.e. the river of Jaihun] to 
the city of Balkh and captured it, then [advanced] to al- 
Bamiyan,47 conquered it, and penetrated far into the lands 
of Khurasan and 'Iraq al-'Ajam. 48 The Muslims in Balkh and 
Transoxiana then revolted against him, so he turned back to 
deal with them, entered Balkh by the sword and left it 'fallen 
down upon its roofs'. 49 He went on to do | the same at 26 
Tirmidh; it was laid waste and never afterwards repopulated, 
but a [new] city was built two miles distant from it, which is 
nowadays called Tirmidh. He slew the population of al- 
Bamiyan 50 and destroyed it completely, except for the 
minaret of its mosque. He pardoned the inhabitants of 
Bukhara and Samarqand, and returned thereafter to al- 
'Iraq. The advance of the Tatars continued to the point that 
finally they entered Baghdad, the capital of Islam and seat 
of the Caliphate, by the sword and slaughtered the Caliph 
al-Musta'sim billah, the 'Abbasid (God's mercy on him). 51

Ibn Juzayy remarks: Our Shaikh, the Grand Qaqli Abu'l- 
Barakat ibn al-Hajj 52 (God exalt him), related to us that he 
had heard the khatib Abu 'Abdallah ibn Rashid say: 'I met in 
Mecca Nur al-Dln b. al-Zajjaj, one of the scholars of al-'Iraq, 
who had with him a son of a brother of his. We engaged in 
conversation, and he said to me, "There perished in the 
Tatar massacre in al-'Iraq | twenty-four thousand men of the *?

47 Transoxiana and Khwarizm were conquered in 1220, Balkh and 
Bamiyan (at that time the capital of northern Afghanistan) in 1221.

48 The expedition into Khurasan in 1221 was commanded by Tuluy, the 
youngest son of Chingiz Khan, and the cities of Merv and Nishapur were 
totally destroyed; see Barthold, Turkestan, 447-9. An expeditionary force 
under Mongol generals marched in 1220 through Azerbaijan and Trans­ 
caucasia into southern Russia.

4» A revolt of the Muslim refugees at Merv and consequent destruction of 
the cities of eastern Khurasan is related by Ibnal-AthIr (Kdmil, XII, 255-6). 
Juvaini (I, 130-1), although he places the destruction of Balkh on its first 
capture, also speaks of a second devastation of the city. The quotation is 
from Qur'an, ii, 261.

80 The destruction of Bamiyan was in revenge for the death of one of his 
grandsons in the siege of the city: Barthold, Turkestan, 443.

41 1.B. here combines two separate campaigns. Chingiz Khan did not 
'return to al-'Iraq', but to Mongolia; the capture of Baghdad was the cul­ 
mination of an expedition under his grandson Hulagu in 1256-8; see vol. II,
P- 334-

88 Not mentioned elsewhere.
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class of scholars, and not one of them is left except me and 
that one", pointing to his brother's son.'

(To return.) We lodged in Bukhara in its suburb called 
Fath Abad, 53 where there is the tomb of the learned shaikh 
and pious ascetic Saif al-Din al-Bakharzi. 54 He was one of the 
great saints. This hospice where we lodged, to which the name 
of this shaikh has been given, is a large institution with vast 
endowments from which food is supplied to all comers, and 
its superior is a descendant of the shaikh's, namely the much- 
travelled pilgrim Yahyaal-Bakharzi. 55 This shaikh hospitably 
entertained me in his residence, and invited all the leading 
men of the city. The Qur'an-readers recited with beautiful 
modulations, the homiletic preacher delivered an address, 
they then sang melodiously in Turkish and Persian, and 
[altogether] we passed there an exquisite and most delightful 
night. 11 met on this occasion the learned and virtuous jurist 
Sadr al-Sharl'a; he had come from Harat, and is a pious and 
excellent man. 56 I visited at Bukhara also the tomb of the 
learned Imam Abu 'Abdallah al-Bukhari, compiler of al-Jdmi' 
al-Sahih, the Shaikh of the Muslims (God be pleased with 
him), and over it is inscribed: 'This is the grave of Muhammad 
b. Isma'il al-Bukhari, who composed such-and-such books.' 67 
In the same manner, the tombs of the learned men of 
Bukhara are inscribed with their names and the titles of their 
writings. I had copied a great many of these, but they were 
lost along with all that I lost when the Indian infidels robbed 
me at sea. 58

63 The suburb beyond the Eastern (Qarshi) gate of Bukhara, still called by 
the same name.

64 Abu'1 Ma'ali Sa'id b. al-Mutahhar, d. 1261, one of the principal 
disciples of Najm al-Dln Kubra (see p. 542, n. 16 above); see E.I. s.v. Saif 
al-Din Bakharzi. The hospice or madrasa by his tomb was founded by the 
mother of the Great Khans Mongke and Qubilai, although she herself was a 
Christian (Juvaim, tr. J. A. Boyle, II, 552). The tomb is still in existence; 
see G. A. Pugachenkova & L. E. Rempel, Vydayushchiyesya Pamyatniki 
Arkhitektury Uzbekistana, Tashkent, 1958, pp. 72-3 and plates n, 12.

55 One manuscript repeats here, 'He was one of the great saints.'
66 Presumably Fakhr al-Dln Khisar (or Khltar), entitled Sadr al-Dln, 

whose appointment and diploma as qadi of Herat in 1314/15 is cited at length 
in Ta'rlkh Ndma-i Harat, Calcutta, 1944, 609-14.

57 For al-Bukhari (d. 870), celebrated as the compiler of the Sahih, see 
vol. I, p. 154, n. 319. According to the early biographers he was buried in the 
village of Khartang, near Samarqand (Ta'rlkh Baghdad, Cairo, 1931. II, 34).

68 In 1346; see Selections, p. 265 (vol. IV, 206 Arabic).
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We resumed our journey from Bukhara, making for the 
camp of the pious and exalted sultan 'Ala al-Din Tarmashirin, 
of whom we shall speak presently. We went by way of 
Nakhshab, the town from which the shaikh Abu Turab al- 
Nakhshabi derives his place-name; 59 it is small and sur­ 
rounded by gardens and streams. We lodged outside it, in a 
house that belonged to its governor. I had with me a slave- 
girl, who | was close to the time of her delivery, and I had 29 
intended to transport her to Samarqand, so that she might 
have the child there. It happened that she was inside a litter; 
the litter was put on a camel and our associates set off during 
the night, taking her with them, as well as the provisions and 
other effects of mine. For myself, I remained behind, in order 
to travel in the daytime, along with some of those who were 
with me, but the first party went by one road, while I went 
by another. So we arrived at this sultan's camp late in the 
evening, very hungry, and alighted at some distance from 
the bazaar. One of our party bought enough food to stave off 
our hunger, and one of the merchants lent us a tent in which 
we spent that night. Our companions set off next morning to 
look for the camels and the rest of the party, found them in 
the evening, and returned with them.

The sultan was absent from the mahalla on a hunting 
party, so I met his deputy, the amir Taqbugha, who assigned 
me a camping ground close to his mosque, and gave me | a 30 
kharqa—this is a kind of tent, a description of which we have 
given previously. 60 I put the slave-girl into this kharqa, and 
she gave birth to a child that same night. They told me that 
it was a male child, although it was not so, but after the 
[ceremony of the] 'aqiqa** one of my companions informed me

59 Nakhshab or Nasaf, about 100 miles S.E. of Bukhara, and a main 
station on the old route through the Iron Gate to Tirmidh and Balkh; 
already coming to be called by its later name, Qarshl (Mongol ='palace'), 
from the palace built there by Tarmashlrin's predecessor Kebek Khan. Abu 
Turab 'Askar b. Husain (d. 859) was a celebrated early sufi (al-Isfahani, 
Hilyatal-A wliya, Cairo, 1938, XII, 45-51, and al-Sulami, Tabaqdt al-Suflya, 
Leiden, 1960, 136-40).

80 See vol. II, p. 440 and n. 103.
61 A ceremony on the seventh day after the birth of a child, when it is 

given a name, and a ram or he-goat (according to the Malikite rite) is 
sacrificed. The shorn hair of the child is weighed and an equal weight of gold 
or silver given in alms; see £./., s.v.
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that the child was a girl. So I summoned the slave-girls and 
questioned them, and they confirmed the statement. This 
girl was born under a lucky star, and I experienced every­ 
thing to give me joy and satisfaction from the time of her 
birth. She died two months after my arrival in India, as will 
be related in the sequel.

In this mahalla I met the devout shaikh and doctor of the 
law Mawlana Husam al-Din al-Yaghi (which in Turkish 
means 'the rebel'), who is a man of Utrar, and the shaikh 
Hasan, who is related to the sultan by marriage. |

3i Account of the Sultan of Transoxiana. He is the exalted 
sultan 'Ala al-Din Tarmashirin, a man of great distinction, 
possessed of numerous troops and regiments of cavalry, a 
vast kingdom and immense power, and just in his govern­ 
ment. His territories lie between four of the great kings of the 
earth, namely the king of China, the king of India, the king 
of al-'Iraq, and the king Czbak, all of whom send him gifts 
and hold him in high respect and honour. He succeeded to 
the kingdom after his brother al-Chagatay. This al-Chagatay 
was an infidel and succeeded his elder brother Kabak, who 
was an infidel also, but was just in government, showing 
equity to the oppressed and favour and respect to the 
Muslims. 62 j

33 Anecdote. It is related that this king Kabak, in a con­ 
versation on one occasion with Badr al-Din al-Maidani, the 
jurist and homiletic preacher, said to him: 'You assert that 
God has mentioned everything in His exalted Book?' 'Yes' 
said Badr al-Din. Then said Kabak 'Where is my name in it?' 
to which he replied 'It is in His word (most High is He) In 
whatsoever form He would He hath composed thee (rakkabak).' 
This reply pleased him, he said Yakhshi (which means in 
Turkish 'good') and showed great favour to him and increased 
respect for the Muslims.

Anecdote. Among the judgements of Kabak it is related that 
a woman laid a complaint before him against one of the 
amirs. She stated that she was a poor woman, with children

•» Kebek (1309-26), Iljigadai (1326), and Tarmashirin (1326-34/5) were 
all descendants of Chingiz Khan's son Jaghatai in the fifth generation. The 
fame of Kebek's justice is attested also by the 'Anonym of Iskandar', pp.
IIO-II.
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to support, that she had some milk [for sale] with the price of 
which she could procure food for them, and that this amir 
had taken it from her by force, and drunk it. He said to her, 
'I shall cut him in two; if | the milk comes out of his belly, he 33 
has gone to his fate, but if not I shall cut you in two after 
him'. The woman said, '[No,] I release him from the obliga­ 
tion, and will make no demand on him.' But Kabak gave the 
order, the man was cut in two, and the milk came out of his 
stomach. 63

To return to the account of the sultan Tarmashlrin: after 
I had stayed for some days in the mahalla (which they call 
the urdu), 641 1 went one day to the dawn prayer in the mosque, 
following my usual practice and when I finished the prayer 
one of those present mentioned to me that the sultan was in 
the mosque. Accordingly, when he rose up from his prayer 
carpet, I went forward to salute him. The shaikh Hasan and 
the legist Husam al-Dm al-Yaghl came up, and told him 
about me and my arrival some days before. Then he said to 
me in Turkish Khush misin, yakhshi misin, qutlu ayusin. 
Khush misin means 'are you in good health?', yakhshi misin 
'are you well?' and qutlu ayusin means 'blessed is your 
arrival'. 65 The sultan was dressed at that time | in a cloak of 34 
green Jerusalem stuff, and had a cap like it on his head.

He then returned to his audience hall, and [as he did so] 
people kept presenting themselves to him with their com­ 
plaints, and he would stop to [listen to] each petitioner, 
small or great, male or female. He then sent for me, and 
when I came I found him in a tent, outside of which there 
were men ranged to right and left, the amirs among them 
[seated] on chairs, with their attendants standing behind and 
before them. The rest of the troops [too] had sat down in 
parade order, each man with his weapons in front of him. 
These were the detachment on duty, who would sit there 
until the hour of afternoon prayer, when another detachment 
would come and sit until the end of the night, and there had

•* A similar story has already been related by I.B. concerning a former 
governor of Tripoli in Syria; see vol. I, p. 89.

M See vol. II, p. 482, n. 254.
68 Literally 'You are very fortune-bringing', qutlti, (qutlugh) meaning 

'fortunate' (see p. 544, n. 23 above), and ayu (ayugh) being a strengthening 
particle.
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been rigged up for them there awnings made of cotton 
fabrics. When I entered the king's presence, inside the tent, 
I found him seated on a chair, resembling a mosque-pulpit

15 and covered with silk embroidered in gold. | The interior of 
the tent was lined with silken cloth of gold, and a crown set 
with jewels and precious stones was suspended over the 
sultan's head at the height of a cubit. The principal amirs 
were [ranged] on chairs to right and left of him, and in front 
of him were the sons of the kings66 holding fly-whisks in their 
hands. At the doorway of the tent were the [sultan's] deputy, 
the vizier, the chamberlain, and the keeper of the sign- 
manual, whom they call al tamgha (al meaning 'red' and 
tamgha meaning 'sign'). 67 The four of them rose up to meet 
me when I entered, and went in with me. After I had saluted 
him, he questioned me (the keeper of the sign-manual acting 
as interpreter between us) about Mecca and al-Madma, 
Jerusalem (God ennoble her) and [Hebron] the city of al- 
Khalil (upon whom be peace), Damascus and Cairo, al-Malik 
al-Nasir, the two 'Iraqs and their king, and the lands of the 
non-Arabs. 68 The muezzin then made the call to the midday

36 prayer ( so we withdrew.
We continued to attend the prayer-services in his company 

—this was during the period of intense and perishing cold, yet 
he would never fail to attend the dawn and evening prayers 
with the congregation. He used to sit reciting a litany69 in 
Turkish after the dawn prayer until sunrise, and all those in 
the mosque would come up to him and he would take each 
one by the hand and press with his own hand upon his. They 
used to do the same thing at the time of the afternoon prayer. 
When he was brought a present of dried grapes or dates (for 
dates are rare in their country and are regarded by them as 
conveying a blessing), he would give some of them with his 
own hand to everyone who was in the mosque.

64 I.e. the scions of the royal house; see vol. II, p. 484, n. 258.
87 The Red Seal, embodying the ruler's name, was traced or stamped on 

all official documents to authenticate them; the keeper or the tamgha was 
thus a kind of secretary of state; cf. vol. II, p. 307, n. 120. (The Arabic text 
has 'whom', not 'which'.)

68 Presumably including Anatolia and southern Russia as well as Persia in 
this context.

89 Literally 'for the dhikr'; see vol. I, p. 44, n. 133.
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Anecdote. [The following is] an instance of the virtues of 
this king. One day I attended the afternoon prayer [in the 
mosque]. The sultan had not yet come, but one of his pages 
came in with a prayer-rug and spread it in front of the 
mihrab, where it was his custom to pray, saying to the imam 
Husam | al-Din al-Yaghi, 'Our master desires you to hold 37 
back the prayer for him a moment while he performs his 
ablutions.' The imam rose up and said [in Persian] Namdz 
(which means 'the prayer') birdyi Khudd aw birdyi Tarma- 
shirin, that is to say, 'Is prayer for God or for Tarmashirin?' 
He then ordered the muezzin to recite the second call for the 
prayer. 70 The sultan arrived when two bowings had already 
been completed, and he made the two latter bowings where 
the ranks ended, that is at the place where peoples' shoes are 
left near the door of the mosque. He then performed the 
bowings that he had missed and went up laughing to the 
imam to shake his hand, and after sitting down opposite to 
the mihrab with the shaikh (that is, the imam) beside him, 
and I alongside the imam, he said to me 'When you return to 
your country, tell how a Persian mendicant behaved like this 
towards the sultan of the Turks.'

This shaikh used to preach to the congregation every 
Friday, exhorting the sultan to act righteously and forbidding 
him from evil and tyrannical acts, | addressing him in the 38 
harshest terms while the sultan listened to him in silence and 
wept. He would never accept any gift or stipend71 from the 
sultan, nor eat of any food of his nor wear any robe from him. 
This shaikh was indeed one of God's saintly servants. I used 
often to see him wearing a cotton cloak, lined and quilted 
with cotton, which was worn out and in shreds, and on his 
head a bonnet of felt, such as would be worth one qirat, 72 and 
with no turban round it. I said to him one day, 'Master, what 
is this cloak that you are wearing? It is not fit to be worn', 
and he replied 'My son, this cloak does not belong to me but 
to my daughter.' So I begged him to accept one of my robes,

70 The call to prayer (adhan) is repeated with slight variations inside the 
mosque when the worshippers have arranged themselves in rows. This is 
called the iqdma, 'summons to rise*, i.e. to begin the prayer.

71 The term 'ata' has the double sense.
« The qtraf ('carat') was i/24th of the gold mithqal or i/i6th of the silver 

dirham.
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but he said to me, 'I made a vow to God fifty years ago never 
to accept anything from anyone, but if I were to accept 
[something] from anyone it would be from you.'

39 When I resolved to proceed on my journey after | staying 
at this sultan's camp for fifty-four days, 73 the sultan gave me 
seven hundred silver dinars and a sable coat worth a hundred 
dinars. I had asked him for this on account of the cold 
weather, and when I mentioned it to him he took hold of my 
sleeves and kissed his hand after touching them, 7* with his 
natural humility, generosity and goodness of character. He 
gave me two horses and two camels also. When I wished to 
take leave of him, I encountered him in the midst of his way 
to his hunting-ground. The day was a bitterly cold one, and I 
swear that I could not utter a single word owing to the 
severity of the cold, but he understood this, and laughed and 
gave me his hand, and so I departed.

Two years after my arrival in India, the news reached us 
that the assembly75 of his subjects and his amirs had met in 
the most remote part of his territories, adjoining China, 
where the greater part of his troops were [stationed]. They 
swore allegiance to a paternal cousin of his called Buzun 
Ughli (everyone who is of the sons of the kings is called by

40 them ughli),™ \ who was a Muslim, but tainted in faith 
and evil in conduct. The reason for their [transference of] 
allegiance to him and deposition of Tarmashirin was that 
the latter had contravened the laws of their ancestor, the 
accursed Tankiz, he who, as related above, devastated the 
lands of Islam. Now Tankiz had compiled a book on his laws, 
which is called by them the Yasdq, 77 and they hold that if

78 Probably from mid-March to early May, 1333.
74 This, which is the alternative rendering of the French editors (see p. 455 

of the edition) for 'kissed them with his hand', corresponds to the traditional 
phrase and action of 'kissing the ground'.

75 Al-mala', a Qur'anic term for 'council' (i.e. assembly of shaikhs of 
clans), seems to be used here for the Mongol term quriltai.

78 For Turkish ughul +it meaning 'son of. I.B.'s statement is confirmed 
by the usage of the Persian chronicler of the Mongols; see Juvaini, Ta'rikh-i 
Jahdngushd, II (Leyden-London, 1916), Introduction, p. 9 (s.v. pisar). 
Buzun was the son of Duwa Timur, another brother of Tarmashirin.

77 For the codification of the 'Great Yasa' of Chingiz Khan see Barthold, 
Turkestan, 41; G. Vernadsky, 'The Scope and Contents of Chingis Khan's 
Yasa' in Harvard Journal of Asiatic Studies, III (1938), 337-60. The form 
yasdq is used also by the author of the 'Anonym oflskandar'.
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any [of the princes] contravenes the laws contained in this 
book his deposition is obligatory. One of its prescriptions is 
that they shall assemble on one day in each year, which they 
call the tuy (meaning the day of the banquet). 78 The des­ 
cendants of Tanklz and the amirs come from all quarters, and 
the khatuns and superior officers of the army also attend. If 
their sultan should have changed any one of those laws their 
chiefs will rise up before him and say to him, 'You have 
changed this and changed that, | and you have acted in such- 4i 
and-such a manner and it is now obligatory to depose you/ 
They take him by his hand, cause him to rise from the throne 
of the kingship, and set upon it another of the descendants of 
Tankiz. If one of the great amirs should have committed an 
offence in his territory, they pronounce judgement against 
him as he deserves.

Now the sultan Tarmashirin had abrogated the law relating 
to this day and abolished its practice, and they most violently 
disapproved of his action; furthermore, they resented his 
staying for four years in that part of his territories which 
borders on Khurasan without ever coming to the region which 
adjoins China. It was customary for the king to visit that 
district every year, to investigate its conditions and the state 
of the troops in it, because it was the cradle of their kingdom, 
and their seat of kingship is the city of Almaliq. 79

When the amirs transferred their allegiance to Buzun, he 
advanced with a powerful army, and Tarmashirin, fearing an 
attempt on his life by his amirs and not trusting them, rode 
out with a company | of fifteen horsemen, making for the 42 
district of Ghazna. This was included in his provinces, and its 
governor was the chief of his amirs and his close confidant, 
Buruntaih. 80 This amir, a lover of Islam and of the Muslims, 
had constructed in his province about forty hospices in which 
food was supplied to travellers, and had under his command

78 fuy is a variant form of toi (Ottoman Turkish day), the common 
Turkish term for 'feast': Radloff, Worterbuch, III, coll. 1423, 1141.

79 See p. 548 above. The original ulus of Chagatai and his successors was in 
the vicinity of Almaligh. After the expansion of the Chagatai khanate over 
Transoxiana, the eastern provinces centred on Almaligh were called 
Moghulistan or (more popularly) Jatah.

80 Apparently (like Borodai) a modification of the Mongol name Boroldai, 
'the grey'; see P. Pelliot, Notes sur ... /a Horde d'Or, p. 63.
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many regiments of troops. I have never, among all the human 
beings that I have seen in all the lands in the world, seen a 
man of more prodigious stature. When Tarmashirin had 
crossed the river Jaihun and taken the road to Balkh, he was 
seen by a certain Turk in the service of Yanqi, the son of his 
brother Kabak. Now this sultan Tarmashirin had killed his 
brother Kabak,81 whom we have mentioned above, and the 
latter's son Yanqi had remained in Balkh. So, when the Turk 
reported to him that he had seen Tarmashirin, he said 'He 
must have taken flight only because of something that has 
happened to his disadvantage', and he rode out with his 
officers, seized him and imprisoned him. When Buzun 
reached Samarqand and Bukhara and received the allegiance

43 of their inhabitants, | Yanqi came to him, bringing Tarma­ 
shirin. It is said that when the latter arrived in Nasaf, which 
is outside Samarqand, he was killed and buried there, 82 and 
the shaikh Shams al-Din Gardan Burlda was made guardian 
of his tomb. But it is said also that he was not killed, as we 
shall relate [shortly], Gardan means 'neck' [in Persian] and 
buridd means 'cut', and he was called by this name because of 
a slash he had on his neck. I saw him, in fact, in the land of 
India, and the story of [this encounter with] him will be told 
later.

When Buzun became king, the son of the sultan Tarma­ 
shirin, who was Bashay Ughli, 83 fled, together with his sister 
and her husband Firuz, to the king of India. He received 
them as distinguished guests and lodged them magnificently, 
on account of the friendship and the exchange of letters and 
gifts which had existed between himself and Tarmashirin, 
whom he used to address [in his letters] as 'brother'. Some 
time later, there came a man from the land84 of Sind, claim-

44 ing | to be Tarmashirin himself. Different opinions were 
expressed about him, and when this came to the ears of 'Imad

81 According to Mu'in al-Dm Natanzl ('Anonym of Ishandar', p. in). 
Kebek died a natural death.

82 I.E. seems to be unaware that Nasaf is the same place as Nakhshab, 
which he had mentioned a few pages earlier (p. 555 above). Mu'in al-DIn 
(loc. cit.) also places Tarmashlrin's death at Nakhshab. MS. 2289 reads: 'he 
[Yanqi} killed him'.

M So, correctly, here in MS. 2289, against the reading Ughl of the other 
MSS and below.

•* MS. 908 reads 'people'.
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al-Mulk Sartiz, the slave of the king of India and governor of 
the land of Sind85 (he is called also Malik 'Ard, because it is 
before him that the armies of India are paraded for review 
and he has general supervision over them, 86 and his residence 
is in Multan) he sent some Turks who were acquainted with 
Tarmashirin to see him. On their return they told him that he 
really was Tarmashirin, so he ordered a sardcha (that is to say, 
an dfrdg*7) to be prepared for him, and it was put up outside 
the city. He also performed the ceremonial duties in the style 
proper to one of his rank, went out to receive him, dismounted 
before him, saluted him, and came to the sardcha in atten­ 
dance on him, while the man entered it on horseback, in the 
usual manner of kings. No one doubted that it was in fact he. 
Sartiz sent a despatch about him to the king of India, who 
sent a group of amirs to meet him and to welcome him with 
the [customary] ceremonies of hospitality.

There was in the service of the king of India a physician 
who had formerly been in the service of Tarmashirin, | and 45 
was now chief of the physicians in India. This man said to the 
king 'I shall go myself to see him and find out the truth of his 
claim, for I once treated him for a boil under his knee, and 
since the scar remained I can recognize him by that.' So this 
doctor went to meet him and welcome him along with the 
amirs; he went into his quarters and was constantly beside 
him, because of his former relations with him. [At an appro­ 
priate moment] he took occasion to feel his legs and un­ 
covered the scar, whereupon the man scolded him violently, 
saying, 'Do you want to see the boil that you healed? Well, 
here it is/ and showed him the mark of it. The physician was 
assured that it was he, returned to the king of India, and 
made his report to him.

Sometime later the vizier Khwaja Jahan Ahmad b. Aiyas88 
and the Chief of the Amirs, Qutlukhan, who had been the

85 See p. 593 below.
86 Malik 'Ard, 'King of Review', is Indian magniloquence for 'arid, the 

officer whose function it was to review the troops from time to time, examine 
their equipment, numbers and efficiency, and in some instances issue their 
pay. The French translation, 'il en avait le commandement', although 
possible, does not agree with the usage.

87 I.e., a royal tent with an enclosure; see vol. II, p. 476.
88 See pp. 617-18, 654-5 below.
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sultan's tutor in his youth, came before the king of India and 
said to him, 'O Master of the world, here is the sultan Tar- 

46 mashirin who has | arrived, and it is established that it is 
really he. There are here of his tribesmen about forty thou­ 
sand89 as well as his son and his son-in-law. Have you thought 
what might happen if they should combine with him?' These 
words made a powerful impression on the king and he com­ 
manded that Tarmashirin should be fetched at once. When 
the latter entered his presence, he was ordered to do homage, 
like all other visitors, treated without respect, and the sultan 
said to him 'Yd mddhar kdnl (which is a hideous insult), 90 
how dare you lie, claiming to be Tarmashirin when Tar­ 
mashirin has been killed and here with us is the keeper of his 
tomb? By God, were it not for incurring disgrace91 I would 
kill you. However, give him five thousand92 dinars, take him 
to the house of Bashay Ughul and his sister, the children of 
Tarmashirin, and say to them "This liar claims to be your 
father.' " So he came to their house and saw them, and they 
recognized him; he spent the night with them under the 
surveillance of guards, and was taken away the next day. 

47 They were afraid that they might be killed | because of him, 
and therefore disowned him. He was exiled from India and 
Sind, and travelled by way of Kij and Makran, 93 being 
received by the people of the land [everywhere] with respect, 
hospitality and gifts. He came [finally] to Shlraz whose 
sultan Abu Ishaq received him honourably and furnished 
him with an income sufficient for his needs. When on my 
return journey from India I entered Shiraz, I was told that 
he was still living there. I tried to meet him but could not do 
so, because he was in a house which no one might enter to 
visit him, except by permission of the sultan Abu Ishaq. I 
was afraid of the suspicions that might be aroused by [asking 
for] this, but afterwards I regretted not having met him.

89 Tarmashirin had sent a number of Mongol chiefs, presumably with their 
followers, to enter the service of Sultan Muhammad: see Mahdi Husain, The 
Rise and Fall of Muhammad bin Tughluq, London, 1938, p. 107. Out of this 
there grew up a legend that Tarmashirin had invaded India and imposed a 
humiliating peace on Sultan Muhammad: ibid. 100-5.

90 Literally, 'O [son of a] prostitute mother' (Kanl for Persian ganl).
91 By killing a person who had sought his protection.
92 MS 2289 reads 'three thousand*. 
98 See vol. II, p. 342, n. 238 (to p. 341).
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Our narrative now returns to Buzun, namely that when he 
became king, he treated the Muslims harshly, oppressed the 
subjects, and allowed the Christians and Jews to rebuild their 
churches. The Muslims were aggrieved | by this, and 'waited 4a 
in readiness for the turns of fortune against him'. 94 The 
report of this reached Khalil, son of the sultan al-Yasaur, 
who had been defeated in [the attempt to seize] Khurasan. 95 
He approached the king of Karat, the sultan Husain, son of 
the sultan Ghiyath al-Din al-Ghuri, 96 told him what was in 
his mind, and asked him for assistance in troops and money 
on the condition that he, Khalil, would give half of his king­ 
dom to him when it was firmly under his control. The king 
Husain thereupon sent a large force of troops with him, the 
distance between Harat and al-Tirmidh being nine days' 
[journey]. When the Muslim amirs97 heard of Khalil's arrival 
they received him with tokens of submission and of desire to 
engage in jihad against the enemy. 98 The first man to join him 
was 'Ala al-Mulk Khudha.wand-za.da, the lord of Tirmidh; he 
was a great amir, a sharif by descent from Husain, and he 
came to Khalil with four thousand Muslim [trcops]. Khalil 
was filled with joy at his adhesion, appointed him as his vizier 
and confided to him the management of his affairs. He was a 
man of great courage. [Other] amirs too arrived from every 
quarter and assembled around Khalil. When he engaged | 
Buzun in battle, the troops passed over to Khalll, brought 49 
along Buzun as a prisoner, and delivered him up, whereupon 
Khalil executed him by strangulation with bow-strings, it 
being a custom among them never to put any of the sons of 
the kings to death except by strangulation.

Khalil was now firmly established in his kingship, 99 and
94 An allusion to Qur'an, ix, 99.
95 Yasavur invaded Khurasan in 1314 and again in 1319; after his second 

failure he was pursued by a force of Chagatai troops under Iljigadai (see 
p. 556, n. 62 above) and killed in 1320.

96 See vol. II, p. 341, n. 237.
97 The phrase used is 'the amirs of al-Islam', apparently referring to those 

of the Mongol leaders who had become Muslims; cf. 'the troops of al-Islam' 
on p. 567 for the Muslim troops.

98 I.e. the pagan khan and his followers.
99 This account of Khalil and his reign may be fantastic history, but it 

seems that a Turkish faqir named Khalll did succeed in establishing his rule 
in Bukhara about 1340; see W. Barthold, Histoire des Turcs d'Asie centrale, 
Paris, 1945, pp. 159-60-
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held a review of his troops at Samarqand. They amounted to 
eighty thousand men, clad, both they and their horses, in 
armour. 100 He discharged the troops that he had brought 
with him from Harat, and marched toward the land of 
Almaliq. The Tatars appointed one of their own number as 
their commander, and met him at a distance of three nights' 
journey from Almaliq, in the vicinity of Taraz. 101 The battle 
grew fierce and both parties stood firm, when the amir 
Khudhawand-zada, Khalil's vizier, with twenty thousand 
Muslim troops led a charge before which the Tatars could not 
stand their ground, but were driven in flight and slaughtered 
in great numbers. Khalil stayed in Almaliq for three nights, 

5o then went out to extirpate all that remained of | the Tatars. 
They submitted to him, and he crossed to the frontiers of 
al-Khata and China and captured the city of Qaraqurum and 
the city of Bishbaligh. 102 The sultan of al-Khata sent troops 
against him, but eventually peace was made between them. 
Khalil became so powerful that the kings stood in awe of 
him; he showed himself a just ruler, established a body of 
troops in Almaliq, leaving there [as his deputy] his vizier 
Khudhawand-zada, and returned to Samarqand and 
Bukhara.

Somewhat later, the Turks, seeking to stir up disorder, 
calumniated this vizier to Khalil, asserting that he was 
planning to revolt and that he claimed that he had a better 
title to the royal power, by reason of his relationship to the 
Prophet (God bless him and give him peace), his generosity, 
and his bravery. Khalil then sent a governor to Almaliq to 
replace him, and ordered him to come and present himself at 
the court with a small body of his associates. Then when he 
presented himself, Khalil executed him as soon as he arrived, 
without further investigation. But this became the cause of

100 Literally 'in breastplates', but the term seems to be used here in a 
general sense. On the armour for men and horses in the Mongol army see 
Piano Carpini, cap. xv, in M. Komroff, Contemporaries of Marco Polo, p. 25, 
and B. Spuler, Die Mongolen in Iran*, Berlin, 1955, 4IQ ff-

101 The text has Atraz, possibly by confusion with Utrar. Taraz, on the 
river Talas, in the vicinity of the modern Auli6-Ata, was about 150 m. east 
of Utrar and some 300 miles west of Almaligh.

102 I.e. the original centres of Mongol rule, on the Orkhon river and in the 
vicinity of Turfan. There was no sultanate of Cathay at this time, these 
territories being incorporated in the Mongol empire of China.
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the ruin of his kingdom. When Kham became so powerful, he 
had acted in an insolent manner towards | the lord of Harat, 5 i 
who had caused him to inherit the kingship and furnished him 
with troops and money; he wrote to him demanding that the 
khutba should be recited in his territories in Khalil's name, 103 
and that his name should be struck on the dinars and dirhams. 
The king Husain was enraged at this and indignantly replied 
to him in the rudest of terms, whereupon Khalil made pre­ 
parations for war with him. But the Muslim troops refused to 
support him, and regarded him as an aggressor against the 
king of Harat. When the report of this reached the king 
Husain, he despatched troops under the command of his 
paternal cousin Malik Warna. The two armies met, and 
Khalil was routed and brought as a captive before the king 
Husain. He spared Khalil's life, assigned him a residence, 
gave him a slave-girl and made him a regular allowance for 
his upkeep. It was in this condition that I left Khalil [still 
residing] with him, at the end of the year 47, when I returned 
from India. 104

Let us now return to where we were. When I took leave of 
the sultan Tarrnashirin I journeyed to the city of Samarqand, 
which is | one of the greatest and finest of cities, and most 5* 
perfect of them in beauty. It is built on the bank of the river 
called Wadil-Qassarm, 105 along which there are norias to 
supply water to the orchards. The population of the town 
gather there after the 'asr prayer to divert themselves and to 
promenade. Benches and seats are provided for them to sit on 
alongside the river, and there are booths in which fruit and 
other edibles are sold. There were formerly great palaces on 
its bank, and constructions which bear witness to the lofty 
aspirations of the townsfolk, but most of this is obliterated, 
and most of the city itself has also fallen into ruin. It has no 
city wall, and no gates, and there are gardens inside it. The

103 The traditional form of public recognition of suzerainty; see vol. I, 
pp.232-3.

104 Since I.B. did not visit Herat in 747/1347, this sentence must be taken 
to mean 'When I left India in 747, Khalil was still in captivity in Herat.' 
Husain died in 1370-1.

105 Samarqand was situated on a mound on the west (left) bank of the 
Zarafshan river. I.B. has confused its name with that of the river which 
flows by Nakhshab and Kish, literally 'The Fullers' stream'.
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inhabitants of Samarqand possess generous qualities; they 
are affectionate towards the stranger and are better than the 
people of Bukhara.

In the outskirts of Samarqand is the tomb of Qutham, son 
of Al-'Abbas b. 'Abd al-Muttalib (God be pleased with both 
al-'Abbas and his son), who met a martyr's death at the time

53 of its conquest. 106 | The people of Samarqand go out to visit it 
on the eve of every Tuesday and Friday, 107 and the Tatars 
too come to visit it, and make large votive offerings to it, 
bringing to it cattle, sheep, dirhams and dinars, [all of] which 
is devoted to expenditure for the maintenance of travellers 
and the servitors of the hospice and the blessed tomb. The 
latter is surmounted by a dome resting on four pilasters, each 
of which is combined with two marble columns, green, black, 
white and red. The walls of the [cell beneath the] cupola are 
of marble inlaid with different colours108 and decorated with 
gold, and its roof is made of lead. The tomb itself is covered 
with planks of ebony inlaid [with gold and jewels] 109 and with 
silver corner-pieces; above it are three silver lamps. The 
hangings of the dome110 are of wool and cotton. Outside it is 
a large canal, which traverses the hospice at that place, and 
has on both its banks trees, grape-vines, and jasmine. In the

54 hospice there are chambers | for the lodging of travellers. The 
Tatars, in the time of their infidelity, did not injure in any 
way the condition of this blessed site; on the contrary, they 
used to visit it to gain blessing as the result of the miraculous 
signs which they witnessed on its behalf.

106 The report of Qutham's death in 676, when the Arab general Sa'id b. 
'Othman is said to have besieged and forced the surrender of Samarqand, is 
attested at a fairly early date (Ibn Sa'd, Tabaqat, VII/i, p. 101). But it is 
very doubtful whether Sa'id did besiege Samarqand, and evident on the 
other hand that the cult of Qutham was promoted by the 'Abbasid caliphs 
after 750: cf. Barthold, Turkestan, gi.

107 I.e., every Monday and Thursday night. It is strictly the saint himself, 
not his tomb, which is the object of visitation.

108 mujazza', see vol. I, p. 195, n. 30.
109 murassa', see vol. II, p. 477, n. 237.
110 The term farsh seems here to apply to the fabrics suspended over and 

around the tomb rather than to the floor coverings. This monument, known 
also as Mazarshah, and now called Shah Zindeh, is still one of the principal 
antiquities of Samarqand; see Pugachenkova-Rempel, Pamyatniki Uzbekis- 
antiquities of Samarqand; see Pugachenkova and Rempel, Pamyatniki 
Vzbekistana, 108 ff. and plates 63-74, and Aihar al-Islam al ta'rlkhlya fi 
'l-lttihdd al-Sufiyiti, plate 21.
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The superintendent of everything to do with111 this blessed 
sepulchre and the adjoining buildings at the time of our 
lodging there was the amir Ghiyath al-Din Muhammad b. 
'Abd al-Qadir b. 'Abd al-'Azlz b. Yusuf, son of the 'Abbasid 
Caliph al-Mustansir billah. He was appointed to this office by 
the sultan Tarmashirln, when he came to his court from 
al-'Iraq, but is now in the service of the king of India, and we 
shall speak of him later. 112 1 met at Samarqand its qadi, who 
was known among them by the title of Sadr al-Jahan,113 and 
was a worthy and generous man. He made the journey to 
India after I went there, but was overtaken by death in the 
city of Multan, the capital of the land of Sind. |

Anecdote. When this qadi died at Multan, the intelligence 55 
officer sent a report about him to the king of India, stating 
that he had come with the object of presenting himself at the 
court114 but had been cut off before doing so. When this 
report reached the king, he commanded that there be sent to 
his sons a sum which I cannot now recall of some thousands of 
dinars, and that there be given to his associates what he 
would have given them if they had arrived in his company 
during his lifetime. The king of India maintains in every one 
of his towns an intelligence officer, who writes to him to 
report everything that happens in that town, and about every 
traveller that arrives in it. When a traveller comes, they 
record from what land he has come, his name, description, 
clothes, companions, horses, servants, his manner of sitting 
and of eating, and all of his affairs and activities, and what 
may be remarked about him in the way of good qualities or 
the opposite. In this way no new arrival comes to the king | 
without his being advised of everything about him, so that 5e 
his generosity may be proportioned to the newcomer's merits.

We set out from Samarqand and came in passing to the 
township of Nasaf, from which comes the ethnic of Abu Hafs 
'Omar al-Nasafi, the author of the book of rhyming verses on

111 MS. 2289 vocalizes kali. The superintendent (na?ir) is the controller of 
the revenues from the endowments affected to a mosque or other institution.

112 See pp. 679—85 below.
113 For the title of sadr applied to chief qadls in this region see p. 543, 

n. 19 above. Sadr al-Jahan thus means 'Chief judge of the World', and was 
apparently the traditional title of the Grand Qadi of Samarqand.

114 Birasmi babihi.
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the points of difference between the four jurists [who were 
the founders of the four Sunni schools of law] (God be pleased 
with them). 116

We then came to the city of Tirmidh, from which comes 
the ethnic of the Imam Abu 'Isa Muhammad b. 'Isa b. Sura 
al-Tirmidhi, composer of the 'Great Collection' on the 
Tradition of the Prophet. 116 It is a large city with fine build­ 
ings and bazaars, traversed by canals, and with many gardens. 
It abounds in grapes and quinces of exquisite flavour, as well 
as in flesh-meats and milk of all kinds. Its inhabitants wash 
their heads in the bath-house with milk instead of fuller's 
earth; the proprietor of every bath-house has large jars filled 
with milk, and each man as he enters the establishment takes 
some of it in a small jug, and then washes his head. | It makes 
the hair fresh and glossy. The Indians put oil of sesame 
(which they call strdj) 117 on their heads and afterwards wash 
their hair with fuller's earth. This gives a smoothness to the 
body and makes the hair glossy and long, and that is the 
reason why the Indians and those who live among them have 
long beards.

The old city of Tirmidh was built on the bank of the 
Jaihun, and when it was laid in ruins by Tankiz118 this new 
city was built two miles from the river. Our lodging there 
was in the hospice of the pious shaikh 'Azizan, one of the 
great and most generous shaikhs, who possesses great wealth 
and house property and orchards and spends of his wealth to 
[supply the needs of] travellers. Before arriving in this city, 
I had met its ruler, 'Ala al-Mulk Khudhawand-Zada, 119 who 
sent in writing an order to the city for my entertainment as a 
guest, and every day during our stay in it provisions were

116 Rhyming couplets (rajaz) were a favourite medium for the composition 
of college textbooks on subjects of all sorts, in order to facilitate their 
memorization. This poem of al-Nasafi (d. 1142) contained 2700 verses. The 
road from Samarqand to Tirmidh, however, does not pass through Nasaf, 
but through Kish (later called Shahr-i Sabz), over 100 miles east of Nasaf 
and on the higher reaches of the same river. I suspect that Ibn Battuta has 
confused the two cities; hence his distinction between Nasaf and Nakhshab, 
see p. 562, n. 82 above.

116 One of the six 'canonical' collections of Prophetic Tradition, second in 
repute only to the Sahlh of al-Bukhari. Al-Tirmidhi d. 892.

117 Arabic slraj or shairaj, 'sesame-oil'.
118 See p. 553 above. "« See p. 565 above.
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brought to us. I met | also its qacli, Qiwam al-Din, who was on 5& 
his way to see the sultan Tarmashirm and to ask for his per­ 
mission to him to travel to India. The story of my meeting 
with him thereafter, and with his brothers Diya al-Din and 
Burhan al-Din, at Multan and of our journey together to 
India will follow later. 120 [We shall relate also] the story of 
his two brothers 'Imad al-Din and Saif al-Din, and my meet­ 
ing with them at the court of the king of India, as well as of 
his two sons, their coming to the king of India after the killing 
of their father, and their marriage to the two daughters of the 
vizier Khwaja Jahan and all that happened in that connec­ 
tion, if God Most High will. 121

Next we crossed the river Jaihun into the land of Khurasan, 
and marched for a day and a half after leaving Tirmidh and 
crossing the river through uninhabited desert and sands to 
the city of Balkh. It is completely dilapidated and unin­ 
habited, but anyone | seeing it would think it to be inhabited 59 
because of the solidity of its construction (for it was a vast 
and important city), and its mosques and colleges preserve 
their outward appearance even now, with the inscriptions 
on their buildings incised122 with lapis-blue paints. People 
generally attribute the lapis-stone123 to Khurasan, but in 
reality it is imported from the mountains of [the province of] 
Badakhshan, which has given its name also to the ruby 
called badakhshi (pronounced by the vulgar balakhsht) , 124 
and which will be mentioned later, if God will.

The accursed Tankiz devastated this city125 and pulled 
down about a third of its mosque because of a treasure which 
he was told lay under one of its columns. 126 It is one of the 
finest and most spacious mosques in the world; the mosque 
of Ribat al-Fath in the Maghrib resembles it in the size of its

120 See pp. 606-7 below.
121 See pp. 692, 735 below.
122 Arabic mudkhala, which seems to imply something put into another 

thing, but I have found no example of its use as a technical term.
123 Lapis-lazuli, Arabic lazward. The mines are in the upper valley of the 

Kokcha river; see Yule's Marco Polo, I, 162.
124 Cf. Marco Polo on the balas rubies and azure-stone: Yule, I, 161. I.B. 

has apparently forgotten his own 'vulgar' pronunciation in an earlier passage.
125 See p. 553 above.
186 Ibn al-Athlr (Kamil, XII, 256) accuses the Tatars of digging up graves 

in search of treasure.

571



TURKESTAN AND KHURASAN

columns, 127 but the mosque of Balkh is more beautiful than 
it in all other respects.

Anecdote. I was told by a certain historian that the mosque
eo at Balkh was built by a woman | whose husband was governor 

of Balkh for the 'Abbasid [Caliphs], and was called Da'ud b. 
'AH. 128 It happened that the Caliph on one occasion, in a fit of 
anger against the people of Balkh for some rebellious act on 
their part, sent an agent to them to exact a crushing indem­ 
nity from them. On his arrival at Balkh, the women and the 
children of the city came to this woman who had built the 
mosque i.e. the wife of their governor, and complained of 
their situation and [the suffering which] they had to endure 
because of this indemnity. Thereupon she sent to the amir 
who had come to levy this tax on them a garment of her own, 
embroidered with jewels and of a value greater than the indem­ 
nity that he had been ordered to collect, [with a message] 
to him, saying 'Take this robe to the Caliph, for I give it to 
him as alms on behalf of the people of Balkh, in view of their 
poverty.' So he went off with it to the Caliph, laid the robe 
before him, and related the story to him. The Caliph was 
covered with shame and exclaiming 'Shall the woman be 
more generous than we?' commanded him to annul theindem-

61 nity extracted from the inhabitants | of Balkh, and to return 
there to restore the woman's robe to her. He also remitted one 
year's taxes to the people of Balkh. When the amir returned 
to Balkh, he went to the woman's dwelling, related to her 
what the Caliph had said, and gave the robe back to her. 
Then she said to him, 'Did the Caliph's eye light upon this 
robe?' He said 'Yes'. She said, 'I shall not wear a robe upon 
which there has lighted the eye of any man other than those 
within the forbidden degrees of relationship to me.' 129 She 
ordered the robe to be sold and built with its price the 
mosque, the hospice, and a convent [for sufi devotees]

187 The great mosque of Rabat in Morocco called the Mosque of Hassan, 
begun by the Almohad caliph Abu Yusuf Ya'qub (1189-99) but apparently 
never completed; see J. Caille, La Mosqitle de Hassan a Rabat, Paris, 1954, 
2 vols.

128 xhis story, which I have not traced in any other source, apparently 
refers to Da'ud b. al-'Abbas, a descendant of one of the local princely families, 
d.c. 871; see J. Marquart, ErdnSahr, Berlin, 1901, p. 301.

189 I.e., those male relatives with whom marriage is forbidden (father, 
brother, son, and other ascendants and descendants).
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opposite it, the latter built of tufa130 and still in habitable 
condition today. [After the buildings were completed] there 
remained of the [price of the] robe as much as one-third, and 
the story goes that she ordered it to be buried under one of 
the columns of the mosque, that it might be available and 
come to light131 if it should be needed. This tradition was 
related to Tankiz, who gave orders in consequence to pull 
down the columns in the mosque. After about a third had been 
pulled down without J finding anything, he left the rest as 62 
they were.

Outside [the city of] Balkh is a tomb said to be that of 
'Okkasha ibn Mihsan of the tribe of Asad, the Companion of 
the Apostle of God (God bless him and give him peace) who 
will enter Paradise without a reckoning [on the Day of 
Judgement]. 132 Over it is a splendid hospice in which we had 
our lodging. Outside of this is a wonderful pool of water, 
beside which there is an immense walnut tree, under whose 
shade travellers alight during the summer. The shaikh of this 
hospice is known as al-Hajj Khurd133 (which means [in 
Persian] 'the little'), a worthy man, who rode with us and 
showed us the places in this city. Among them is the tomb of 
the prophet Hizkil134 (upon whom be peace), over which there 
is a fine dome. We visited there also many tombs of saintly 
men, which I cannot recall now. We stopped by the house of 
Ibrahim b. Adham135 (God be pleased with him), which is a 
vast edifice constructed of white stone which resembles tufa. 
It was used as a storehouse for the grain belonging to the 
hospice [from its endowed lands] | and was barricaded [to e3 
prevent access] to it, so we did not go into it. It is in the 
vicinity of the cathedral mosque.

We resumed our journey from the city of Balkh, and 
travelled for seven days through the mountains of Quh

180 Kadhdhdn, see R. Dozy, Supplement aux dictionnaires arabes, s.v.
181 Kharaja is so vocalized in MS. 2289.
138 The tradition is an early one {see Ibn Qutaiba, Kitab al-Ma'arif, 

Gottingen, 1850, p. 139), although not mentioned by Ibn Sa'd. 'Okkasha was 
killed in the tribal war in Arabia in 632.

188 MS. 2289 reads Fard, obviously in error.
134 I.e. Ezekiel. The more celebrated tomb is in the vicinity of al-Hilla (see 

vol. II, p. 324, n. 173), but is not mentioned by I.E. in that context.
185 See vol. I, p. 110, n. 160. According to the legend his father was a king 

in or near Balkh.
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Istan. 136 These [contain] many inhabited villages, in which 
there are running streams and leafy trees, most of them fig- 
trees, and many hospices inhabited by pious devotees con­ 
secrated to the service of God Most High. Thereafter we 
arrived at the city of Karat, the largest of the inhabited cities 
in Khurasan. The great cities of Khurasan are four; two of 
them are inhabited, namely Harat and Naisabur, and two are 
in ruins, namely Balkh and Marw. 137 The city of Harat is very 
extensive and has a large population. Its inhabitants are men 
of rectitude, abstention from unlawful pleasures, and 
sincerity in religion; they follow the school of the Imam 
Abu Hanifa (God be pleased with him), and their city is [kept] 
pure of all vice. |

64 Account of the Sultan of Harat. He is the exalted sultan 
Husain, son of the sultan Ghiyath al-DIn al-Ghuri, 138 a man 
of notorious bravery and favoured by divine aid and felicity. 
That which was manifested to him of aid and succour by God 
Most High on two fields of battle139 is of a nature to excite 
astonishment. The first of these was when his army engaged 
the sultan Khalil, who had behaved insolently towards him 
and who ended by becoming a captive in the hands of the 
sultan Husain. 140 The second occasion was when he engaged 
in person Mas'ud, the sultan of the Rafidis; this ended for the 
latter with the dispersal of his troops, his own flight, and the 
loss of his kingdom. The sultan Husain succeeded to the 
kingship after his brother called al-Hafi?, this brother having 
succeeded his father Ghiyath al-Dln. 

Account of the Rafidis. There were in Khurasan two men,

186 As a geographical term Quhistan ('mountain land') was the province 
lying to the west of Balkh. The main road from Balkh to Herat did not 
touch this province, but ran via Merv ar-Rud (now Bala Murghab), the total 
length being 109 or 117 farsakhs (320 or 350 miles, by alternative roads): 
Mustawfi, tr. Le Strange, 169, 171-2.

137 For Naisabur (Nishapur) see pp. 583-4 below. Merv was totally 
destroyed by the Mongols under Chingiz Khan: Barthold, Turkestan, 446-9.

188 See vol. II, p. 339, n. 223. Mu'izz al-Din Husain (1332-70) was the 
third son of Ghiyath al-Dln to succeed to the throne of Herat. Ghurl is the 
usual vocalization, derived from their habitat in the Ghor (Ghur) mountains 
in south-western Afghanistan, but I.B. evidently pronounced it Ghawri 
(see p. 576 below).

189 Arabic mawtinain; perhaps a better rendering would be 'notable 
occasions'.

140 See pp. 565-7 above.
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one of them called Mas'ud | and the other called Muhammad. es 
These two had five associates [desperadoes who go by the 
name] oifuttdk, known in al-'Iraq as shuttdr, in Khurasan as 
sarbadaldn, and in the Maghrib as suqura^ The seven of 
them made a compact to engage in disorder, highway 
robbery, and pillaging of goods and properties, and their 
exploits became known far and wide. They took up their 
abode in an impregnable mountain near the city of Baihaq 
(which is called also Sabzar) ; 142 they would remain in hiding 
by day, and at nightfall or later they would come out and 
make sudden raids upon the villages, engage in highway 
robbery, and seize people's goods. There poured in to join 
them a horde of men like themselves, doers of evil and 
creators of disorder; thus their numbers increased, their 
power of attack was strengthened, and they became a terror 
to men. After capturing the city of Baihaq by a sudden 
assault, they went on to seize other cities, and acquired 
revenues [with which] they enrolled troops and mounted a 
corps of cavalry. Mas'ud [now] took the title | of Sultan. 66 
Slaves used to escape from their master to join him; to each 
of these fugitive slaves he would give a horse and money, and 
if the man showed himself courageous he made him com­ 
mander of a section. So his army grew mightily, and he became 
a serious menace. The entire body of them made a profession 
of Shi'ism, and aspired to root out the followers of the Sunna 
in Khurasan and convert it wholly to the Rafidi cause.

There was in Mashhad Tus143 a Rafidi shaikh called Hasan, 
who was held by them to be a saint. He supported them in 
this enterprise and they gave him the title of Caliph. He bade 
them observe the principles of justice, and they did indeed

141 All of these are terms for the leaders and participants in popular 
movements against local authorities; futtak = "assassins', shuttdr = 'Vaga­ 
bonds', suqura='hawks'. I.B.'s account of the Serbedars (='desperadoes', 
literally 'head-on-the-gallows') is extremely confused in parts; their first 
leader was a certain 'Abd al-Razzaq; he was murdered by his brother 
Mas'fid, under whose leadership (1338-44) the movement reached its peak: 
see E.I., s.v. Serbedars. The form Sarbadal is, however, used also by the 
local chronicler Natanzi ('Anonym oflskandar', 158-9, 231-2).

142 Sabzawar (colloquially pronounce Sabzur, according to Yaqut, s.v. 
Baihaq), 64 miles west of Nishapur, was the chief city of the district of 
Baihaq. It was captured by the Serbedars in I337/8-

148 The modern Meshed, see p. 582 below. The shaikh referred to by I.B. 
was Shaikh Hasan Jurl, a noted Shl'ite leader.

575



TURKESTAN AND KHURASAN

exhibit it to such a degree that dirhams and dinars would fall 
to the ground in their camp and not one person would pick 
them up until their owner came and took them. They cap­ 
tured Naisabur, and when the sultan Tughaitumur144 sent 
troops against them, they routed them. He then sent against

67 them his deputy, Arghun Shah, and they routed him too | and 
captured him, but spared his life. After this Tughaitumur 
mounted an expedition against them in person, at the head 
of fifty thousand Tatars, but they routed him, took possession 
of the province, and captured Sarakhs, al-Zawa, and Tvis, 
which are among the principal towns of Khurasan. They 
established their caliph in Mashhad 'All al-Rida, son of 
Musa, 145 captured the city of al-Jam, and encamped outside 
it [with the intention of] advancing to the city of Harat, at a 
distance of six nights' journey from there.

When the report of this reached the king Husain, he 
assembled the amirs, the troops and the citizens, and asked 
their advice whether they should await the arrival of these 
folk or march out towards them and engage them in battle, 
and the general agreement was for going out to meet them. 
[The men of Harat] all belong to a single tribe called the 
Ghawriya, and are said to derive both their name and their 
origin from the Ghawr of Syria. 146 So they prepared for the 
expedition en masse, and assembled from all parts of the 
region, for they are settled in the villages and in the open

es country of Badghis, 147 which extends over a journey of | four 
nights. Its herbage always remains green and serves as 
pasture for their cattle and horses; most of its trees are 
pistachios, which are exported from it to the land of al-'Iraq. 
The troops of Harat were reinforced by the men of Simnan,148

144 See vol. II, p. 341, n. 236.
146 I.e. Mashhad Tus (see p. 582, n. 166). For al-Jam see p. 580 below.
146 For the Ghawr of Syria see vol. I, p. 82. I.B.'s confusion of the GhOr 

(see n. 138 above) with the Ghawr is due to the similarity of the Arabic 
spelling. The supposed origin of the Ghurids from Syria is, of course, 
fictitious.

147 The region between the Harl Rud and the upper Murghab, to the 
north of Herat. In all MSS the name is spelled Marghis.

148 Simnan, 100 miles east of Tehran (see P. Schwarz, Iran im Mittelalter, 
pt. VI, Leipzig, 1929, 819-20), was occupied after the break-up of the 
Ilkhanate by the hereditary prince of Mazenderan, Jalal al-Dawla Iskandar 
b. Ziyar (1334-60). The Serbedar Mas'ud was killed in battle with him in 
1344-
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and they set out in a body to meet the Rafidis, twenty-four 
thousand of them, counting both footsoldiers and horse 
men, under the command of the king Husain. The Rafidis 
assembled in a force of a hundred and fifty thousand horse­ 
men and the encounter took place in the plain of Bushanj. 149 
Both parties alike held their ground, but finally the battle 
turned against the Rafidis, and their sultan, Mas'ud, fled. Their 
caliph, Hasan, stood firm with twenty thousand men until he 
was killed along with most of them, and about four thousand 
of them were taken prisoner. One of those who was present at 
this battle told me that the fighting began shortly after 
sunrise and the flight [of the Sarbadars] was just after 
midday. The king Husain dismounted after | [the hour of] 
midday prayer, and when he had performed the prayer food 
was brought. He and his principal associates then continued 
to eat while the remainder of the troops were beheading the 
prisoners. He returned to his capital after this signal victory, 
when God had supported with His aid the [adherents of the] 
Sunna at his hands and quenched the fire of discord. This 
battle took place after my departure from India in the year 
[seven hundred and] forty-eight. 150

There grew up in Karat a certain pious man, of eminent 
virtue and ascetic life, whose name was Nizam al-Din 
Mawlana. 151 The citizens of Harat held him in high esteem 
and used to follow his instructions, while he would admonish 
them and discourse to them [on the punishment of the wicked 
in Hell]. They made a compact with him to 'redress the evil',152 
and were joined in this undertaking by the khatib of the city, 
known as Malik Warna, who was the paternal cousin of the 
king Husain and married to his father's widow. (He was one 
of the most handsome of men in form and conduct, and the 
king was afraid of him for his own sake and [got rid of him as] 
we shall relate). Whenever they learned of some action

149 The battle was fought at Zawa (see p. 583 below) in July 1342.
150 A singular example of I.B.'s haphazard dating; see the two preceding 

notes.
181 So in the printed text, but MS. 2289 omits 'Mawlana'. For the following 

narrative see the note of the French translators (pp. 456-7) from the 
historian Khwandemir, who confirms I.B.'s account in its general lines, but 
with considerable variation in details.

152 A traditional Qur'anic phrase for the punishment or suppression of 
acts contrary to the Sacred Law.
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contrary to the law, even were it on the part of the king 
himself, they redressed it. |

70 Anecdote. It was told me that they were apprised one day 
that there was committed an unlawful act in the palace of the 
king Husain, whereupon they assembled for the purpose of 
redressing it. The king barricaded himself against them 
inside his palace, but they gathered at the gate to the number 
of six thousand men, and in fear of them he allowed the jurist 
[Nizam al-DIn] and the principal citizens to be admitted. He 
had in fact been drinking wine, so they executed upon him 
the legal penalty153 inside his palace, and withdrew.

Narrative on 154 the cause of the killing of the aforementioned 
jurist Nizam al-Dm. The Turks who inhabit the environs of 
the city of Karat and who live in the open country, along 
with their king Tughaitumur (whom we have already 
mentioned), 155 to the number of about 50,000, used to be a 
cause of terror to the king Husain, and he would send gifts to 
them every year and endeavour to gain their good will. This 
was before his defeat of the Randis; after routing the latter,

71 he imposed his control on the Turks [also]. It was | a custom 
of these Turks to visit the city of Harat from time to time, 
and they often drank wine in it, or a man of them would come 
to it in a state of intoxication; then Nizam al-DIn would 
inflict the legal penalty upon those of them that he found 
drunk. Now these Turks are pugnacious and violent, and they 
continually make descents on the towns in India, and carry 
off [their inhabitants] as captives or kill [them]. Sometimes 
they would take captive some of the Muslim women who live 
in the land of India among the infidels, and when they brought 
them back to Khurasan Nizam al-Din would release the 
Muslim women from the hands of the Turks. The mark of 
Muslim women in India is that they do not pierce their ears, 
whereas the infidel women have their ears pierced. It hap­ 
pened once that one of the amirs of the Turks called Tumuralti 
captured a woman and conceived a violent passion for her. 156 
She stated that she was a Muslim, whereupon the jurist forced

163 The hadd or canonical penalty for wine-drinking is, under the Hanafi 
code, eighty lashes in the case of a free man.

164 MS. 2289 reads wahiya.
«B See p. 576 above. «« MS. 2289 vocalizes kalifa.

578



MURDER OF A FAQIH

him to release her. This action enraged the Turk; he rode out 
with some thousands of his men, raided the horses of Harat 
in | their pasturage in the plain of Badghis, carried them off 72 
and left nothing for the men of Harat to ride on or to milk. 
They took them up into a mountain in those parts where no 
one could prevail against them, and neither the sultan nor his 
soldiers could find horses with which to pursue them. The 
sultan then sent an envoy to them, to request them to restore 
the cattle and horses that they had seized and to remind them 
of the pact between them and himself. They replied that they 
would not restore their booty until he should allow them to 
lay hands on the jurist Nizam al-Din, but the sultan refused 
to consent to this. The shaikh Abu Ahmad al-Jishti, the 
grandson of the shaikh Mawdud al-Jishti, 157 enjoyed a great 
reputation in Khurasan and his word was held in high esteem 
by its people. This man rode [to the sultan] with a mounted 
company of his disciples and mamluks and said 'I shall 
personally conduct the faqih Nizam al-Din to the Turks, so 
that they may be placated by this, and then j I shall bring 73 
him back again.' Since those present were in favour of his 
proposal, the faqih Nizam al-Din, seeing their unanimous 
agreement upon it, rode out with the shaikh Abu Ahmad and 
arrived at [the camp of] the Turks. The amir Tumuralti rose 
up at his approach, and, saying to him 'It was you who took 
my woman from me/ struck him with his mace and smashed 
his brain, so that he fell dead. The shaikh Abu Ahmad, vexed 
and disconcerted, returned from the place to his town, and 
the Turks restored the horses and cattle that they had 
seized.

Some time later this same Turk who had killed the faqih 
came to the city of Harat. He was met by a body of the faqih's 
associates who came up to him as though to salute him, but 
with swords under their robes, and they killed him, while his 
companions fled for their lives. After this event the king 
Husain sent his uncle's son Malik Warna, who had been the 
partner of the faqih Nizam al-Din in [the campaign for] the

157 I.e. al-Chishti (from the village of Chisht in Sijistan), one of the 
founders of the famous Eastern order of the Chishtlya (see E.I., s.v.), d. 
1132/3. In the contemporary Ta'rlkh Ndma-i Harat (Calcutta, 1944, p. 647) 
Abu Ahmad is mentioned (with the title Shaikh al-Islam) in company with 
Ni?am al-DIn.
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74 reform | of unlawful conduct, as envoy to the king of Sijistan. 168 
On his arrival there, the king Husain sent an order to him to 
remain in Sijistan and not to return to him. He set out to go 
to India, in consequence, and I met him, as I was leaving the 
country, at the city of Siwasitan in Sind. 159 He was an excel­ 
lent man, who had a natural liking for positions of authority, 
and for hunting, falcons, horses, slaves, attendants, and 
royal garments made of rich stuffs. Now a man of this order 
will find himself in no happy situation in the land of India. 
In his case, the king of India made him governor of a small 
town, and he was assassinated there on account of a slave- 
girl by one of the men of Harat who were living in India. It 
was said that the king of India had secretly employed the 
man to assassinate him at the instigation of the king Husain, 
and it was for this reason that the king Husain acknowledged 
the king of India as his suzerain after the death of the afore­ 
mentioned Malik Warna. The king of India exchanged gifts 
with him and gave him the city of Bakar in Sind, whose tax- 
yield is fifty thousand silvar dinars a year. 160 |

75 Let us return now to our narrative: From Harat we 
travelled to the city of al-Jam, a place of middling size, 
pretty, with orchards and trees, abundance of springs, and 
flowing streams. Most of its trees are mulberries, and silk is 
to be had there in quantities. 161 The town takes its name 
from the self-denying and ascetic saint Shihab al-Din Ahmad 
al-Jam, whose history we shall relate shortly. His grandson 
was the shaikh Ahmad, known as Zada, who was executed by

168 Sijistan (Sistan) was ruled under the Mongols and their successors by a 
line of descendants from the Saffarid house, which had survived through all 
the vicissitudes of the preceding centuries. The ruling princes at this time 
were Qutb al-DIn Muhammad (1331-45; succeeded by his son Taj al-Din, d. 
1350) and his brother 'Izz al-DIn (1333-82).

189 A statement referring to his visit to the Sultan Muhammad ibn 
Tughluq during the latter's stay in Siwasitan, when I.E. asked to be 
allowed to go to the Hijaz (see p. 766 below).

leo Presumably Bhakkar, on the left bank of the Indus, about 120 miles 
north of Multan. These negotiations with the king of Herat are apparently 
passed over in silence by the Indian historians.

161 In modern times called Turbat-i Shaikh Jam, formerly Buzjan or 
Puchkan, in Quhistan on the borders of Badghis, and on the direct road 
from Herat to Nishapftr and Tus. Mustawfi (p. 171) gives the distances as 
30 farsakhs from Herat to Puchkan, and 38 from Puchkan to Nlshapur. 
Shaikh Ahmad of Jam lived 1049-1142.
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the king of India, and the city is now in the hands of his sons. 
It is exempted from paying taxes to the sultan, and [the 
members of the shaikh's house] live there in well-being and 
opulence. It was told me by a person in whom I have confi­ 
dence that the sultan Abu Sa'id, the king of al-'Iraq, came 
to Khurasan on one occasion and encamped in this city, in 
which is the hospice of the shaikh. Whereupon the shaikh 
[Ahmad] entertained him with an immense [display of] 
hospitality; he gave one sheep to every tent in the sultan's 
mahalla, one sheep to every four men, and to every riding- 
beast in the mahalla, whether | horse, mule, or ass, one night's 76 
forage, so that not a single animal was left in the mahalla 
without receiving [its share of] his hospitality.

History of the Shaikh Shihab al-Dln, after whom the city of 
al-Jdm is named: It is related that [in his youth] he was 
given to pleasure and addicted to drinking. He had about 
sixty drinking-companions, and it was their custom to meet 
for one day in the house of each one of them, so that each 
man's turn came round every two months. They continued 
in this fashion for a time. At length one day when the turn of 
the shaikh Shihab al-DIn arrived, on the eve of his turn he 
made a resolution to repent and determined to set himself 
aright with his Lord. He said to himself, 'If I say to my 
associates that I repented before their meeting in my house, 
they will impute my statement to inability to entertain 
them/ so he made the same preparations as had formerly 
been made by | any one of his fellows in the way of food and 77 
drink, and put the wine into wineskins. His companions 
arrived, and on preparing to drink opened a skin, but when 
one of them tasted it he found it to be sweet. 162 They then 
opened another, found it the same, then a third, and found it 
likewise, and proceeded to expostulate with the shaikh on 
this score. Thereupon he confessed to them the true state of 
his affair, made a clean breast of the circumstances, 163 and 
informed them of his repentance, adding 'By God, this wine 
is no different from what you have been in the habit of

1M Arabic hulwan, apparently in the sense of 'non-intoxicating'.
183 I use this idiomatic phrase to reproduce the Arabic idiom, 'He told 

them truthfully the age of his young camel.' For the variant, but certainly 
incorrect, readings see the French editors' note on p. 457.
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drinking in the past.' Whereupon they all repented, turning 
to God Most High, built that hospice, and devoted themselves 
to the service of God Most High. Many miraculous graces 
and divinations164 have been made manifest at the hand of 
this shaikh.

We travelled on from al-Jam to the city of Tus, which is 
one of the largest and most illustrious cities of Khurasan, the 
home-town of the celebrated Imam Abu Hamid al-Ghazali 
(God be pleased with him), and the place of his tomb. 165 
Thence we went on to the city of Mashhad al-Rida, al-Rida 
being 'All b. Musa al-Kazim b. Ja'far al-Sadiq b. Muhammad 
al-Baqir b. 'AH Zain | al-'Abidin b. Husain al-Shahid, son of 
'All b. Abi Talib (God be pleased with them). 166 This too is a 
large and important city, with abundance of fruits, streams, 
and grinding-mills. Living there was al-Tahir Muhammad 
Shah (al-Tahir has among them the same significance as 
al-Naqtb among the people of Egypt, Syria, and al-'Iraq).167 
The people of India and Sind and Turkistan say 'Al-Sayyid 
al-AjalT , 168 Also at this sanctuary was the qadi, the sharif Jalal 
al-Din (I met him in India), and sharif 'All169 and his two sons, 
Amir Hindu and Dawlat Shah—these accompanied me from 
Tirmidh to India. 170 They were [all] men of eminent virtue.

164 For this sense of mukashafat cf. vol. II, p. 471, 2 lines from foot.
166 Tus, a few miles to the north of Meshed, was destroyed by the Mongols 

in 1220, but apparently recovered, since it had a Mongol governor and a 
Nestorian bishop (see E.I., s.v.). Al-Ghazali (d. mi) was one of the greatest 
of the mediaeval doctors in Islam, and is the subject of a vast literature. The 
site of his tomb is not now known.

166 The eighth Imam of the 'Twelver' Shi'ites (see vol. II, p. 325, n. 175), 
who died (or, according to the Shi'ites, was poisoned) at the village of 
Sanabadh, outside Tus, in 818, after being proclaimed heir-presumptive by 
the 'Abbasid caliph al-Ma'mun, son of al-Rashid. His shrine became 'one of 
the most venerated of holy places', in the words of I.B.'s contemporary 
Mustawfi, who adds that 'at the present day it has become a little town' 
(tr. 149). See also E.J., s.v. Meshhed.

167 I.e. Marshal of the Sharifs; see vol. I, p. 258, n. 50. fdhir means 
literally 'pure, free from vice'.

168 'The Most Eminent Sayyid', i.e. the most excellent among the Sayyids.
169 Apparently the same as the sharif Amir 'All, mentioned later in this 

volume. But he does not mention the sharif Jalal al-Din elsewhere. MS. 2289 
vocalizes the last name as Dulat Shah, and reads 'He (i.e. Sharif 'All) was a 
man of eminent virtue'.

170 The Sharif 'Ali and his two sons joined I.E. at Tirmidh and accom­ 
panied him to India.
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The noble sanctuary is surmounted by a great dome inside 
a hospice, with a college and a mosque adjoining it. All these 
buildings are of elegant construction, | their walls being ?9 
colourfully decorated171 with Qashani [tiles]. Over the tomb 
is a wooden staging coated with plaques of silver, with a 
silver candelabra suspended above it. The threshold of the 
door of the dome-chamber is of silver, and over the door 
itself is a curtain of gold-embroidered silk. The chamber is 
carpeted with different sorts of rugs. Facing this tomb is the 
tomb of Harun al-Rashid, the Commander of the Faithful 
(God be pleased with him), and over it is a staging on which 
they place candlesticks (which the people of the Maghrib 
call by the name of hasaka and manara)™* When a Rafidi 
enters to visit [the tomb of al-Rida], he kicks the tomb of 
al-Rashid with his foot and pronounces a blessing on al- 
Rida. 173

We went on next to the city of Sarakhs, after which is named 
the pious shaikh Luqman al-Sarakhs! (God be pleased with 
him). 174 Thence we travelled to the city of Zawa, which is the 
city of the pious shaikh Qutb al-Din Haidar, who has given 
his name to the Haidari group of poor brethren. 175 These are 
[the faqirs] who put iron rings in their hands, necks, and ears, 
and they go so far as to put them also on their penes | so that so 
they cannot perform the act of copulation.

We continued our journey from there and came to the city 
of Naisabur, which is one of the four metropolitan cities of 
Khurasan. 176 It is [sometimes] called 'Little Damascus',

171 I read masbugh with MS. 2289. For qashdnl see vol. I, p. 256, n. 42.
172 The text has shama'ddndt, a term presumably unknown in Morocco, 

hence I.B.'s explanation by a word of local use (hasaka in literary Arabic 
meaning 'thistle') and a common Arabic term for any kind of stand for a light.

173 HarOn al-Rashid died at Tus while leading an expedition to Khurasan 
in 809. According to the geographer al-Qazwmi (cited by Le Strange, Lands, 
390), the caliph al-Ma'mun (see n. 166 above) made both graves exactly alike 
so that they could not be distinguished.

174 Luqman is mentioned (without dates) by JamI, Nafahat al-Uns, 296-7.
175 A devotee in the thirteenth century, associated with the Qalandarl 

darwlshes (see vol. I, p. 37, n. 108). According to al-Maqrlzi, 'Treatise on 
Hemp' (trans. S. de Sacy, Chrestomathie arabe, Paris 1806, II, 120-34), he is 
credited (obviously without foundation) with having introduced the use of 
hashish into Persia.

178 The old city of Nishapur, which survived the Mongol invasion, was 
destroyed by an earthquake in 1280 and a new city built in its vicinity 
(MustawfJ, 147; the translation has 629 (A.H.) for 679).
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because of its quantities of fruits, orchards and streams, and 
by reason of its beauty. It is traversed by four canals, and 
its bazaars are excellent and extensive. Its mosque is ex­ 
quisite ; it is situated in the centre of the bazaar and close by 
it four colleges, with an abundant supply of running water. 
They are inhabited by a great host of students studying the 
Qur'an and jurisprudence, and are among the good colleges 
of that land. [But] the colleges of Khurasan, the two 'Iraqs, 
Damascus, Baghdad and Cairo, although they attain the 
highest architectural skill and beauty, yet all of them fall 
short of the college established by our Master, the Com­ 
mander of the Faithful, al-Mutawakkil 'ala'llah, the warrior

si in the cause of God, the man of learning among kings, | and 
the centrepiece of the necklace of justice-loving Caliphs, 
Abu 'Inan (God extend his felicity and give victory to his 
army), 177 namely the college near the gasba178 of the capital 
city of Fez (God Most High protect her). For this college has 
no rival in size, elevation, or the decorative plasterwork in 
it—[indeed] the people of the East have no ability to produce 
such [plasterwork]. 179 There are manufactured at Naisabur 
silk fabrics of nakh, kamkhd' 180 and other kinds, and these are 
exported from it to India. In this city is the hospice of the 
shaikh and learned imam, the devout Pole Qutb al-Din al- 
Naisaburi, one of the saintly homiletic preachers and scholars, 
with whom I lodged. He gave me excellent and most generous 
hospitality, and I was witness to some astonishing proofs181 
and graces accorded to him.

A miraculous grace of his. I had purchased in Naisabur a 
Turkish slave-boy, and this shaikh, seeing him with me, said 
to me This boy is no good to you; sell him/ I said to him

82 'Very well', and sold | the boy on the very next day, when he

177 For Sultan Abu 'Inan see vol. I, p. 3, n. 8, and for the Bu 'Inanlya 
college ibid., p. 53, n. 166.

178 Arabic al-qasaba, originally and commonly meaning 'fortress', but 
frequently applied in North Africa to the fortified quarter of a city which 
contained the palace and its dependencies; see G. Marcais, L'Architecture 
musulmane d'Occident, Paris 1954, 407-8.

179 On the special techniques applied to stucco work in Granada and the 
Maghrib see G. Marfais, op. cit., 228-31, 331—2.

iso For these fabrics see vol. II, p. 445, n. 117, and 446, n. 122.
181 'Proofs' (bavahln) in the sense of evidentiary miracles testifying to his 

quality as a saint.
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was bought by a certain merchant. I took leave of the shaikh 
and went on my way; afterwards when I stopped in the city 
of Bistam, one of my friends wrote to me from Naisabur to 
relate that this slave-boy had killed a Turkish boy and been 
put to death in retaliation for him. This is an evident miracu­ 
lous grace accorded to this shaikh (God be pleased with 
him).

From Naisabur I went on to the city of Bistam, which has 
given its name to the celebrated shaikh and knower [of the 
mysteries] Abu Yazid al-Bistami.182 In this city is his tomb, 
beside which, under the same cupola, is [the tomb of] one of 
the sons of Ja'far al-Sadiq (God be pleased with him). 183 In 
Bistam also is the tomb of the pious shaikh and saint Abu'l- 
Hasan al-Kharaqa.ni. 184 My lodging in this city was in the 
hospice of the shaikh Abu Yazid al-Bistami (God be pleased 
with him).

I continued my journey from this city by way of Hindu- 
khir185 to Qundus and Baghlan, which are [regions of] vil­ 
lages where there are to be found shaikhs and pious men, and 
with fruit-gardens and streams. 186 We encamped | at Qundus 
by a flowing river, 187 where there was a hospice belonging to 
one of the shaikhs of the poor brethren, an Egyptian who was 
called Shir Siydh, and that means "The Black Lion'. 188 We 
were entertained there by the governor of that land, who

182 Commonly called Bayezid, one of the most famous of the ecstatic 
mystics of Islam, d. 874; see E.I*, s.v. AbQ Yazid, and L. Massignon, 
Lexique technique de la Mystique musulmane, Paris 1922, 243-56. There is a 
photograph of the tomb in E. Diez, Kunst der islamischen Volkev, Berlin, 
1917, p. 69.

183 Not mentioned elsewhere, and perhaps a confusion with the reputed 
tomb of Muhammad b. Ja'far al-Sadiq in Jurjan (Mustawfi, tr., 156).

184 Abu'l-Iiasan 'All b. Ahmad, d. 1035, a later disciple of Bayezid; see 
al-Sam'am, A nsdb, s.v. al-Kharaqani.

185 This is the reading adopted by the French editors from MS. 2289, but 
the preferable reading is that of two other MSS, Hindukha, for Hindakhu. 
Their suggestion that this stands for Andakhudh (now Andkhoy), 100 miles 
west of Balkh, is apparently confirmed by the marginal reading Indkhu in 
Hudud al-'Alam (tr. V. Minorsky, London, 1937, P- IO7. n - 2)-

186 Qunduz still exists with the same name, on the lower course of the 
river called after it, before its junction with the Amu Darya. Baghlan (now 
an industrial centre) was the name of the region on its middle reaches (here 
called Surkhab) between Qunduz and Bamiyan. See J. Humlum, La 
Geographic del'Afghanistan, Copenhagen 1959, p. 155.

187 Literally 'by a stream of water'. "8 Not known.

585



TURKESTAN AND KHURASAN

was a man from al-Mawsil, living in a large garden there­ 
abouts. We remained on the outskirts of this village for about 
forty days, in order to pasture the camels and horses. At that 
place there are excellent pastures and quantities of herbage, 
and security there is universally established by reason of the 
severity of the judgements given by the amir Buruntaih. 189 
We have already said that by the laws of the Turks anyone 
who steals a horse must [restore it and] give along with it 
nine like it; if he cannot find this [number] his sons are taken 
in their place, and if he has no sons he is slaughtered like a 
sheep. The people [there] leave their animals to graze at will, 
without any herdsman, after each one has branded his 
animals on their thighs, and so also did we do in this country.

84 It happened that we made a check of | our horses after we 
had camped there for ten nights, and found three of them 
missing, but after half a month the Tatars brought them to 
us at our camp, for fear of what might befall them from the 
[application of the] laws. We used to picket two horses 
opposite our tents every night to deal with anything that 
might happen at night-time. We did lose two horses one 
night [just before] we set out from there, and twenty-two 
days later they brought them both back to us while we were 
on the road.

Another reason for our halt was fear of the snow. For upon 
this road there is a mountain called Hindukush, which means 
'the slayer of the Indians', 190 because the slave-boys and girls 
who are brought from the land of India die there in large 
numbers as a result of the extreme cold and the great 
quantity of snow. [The passage of] it extends for a whole 
day's march. We stayed until the warm weather had defin­ 
itely set in and crossed this mountain, [setting out] about the

85 end of the night j and travelling on it all day long until 
sunset. We kept spreading felt cloths in front of the camels 
for them to tread on, so that they should not sink in the 
snow.

[On setting out from Baghlan] 191 we journeyed to a place

189 See p. 561 above, and for the laws on horse-stealing vol. II, p. 474. 
wo This seems to be the earliest, or one of the earliest, occurrences of this 

name.
191 Seen. 186above.
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called Andar. 192 There existed there in former times a city, 
whose traces have been obliterated, and we alighted in a 
large village in which there was a hospice belonging to an 
excellent man named Muhammad al-Mahrawi. We lodged 
with him and he treated us with consideration. When we 
washed our hands after eating, he would drink the water in 
which we had washed because of his strong belief [in our 
merits] and his benevolence. He travelled with us until we 
scaled the mountain of Hindukush mentioned above. We 
found on this mountain a spring of warm water, but when we 
washed our faces with it the skin peeled off and we suifered 
sorely in consequence.

[After crossing the mountain] we halted at a place called 
Banj Hir (banj means 'five' and hir means 'mountain', so that 
the name means 'five mountains'). 193 There was there [in 
former times] a fine and populous city | on a great river of se 
blue water, resembling a sea, 194 which comes down from the 
mountains of Badakhshan (it is in these mountains that there 
are found the rubies that are called by people balakhsh) , 195 
This land was devastated by Tanklz, the king of the Tatars, 
and has not recovered its prosperity since. In this city is the 
mausoleum of the shaikh Sa'id al-Makki, who is greatly 
venerated among them. 196

We came to the mountains of Pashay, where there is the 
hospice of the saintly shaikh Ata Awliya'. 197 Ata means, in 
Turkish, 'father', and awliya' is Arabic [meaning 'friends [of 
God]', i.e. saints], so his name means 'Father of the Saints'.

198 Andarab, on the headwaters of the Doshi (Surkhab) river. It was the 
place at which the silver from the mines of Panjhlr was formerly minted as 
dirhams; see V. Minorsky, Hudud al-'Alam, p. 341. The valley of Andarab 
leads to the Khawak Pass (13,000 feet); the hot springs in the upper valley 
have temperatures of 108° and 124° Fahr. (H. Yule, Cathay and the Way 
Thither, IV, 258, n. 2).

198 Panjhlr was formerly of great importance for its silver mines, and 
noted for its unruly population. In modern times the ancient term hir 
( = mountain) was replaced by shir ( =lion).

194 Not 'blue like the sea', but in volume 'comparable to a sea'. The 
Panjhlr river is the principal tributary of the Kabul river.

195 See p. 571 and n. 124 above.
196 Not known.
197 Literally 'Father of the Saints', but not identified. Pashai is the name of 

a tribe (formerly kdfir, i.e. pagan) in the Panjhlr valley and the region to the 
south of it, still called Kafiristan (see £./., s.v.); cf. Marco Polo, cap. xxx 
(Yule, I. 164-5).
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He is called also by the name of Slsad Salah, sTsad in Persian 
meaning 'three hundred', and sdlah meaning 'year', since 
they state that his age is three hundred and fifty years. They 
have a strong belief in his merits [as a saint], | and come to &? 
visit him from the towns and villages, and the sultans and 
the princesses visit him too. He showed us honour and enter­ 
tained us as his guests. We encamped by a river near his 
hospice and went to visit him, and when I saluted him he 
embraced me. His skin is fresh and smoother than any that I 
have seen; anyone seeing him would take him to be fifty years 
old. He informed me that every hundred years there grew on 
him [new] hair and teeth, and that he had seen Abu Ruhm, 
whose tomb is at Multan in Sind. I asked him whether he 
had any Traditions [of the Prophet] to transmit, 198 and 
he told me a lot of tales. I had some doubts about him, and 
God knows how much truth there was in what he claimed.

We went on next to Parwan,199 where I met the amir 
Buruntaih. He made gifts to me, showed me consideration 
and wrote to his deputies in the city of Ghazna that they 
should treat me honourably. I have already | spoken of him, as 
and have mentioned the immensity of stature with which he 
was endowed. 200 He had in his company a group of shaikhs 
and poor brethren, hospice folk. We travelled next to the 
village of al-Charkh, a large place with many fruit-gardens 
and excellent fruit. 201 We arrived there in the height of 
summer, and found in it a company of poor brethren and 
students of religion. We prayed the Friday prayers in it, and 
its governor, Muhammad al-Charkhl, offered us hospitality. 
I met him [again] later in India.

We then journeyed to the city of Ghazna, the town 
[associated with] the sultan and warrior for the Faith Mahmud 
b. Subuktakin, of famous name. 202 He was one of the greatest

198 The hearing of Traditions from aged persons was eagerly sought, since 
they shortened the chain of transmitters from the original source; cf. vol. I,
P- 155-

199 At the junction of the Panjhir and Ghorband rivers, 45 miles north of
Kabul.

800 See p. 561 and n. 80 above. 201 Charikar, ten miles south of Parwan.
202 In Persian pronunciation Ghazni, 75 miles south by west of Kabul; 

see £./., s.v. It was the capital of the dynasty of Turkish princes called after 
it Ghaznevids (962-1186), and suffered severely from the Ghurids and later 
invaders.
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of rulers, was given the title of Yamm al-Dawla, 203 and made 
frequent incursions into the land of India, where he captured 
cities and fortresses. His tomb is in this city, with a hospice 
around it. The greater part of the town is in ruins, with 
nothing but a fraction of it still standing, although it was

89 [formerly] a great city. It has an exceedingly | cold climate, 
and the inhabitants move out of it in the cold season to the 
city of al-Qandahar. 204 This is a large and fertile place, but I 
did not visit it; it is three nights' journey from Ghazna. We 
encamped outside Ghazna, in a village there on a stream 
[that flows] below its citadel. We were honourably received 
by its governor, Mardak Agha (mardak meaning [in Persian] 
'little [man]' and aghd meaning 'of great family'). 205

We travelled next to Kabul. This was in former times a 
great city, 206 and on its site there is now a village inhabited 
by a tribe of Persians called al-Afghan. 207 They hold moun­ 
tains and defiles and have powerful forces at their disposal, 
and the majority of them are brigands. Their principal 
mountain is called Kuh Sulaiman. 208 It is related that the 
Prophet of God Sulaiman (peace be upon him) climbed this 
mountain and looked out over the land of India, which was

90 [then] covered with darkness, | but returned without entering 
it, so the mountain was named after him. It is in this moun­ 
tain that the king of Afghan resides. At Kabul is the hospice

2oa Mahmud (reigned 999-1030) acquired an immense reputation by his 
raids into India, by which the foundations were laid for the future Islamic 
sultanate of Dihli. The title of 'Right Hand of the State' was conferred on 
him by the 'Abbasid caliph al-Qadir; see E.I., s.v., and M. Nazim, The Life 
and Times of Sultan Mahmud of Ghazna, Cambridge 1931. The later history 
of his tomb is related ibid., p. 124, n. 3.

204 Ghazna, at an altitude of 2,220 metres, has a mean January tempera­ 
ture of -6-7° Cent., Kandahar, 200 miles to the south-west, at an altitude 
of 1,040 metres, has +5-6° (Humlum, p. 56).

205 See vol. II, p. 434, n. 80.
206 This is probably a reminiscence of the expeditions to Kabul in the 

early centuries of Islam, but al-Idrlsi also speaks of Kabul as a great Hindu 
city; see E.I., s.v. It is difficult to see how I.E. could have visited Ghazna 
from Parwan without first passing through Kabul; most probably the para­ 
graph on Kabul precedes that on Ghazna.

207 At this time the term seems to have been applied only to the tribes in 
the south-eastern region of modern Afghanistan; see E.I., s.v.

m The Sulaiman range, to the east of Cjuetta, overlooking the plain of the 
Indus, the highest point of which (11,295 **•) is called Takht-i Sulaiman 
('Solomon's Throne').
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of the shaikh Isma'il al-Afgham, the disciple of the shaikh 
'Abbas, who was one of the great saints. 209

From there we rode to Karmash, which is a fortress210 
between two mountains, where the Afghan intercept travel­ 
lers. During our passage of the defile we had an engagement 
with them. They were on the slope of the mountain, but we 
shot arrows at them and they fled. Our party was travelling 
light [without baggage-train] and had with them about four 
thousand horses. I had some camels, 211 as a result of which I 
got separated from the caravan, along with a company, some 
of them being Afghan. We jettisoned some of our provisions, 
and abandoned the loads of those camels that were jaded on 
the way, but next day our horsemen returned to the place 
and picked them up. We rejoined the caravan after the last 
evening prayer, and spent the night at the station of Shash- 
nagar, which is the last inhabited place on the confines of the 
land of the Turks. 212 From there | we entered the great desert, 9i 
which extends for a space of fifteen nights' march; 213 it 
cannot be entered except in one season of the year, namely 
after the rains have fallen in the land of Sind and India, 
which is in the first days of the month of July. There blows 
in this desert the deadly samum wind, which causes bodies

209 Probably the mausoleum of Jabir al-Ansari (sth/uth cent.), son of the 
Herat philosopher and poet 'Abdallah al-Ansari: see Wolfe, An Historical 
Guide to Kabul, Kabul, 1965, p. 95.

210 MS. 2289 reads 'a narrow defile', as against the other MSS. From the 
context it would seem that the original reading was 'a fort in a narrow 
defile 1 . Karmash is a mountainous tract to the south-east of Gardiz, which is 
35 miles east of Ghazna (H. G. Raverty, Afghanistan and Part of 
Baluchistan, London, 1880, p. 91).

211 MS. 2289 reads 'a fever' (hummd).
212 Shashnagar is commonly identified with the district of Hashtnagar, 

16 miles north-east of Peshawar, but this cannot be reconciled with the 
probable identification of Karmash (n. 209 above), nor with the following 
narrative.

213 The Indus river at Attock is only 40 miles from Hashtnagar, so that 
the journey from there should require less than two days. The statement in 
the text requires a journey of well over 300 miles. In conjunction with I.B.'s 
later statement that he crossed the Indus at some point three or four days' 
journey from Siwasitan (Sehwan; see pp. 596-7 below), the only plausible 
identification of his route is one that went southwards from Ghazna through 
the desert west of the Sulaiman range (note his reference to it, p. 590 above), 
thence into the plain of Sind, and reached the Indus at some point in the 
district of Larkana, a total distance of about 350 miles from the point 
indicated here.
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to crumble through putrefaction, so that when a man dies 
his limbs fall apart. We have already mentioned that this 
wind blows also in the desert between Hurmuz and Shiraz. 214 
A large party, which included Khudhawand-Zada, the qadi 
of Tirmidh, 215 had preceded us, and they lost by death many 
camels and horses. Our company arrived safely (praise be to 
God Most High) at Banj Ab, which is the water of Sind. 
Banj means 'five' and db means 'water', so the [whole] name 
means 'The five rivers'. 216 These flow into the main river 

92 and irrigate those districts, as we shall mention later, | if God 
will. Our arrival at this river was on the last day of Dhu'l- 
Hijja, and there rose upon us that night the new moon of 
al-Muharram of the year 734. 217 From this point the intel­ 
ligence officers wrote a report about us to the land of India, 
and gave its king a detailed account of our circumstances.

Here ends what we have to say concerning the first journey. 
Praise be to God, Lord of the Worlds.

214 See vol. II, p. 404 and n. 130.
215 On p. 565 above Khudhawand Zada is called the ruler of Tirmidh, and 

clearly distinguished from the qadi, but in the later narrative (p. 606 below) 
he is again called the qadi.

216 Banj for Persian panj. As already seen (vol. I, p. 50), I.E. does not 
clearly distinguish the Indus proper from the five-river complex of the 
Panjab. His term 'water of Sind' in the preceding sentence probably reflects 
the Persian usage.

217 12 September 1333.
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I
CHAPTER X

Sind and North-Western India
N the Name of God, the Merciful, the Compassionate and 
the Blessing and Peace of God be upon our lord Muham­ 
mad, and his House, and his Companions.

The shaikh Abu 'Abdallah Muhammad, son of 'Abdallah, 
son of Muhammad, son of Ibrahim, of the tribe of Luwata, 
of the city of Tangier, known by the name of Ibn Battuta 
(God's mercy upon him) related as follows:

On the day of the new moon of the holy month of Muhar- 
ram, the first day of the year 734, we came to the river of 
Sind called Banj Ab, which means 'the Five Waters'. This is 
one of the greatest rivers on earth. It rises in flood in the hot 
season, and the inhabitants of that country sow at the time 
of its flood, just as the people of Egypt do during the 
Nile flood. This river is the frontier | of the territories 
of the exalted Sultan Muhammad Shah, king of Hind and 
Sind. 1

When we reached this river the officials of the intelligence 
service who are charged with that duty came to us and wrote 
a report about us to Qutb al-Mulk, the governor of the city 
of Multan.2 The chief of the amirs of Sind at this time was 
one of the Sultan's mamluks, named Sartiz. He is the 
inspector-general of the mamluks, and all the Sultan's troops 
parade before him for review.3 His name means 'the Sharp-

1 For Sultan Muhammad b. Tughluq, see chap. XII below. The distinction 
between Hind and Sind (whose name is derived from the Sanskrit name of 
the Indus, Sindhu) derives, for Muslim writers, from the fact that Sind, 
having been conquered by the Arabs in 712, constituted a province of the 
Islamic Empire from that time, whereas India was first invaded by Mahmud 
of Ghazna (see p. 589 above) in the eleventh century.

* See p. 605 below.
'See p. 563 above. The latter phrase seems to define precisely the 

significance of his title.
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headed', because sar means [in Persian] 'head' and tiz means 
'sharp'. At the time of our arrival he was in the city of 
Siwasitan in Sind, 4 which is ten days' journey from Multan. 
From the province of Sind to the Sultan's capital, the city 
of Dihli, it is fifty days' journey, but when the intelligence 
officers write to the Sultan from Sind the letter reaches him 
in five days by the postal service. |

95 Description of the Band [Postal Service]. 5 The postal service 
in India is of two kinds. The horse-post, which they call 
iildq,* consists of horses belonging to the Sultan [with relays] 
every four miles. The service of couriers on foot has within 
the space of each mile three relays, which they call ddwa, 7 
the ddwa being a third of a mile, and a mile itself is called by 
them kuruh. 8 The manner of its organization is as follows. At 
every third of a mile there is an inhabited village, outside 
which there are three pavilions. In these sit men girded up 
ready to move off, each of whom has a rod two cubits long 
with copper bells at the top. When a courier leaves the town 
he takes the letter in the fingers of one hand and the rod with 
the bells in the other, and runs with all his might. The men in

96 the pavilions, on hearing | the sound of the bells, get ready to 
meet him and when he reaches them one of them takes the 
letter in his hand and passes on, running with all his might 
and shaking his rod until he reaches the next ddwa, and so 
they continue until the letter reaches its destination. This 
post is quicker than the mounted post, and they often use it 
to transport fruits from Khurasan which are regarded as 
great luxuries in India; the couriers put them on [woven 
baskets like] plates and carry them with great speed to the 
Sultan. In the same way they transport the principal crimi­ 
nals; they place each man on a stretcher and run carrying 
the stretcher on their heads. Likewise they bring the Sultan's 
drinking water when he resides at Dawlat Abad, carrying it

4 See p. 597 below.
6 On the bar Id, see vol. I p. 51, n. 159.
6 A messenger or courier on a relay of post horses (Turkish).
7 Persian daw, 'running'; MS. A reads 'which they call daw, each dawa 

being a third of a mile*. This would correspond more accurately to Arabic 
usage, daw being the collective and dawa the noun of unity. But the auto­ 
graph MS. 2291 has dawa in the passage on p. 618 below.

8 Urdu kuroh, a third of a.farsakh (see vol. I, p. 34 n. 93). Its equivalence 
with the Arabic mile (or two kilometres) is only approximate.
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from the river Rank [Ganges], to which the Hindus go on 
pilgrimage and which is at a distance of | forty days' journey 97 
from there.

When the intelligence officials write to the Sultan inform­ 
ing him of those who arrive in his country, the letter is 
written with the utmost precision and fulness of description. 9 
They report to him that a certain man has arrived of such- 
and-such appearance and dress, and note the number of his 
party, slaves and servants and beasts, his behaviour both on 
the move and at rest, and all his doings, omitting no details 
relating to all of these. When the newcomer reaches the town 
of Multan, which is the capital of Sind, he stays there until 
the Sultan's order is received regarding his entry and the de­ 
gree of hospitality to be extended to him. A man is honoured 
in that country only according to what may be seen of 
his actions, conduct, and zeal, since no one there knows 
anything of his family or parentage. The king of India, the 
Sultan Abu'l-Mujahid Muhammad Shah, makes a practice 
of honouring strangers and showing affection to them and 
singling them out for governorships or high dignities of 
state. | The majority of his courtiers, palace officials, minis- 9s 
ters of state, judges, and relatives by marriage are foreigners, 
and he has issued a decree that foreigners are to be called in 
his country by the title of 'Azlz [Honourable], so that this 
has become a proper name for them.

Every person proceeding to the court of this king must 
needs have a gift ready to present to him in person, in order 
to gain his favour. The Sultan requites him for it by a gift 
many times its value. We shall have much to tell later on 
about the presents made to him by foreigners. When people 
became familiar with this habit of his, the merchants in Sind 
and India began to furnish each person who came to visit the 
Sultan with thousands of dinars as a loan, and to supply him 
with whatever he might desire to offer as a gift or for his own 
use, such as riding animals, camels and goods. They place 
both their money and their persons at his service, and stand 
before him like attendants. When he reaches the Sultan, he 
receives a magnificent gift from him | and pays off his debts 99 
and his dues to them in full. So they ran a flourishing trade

' The MSS readings vary slightly, but all amount to the same thing.
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and made vast profits, and it became an established usage 
amongst them. On reaching Sind I followed this practice and 
bought horses, camels, white slaves and other goods from the 
merchants. I had already bought in Ghazna from an 'Iraqi 
merchant, a man from Takrit by the name of Muhammad 
al-Duri, about thirty horses and a camel with a load of 
arrows, for this is one of the things presented to the Sultan. 
This merchant went off to Khurasan and on returning later 
to India received his money from me. He made an enormous 
profit through me and became one of the principal merchants. 
I met him many years later, in the city of Aleppo, when the 
infidels had robbed me of everything I possessed, but I 
received no kindness from him. |

TOO Description of the Rhinoceros. After crossing the river of 
Sind called Banj Ab, we entered a forest of reeds, following 
the track which led through the midst of it, when we were 
confronted by a rhinoceros. In appearance it is a black 
animal with a huge body and a disproportionately large 
head. For this reason it has become the subject of a proverb, 
as the saying goes Al-karkaddan rds bild badan (rhinoceros, 
head and no torso). It is smaller than an elephant but its 
head is many times larger than an elephant's. It has a single 
horn between its eyes, about three cubits in length and about 
a span in breadth. When it came out against us one of the 
horsemen got in its way; it struck the horse which he was 
riding with its horn, pierced his thigh and knocked him down, 
then went back into the thicket and we could not get at it. I 
saw a rhinoceros a second time on this road after the hour of 
afternoon prayer. It was feeding on plants but when we

ioi approached it | it ran away. I saw a rhinoceros yet another 
time when in the company of the king of India we had entered 
a jungle of reeds. The sultan was mounted on an elephant 
and we too were mounted on elephants along with him. The 
foot-soldiers and horsemen went in and beat it up, killed it 
and conveyed its head to the camp (mahalla).

After two days' march from [the crossing of] the river of 
Sind we reached the town of Janani, a large and fine town on 
the bank of the river Sind. 10 It has beautiful bazaars and has

10 Janani no longer exists and is apparently not mentioned elsewhere. 
From this description it lay somewhat to the north of Sehwan but its
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been inhabited from ancient times by a people called the 
Samira,n whose ancestors established themselves there on 
the conquest of Sind in the time of al-Hajjaj [A.D. 712], as 
the chroniclers of the conquest of Sind have noted. The 
shaikh, the learned imam, the ascetic doer of the law, and 
devout Rukn al-Dm, son of the shaikh and virtuous doctor 
of the law Shams al-Din, son of | the shaikh, the devout and 102 
ascetic imam Baha' al-Din Zakariya, the Qurashite (he was 
one of the three whom the shaikh and virtuous saint Burhan 
al-Dm the lame told me in the city of Alexandria that I 
should meet them in the course of my journey, and I did 
meet them, God be praised), 12 told me that his earliest ances­ 
tor was called Muhammad ibn Qasim the Qurashite, 13 and he 
took part in the conquest of Sind in the army which al-Hajjaj 
ibn Yusuf dispatched for that purpose during his governor­ 
ship in al-'Iraq and settled there and founded a numerous 
family. These people called the Samira never eat with anyone 
nor may anyone observe them while they are eating, nor do 
they marry anyone outside their clan, nor do they allow 
anyone to marry into it. They had at this time an amir called 
Wunar whose history we shall relate in due course. 14

From Janani we travelled | to Siwasitan [Sehwan], 15 a 103 
large town, outside which is a sandy desert, treeless except 
for acacias. Nothing is grown on the river here except 
melons, and the food of the inhabitants consists of sorghum 
and peas, which they call mushunk16 and of which they make
identification with Halani (proposed by Sir W. Haig) is very dubious. See 
also Mahdi Husain, intro. p. Ixxvi.

11 1.B. applies the familiar Arabic term for the Samaritans to the Rajput 
tribe of the Sumras, who had maintained their independence in lower Sind 
from the eleventh century until shortly before this time.

12 See Vol. I, pp. 23-4. Baha' al-Din Zakariya (1183-1267) was the 
effective founder of the Indian branch of the Suhrawardl order (see Vol. II, 
p. 297). His grandson Rukn al-DIn Abu'1 Fath, son of Sadr al-Din 'Arlb, 
died in Multan in 1335. I.B. curiously omits to say whether he met this 
shaikh in Janani, or, as seems more probable, in Multan.

18 Since Muhammad b. Qasim was commander of the Arab army which 
conquered Sind in 712, the claim is open to question, and indeed contra­ 
dicted by the Indian biographers who relate that Baha' al-Din's grandfather 
emigrated to Multan from Khurasan.

14 See p. 599 below.
16 A small town 120 miles north of Karachi, at some distance from the 

present bed of the Indus river.
18 Persian mushang, glossed as 'a kind of grain', or 'small pea'.
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bread. There is a plentiful supply of fish and buffalo milk, 
and the people there eat skinks. These are little animals 
resembling the lizard17 (which the Moroccans call the garden 
snakelet) except that it has no tail. I have seen them digging 
the sand and fetching it out of it; they slit open its stomach, 
throw out the contents and stuff it with curcuma [turmeric]. 
This (which they call zard shubah, 18 meaning yellow stick) 
takes the place of saffron with them. When I saw this small 
animal and them eating it, I took a loathing at it and would

104 not eat it. We entered Siwasitan | during the hottest period 
of the summer. The heat was intense, and my companions 
used to sit naked except that each had a cloth round his 
waist and another soaked with water on his shoulders; this 
would dry in a very short time and he had to keep constantly 
wetting it again.

In this town I met its preacher, whose name was al- 
Shaibam. He showed me the letter of the Commander of the 
Faithful, the Caliph 'Omar ibn 'Abd al-'Aziz (God be pleased 
with him) to his remote ancestor, appointing him to the 
office of preacher to this town, which they have inherited 
generation after generation from that time to the present 
day. The text of the letter [is as follows]: 'This is the com­ 
mand issued by the servant of God, the Commander of the 
Faithful, 'Omar ibn 'Abd al-'Aziz to N.' It is dated in the 
year 99 and there is written on it in the handwriting of the 
Commander of the Faithful 'Omar ibn 'Abd al-'Aziz 'Praise be

105 to God alone', as | the above-mentioned preacher assured me. 19 
Another person I met there was the aged shaikh Muham­ 

mad al-Baghdadi, who lived in the hospice built at the tomb 
of the pious shaikh 'Othman al-Marandi. He was said to be 
more than 140 years old and to have witnessed the death of 
al-Musta'sim billah, the last of the 'Abbasid Caliphs, when he 
was killed by the infidel Hulawun, son of Tankiz the Tatar. 20

17 Umm hubain, glossed as lizard, and also as 'male chameleon' (see Lane, 
s.v. hirbd'), but the hunaishat al-janna is the wall lizard.

18 Persian zard chubah.
19 'Omar b. 'Abd al- 'Azlz, caliph of Damascus 717-720 (see Vol. I, p. 93). 

That at this date a caliph should have issued a diploma of appointment to a 
local khatlb is highly improbable.

20 I.e. in 1258; see vol. II, p. 334 and p. 553 above. The form Hulawun, for 
the more usual Hulagu, is in fact a more accurate rendering of the Mongol 
Hiile'u (cf. Marco Polo's Alau).
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In spite of his great age this shaikh was still sound of body 
and able to walk on his own feet.

Living in this town were the amir Wunar al-Samiri, 21 to 
whom I have already referred, and the amir Qaisar al-Rumi, 
who were both in the Sultan's service and had under their 
command about 1,800 horsemen. There was living in it also a 
certain Indian infidel named Ratan, a person skilled in 
calculation and writing. He entered the service of the king of 
India along with a certain amir | and having gained the 106 
Sultan's favour, the latter gave him the title of Chief of Sind, 
made him governor of that country with Siwasitan and its 
dependencies as his appanage, and conferred on him the 
'honours', namely drums and flags, a privilege accorded to 
the principal amirs. When he came to this country Wunar, 
Qaisar, and other persons resented the superior rank given to 
the infidel over them and resolved to kill him. Some days 
after his arrival they persuaded him to go out into the 
districts attached to the town to inspect their affairs, so he 
went out with them. When night fell they set on foot a 
tumult in the camp, asserting that it was attacked by a lion, 
and made for the infidel's tent and killed him. They then 
returned to the town and seized monies belonging to the 
Sultan which were collected there, amounting to 12 laks. 
The lak is 100,000 [silver] dinars, which is equivalent to 
10,000 dinars in Indian gold coins, and the Indian dinar is 
worth two dinars | and a half in the gold coinage of the 107 
Maghrib. 22 They then set the above-mentioned Wunar at 
their head, entitling him Malik Firiiz. He distributed the

21 The following narrative is the only known source for this rebellion. It 
has apparently some relation to the rise of the Rajput Sammas to power in 
Sind, under a line of rulers with the dynastic title of Jam, the first of whom 
was Jam Unar. Whether I.B.'s Wunar was in reality a Samma, or a Sumra 
associated with the Sammas, remains problematical. See Mahdi Husain, 
intro., pp. Ixxv-lxxvi, and Indian Gazetteer, s.v. Sind.

22 At this time the principal coinage of the Sultanate of Delhi consisted of 
two coins called tanka, of gold and silver respectively, the former of 170, the 
latter of 175 grains, the latter have a formal value of one tenth of the 
former, see Yule, Cathay and the Way thither, vol. IV, 54-62. I.E. calls the 
gold coin tanga and the silver coin the dinar, and distinguishes it from a 
smaller silver coin, the 'ardall of 140 grains, which he calls dinar darahim. 
The actual value and weight of the gold tanka varied considerably (from 
98 to 163 grains) during Sultan Muhammad's reign: see Mahdi Husain, 
Muhammad b. Tughluq, London 1938, 233-238.
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monies amongst the troops, but subsequently became 
alarmed for his safety owing to his remoteness from his own 
tribe and so went out to rejoin them along with those of his 
relatives who were with him.

The remainder of the troops appointed Qaisar al-Rumi as 
their chief. News of the revolt was brought to 'Imad al-Mulk 
Sartiz, the Sultan's mamluk, who was at that time chief 
amir in Sind and residing in Multan, whereupon he assembled 
his troops and equipped an expedition both by land and on 
the river Sind. It is a ten days' journey from Siwasitan to 
Multan. Qaisar came out to meet him, but when the armies 
clashed he and his associates were ignominiously defeated 
and barricaded themselves in the town. Sartlz besieged them, 
setting up siege artillery against them, and when the siege 
had gone on for forty days and they were hard pressed by it,

108 they asked for and were granted | terms. When they came 
out to him, however, he broke his word to them, seized their 
property and ordered their execution. Every day he would 
strike off the heads of some of them, cut some of them in 
half, flay others of them alive and fill their skins with straw 
and hang them on the city wall. The greater part of the wall 
was covered with these skins fixed on crosses, striking with 
terror those who saw them. He also collected their heads in 
the middle of the town where they formed a mound of some 
size. It was [shortly] after these events that I lodged at a 
large college in this town. I used to sleep on the roof of the 
college and when I woke up during the night I would see 
these skins attached to the crosses; they filled me with 
horror and I could not bear to stay in the college, so I went 
elsewhere.

Now the worthy and equitable jurist 'Ala al-Mulk of 
Khurasan, entitled Fasih al-Dfn, formerly qaotl of Harat,

109 had come to join the service | of the king of India, and had 
been appointed governor of the town and dependencies of 
Lahari in Sind. He had assisted 'Imad al-Mulk Sartlz in this 
operation with his own troops. I resolved to travel with him 
to the town of Lahari. He had fifteen ships with which he 
had come on the river of Sind, carrying his baggage-train, so 
I set out with him.

The journey on the river of Sind and the order observed
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during it. The jurist 'Ala al-Mulk had amongst his vessels one 
called by the name of ahawra, somewhat like a tarida in our 
country, but broader and shorter.23 In the centre of it there 
was a wooden cabin24 to which one climbed up by steps, and 
on the top of this there was a place prepared for the governor 
to sit in. His suite sat in front of him and the mamluks stood 
to right and left, while the crew of about | forty men rowed, no 
Accompanying the ahawra were four vessels to right and 
left, two of which carried the governor's 'honours', i.e. 
standards, kettledrums, trumpets, bugles and reedpipes (that 
is ghaitas), 26 and the other two carried singers. First the 
drums and trumpets would be sounded and then the musi­ 
cians would sing, and they kept this up alternately from early 
morning to the hour of the midday meal. When this moment 
arrived the ships came together and closed up with one 
another and gangways26 were placed from one to the other. 
The musicians then came on board the governor's ahawra 
and sang until he finished eating, when they had their meal 
and at the end of it returned to their vessel. They then set off 
again on their journey in the manner described until night­ 
fall. When it became dark, the camp was set up on the bank 
of the river, the governor disembarked and went to his tents, 
the repast was spread27 j and most of the troops joined in the m 
meal. After the last evening prayer, sentries were posted for 
the night in reliefs. As each relief finished its tour of duty one 
of them cried in a loud voice 'O lord king, 28 so many hours of 
the night are past.' Then the next relief would come on duty,

23 The tarida in Mediterranean usage was a vessel for transport of horses 
and heavy goods (see vol. IV, 109 Ar.) as distinct from the galley (shun or 
shawna). The commonly found identification with the tartane is extremely 
dubious, this latter being a lighter vessel resembling a schooner or xebeck. 
See Kindermann, 'Schiff' in A rabischen, s.v. In spite of the similarity of sound, 
the Hindi huri (fishing boat or canoe) is obviously a different kind of vessel.

24 The term (mu'arrash) implies a platform shaded by a trellis or other 
covering. It is not clear whether it was reached by a ladder or by a stair.

25 See vol. II, p. 343, n. 242.
28 Arabic isqaldt, obviously from Italian scala, used of ladders of all kinds, 

also for portable gangways.
27 The simat, literally the mat upon which the dishes were arranged, was 

the ceremonial meal at which a prince, commander, or high official ate in the 
company of his suite and his troops: cf. p. 669 below.

28 Malik ('King') was a title applied in Indian usage, as will be frequently 
seen below, to high officers. The original term malik is generally retained in 
this translation.
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and when it finished its tour, their spokesman also called out 
to give notice of how many hours had passed. At dawn the 
trumpets and drums sounded and the dawn prayer was said, 
then food was brought, and when the meal was finished they 
resumed their journey.

If the governor wishes to travel on the river he travels on 
shipboard in the order which we have described. If he wishes 
to travel on land [the order of march is as follows]. The 
drums and trumpets are sounded and his hdjibs29 take the 
lead; they are followed next by the foot-soldiers, preceding 
the governor himself. In front of the hdjibs ride six horsemen,

112 three of whom carry | drums slung round their necks, and 
three with reedpipes. When they approach a village or an 
elevation in the ground, these six sound their drums and 
reedpipes and are followed by the drums and trumpets of the 
main body. To the right and left of the hdjibs are the singers, 
who sing alternately, but when the hour of the midday meal 
comes the whole body encamps.

After I had travelled for five days with 'Ala al-Mulk, we 
reached the site of his province. This is the city of Lahari, a 
fine town on the sea-coast where the river of Sind discharges 
itself into the ocean, 30 and two seas meet. 31 It possesses a 
large harbour, visited by men [i.e. merchants] from al-Yaman, 
Pars, and elsewhere. For this reason its contributions to the 
Treasury and its revenues are considerable; the governor 
'Ala al-Mulk told me that the tax-yield from this town 
amounted to sixty laks per annum. How much a lak is we 
have already said. The governor receives nim dah yak,

113 meaning the half of j the tenth of this, 32 that being the footing 
on which the Sultan hands over the provinces to his gover­ 
nors, that they take for themselves one twentieth of the yield. 

A curiosity which I visited outside this town. I rode out one 
day with 'Ala al-Mulk, and we came to a plain called Tarna,

29 I.e. chamberlains and indoor staff in general.
30 The ruins of Lahari, formerly known as Larrybunder, lie on the northern 

side of the Raho channel or creek, some 28 miles south-east of Karachi. 
Owing to the shoaling of its entrance it was supplanted about 1800, first by 
Shahbandar (see Indian Gazetteer s.v.) and then Karachi.

31 This has no local geographical significance, but is a Qu'ranic allusion: 
see vol. II, p. 276, n. 20.

38 nlm dah yak, one half of one tenth; on this Persian phrase see the note 
of the French editors, p. 459.

602



RUINS NEAR LAHARi I BAKAR

seven miles from Lahari, where I saw an innumerable 
quantity of stones resembling the shapes of men and animals. 33 
Many of them were disfigured and their forms effaced, but 
there remained among them the figure of a head or a foot or 
something of the sort. Some of the stones also had the shape 
of grains of wheat, chickpeas, beans and lentils and there 
were remains of a city wall and house walls. We saw too the 
ruins of a house with a chamber of hewn stones, | in the midst 
of which there was a platform of hewn stones resembling a 
single block, surmounted by a human figure, except that its 
head was elongated and its mouth on one side of its face and 
its hands behind its back like a pinioned captive. The place 
had pools of stinking water and an inscription on one of the 
walls in Indian characters. 'Ala al-Mulk told me that the 
historians assert that in this place there was a great city 
whose inhabitants were so given to depravity that they were 
turned to stone, and that it is their king who is on the plat­ 
form in the house we have described, which is still called 'the 
king's palace'. They add that the inscription on one of the 
walls there in Indian characters gives the date of the destruc­ 
tion of the people of that city, which occurred about a 
thousand years ago.

When I had spent five days in this city with 'Ala al-Mulk, 
he gave me a generous travelling provision and I left for the 
city | of Bakar, 34 a fine city intersected by a channel from the 
river of Sind. In the middle of this canal there is a fine 
hospice at which food is supplied to all travellers, built by 
Kishlu Khan during his governorship of Sind, as will be told 
later on. 85 I met in this town the jurist and imam Sadr al- 
Din al-Hanafi, also its qa^i, who was called by the name of 
Abu Hanifa, and the devout and ascetic shaikh Shams al-DIn 
Muhammad of Shlraz, one of those granted length of years; 36 
I was told that he was more than 120 years old.

88 The only plausible suggestion for the identity of these ruins is that 
(made by Haig in JRAS 1887) they are those known as Mora-mari, eight 
miles N.E. of Lahari.

84 Bukkur (Bhakhar), a fortified island in the Indus, lying between the 
town of Sukkur and Rohri, no miles north of Sehwan.

85 See p. 650 below.
8e Arabic cd-mu'ammarln, men of exceptionally advanced age, who were 

highly regarded in religious circles, cf. p. 589, n. 198 above.
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Thereafter I set out from Bakar and came to the city of 
Oja [Uch], a large and well-built town which lies on the bank 
of the river of Sind and has fine bazaars and good buildings.87 
The governor there at the time was the excellent king, the 
Sharif Jalal al-Din al-KijI, a gallant and generous man, and 
it was in this town that he died, as the result of a heavy fall 
from his horse. |

A generous act of this king. A friendship grew up between 
me and this king, the Sharif Jalal al-Din, and developed into 
firm ties of comradeship and affection, and [later on] we met 
at the capital Dihli. When the Sultan left for Dawlat Abad 
(as we shall relate) and bade me remain in the capital, Jalal 
al-Din said to me 'You will require a large sum for expenses 
and the Sultan will be away for a long time, so take my 
village and use its revenues until I return'. I did so and 
gained from it about five thousand dinars—may God give 
him richest recompense. In the town of tjja I met the devout 
and ascetic shaikh the Sharif Qutb al-Din Haidar al-'Alawi, 38 
who invested me with the patched robe. He was one of the 
great saints, and the garment in which he robed me remained 
in my possession down to the time when the infidel Hindus 
despoiled me at sea.

From tJja I travelled to the city of Multan, the capital of 
the land | of Sind and residence of its ruling amir. On the 
road to Multan and ten miles distant from it is the river 
called Khusru Abad, a large river that cannot be crossed 
except by boat.89 At this point the goods of all who pass are 
subjected to a rigorous examination and their baggage 
searched. Their practice at the time of our arrival was to take 
a quarter of everything brought in by the merchants, and to

37 Now reduced to a group of three villages in the state of Bahawalpur 
(see Indian Gazetteer, s.v.), Uch was at this time a prominent centre of 
Muslim activity, developed under the leadership of the Suhrawardl shaikh, 
Sayyid Jalal al-Din Bukhari (i 199-1291).

38 I.e. descendant of 'All, but not necessarily of the Prophet's daughter 
Fatima (see vol. I, p. 46, n. 140). The investiture with the patched robe 
(khirqa, see vol. I, p. 80, n. 47) indicates that this Sharif was a leading 
member of a sufl order, but there is nothing to show whether he was related 
to Sayyid Jalal al-Din, or belonged to another order.

38 Generally taken to be the Ravi, which at this time flowed by Multan 
(Indian Gazetteer, XVIII, 24), but the reason for so strange a name for a 
river is not known.
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exact a duty of seven dinars for every horse. Two years after 
our arrival in India the Sultan abolished these duties and 
ordered that nothing should be taken from people except the 
alms tax (zakdt) and the tenth. This was at the time when he 
recognized the 'Abbasid Caliph Abu'1-'Abbas. 40

When we set about the crossing of this river and the 
baggage was examined, the idea of having my baggage 
searched was very disagreeable to me, for though there was 
nothing much in it, it seemed a great deal in the eyes of the 
people, and I did not like | having it looked into. By the grace us 
of God Most High there arrived on the scene one of the 
principal officers on behalf of Qutb al-Mulk, the governor of 
Multan, who gave orders that I should not be subjected to 
examination or search. And so it happened, and I gave 
thanks to God for the mercies which He had vouchsafed me. 
We spent that night on the bank of the river and next morn­ 
ing were visited by the postmaster, a man named Dihqan, 
originally from Samarqand, who is the person who writes to 
the Sultan to inform him of affairs in that city and district 
and of all that happens in it and all who come to it. I was 
introduced to him and went in his company to visit the 
governor of Multan.

The Governor of Multan and the ordering of affairs at his 
court. The governor of Multan is Qutb al-Mulk, one of the 
greatest and most excellent of the amirs. When I entered his 
presence, he rose to greet me, shook my hand, and bade me 
sit beside him. I presented him with a white slave, a horse, 
and some | raisins and almonds. These are among the greatest 119 
gifts that can be made to them, since they do not grow in 
their land but are imported from Khurasan. This governor 
[in his public audience] sat on a large carpeted dais, having 
the qadi, whose name was Salar, and the preacher whose 
name I forget, beside him. To right and left of him were 
[ranged] the commanders of the troops, and armed men 
stood at his back, while the troops were passed in review

40 See p. 674 below, where this edict is dated 741 A.H. (1340-41), although 
the 'Abbasid caliph Abu'1 'Abbas was appointed only during the last days of 
that year (mid-June 1341) (Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujitm, x_4): see the narrative 
relative to this in vol. I, 225-6. The dating of this event 'two years' after 
I.B.'s arrival is impossible, and although sanatain might be a textual error 
for sinlna ('several years') it is more likely a slip of memory.
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before him. They had a number of bows there, and when 
anyone comes desiring to be enrolled in the army as an archer 
he is given one of the bows to draw. They differ in stiffness 
and his pay is graduated according to the strength he shows 
in drawing them. For anyone desiring to be enrolled as a 
trooper there is a target set up; he puts his horse into a run 
and tries to hit it with his lance. There is a ring there too, 
suspended to a low wall; the candidate puts his horse into a 
run until he comes level with the ring, and if he lifts it off

120 with his lance | he is accounted among them a good horse­ 
man. For those wishing to be enrolled as mounted archers, 
there is a ball placed on the ground; each man gallops towards 
it and shoots at it, and his pay is proportioned to his accuracy 
in hitting it.

When we visited this governor and saluted him, as we have 
related, he gave orders for us to be lodged in a house outside 
the town belonging to the disciples of the devout shaikh Rukn 
al-Din, whom I have already mentioned. 41 It is their practice 
that [the governors] do not give hospitality to anyone until 
orders are received from the Sultan to do so.

Account of the foreigners whom I met in this city, making 
their way to the capital of the King of India. Amongst them 
was Khudhawand-Zada Qiwam al-Din, qadi of Tirmidh, who 
had come with his womenfolk and children and was joined at 
Multan by his brothers, 'Imad al-Din, Diya' al-Dm and

121 Burhan al-Din. 42 Others were Mubarak-Shah, one of | the 
notables of Samarqand; Arun-Bugha, one of the notables of 
Bukhara; Malik-Zada, son of the sister of Khudhawand- 
Zada; and Badr al-Din al-Fassal. Each one of these had with 
him his associates, servants, and followers.

Two months after we reached Multan one of the Sultan's 
chamberlains, Shams al-Din of Bushanj, and the 'king' 
Muhammad al-Harawi, the kutwal*3 arrived in the town. 
These two had been sent by the Sultan to meet and escort 
Khudhawand-Zada, and were accompanied by three eunuchs 
sent by al-Makhdumah Jahan, the Sultan's mother, to escort

41 See p. 597, n. 12 above. 
48 Seep. 571 above.
43 An Urdu term (meaning 'keeper of the citadel (kut)' used for chief of 

police.
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the wife of this same Khudhawand-Zada. They brought also 
robes of honour for them both and for their children, and 
[had instructions] to arrange for the journey [to Dihli] of 
[all] those who had come on one mission or another. They 
came to me together and asked me why I had come [to 
India]. I told them that I had come to enter permanently the 
service of Khund 'Alam ['Master of the World'], namely | the i22 
Sultan, this being how he is called in his dominions. He had 
given orders that no one coming from Khurasan should be 
allowed to enter India unless he came with the intention of 
staying there. So when I told them that I had come to stay 
they summoned the qadl and notaries and drew up a contract 
binding me and those of my company who wished to remain 
in India, but some of them refused to take this engagement.

We then prepared for the journey to the capital, which is 
forty days' march from Multan through continuously 
inhabited country. The chamberlain and the other officer 
who had been sent with him provided everything that was 
needed for the entertainment of Qiwam al-Din and took 
about twenty cooks with them from Multan. The chamber­ 
lain himself went ahead [with them] every night to prepare 
his meals, etc. at the next station, and no sooner did Khud­ 
hawand-Zada arrive than his meal was already prepared. 
Each one of the newcomers whom we have mentioned used 
to camp separately | in his tents with his companions, but 123 
they often joined in the meal which was prepared for Khud­ 
hawand-Zada. I myself was present at it only once.

The order observed at this meal was [as follows]. They 
would serve bread (their bread consists of thin round cakes 
like those we call jardaqa) ; 44 then they cut up the roasted 
meat into large pieces of a size such that one sheep makes 
four or six pieces, and they put one piece before each man. 
They served also round dough cakes made with ghee, re­ 
sembling the bread called mushrik in our country,45 which 
they stuff with the sweet [called] sdbumya,*6 and on top of

44 Arabicized from Persian girda, 'round', glossed in mediaeval texts as 
'thick bread-cakes' (see al-Jahiz, al-Bukhala, ed. I. Hajiri, Cairo, 1948, 
p. 267), but in the usage of Fez meant a.faUra, a kind of pancake. Presumably 
I.E. means a chapati.

45 Ar. mushrak: See Lane, 1001 Nights, III, 640 (shuraik).
46 A concoction made in Egypt of starch, almonds, honey and sesame oil,
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each dough cake they put a sweet cake which they call 
khishti (which means 'brick-shaped'), made of flour, sugar 
and ghee. Then they serve in large porcelain bowls meat 
cooked with ghee, onions, and green ginger. After that they 
serve something which they call samusak,*7 made of meat 
hashed and cooked with almonds, walnuts, pistachios,

124 onions, and spices, put inside a piece of thin bread | fried in 
ghee. They put five pieces of these before each person, or 
perhaps four. Next they serve rice cooked in ghee with 
chickens on top of it, follow this with bouchdes du juge,™ 
which they call hdshiml, and then set down the qdhinya*9 
The chamberlain stands beside the table-mat before the food 
is served and he does homage in the direction of wherever the 
Sultan may be and all those who are present do homage at 
the same time. This homage with them consists in bending 
the head rather like the 'bowing' of the prayers. When they 
have done that, they sit down to eat and vessels of gold, 
silver, and glass are brought filled with sugared water, that 
is to say syrup50 diluted with water. They call that shurba 
[sherbet] and drink it before [beginning to] eat. The chamber­ 
lain then says bismilldh which is the signal for them to start 
eating. When they finish eating they are given jugs of barley- 
water, 51 and after drinking this they are given betel and 
areca nut, which we have described already. 82 When they 
have taken betel and areca nut the chamberlain says bis-

«5 milldh, | whereupon they rise and do homage as they did 
before, and separate.

On our journey from the city of Multan they continued to 
observe this order in the manner which we have set down 
until we reached the land of al-Hind. The first town we

the name of wJiich was transferred to the Persian fdludhaj, made of starch 
and honey.

47 From Pers. sanbusa, 'triangular'.
48 This French term is the most elegant translation for luqaimat al-qadl, 

which would seern to imply some kind of small sweet cakes: cf. p. 757 below.
49 Another sweetmeat, of what kind is unknown.
60 It is clear from the parallel passage, vol. I, p. 154 (Ar. 247), that/wttoi is 

used for syrup of some kind, but not necessarily that implied by the Persian 
etymology ('rose-water').

61 /«£?«'. an effervescent drink made from barley.
62 See vol. II, p. 387.
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entered was the city of Abuhar,58 which is the first of these 
lands of Hind, a small but pretty place with a large popu­ 
lation, and with flowing streams and trees. There are not to 
be found in India any trees of our country except the lote- 
tree,54 but there it is of great girth and its fruit is about as 
large as a gall nut, and very sweet. They have many trees none 
of which are to be found either in our country or elsewhere.

Description of the trees of India and their fruits. One of them 
is the 'anbah [mango] ; 55 it is a tree which resembles orange 
trees | but is larger in size and more leafy. The shade which it 126 
gives is the densest of any, but it is oppressive and if one 
sleeps beneath it he becomes enervated. Its fruit is of the size 
of a large pear. When the fruit is green and not yet fully ripe 
the people gather those of them that fall, put salt on them 
and pickle them as limes and lemons are pickled in our 
country. The Indians pickle also green ginger and clusters of 
pepper, which they eat with meat dishes, taking after each 
mouthful a little of these pickled [fruits]. When the mango 
ripens in the season of autumn [rains] its fruit becomes 
yellow and then they eat it like apples, some people cutting 
it with a knife while others simply suck it. The fruit is sweet, 
with a little acidity mingled with its sweetness, and has a 
large stone which they plant, like orange pips and other fruit 
stones, and the trees sprout from them.

Then there are the shakl and the barki** \ These are trees of 127 
great age with leaves like those of the walnut, and their fruits 
come out from the trunk of the tree itself. Those of them that 
are next to the ground are the barki and those higher up are 
the shakl. The former are sweeter and better-flavoured; the 
latter resemble large gourds and have a skin like oxhide. 
When it yellows in the season of autumn they gather it and

63 In the Ferozepur (Firuzpur) district of the Panjab; I.B. has placed it by 
error before Ajodhan (see n. 71 below).

64 Called by I.B. the nabq, strictly the fruit of the loti-tree (Ziziphus 
lotus), which is of anything from shrub size to a small tree. The Indian tree 
is the jujube-tree (Z. jujuba), 30 to 50 feet high.

66 From Hindi amb. The English mango is derived from the Tamil name 
mankdy.

66 The jack-tree (Avtocarpus integrifolia). The barki is like a melon, 
weighing three or four pounds; it pierces the bark of the tree next to the 
ground. The shakl is like a large gourd and weighs 25 or 30 pounds. A 
single shakl provides a meal for four or five persons.
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split it in half; inside each fruit there are from one to two 
hundred pods resembling cucumbers, between each of which 
there is a thin yellow skin. Each pod has a kernel resembling 
a large bean and when these kernels are roasted or boiled they 
taste like beans [and take the place of them] since beans are 
not to be found in that country. They store up these kernels 
in red earth and they keep until the next year. This shaki 
and barki is the best fruit in India.

128 Another is the tandu, the fruit | of the ebony tree, of about 
the size and colour of an apricot and very sweet.57 Then there 
is the chumiin, 58 whose trees are of great age, and whose fruit 
resembles an olive; it is black in colour and has a single stone 
like the olive. Also the sweet orange, which is very plentiful 
in their country, but the bitter orange is seldom found; there 
is a third kind between sweet and bitter, about the size of a 
lime, which has an excellent flavour and I used to enjoy 
eating it. Another species is the mohwa,*9 long-lived trees, 
with leaves like those of the walnut except that there is red 
and yellow in them. Its fruit resembles a small pear and is 
very sweet. At the top of each fruit there is a smaller fruit of 
the size of a grape, but hollow; its taste is like that of grapes,

129 but eating too many of them gives a splitting headache. | A 
surprising thing is that when these fruits are dried in the sun 
they taste just like figs, and I used to eat them in place of 
figs, which are not to be found in India. They call this [small] 
fruit angur, which in their language means grapes. 60 Grapes 
themselves are very rare in India and are to be had only in 
certain districts, in the capital Dihli and in the territory 
of. . . . 61 The mohwa bears fruit twice a year and from its 
kernels they make oil, which they use for lamps. Another of 
their fruits is one which they call kasira*2 and which they dig 
out of the ground; it is very sweet and resembles a chestnut. 
India has of the fruits of our country the pomegranate,

67 The tandu (Diospyros melanoxylon) is the fruit of the ebony tree.
88 For thejamun (so spelled in spite of I.B.'s careful spelling with ch) i.e. 

the jambol or black plum, see vol. II, p. 379. n. 57.
69 The mohwa (Bassia latifolia) is used also to make spirits (called toddy 

or pariah).
60 In Persian.
61 All MSS have a blank at this point, clearly for some other place name.
62 The kaslra (kaseru; Scivpus kysoor) is dug out of the ground.
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which bears fruit twice a year. I have seen some in the islands 
of Dhiba al-Mahal which bore fruit continuously. The Indians 
call it andr; \ I think this must be the origin of the name i30 
jullandr because jul in Persian means flower and andr means 
pomegranate. 63

Account of the cereals which the people of India sow and use 
for food. The Indians sow twice a year. When the rain falls in 
their country in the hot season they sow the autumn crop, 
and harvest it sixty days later. Among these autumn grains 
in their country are kudhru, a kind of millet which is the 
commonest of the grains in their country; qdl which resembles 
[the type of millet called] anli ; and shdmdkh which is smaller 
in the grain than qdl, and often grows without being sown. 64 
It is the food of the devotees and ascetics, and of the poor and 
needy. They go out to gather what has sprung up of this 
plant without cultivation; each of them holds a large basket | 
in his left hand and has in his right a whip with which he 131 
beats the grain so that it falls into the basket. In this way 
they collect enough of it to supply them with food for the 
whole year. The seed of this shdmdkh is very small; after 
gathering, it is put out in the sun, then pounded in wooden 
mortars; the husk flies off leaving its pith, a white substance, 
from which they make gruel. They cook this with buffalo's 
milk and it is pleasanter [prepared in this way] than baked 
as bread; I used often to eat it in India and enjoyed it. Other 
grains are mask which is a kind of pea, and munj which is a 
species of mash, differing from it in having elongated grains 
and in its clear green colour. They cook munj with rice and 
eat it with ghee; this dish they call kishri and they breakfast 
on it every day. It takes the place with them of harira in the 
lands of the Maghrib. 65 Then there is lubiyd, a kind of bean, 
and miit, \ which resembles kudhru but has smaller grains. 66 132 
It is used as fodder for draught animals in that country and

68 The Arabic jullandr. 'pomegranate flower', is in fact derived from 
Persian gul-andr (gul, however, properly meaning 'rose').

64 The kudhru (Paspalum scrobiculatum) is the common millet.
86 The mash is the common order of the pulses (Phaseolus radiatus). The 

munj is apparently a similar kind (P. mungo). Kishri is the well-known 
kedgeree. These are both species of the vetch called ddl.

66 The lubiyd (Vigna cattiang) is a Persian name for the small bean. 
The mut (Cyperus rotundus) is apparently a sort of kudhru.
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fattens them; the barley in their country has no strength in 
it, and fodder for the animals is furnished by this mut or else 
by chickpeas, which they pound and soak with water before 
feeding it to them. In place of green fodder, too, they feed 
them with mash leaves, but first each animal is given ghee to 
drink for ten days, three to four pounds a day, and is not 
ridden during this time, and after that they feed it with mash 
leaves, as we have said, for a month or so.

The cereals which we have mentioned are autumn crops. 
When they harvest these sixty days after sowing them, they 
sow the spring cereals, which are wheat, barley, chickpeas, 
and lentils. They are sown in the same ground where the 

i33 autumn crops are sown [ for their land is generous and of 
good heart. As for rice, they sow it three times a year, and it 
is one of the principal cereals in their country. They sow also 
sesame and sugarcane along with the autumn grains that we 
have mentioned.

To return to what we were saying, we continued our 
journey from the city of Abuhar across open country extend­ 
ing for a day's journey. On its borders are formidable moun­ 
tains, inhabited by Hindu infidels who frequently hold up 
parties of travellers. Of the inhabitants of India the majority 
are infidels; some of them are subjects [ryots] under Muslim 
rule, 67 and live in villages governed by a Muslim headman 
appointed by the tax-collector or subordinate officer in whose 
fief68 the village lies. Others of them are rebels and warriors, 
who maintain themselves in the fastnesses of the mountains 
and plunder travellers. |

67 Literally 'under the dhimma of the Muslims' i.e. protection on payment 
of tribute taxes; see vol. II, p. 425, n. 50. The term translated 'headman' 
(hakim) vaguely indicates a person who exercises some judicial or civil 
authority. The 'amil in this context is clearly not to be taken in any 
peculiarly Indian technical sense but in the common Arabic meaning of 
'tax-collector' (or 'tax-farmer') and khadlm (strangely rendered 'eunuch 1 in 
the French translation) which implies only 'a subordinate' (translated 
'servitor' in vol. I, p. 223), can here, in view of the assignment of fiefs to such 
persons, only mean 'officer of lower rank'.

68 I have retained the traditional translation of iqta' by 'fief, in spite of 
the well-justified protests of mediaeval historians, since the Muslim iqta' 
carried diverse social and economic status and is not identical with the West- 
European feodum. See W. H. Moreland, The Agrarian System of Moslem 
India (Cambridge, 1929) PP- 8-u, where the differences between 'represen­ 
tatives', 'assignees', 'grantees', and '[tax] farmers' are explained.
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ENEMY ATTACK: AJUDAHAN
Account of an engagement which we had on this road, being i34 

the first engagement which I witnessed in India. When we made 
ready to set out from Abuhar, the main party left the town 
in the early morning, but I stayed there with a small party of 
my companions until midday. We then set out too, number­ 
ing in all twenty-two horsemen, partly Arabs and partly 
non-Arabs [i.e. Persians and Turks], and were attacked in the 
open country there by eighty infidels on foot with two 
horsemen. My companions were men of courage and vigour69 
and we fought stoutly with them, killing one of their horse­ 
men and about twelve of the footsoldiers, and capturing the 
horse of the former. I was hit by an arrow and my horse by 
another, but God in His grace preserved me from them, for 
there is no force in their arrows. One of our party had his 
horse wounded, but we gave him in exchange the horse we 
had captured from the infidel, and killed the wounded horse, 
which was eaten by | the Turks of our party. We carried the i 35 
heads of the slain to the castle of Abu Bak'har, 70 which we 
reached about midnight, and suspended them from the wall.

After two days' journey from this place we reached the 
town of Ajudahan, 71 a small town belonging to the pious 
shaikh Farid al-DIn al-Badhawuni, the very person whom 
the pious shaikh and saint Burhan al-Din the lame had told 
me, at Alexandria, that I should meet. 72 And meet him I did, 
God be praised. He was the spiritual preceptor of the king of 
India, who made him a gift of this town. But he is afflicted by 
secret imaginings (God preserve us from them); thus he never 
shakes anyone by the hand, nor comes near him, and if his 
robe should brush against the garment of any other person 
he washes it. I went into his hospice and when I met him I

69 Read, with MSS 2289 and 2291 (4-907), ghana'.
70 The name no longer exists, but it is mentioned in a text cited by Mahdi 

Husain as a small place with a hospice twenty miles from Ajodhan.
71 Ajodhan was the principal ferry across the Sutlej river, and was 

renamed Pakpattan ('holy ferry') by Akbar, in honour of the saint (Baba) 
Farid al-DIn, mentioned below, whose shrine is widely venerated.

72 See vol. I, p. 23. I.B., in calling him Farid al-DIn, has confused his name 
with that of his grandfather, the founder of the line of Chishti shaikhs at 
Ajodhan, who died in 1271 and was succeeded by his son Badr al-DIn 
Sulaiman (d. 1281), and the latter by his son 'Alam al-Din Mawj-Darya 
(d. 734/1334). It was 'Alam al-DIn also who was the shaikh (spiritual pre­ 
ceptor) of Sultan Muhammad.
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gave him the greetings of Shaikh Burhan al-DIn. He was
136 astonished and said 'I am not worthy of | that.' I met also his 

two virtuous sons, Mu'izz al-DIn, the elder, who when his 
father died succeeded to his shaikhly function, and 'Alam 
al-DIn, 73 and visited the tomb of his grandfather, the sainted 
Pole, Farid al-DIn called al-Badhawuni, 74 after the town of 
Badhawun in the land of as-Sambal. 75 When I was about to 
leave this town, 'Alam al-DIn said to me, 'You must not go 
without seeing my father.' I saw him accordingly; he was on 
top of a terrace in his hospice, and was wearing white robes 
and a large turban with a tassel, which was inclined to one 
side. He gave me his blessing and sent me a present of sugar 
and sugar candy.

Account of the Indians who burn themselves to death. As I 
returned from visiting this shaikh, I saw people hurrying out 
from our camp, and some of our party along with them. I 
asked them what was happening and they told me that one

137 of the Hindu infidels had died, | that a fire had been kindled 
to burn him, and his wife would burn herself along with him. 
After the burning my companions came back and told me 
that she had embraced the dead man until she herself was 
burned with him. Later on I used often to see in that country 
an infidel Hindu woman, richly dressed, riding on horseback, 
followed by both Muslims and infidels and preceded by drums 
and trumpets; she was accompanied by Brahmans, who are 
the chiefs of the Hindus. In the Sultan's dominions they ask 
his permission to burn her, which he accords them and then 
they burn her.

Sometime later I happened to be in a town inhabited by a 
majority of infidels, called Amjari. 76 Its governor was a

73 Mu'izz al-DIn was subsequently appointed by Sultan Muhammad 
governor of Gujerat, and was killed in a rebellion there in 1348. 'Alam 
al-DIn was appointed Shaikh al-Isldm (i.e. chief mufti) in Delhi.

74 This was one of the most famous of the Chishti saints in India, known 
by the nickname of Shakarganj ('sugar store') conferred on him by his 
teacher Qutb al-DIn Bakhtiyar [see p. 625 below], whom he succeeded as the 
head of the Chisht! order in India. In assigning him to Badaun, I.E. has 
confused him with his successor in the Chishti headship, Nizam al-DIn 
Awliya' (pp. 653-4 below).

76 The district of Sambhal in Uttar Pradesh.
76 Amjhera. in Gwalior state, 12 miles west of Dhar. For the Samira see 

p. 597, n. 11 above.
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Muslim, one of the Samira of Sind. In its neighbourhood 
were some unsubdued infidels, and when one day they made 
an attack on the road the Muslim amir went out to engage 
them, | together with his subjects both Muslim and infidel. i 3s 
There was severe fighting between them, in the course of 
which seven of the infidel subjects were killed, three of whom 
had wives, and the three widows agreed to burn themselves. 
The burning of the wife after her husband's death is regarded 
by them as a commendable act, but is not compulsory; 77 but 
when a widow burns herself her family acquire a certain 
prestige by it and gain a reputation for fidelity. A widow 
who does not burn herself dresses in coarse garments and 
lives with her own people in misery, despised for her lack of 
fidelity, but she is not forced to burn herself.

When these three women to whom we have referred made 
a compact to burn themselves, they spent three days preced­ 
ing the event in concerts of music and singing and festivals of 
eating and drinking, as though they were bidding farewell to 
the world, and the women from all around came [to take 
part]. On | the morning of the fourth day each one of them i39 
had a horse brought to her and mounted it, richly dressed 
and perfumed. In her right hand she held a coconut, with 
which she played, and in her left a mirror, in which she could 
see her face. They were surrounded by Brahmans and 
accompanied by their own relatives, and were preceded by 
drums, trumpets and bugles. Everyone of the infidels would 
say to one of them 'Take greetings from me to my father, or 
brother, or mother, or friend' and she would say 'yes' and 
smile at them. I rode out with my companions to see what 
exactly these women did in this [ceremony of] burning. After 
travelling about three miles with them we came to a dark 
place with much water and trees with heavy shade, amongst 
which there were four pavilions, each containing a stone idol. 
Between the pavilions there was a basin of water over which 
a dense shade was cast by trees so thickly set that the sun 
could not penetrate them. | The place looked like a spot in i4o 
hell—God preserve us from it! On reaching these pavilions 
they descended to the pool, plunged into it and divested

77 I.E. seeks to put the practice into the legal categories familiar to 
Muslims so that they should not get the wrong impression.
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themselves of their clothes and ornaments, which they dis­ 
tributed as alms. Each one was then given an unsewn 
garment of coarse cotton and tied part of it round her waist 
and part over her head and shoulders. Meanwhile, the fires 
had been lit near this basin in a lowlying spot, and raughan 
kunjut,™ that is oil of sesame, poured over them, so that the 
flames were increased. There were about fifteen men there 
with faggots of thin wood, and with them about ten others 
with heavy balks in their hands, while the drummers and 
trumpeters were standing by waiting for the woman's 
coming. The fire was screened off by a blanket held by some

1 4 1 men | in their hands, so that she should not be frightened by 
the sight of it. I saw one of them, on coming to the blanket, 
pull it violently out of the men's hands, saying to them with 
a laugh, mdrd mttarsdm az atash man middnam u atash ast 
rahd kum mdrd', these words mean 'Is it with the fire that 
you frighten me? I know that it is a blazing fire.' 79 Thereupon 
she joined her hands above her head in salutation to the fire 
and cast herself into it. At the same moment the drums, 
trumpets and bugles were sounded, and men threw on her 
the firewood they were carrying and the others put those heavy 
balks on top of her to prevent her moving, cries were raised 
and there was a loud clamour. When I saw this I had all but 
fallen off my horse, if my companions had not quickly brought 
water to me and laved my face, after which I withdrew.

The Indians have a similar practice of drowning them-
142 selves, and many of them do so in the river Gang, | the river 

to which they go on pilgrimage, and into which the ashes of 
these burned persons are cast. They say that it is a river of 
Paradise. 80 When one of them comes to drown himself he 
says to those present with him, 'Do not think that I drown 
myself for any worldly reason or through penury; my purpose 
is solely to seek approach to Kusay/ Kusay being the name 
of God in their language. 81 He then drowns himself, and when

78 Persian kungud, 'sesame' or rape-seed.
79 It seems unlikely that a Hindu woman would speak in Persian. 

Presumably the words were those of the person who translated them to I.B. 
The Arabic translation omits the last phrase, 'let me be'.

80 This is a more probable interpretation of the Arabic (min al-jannati) 
than the alternative 'comes from Paradise'.

81 Kusay represents Krishna, as the French translation suggests.
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he is dead they take him out and burn him and cast his ashes 
into this river.

Let us return to our original topic. We set out from the 
town of Ajudahan, and after four days' march reached the 
city of Sarasati, 82 a large town with quantities of rice of an 
excellent sort which is exported to the capital, Dihli. The 
town produces a very large revenue; I was told how much it 
was by the hdjib Shams al-Din al-Bushanji, | but have for-143 
gotten the figure. Thence we travelled to the city of Hansi, 83 
an exceedingly fine, well built and populous city, surrounded 
by a great wall, whose builder they say was one of the great 
infidel sultans called Tura, of whom they have many tales 
and stories to relate. It is from this city [came] Kama! al-Din 
Sadr al-Jahan, the Grand Qadi of India, and his brother 
Qutlu Khan, the preceptor of the Sultan,84 also their two 
brothers Nizam al-Din and Shams al-Din, who renounced 
the world for the service of God and sojourned at Mecca 
to the time of his death.

We set out thereafter from Hansi and arrived two days later 
at Mas'ud Abad, which is ten miles from Dihli, 85 and stayed 
there three days. Hansi and Mas'ud Abad belong to the 
exalted king Hushanj, the son of the king Kamal Gurg (the 
word | gurg means 'wolf'), of whom we shall have more to say 144 
later. 86

The Sultan of India, to whose capital we had come, was 
absent from it at the time in the district of the city of 
Qanawj, 87 which is ten days' march from Dihli. But the 
Sultan's mother, who is called al-Makhduma Jahan88 (Jahdn 
is the name for al-dunyd [i.e. the world]) was in the capital as 
well as his vizier, the Khwdja Jahdn, a person named Ahmad

82 Sarsati was the old town, abandoned in 1726, and replaced by Sirsa 
in 1837.

83 Hansi was involved in the rebellion of Sayyid Ibrahlm, which was put 
down in 1336.

84 See below pp. 628, 718, and for Ni?am al Din p. 731. The apparently 
superfluous huwa in the text comes from the autograph MS. 2291, and 
suggests that some words have been omitted before 'Kamal al-Din'.

85 Its ruins lie one mile east of Najafgarh, and six miles west by north of 
Palem station.

86 P. 718 below.
87 See also vol. IV. pp. 25 ff. (Ar.). The absence of the Sultan was the con­ 

sequence of the expedition into the Duab, to the south and west of Delhi.
88 See p. 736 below.
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ibn Aiyas, a rumi by origin. 89 The vizier sent his officers to 
receive us, designating for the reception of each of us a person 
of his own rank. Among those whom he appointed to receive 
me were the Shaikh al-Bistami, the shartf al-Mazanderani, 
who was the chamberlain of the strangers, and the doctor 
'Ala' al-Din al-Multani, known by the name of Qunnara. He 
wrote to inform the Sultan of our arrival, sending the letter

145 by | the ddwa, that is by courier post, in the manner we have 
already described, 90 and his letter reached the Sultan and he 
received the Sultan's reply during the three days that we 
spent at Mas'ud Abad. Thereafter the qadis, jurists and 
shaikhs, and some of the amirs came out to meet us. The 
Indians call the amirs 'kings'; where the people of Egypt and 
elsewhere say 'amir' these people say 'malik'. There came out 
to meet us also the shaikh Zahir al-Din al-Zanja.nl, who is a 
personage of high dignity at the Sultan's court. 91

We then set out from Mas'ud Abad and halted near a 
village called Palam,92 belonging to the sayyid and sharif 
Nasir al-Din Mutahhar al-Awhar!, 93 one of the Sultan's 
familiars, and of those who enjoy his entire favour. On the 
next day we arrived at the royal residence of Dihli, the

146 metropolis of the land of al-Hind, | a vast and magnificent 
city, uniting beauty with strength. It is surrounded by a wall 
whose equal is not known in any country in the world, 94 and 
is the largest city in India, nay rather the largest of all the 
cities of Islam in the East.

89 See pp. 654-6 below. »° See p. 594, n. 7 above. 
91 Not mentioned elsewhere. 9Z See n. 85 above.
93 Already mentioned by I.B. (see vol. I, p. 259) as a former Marshal of the 

Ashraf at al-Najaf in Iraq.
94 See vol. II, p. 348.
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CHAPTER XI

The City of Dihll and Its Sultans

D escription of the City. The city of Dihll is of vast extent 
and population, and made up now of four neighbouring 
and contiguous towns. One of them is the city called by 

this name, Dihll; it is the old city built by the infidels and 
captured in the year 584 (A.D. H88). 1 The second is called 
Siri, 2 known also as 'Abode of the Caliphate'; this was the 
city given by the Sultan to Ghiyath al-Din, the grandson of 
the 'Abbasid Caliph al-Mustansir when he came to his court. 3 
In it was the residence of the Sultan 'Ala al-Din and his son 
Qutb al-Din, of whom we shall speak later. The third is called 
Tughluq Abad, 4 after | its founder, the Sultan Tughluq, the 147 
father of the Sultan of India to whose court we came. The 
reason why he built it was that one day as he stood before the 
Sultan Qutb al-Din he said to him 'O master of the world, it 
were fitting that a city should be built here/ The Sultan replied 
to him ironically 'When you are Sultan, build it.' It came to 
pass by the decree of God that he became Sultan, so he built it 
and called it by his own name. The fourth is called Jahan 
Panah, 5 and is set apart for the residence of the Sultan, 
Muhammad Shah, the reigning king of India, to whose court 
we had come. He was the founder of it, and it was his intention

1 The mediaeval city of Dihli was founded by a Rajput chief in the 
eleventh century and captured by Qutb al-Din Aibak (see p. 628 below) in 
588/1192. It lies ten miles to the south of the Mughal city of Dihll (properly 
called Shahjahanabad). For the successive cities see the maps and plans in 
the article 'Dihli' in the Encyc. of Islam, new edition, and Sir Gordon Hearn. 
The Seven Cities of Delhi, second edition, Calcutta, 1928.

2 Two to three miles to the north-east of old Delhi.
3 See vol. I, pp. 225-6, and below, pp. 679-85.
4 Four to five miles east by south of old Delhi. For Sultan Tughluq see 

pp. 648-56 below. See Plate 3.
8 Literally 'Refuge of the world', i.e, 'of universal fame'. It occupied an 

area of some four miles in breadth between old Delhi and SlrL
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WALLS AND GATES OF DIHLI

to unite these four towns within a single wall, but after 
building part of it he gave up the rest because of the great 
expense entailed in its construction.

Description of the wall and gates of Dihli. The wall which 
surrounds the city of Dihli | is unparalleled. The breadth of i4s 
the wall itself is eleven cubits, and inside it there are rooms 
where night-watchmen and keepers of the gates are lodged. 
The wall contains also stores for provisions, which they call 
'granaries', 6 as well as stores for war equipment and for 
mangonels and stone-thro wing machines. 7 Grain keeps in it 
for a very long time without going bad or becoming damaged. 
I have seen rice brought out of one of these stores, and 
although it had gone black in colour it was still good to the 
taste. I have also seen kudhru (millet) 8 taken out of them. 
All these stores had been laid up by the Sultan Balaban9 
ninety years before. There is room inside the wall for horse­ 
men and infantry to march from one end of the town to the 
other, and it has window openings pierced on the town side, 
through which the light enters. The lower courses of this 
wall are constructed with stone and the upper courses with 
baked brick, and its towers are numerous and set at short 
intervals. |

The city has twenty-eight gates. Their name for gate is i49 
darwdza. Amongst these gates is the darwaza of Badhawun, 
which is the largest gate; the darwaza of al-Mindawi,™ beside 
which is the grain market; the darwaza of Jul, 11 where the 
gardens are; the darwaza of Shah, which is the name of a 
man; the darwaza of Palam, the name of a village which we 
have already mentioned; the darwaza of Najib, the name 
of a man; the darwaza of Kamal, the same; the darwaza of 
Ghazna, called after the city of Ghazna, in the province of 
Khurasan, and outside which is the place set apart for festival

6 Anbdrat, a Perso-Arabic formation from Pers. anbar 'fuel'.
7 ra'addt, apparently a popular form of 'arrdddt, which were much lighter 

than the heavy mangonels resembling rather the ballista. For these see 
Cl. Cahen, 'Un Traite d'Armurerie compose pour Saladin', in Bull, d'Etudes 
Orientates, XII (Beyrouth, 1948), pp. 141-3, 157-9.

8 See p. 611, n. 64 above.
8 See p. 633 below. This is the spelling of the autograph.
10 So vocalized in the autograph; but the French translators in a note on 

p. 461 seem to prefer mandwi. The word itself means 'grain market'.
11 Persian gul, 'rose, flower'.
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prayers12 as well as some cemeteries; and the darwaza of 
al-Bajalisa. 13 Outside this gate are the cemeteries of Dihli. 
This is a beautiful place of burial; they build domed pavilions 
in it and every grave must have a [place for prayer with aj 
mihrab beside it, even if there is no dome over it. 14 They plant

150 in it flowering trees j such as the tuberose, 15 the raibul™ the 
nisrin17 and others. In that country there are always flowers 
in bloom at every season of the year.

Description of the Mosque of Dihli. 16 The Cathedral Mosque 
occupies a vast area; its walls, roof, and paving are all 
constructed of white stones, admirably squared and firmly 
cemented with lead. There is no wood in it at all. It has 
thirteen domes of stone, its minbar also is of stone, and it has 
four courts. In the centre of the mosque is the awe-inspiring 
column of which [it is said] nobody knows of what metal it is 
constructed. One of their learned men told me that it is called 
Haft Jush, which means 'seven metals', and that it is com­ 
posed of these seven. 19 A part of this column, of a finger's 
length, has been polished, and this polished part gives out a

151 brilliant gleam. Iron makes no impression | on it. It is thirty 
cubits high, and we rolled a turban round it, and the portion 
which encircled it measured eight cubits. At the eastern gate 
of the mosque there are two enormous idols of brass prostrate 
on the ground and held by stones, and everyone entering or 
leaving the mosque treads on them. The site was formerly 
occupied by a budkhana, 20 that is idol temple, and was 
converted into a mosque on the conquest of the city. In the

12 Mu§alld; see vol. I, p. 13, n. 20.
13 A station in the vicinity of Qanawj, visited later by I.B.: see vol. IV, 

p. 27 (Ar.).
14 The text is ambiguous, but appears to mean that some of the mihrabs 

are under domes and some open to the sky.
15 Persian gul-i shdbbo {'night scented rose'): cf. p. 739 below. 
18 The identity of this plant is dubious; Mahdi Husain translates 'jessa­ 

mine', i.e. white jasmine.
17 Here apparently the musk-rose, with white and yellow flowers.
18 Called Quwwat al-Isldm ('the strength of Islam') in the original Rajput 

city, and, as I.B. correctly states below, built on the site of a Hindu temple.
19 The iron pillar, still standing, was taken from a fourth-century temple 

of Vishnu. It is 24 feet in height. Haft gushe would mean, not 'seven metals' 
but 'heptagonal'; haft gush, 'of seven temperaments', seems more likely in 
view of its resistance to rust. See Plate 2.

80 Persian but-khanah, 'idol-house*.

622



PLATES



i. The Qutb Minar with the iron pillar



2. rourtyartl of the- Ou\v\vat al-Islam



3. The walls of Tughluqabad



4. The Hall of the Thousand Columns



5. Mausoleum of the Sultan Ghiyath al-Din Tughluq Shah, in which his son Sultan Muhammad is said to
have been buried



THE QUTB MINAR

northern court of the mosque is the minaret> which has no 
parallel in the lands of Islam. 21 It is built of red stone, unlike 
the stone [used for] the rest of the mosque, for that is white, 
and the stones of the minaret are dressed. The minaret itself 
is of great height; the ball on top of it is of glistening white 
marble and its 'apples' 22 are of pure gold. The passage is so 
wide that elephants can go up by it. | A person in whom 1152 
have confidence told me that when it was built he saw an 
elephant climbing with stones to the top. It was built by the 
Sultan Mu'izz al-Din, son of Nasir al-Din, son of Sultan 
Ghiyath al-Din Balaban.23 The Sultan Qutb al-Din wished to 
build in the western court an even larger minaret, but was 
cut off by death when [only] a third of it had been completed.24 
The Sultan Muhammad intended to bring it to completion, 
but afterwards gave up the idea as being unlucky. This [un­ 
finished] minaret is one of the wonders of the world for size, 
and the width of its passage is such that three elephants 
could mount it abreast. The third of it built equals in height 
the whole of the other minaret we have mentioned in the 
northern court. I climbed to the top of it on one occasion; I 
saw most of the houses of the city, and the walls for all their 
elevation and loftiness looked to me quite low. The people at 
the foot of the minaret appeared to me like little children, 
although to one looking at it from below | it does not seem i53 
so high because of its great bulk and breadth.

81 The famous Qutb Minar, now 234 feet (69-7 metres) in height, actually 
in the southern court. See Plate i.

82 Evidently 'ball shaped ornaments', and presumably those smaller ones 
on the stem of the spire above the minaret. The original top storey of the 
Qutb Minar has, however, been lost in the course of its frequent dilapidation 
and rebuilding (see the following note).

88 I.E., or his informant, has confused the Mu'izz al-Din (Kaiqubad), who 
reigned at Delhi 1287-90 (see pp. 635-8 below), with the suzerain of the 
conqueror of Delhi, Qutb al-Din, (see p. 628 below), the Ghurid sultan 
Mu'izz al-Din Muhammad b. Sam who is eulogized in inscriptions on the 
Minar. The minaret was actually begun by Qutb al-Din, on the model of the 
Ghurid minaret at Jam (see Le Minaret de Djam, edd. Maricq and Wiet, 
Paris, 1959) and completed by Shams al-Din Lalmish (Iletmish) about 1229. 
It suffered repeated damage from lightning and decay, and was restored to 
its present condition only in 1828-1829.

84 The incomplete base storey of this monument (the base diameter of 
which is twice that of the Qutb Minar) still stands in the northern court of 
the mosque. It was the work of sultan 'Ala' al-Din (1295-1315), the father 
of Qutb al-Din Mubarak Shah (see pp. 638-43 below).
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The sultan Qutb al-Din had intended also to build a 
cathedral mosque in Sin, the so-called 'Abode of the Cali­ 
phate',25 but he completed only the wall in the direction of 
Mecca and the mihrab. It is built with white, black, red and 
green stones; if it were finished there would be nothing like 
it in the world. Sultan Muhammad proposed to complete it 
and commissioned the master masons to estimate its cost. 
They asserted that he would spend thirty-five laks in com­ 
pleting it, so the Sultan gave up the idea as being too costly. 
One of his intimate associates, however, told me that he gave 
it up not because of its excessive cost but because he regarded 
the project as unlucky, since Sultan Qutb al-Din had been 
killed before finishing it. |

154 Description of the two great tanks outside Dihli. Outside 
Dihli is the large reservoir named after the Sultan Shams al- 
Din Lalmish, 26 from which the inhabitants of the city draw 
their drinking water. It lies close to the musalld.27 Its contents 
are collected from rain water, and it is about two miles in 
length by half that breadth. Its western side, in the direction 
of the musalld, is constructed with stones, and disposed like 
a series of terraces one above the other, and beneath each 
terrace are steps leading down to the water. Beside each 
terrace there is a stone pavilion containing seats for those 
who have come out to visit the place and to enjoy its attrac­ 
tions. In the centre of the tank there is a great pavilion built 
of dressed stones, two stories high. When the reservoir is 
filled with water it can be reached only in boats, but when

us the water is low the people go into it. | Inside it is a mosque, 
and at most times it is occupied by poor brethren devoted to 
the service of God and placing their trust in Him (i.e. de­ 
pendent upon charity). When the water dries up at the sides 
of this reservoir, they sow sugar canes, gherkins, cucumbers, 
and green and yellow melons there; the latter are very sweet 
but of small size. Between Dihli and the 'Abode of the 
Caliphate' is the 'private tank', which is larger than that of

28 See p. 619 above.
28 See pp. 629—30 below.
27 I.e. outside the Ghazna gate (see p. 621 above), i.e. on the western side. 

This reservoir is identified with the Shemsi tank to the west of Mihrawli 
(Fanshawe, quoted Miik, p. 64 n.) and was constructed by Sultan Iltutmish 
(Iletmish).
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the Sultan Shams al-Dln. 28 Along its sides there are forty 
pavilions, and round about it live the musicians. Their place 
is called Tarab Abad ('City of Music') and they have there a 
most extensive bazaar, a cathedral mosque, and many other 
mosques besides. I was told that the singing girls living there, 
of whom there are a great many, take part in a body in the 
tarawih prayers in these mosques during the month of 
Ramadan,29 and the imams lead them in these prayers. The 
male musicians do the same. I myself saw the male musicians 
on the occasion of | the wedding of the amir Saif al-Din 156 
Ghada son of Muhanna, 30 when each one of them had a prayer 
mat under his knees, and on hearing the adhdn (call to 
prayer) rose, made his ablutions and performed the prayer.

Account of some of its places of visitation. One of these is the 
tomb of the pious shaikh Qutb al-Din Bakhtiyar al-Ka'ki. 31 
The blessed power of this tomb is manifest and it enjoys 
great veneration. The reason why this shaikh was called al- 
Ka'ki is that he used to give all those debtors who came to 
him to complain of need or poverty, or who had daughters 
and had not the wherewithal to send them with proper outfits 
to their husbands, a ka'ka of gold or silver, and so he became 
known for that reason as al-Ka'ki ; 32 God have mercy on him! 
Among them also are the tomb of the eminent legist Nur 
al-Din al-Kurlani, and that of the legist 'Ala al-Din al- 
Kirmanl,83 1 named after the province of Kirman. The blessed 157 
power of this tomb is manifest and it streams with light. 
The place which it occupies serves to indicate the qibla of the

88 Hawd al-Khass, about two miles north of the mosque and the same 
distance west of Siri.

29 See vol. I, p. 239, n. 195. 80 See pp. 685-92 below.
81 A native of Osh, in Farghana, he became a disciple of Mu'in al-Din 

Chishtl, the founder of the Chishtl order in India, and established the order 
in Delhi, where he enjoyed immense influence both with the Sultan and the 
population and died in 1235/36. His tomb in Mihrawli is still a popular 
place of pilgrimage (see Fanshawe, p. 281).

32 Ka'k is a flat cake or biscuit, but one wonders where I.B. obtained his 
explanation of this name. The more usual interpretation, and one more 
attuned to Sufi tradition, attributes it to the saint's supernatural or mirac­ 
ulous supply of these cakes.

88 Al-Kurlani has not been identified. Several members of the KirmanI 
family of Husainid sharifs were religious notables at Delhi; 'Ala' al-Din was 
probably Sayyid Muhammad b. Mahmud (d. 1311), a close friend of the 
saint Nizam al-Din Awliya (see pp. 653-4 below).
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musalld for the festival prayers, and thereabouts are the tombs 
of a large number of pious men, God give us profit of them.

Account of some of its scholars and pious men. Amongst 
them is the pious and learned shaikh Mahmud al-Kubba; he 
is one of the great saints and the people assert he is able to 
draw on the resources of creation, because to all outward 
seeming he has no property of his own, yet he supplies food 
to all comers and makes gifts of gold and silver coins and 
garments. Many miraculous graces have been operated 
through him and he has acquired a great reputation for them. 34 
I saw him many times and profited from his blessed power. 
Another is the pious and learned shaikh 'Ala al-DIn [called]

158 al-Nili as though he were named after | the Egyptian Nile, 
but God knows. 35 He was a disciple of the learned and pious 
shaikh Ni?am al-DIn al-Badhawum. He preaches to the 
people every Friday and multitudes of them repent before 
him and shave their heads and fall into ecstasies of lamen­ 
tation, and some of them faint.

Anecdote. I was present one day when he was preaching, 
and the Qur'an-reader recited in his presence 'O ye men, fear 
your Lord. Verily the quaking of [the earth at] the Hour is a 
thing of terror. On the day when ye see it every nursing 
woman shall be unmindful of what she has suckled, and every 
carrying female shall bring forth her burden, and thou shalt 
see men reeling as drunkards, yet are they not drunkards, but 
the chastisement of God is terrible.' 36 [When the reader 
finished,] the doctor 'Ala al-DIn repeated these words, and a

159 certain poor brother | somewhere in the mosque uttered a 
loud cry. The shaikh repeated the verse and the faqlr cried 
out again and fell dead. I was one of those who prayed over 
him and joined in his funeral cortege.

Another of the pious men of Dihli is the learned and saintly 
shaikh Sadr al-DIn al-Kuhrani. 37 He used to fast continually

34 No important shaikh of this name is mentioned in Indian sources, and 
it has been suggested that he is no other than the celebrated Chishtl saint 
Naslr al-DIn Mahmud, known as Chiragh-i-Dihll (the lamp of Delhi'), the 
spiritual successor of Nizam al-DIn (see pp. 653-4 below), d. 1356.

85 'Ala' al-DIn Nil! was a native of Oudh, became one of the khalifas 
of Nizam al-DIn, and died at Delhi in 1361.

36 Sura xxii, vv. 1-2.
37 Nothing is known of this shaikh.
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and stand all his nights [in prayer]. He renounced the world 
entirely and rejected all its goods, and wore nothing but a 
woollen cloak. The Sultan and the officers of state used to 
visit him but he often refused to see them, and when the 
Sultan asked permission to give him a grant of some villages, 
from the revenues of which he could supply food to poor 
brethren and visitors, he would have nothing to do with it. 
Visiting him another day the Sultan brought him a present 
of ten thousand dinars, but he refused to accept it. It was 
said that he broke his fast only after three nights and that 
when someone remonstrated with him about this he replied 
'I do not break fast until I am under such compulsion that 
carrion becomes lawful for me.' 38

Another of them is the learned and saintly imam, | the 160 
abstinent and humble-minded devotee, Kama! al-Din 
'Abdallah al-Ghari, the outstanding and unique personality 
of his age. 39 He is called al-Ghari ['the cave-man'] from a 
cave which he used to inhabit outside Dihli, near the hospice 
of Shaikh Nizam al-Din al-Badhawuni. I visited him in this 
cave three times.

A miraculous grace of his. I had a slave boy who ran away 
from me, and whom I found in the possession of a certain 
Turk. I had in mind to reclaim the slave from him, but the 
shaikh said to me 'This boy is no good to you. Don't take 
him'. The Turk wished to come to an arrangement, so I 
settled with him that he paid me a hundred dinars and I left 
him the boy. Six months later the boy killed his master and 
was taken before the Sultan, who ordered him to be handed 
over to his master's sons, and they put him to death. When I 
experienced this miracle on the part of the shaikh I attached 
myself entirely to him, withdrawing from the world and 
giving all that I possessed | to the poor and needy. I stayed ie« 
with him for some time, 40 and I used to see him fast for ten 
and twenty days on end and remain standing [in prayer] 
most of the night. I continued with him until the Sultan sent 
for me and I became entangled in the world once again—may

38 'Carrion' (maita), i.e. the flesh of any animal that has not been ritually 
slaughtered, is unlawful food (see vol. II, p. 392. n. 91), but a familiar legal 
maxim declares that 'necessity makes the forbidden lawful'.

89 See p. 766 below. 40 See p. 766 below.
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God give me a good ending! Later on, if God will, I shall tell 
the whole story, and how it was that I returned to the world.

Account of the capture of Dihli and of the kings who reigned 
there successively. I was told by the jurist and imam, the most 
learned Grand Qadl in Hind and Sind, Kamal al-Dm Muham­ 
mad ibn al-Burhan of the town of Ghazna, entitled Sadr al- 
Jahan, 41 that the city of Dihli was captured from the hands 
of the infidels in the year 584. I have myself seen this date 
inscribed on the mihrab of the great mosque there. 42 He told 

162 me also that it | had been captured by the amir Qutb al-Din 
Aibak, who was called by the title of Sipah43 Salar, the 
meaning of which is 'commander of the armies', who was one 
of the mamluks of the exalted Sultan Shihab al-Dm Muham­ 
mad ibn Sam the Ghurid, king of Ghazna and Khurasan,44 
the same who conquered the kingdom of Ibrahim, son of the 
warrior Sultan Mahmud ibn Subuktakln, who began the 
conquest of India.

This Sultan Shihab al-Dm had despatched the amir Qutb 
al-DIn with a powerful army and God gave him conquest of 
the city of Lahawr. 45 After he settled there his power in­ 
creased greatly, and he was calumniated to the Sultan, whose 
intimate friends insinuated to him that Aibak was aiming at 
constituting himself sole sovereign of India and had indeed 
already withdrawn his allegiance and revolted. When this 
report came to the ears of Qutb al-Din [Aibak] he immedi­ 
ately took the initiative, entered Ghazna by night, and 
presented himself before the Sultan, unknown to those who

41 Kamal al-dln ibn al-Burhan was the chief qadi of the mamluks, and 
was I.B.'s informant for his history.

42 The earliest inscription in the mosque is dated 587/1191 (see Edward 
Thomas, Chronicles of the Pathan Kings of Delhi, London, 1871, pp. 21-22). 
I.E., scanning the lofty inscription from far below, mistook the first letter 
of 7 (s.b.') for the first two letters of 4 (arb. 1 ).

48 As noted in the French edition, the autograph reads s.yah for s.bdh.
44 Shihab al-Din was the earlier title of the Ghurid Mu'izz al-Dm (see 

p. 623, n. 23 above). For the Sultans of Ghur and Shihab al-Dm's conquest 
of Ghazna in 1173 see Barthold, Turkestan, p. 337 and E.I. 2, s.v. The 
Grand Qadi's history is somewhat confused. Ghazna had been abandoned by 
the Ghaznevid sultans some time before. For Mahmud of Ghazna, see p. 590, 
n. 203 above; his grandson Ibrahim died in 1099.

45 In 582/1186. Lahore was the Ghaznevid capital in India, and it was by 
this victory that the Ghurids replaced the Ghaznevids as the rulers of 
Muslim India.
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had denounced him. | Next day the Sultan took his seat 163 
on his throne, having first placed Aibak underneath the 
throne so that he was not visible. The royal companions and 
officers who had calumniated Aibak entered and when they 
had taken their places the Sultan questioned them on the 
subject of Aibak. They affirmed to him that Aibak had 
rebelled and refused his allegiance, adding 'We have abso­ 
lutely certain information that he has proclaimed himself 
king'; whereupon the Sultan beat the throne with his foot, 
clapped his hands and called 'Aibak'. He replied 'Here am I', 
and came out before them. They were filled with confusion 
and hastened in terror to kiss the ground. The Sultan said to 
them 'I forgive you this lapse but beware of any further 
loose talk about Aibak,' and ordered him to return to India. 46 
So he returned to it and conquered the city of Dihli and other 
cities, and Islam has been established there down to the 
present day. Qutb al-Din remained there to the time of his 
death. |

The Sultan Shams al-Din Lalmish.*7 He was the first who 164 
exercised independent rule in the city of Dihli. Before his rise 
to royal power he was a mamluk of the amir Qutb al-Din 
Aibak, the commander of his army and a deputy for him. On 
Qutb al-Din's death he seized the sovereign power and 
ordered the people to take the oath of allegiance to him. The 
jurists came to him headed by the Grand Qadi at that time, 
Wajih al-Din al-Kasa.ni, and when they entered his audience 
chamber they took their places before him and the qa<li sat 
down beside him according to the regular custom. The 
Sultan understood from them what it was that they wished

46 This story has not been traced elsewhere. It appears to be a popular 
embroidery upon Aibak's visit to Ghazna in the year after his occupation of 
Delhi, where he was detained for some time by illness but eventually 
reappointed to the government of India. See M. A. Ahmad, The Early 
Turkish Empire of Delhi (Lahore, 1949). PP- IS0"1 -

47 This name is commonly rendered Iltutmish by the Indian historians 
and is so vocalized in R.C.E.A., vol. XI, I, nos. 4100-1-2-5, etc. and 
Hikmet Bayur in Belleten of the Turkish History Society, vol. XIV 
(Ankara, 1950), 567-88. The inscriptions on coins, however, and on the 
Qutb Minar clearly read Ilitmish (Iletmish) (see Thomas, Pathan Kings, 
pp. 78-9, although he renders the name as Altamsh), as do several other 
early Persian and Indian texts (see Ahmad, op. cit. in n. 46, pp. 155-6)- 
I.B.'s Lalmish is surely a popular simplification. He reigned 1210-35, after 
defeating an obscure successor of Aibak, named Aram.
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to discuss with him, and raising a corner of the carpet upon 
which he was sitting produced for them a deed formally 
attesting his enfranchisement. 48 The judge and the legists 
after reading it unanimously took the oath of allegiance to 
him; he became sole sovereign and reigned for twenty years. 
He was just, pious and of excellent character, and among the 
commendable actions which are remembered of him was his

165 zeal | in redressing wrongs and seeing that justice was done 
to the oppressed. He gave orders that every person who had 
been wronged should wear a coloured robe. 49 Now the people 
of India all dress in white, so when he held public audience or 
rode out and saw someone wearing a coloured robe he looked 
into his petition and rendered him his due from his oppressor. 
Then he carried this practice to extremes50 saying 'There are 
some people against whom injustices are committed at night, 
and I wish to do justice to them without delay,' so he set up 
at the gate of his palace two marble statues of lions. These 
were placed on towers there and hung round their necks were 
two chains of iron attached to which was a large bell. The 
victim of oppression would come by night and set the bell 
ringing; the Sultan would hear it, look into his case there and 
then, and see that justice was done by him. On his death the 
Sultan Shams al-Din left three male children, namely Rukn

166 al-Din, who exercised the rule after him, Mu'izz | al-Din and 
Nasir al-Dm, and along with them a daughter Radiya, who 
was the full sister of Mu'izz al-Din. He was succeeded as ruler 
by Rukn al-Din, as we have said.

The Sultan Rukn al-Dm son of the Sultan Shams al-Dm. 
When the oath of allegiance had been taken to Rukn al-Dm 
after his father's death he began his reign by using violence 
against his brother Mu'izz al-Din and put him to death. 51 
Radiya, who was the full sister of Mu'izz al-Din, showed her

48 Since a slave could not legally hold any public office of authority, proof 
of manumission was regularly demanded by the religious lawyers from a 
former slave before recognizing him by an oath of allegiance.

49 Mahdi Husain (p. 33, n. 3) quotes texts which imply that this was not 
an uncommon usage in Iran and India, and that the coloured robe was as a 
rule made of paper.

50 The autograph plainly reads 'aghya, notwithstanding Dozy's remarks 
s.v. 'ayy.

" An error of detail—the murdered prince was Qutb al-Din; Mu'izz 
al-Dm succeeded his sister Radiya as sultan.
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disapproval of this act to him and he planned to kill her too. 
On a certain Friday when Rukn al-Dm rode out to attend the 
prayer, Ragliya mounted to the terrace of the old castle 
adjoining the great mosque, which is called Dawlat Khdna, 52 
dressed in the robes worn by persons against whom a wrong 
has been committed, presented herself to the people, and 
addressed them from the terrace, saying to them 'My brother 
killed his brother and now he is trying to kill me as well.' 
Then she recalled to them the days of her father and his good 
actions | and his beneficence to them, whereupon they, stirred 167 
up to excitement, rushed upon the Sultan Rukn al-Din, who 
was there in the mosque, 53 seized him, and brought him out 
before her. She said to them 'The slayer shall be slain' so they 
put him to death in retaliation for the murder of his brother. 
As their [third] brother Nasir al-Din was still a child the 
people agreed to establish Radiya as ruler.

The Sultana Radiya. 5* When Rukn al-Dm was put to death 
the troops determined by general consent to confer the 
sovereignty on his sister Radiya and proclaimed her as queen. 
She held sovereign rule for four years and used to ride abroad 
just like the men, carrying bow and quiver and55 (qurbdn), 
and without veiling her face. After that she was suspected of 
relations with a slave of hers, one of the Abyssinians, 56 so the 
people agreed to depose her and marry her to a husband. She 
was deposed in consequence and married to one of her rela­ 
tions, and her brother Nasir al-DIn became king. |

Sultan Nasir al-Dm son of Sultan Shams al-Dm. &7 When 168 
Radiya was deposed her youngest brother Nasir al-Dm 
became ruler and exercised the royal power for some time. 
Subsequently Radiya and her husband revolted against him,

62 Persian: 'house of the rulership', the White Palace of Iltutmish 
(Ahmad, p. 191, n. -z).

63 A romantic addition to the story. Rukn al-Dm was on campaign, and 
was captured by Radiya's troops after her elevation to the sultanate.

64 The Perso-Indian pronunciation is Raziya (r. 1236-40). I.B.'s form 
Sultana is peculiar, and contrary to classical Arabic usage. On her coinage 
Radiya is correctly entitled Sttltan (Thomas, 107-8).

65 ? Kirpal (suggestion of Dr. A. Goriawale).
66 Indian sources assert that she allowed the Abyssinian Master of the 

Stables (Amir akhur) to lift her on to her horse {Ahmad, 193).
87 I.B.'s informant omits the reigns of Mu'izz al-Din (who defeated 

Radlya's attempt to regain the throne) and 'Ala' al-DIn Mas'ud-shah. 
Nasir al-Dm Mahmud reigned 1246-66.
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led out a force of their own mamluks and a body of disorderly 
elements who followed them, and prepared to fight against 
him. Nasir al-Din went out accompanied by his mamluk and 
representative Ghiyath al-Din Balaban, who ruled the king­ 
dom after him, and they engaged in battle. Radiya's troops 
were put to flight and she herself fled until, overtaken by 
hunger and overwhelmed by weariness, she approached a 
cultivator whom she saw tilling the soil and asked him for 
something to eat. He gave her a crust of bread which she ate 
and then fell fast asleep. She was dressed as a man, but when 
she slept the labourer looked at her sleeping and saw beneath 
her outer garments a tunic58 embroidered with jewels. 
Realizing from this that she was a woman, he killed her,

169 stripped her, drove off her horse, and buried her | in his field, 
then taking some of her garments he went to the market to 
sell them. The dealers had some suspicions about him and 
brought him before the shihna, that is to say the chief of 
police, 59 who had him beaten until he confessed to killing her 
and showed them where she was buried. Her body was 
disinterred, washed, wrapped in grave clothes and buried 
again at the same place, and a dome was built over it. Her 
grave, which is on the bank of the great river called al-Jun at 
a distance of one farsakh from the city, is still visited by 
pilgrims in order to obtain blessing. 60

After her death Nasir al-Din enjoyed undisputed sover­ 
eignty and continued to rule for twenty years. He was a pious 
king; he used to write copies of the Holy Book with his own 
hand, sell them and buy his food with the proceeds. The qadi 
Kama! al-Din showed me a Qur'an copied by him in an 
elegant and well-executed writing. Subsequently his deputy61

170 | Ghiyath al-Din Balaban killed him and became king after
68 qaba . See Dozy, V&tements, 352.
69 Shihna generally means the military governor of a city, who was 

usually in command of the police also. For hakim cf. Vol. I, p. 114, n. 168.
60 The tomb and its site are described by Mahdi Husain, p. 35, n. 4.
61 This is the lexical equivalent of na'ib (ndyib in the autograph) and the 

official designation (nd'ib al-mulk) of the office held by Balban. But he was 
in fact the Regent of the empire, with powers and insignia equal to those of 
the Sultan (Ahmad, p. 230, n. 2). His title at this time was Ulugh-khan, and 
his chief occupation was to put down the numerous revolts by subordinate 
officers against Nasir al-Din. There is no contemporary confirmation that 
the latter was killed by Balban.
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him. This Balaban had a remarkable history which we shall 
relate.

The Sultan Ghiydth al-Din Balaban. His name is spelt with 
two 6's separated by an /, each followed by the vowel a, and 
an n at the end. When Balaban killed his master Sultan Nasir 
al-Din, he ruled as sovereign after him for twenty years, 
having previously been deputy to him for twenty years more. 
He was one of the best of sultans, just, clement, and upright. 
Among his generous acts was the building of a house, which 
he called 'The House of Safety*. If any debtor entered it his 
debt was paid; if any person fled to it for refuge he was 
secure; if anyone entered it after killing someone, satisfaction 
was given on his behalf to the relatives of the person killed ; 
and if anyone who had committed an injury or punishable 
offence entered it his prosecutors were given satisfaction 
likewise. It was in this house that he was buried when he died 
and I have visited his tomb. 62 |

His strange history. It is related that a certain poor brother 171 
at Bukhara, seeing there this Balaban, who was of short 
stature, unprepossessing and ugly, said to him yd Turkak, 
which is a phrase used to express contempt. Balaban replied 
'At your service, yd khund',™ which so pleased the faqir that 
he said to him, pointing to some pomegranates which were 
being sold in the bazaar, 'Buy me some of those pomegran­ 
ates.' Balaban replied 'Certainly', and taking out a few 
coppers which were all that he had, bought some of those 
pomegranates for him. As he took them, the faqir said to him 
'We give you the kingdom of India.' Balaban kissed his own 
hand saying 'I accept it with pleasure,' and the thing re­ 
mained fixed in his mind. It happened that Sultan Shams 
al-Din Lalmish sent a merchant to buy mamluks for him at 
Samarqand, Bukhara, and Tirmidh, and he bought a hundred 
mamluks, one of whom was Balaban. The Sultan, when the 
merchant brought the mamluks before him, was satisfied 
with | all of them except Balaban, because of his insignificant 172

62 The tomb of Balban (reigned 1266-87) still exists, near the mosque of 
Jamali (Ahmad, 287, n. 3). Adjoining it is the tomb of his son, the 'Martyr 
Khan' (see p. 635 below).

63 Turkak, i.e. 'miserable little Turk'. Khund, shortened form of Pers. 
Khuddwand, 'lord, sovereign' (cf. vol. II, p. 291, n. 68). So also a few lines 
below, Khund 'dlam, 'master of the world'.
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appearance, as we have described, and said 'I do not accept 
this man/ Balaban said to him 'Oh master of the world, for 
whom have you bought these mamluks?' The Sultan laughed 
at him and said 'I have bought them for myself/ then 
Balaban said to him 'Buy me for the sake of God High and 
Mighty/ The Sultan consented, accepted him and enrolled 
him among his mamluks; nevertheless little account was 
taken of him and he was assigned to the [corps of] water- 
carriers.

Now the astrologers versed in the science of the stars used 
to tell the Sultan Shams al-Din that one of his mamluks 
would seize the kingdom from the hand of his son and take 
possession of it. Although they continued to predict this to 
him, he paid no attention to their predictions because of his 
uprightness and probity of character, until they said the same 
thing to the principal khatun, the mother of his sons, and she 
spoke to him about it. This made an impression on him; he 
sent for the astrologers and said 'Would you recognize the 
mamluk who will seize my son's kingdom if you saw him?'

173 They replied | 'Certainly, we have in our possession a sign by 
which we would recognize him/ Thereupon the Sultan gave 
orders for a parade of his mamluks and held a special session 
for that purpose, when they were passed in review before him 
rank by rank, while the astrologers watched them and said 
'We have not seen him yet/ Then mid-day passed and the 
water-carriers said among themselves 'We are hungry, so let 
us pool some of our money and send one of our number to the 
market to buy food for us/ Having collected the money, they 
sent Balaban with it, seeing there was no one amongst them 
of less account than he, but he was unable to find what they 
wanted in the market and went off to another market and so 
was delayed. Meanwhile it came to the turn of the water- 
carriers for review, and since he had not yet come back they 
took his waterskin and his equipment, strapped the latter on 
the shoulder of a boy, and presented him as if he were 
Balaban. When his name was called the boy passed before 
them, and the parade ended without the astrologers having

174 seen the figure which they were expected to find. 64 1 Balaban 
returned after the end of the review in accordance with God's

84 The autograph reads tulibu bihd, carefully pointed. 
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will to execute His decree. 66 Later on his distinction became 
apparent and he was promoted to the command of the 
water-carriers, then entered into the ranks of the fighting 
troops, and in due course became one of the amirs. Further­ 
more Sultan Nasir al-Din married his daughter before his 
succession to the kingship, and when he became king he made 
Balaban deputy for him for a period of twenty years. 66 Then 
Balaban killed him and occupied his kingdom for twenty 
years more, as has been related.

The Sultan Balaban had two sons, one of whom was 'The 
Martyr Khan', his heir; he was governor for his father in the 
territory of Sind, residing in the city of Multan, and was 
killed in warfare with the Tatars, leaving two sons Kay 
Qubadh and Kay Khusru. 67 The Sultan Balaban's second 
son was named Nasir al-Din and was his father's governor in 
the territories of Laknawti and Bengal. 68 When the 'Martyr 
Khan' was killed fighting for the faith the Sultan Balaban 
transferred | the succession to Kay Khusru, diverting it from 175 
his own son Nasir al-Din. Now Nasir al-Din also had a son, 
called Mu'izz al-Din, living at Dihli with his grandfather, and 
it was he who succeeded to the kingdom after his grand­ 
father's death in strange circumstances which we shall relate, 
although his father was still alive at the time, as we have 
said.

The Sultan Mu'izz al-Din son of Nasir al-Din son of the 
Sultan Ghiydth al-Din Balaban. When the Sultan Ghiyath 
al-Din died during the night, after assigning the succession to 
Kay Khusru, the son of his son the Martyr, as we have 
related, and his [other] son Nasir al-Din being absent in the 
province of Laknawti, the 'king' of the amirs, who was the

85 This is, of course, the whole point of the story. Balban was, in fact, 
purchased in Baghdad and was a favoured slave from the first, as a member 
of the Sultan's household corps.

64 See n. 61 above.
87 He was killed during a raid on Sind by a Mongol noble named Timar 

Khan in 1285. The following narrative is historically accurate, except that 
Kay Qubadh was not the son of the 'Martyr Khan' Muhammad, but 
precisely the Mu'izz al-Dm mentioned below as the son of Nasir al-Din 
Bughra Khan. The names Qubadh (with dh) and Khusru are clearly so 
written and vocalized in the autograph.

88 Laknawti or Lak'hnawti, now the ruined site of Gaur, in the Rajshahi 
division of East Bengal (Pakistan) was the capital of the Muslim governors 
and princes of Bengal. I.B.'s spelling of Bengal is Banjala.
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deputy of the Sultan Ghiyath al-Dm, 69 was an enemy of Kay 
Khusru and he plotted a stratagem against him which 
succeeded. He wrote an act of allegiance in which he forged 
the handwriting of the great amirs witnessing to their oath 
of allegiance to Mu'izz al-Dm, the grandson of the Sultan

176 Balaban, as their sovereign. He then presented himself | to 
Kay Khusru in the character of a loyal counsellor and said 
to him 'The amirs have taken the oath of allegiance to your 
cousin and I fear that they may have designs against you.' 
Kay Khusru said to him 'What is to be done?' He replied 
'Save yourself by flight to Sind, and to his question how he 
should leave the town, seeing the gates were closed, said 'The 
keys are in my hand, I myself shall open them for you.' Kay 
Khusru thanked him for this and the 'king' kissed his hand 
and said to him 'Mount at once.' So the prince rode out with 
his personal attendants and his mamluks, and he opened the 
gate for him, saw him through it, and closed it behind him. 

He then asked permission to enter the presence of Mu'izz 
al-Dm and took the oath of allegiance to him. Mu'izz al-Dln 
said 'How can the kingdom be mine when my cousin has been 
nominated heir?' The 'king' told him of the trick which he 
had played on the latter and how he had put him out of the 
city, whereupon Mu'izz al-Dm thanked him for his action,

177 went with him to | the palace and sent for the amirs and 
principal officers, who swore allegiance to him during the 
[same] night. Next morning the rest of the population swore 
allegiance to him also and he was firmly established in the 
kingdom. Now his father was still alive in the land of Bengal 
and Laknawti, and when the news reached him he said 'I am 
heir to the kingdom; how can my son succeed to the kingdom 
and enjoy full sovereignty in it while I am still alive?' He 
therefore set out with his armies on an expedition to the 
capital, Dihli, and his son also set out with his armies with 
the object of driving him away from it. The armies came face 
to face at the town of Kara, 70 which is on the banks of the 
river Gang, the same to which the Indians go on pilgrimage.

69 Malik al-'Umara' Fakhr al-Din Kutwal, who was high in the favour of 
Balban. As already mentioned (p. 601, n. 28) the term 'king' (malik) was 
applied to all the chief officers of state in India.

70 In the province of Allahabad.
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Nasir al-Din camped on the bank on which Kara lies and his 
son the Sultan Mu'izz al-Dln encamped on the opposite bank, 
with the river between them. They had every intention of 
fighting, but God, exalted be He, desiring to spare the blood 
of the Muslims, cast into the heart of Nasir al-Dln a tender 
affection for his son and he said 'If my son is King, | it is an 178 
honour to me and I am the one who has most reason to desire 
it so.' He cast also into the heart of the Sultan Mu'izz al-Din 
a sense of filial submission to his father. Each of them then 
embarked in a boat, unaccompanied by his troops, and they 
met in the middle of the river. The Sultan kissed his father's 
foot and made apologies to him, while his father said to him 
'I give you my kingdom and confer the government upon 
you' and swore allegiance to him. He then wished to return 
to his province, but his son insisted that he should pay a 
visit to his territories, and went with him to Dihli, where he 
entered the palace and his father bade him sit upon the 
throne and himself stood before him. This meeting between 
them on the river was called 'The conjunction of the two 
auspicious stars', 71 because of the sparing of blood which 
resulted from it and the offering of the kingdom to one 
another and the mutual abstinence from conflict, and the 
poets wrote many panegyrics on this subject.

Nasir al-Din then returned | to his provinces and died there 179 
some years later, leaving in them descendants, amongst 
whom was Ghiyath al-Din Bahadur, who was taken prisoner 
by the Sultan Tughluq, and released by his son Muhammad 
after Tughluq's death. 72 After this Mu'izz al-Din enjoyed 
undisturbed rule for four years, which were like one long 
festival. 73 I have seen some of those who remembered those 
times describing their abundance, their cheap prices and the 
liberality and generosity of Mu'izz al-Din. It was he who built 
the minaret in the north court of the mosque of Dihli, and 
there is nothing like it in the world. 74 One of the inhabitants

71 Probably an allusion to the poetical description of these events by the 
poet Amir Khusraw under the title (misquoted by I.B.) of Qiran al-Sa'dain. 

78 See pp. 653, 709-10 below.
73 By this phrase (literally 'like [a series of] festivals') I.B. means some­ 

thing different from the dissipation of the sultan and courtiers described by 
the Indian historian Barani (Ahmad, 296-8, 316).

74 See p. 623, n. 23 above.
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of India told me that Mu'izz al-DIn was much addicted to 
women and wine and was struck down by a disease which 
the doctors were unable to cure. One side of him dried up,75 
and then his deputy Jalal al-DIn Flruz Shah al-Khalji 
revolted against him. |

180 The Sultan Jalal al-Dm.™ When the Sultan Mu'izz al-Dm 
was seized by the drying up of one of his sides, as we have 
related, his deputy Jalal al-DIn revolted against him, marched 
out of the city, and took up a position on a hill thereabouts 
beside a domed tomb called Qubbat al-Jaishani. Mu'izz al- 
Din sent out the amirs to engage him, but everyone of them 
whom he sent took the oath of allegiance to Jalal al-Dm and 
joined his party. The latter then entered the city and besieged 
the Sultan in the palace for three days. I have been told by an 
eye-witness that the Sultan Mu'izz al-Din suffered the pangs 
of hunger77 during those days but found nothing to eat, and a 
certain sharif who was one of his neighbours sent him 
sufficient to remove his affliction. The palace was taken by 
storm, he was killed, and Jalal al-Din reigned after him.

Jalal al-Din was clement and upright, and it was his 
clemency that led him to his death, as we shall relate. He

181 exercised undisputed | rule for some years and built the palace 
which is called by his name,78 the same one which Sultan 
Muhammad gave to his brother-in-law, the amir Ghada 
ibn Muhanna, when he married him to his sister, as we shall 
relate in due course. The Sultan Jalal al-DIn had a son named 
Rukn al-Din and a brother's son 'Ala al-Din, whom he 
married to his daughter and appointed to the governorship 
of the city of Kara and Manikbur and their districts.79 These 
are among the most fertile regions in India; they produce

75 Apparently a paralytic stroke.
76 First of the line of Khaljl Sultans, reigned 1290-96. The Khalaj were a 

Turkish tribe long resident in the region of Ghazna, who furnished troops 
for the expeditions of its Sultans into India. The following narrative is a 
popular summary of the events which led to their rise to power.

77 The autograph has 'was afflicted by bitter anxiety [jaza' for/«'] to the 
degree that he found nothing to eat'.

78 Later (p. 685 below) identified by I.B. with the Red Palace (kushk-i 
la'I) in Old Delhi: however, the palace built by Balban, and Jalal al-Dm's 
building, called the Green Palace, was apparently an extension of the palace 
begun by Mu'izz al-Din at Kailukhri (Kilok'hri) on the bank of the Jumna, 
near the later tomb of Humayun.

79 See note 70 above.
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large quantities of wheat, rice, and sugar, and have manu­ 
factures of fine fabrics which are exported to Dihli, which is 
at a distance of eighteen days' journey from them. 'Ala 
al-Dm's wife made life disagreeable for him and he so 
frequently complained of her to his uncle the sultan Jalal 
al-Din that eventually their relations became strained 
because of her.

'Ala al-Din was a vigorous and brave man, accustomed to 
conquest and success, and had a fixed ambition to become 
king, only he had no | wealth except what he could gain for isa 
himself by the sword in the way of booty from the infidels. 
It happened that he went on one occasion on a raid into the 
territory of Duwaiqir (it is called also the land of Kataka, and 
we shall speak of it later),80 which is the capital of the 
territories of Malwa and of Marhata81 and its sultan was the 
most powerful of the sultans of the infidels. In the course of 
this expedition a horse on which 'Ala al-Din was riding struck 
its hoof against a stone and, as he heard a ringing sound from 
the stone, he gave orders for the ground to be dug up and 
found under it a vast treasure, which he distributed amongst 
his followers. When he reached Duwaiqir its sultan submitted 
to him, gave him possession of the city without fighting and 
sent him valuable presents. He then returned to the city of 
Kara, but sent none of the booty to his uncle. Certain persons82 
incited his uncle against him in consequence and he was sent 
instructions to come to Dihli but refused to do so. Thereupon 
the Sultan Jalal al-Din said 'I shall go to him myself and 
bring him, for 11 look on him as my son'. So he set out with his 183 
troops and marched with all speed until he encamped on the 
bank of the city of Kara, at the same place where the Sultan 
Mu'izz al-Din encamped when he went out to engage his

80 The later Dawlat Abad; see vol. I, p. 262, n. 61, and pp. 644, 732 below. 
Kataka (Sanskrit) means a royal camp, adopted in Anglo-Indian as Cuttack. 
A full account of this attack on the Yadava kingdom of Devagiri in 1296, 
and the submission of its king Ram Chandra is contained in History of the 
Khaljis by K. S. Lal (Allahabad, 1950) pp. 46-57.

81 The Yadava kings had repeatedly invaded Malwa (to the north) and 
occupied the southern Maratha country. I.E. is correct in calling Ram 
Chandra the most powerful of the Hindu kings at the time.

82 Al-nas is too vague a term to define more precisely than by 'the men 
concerned in the event' (cf. on the following page), and presumably therefore 
implies his military officers and palace officials.
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father Nasir al-Dm. He embarked on the river in order to 
meet his nephew, and the latter also embarked on a second 
vessel, determined on murdering him, and said to his followers 
'When I embrace him, kill him.' So when they met in the 
middle of the river his nephew embraced him and his 
nephew's attendants killed him as prearranged, and 'Ala 
al-Din took possession of his kingdom and his troops.

The Sultan 'Aid al-Dm Muhammad Shah Khalji. After he 
had killed his uncle he seized the sovereign power, and most 
of his uncle's troops went over to his side. Some of them 
returned to Dihli and assembled round Rukn al-Din, 83 but

184 when the latter marched out to bar his way, they deserted | in 
a body to the Sultan 'Ala al-Din, and Rukn al-D!n fled to 
Sind. 'Ala al-Din then entered the royal palace and enjoyed 
undisturbed rule for twenty years. He was one of the best of 
sultans, and the people of India are full of his praises. He used 
to investigate the conditions of his subjects in person and to 
enquire into the prices which they had to pay, and he used to 
send for the muhtasib,8 * whom they call the ra'ls, every day 
for that purpose. It is related that he asked him one day why 
meat was so dear and he told him that it was due to the 
repeated exactions of toll upon the cattle at the road stages. 
He gave orders that that practice must cease, sent for the 
merchants, and gave them money, saying to them 'Buy with 
this cattle and sheep and sell them; the money received for 
their sale will go to the treasury and you shall have a com­ 
mission on their sale.' They did so, and he made the same 
arrangements with regard to the woven fabrics which were 
imported from Dawlat Abad. When the price of grain became 
very high he opened the stores85 and sold their grain until the

185 price went down again. | It is said that on one occasion the 
price rose, and when he ordered that grain was to be sold at a 
price which he fixed the people refused to sell it at that price. 
He then gave orders that no one should sell any grain other

*s The throne-title of Qadir Khan, the younger son of Jalal al-DIn. The 
elder son, Arhall Khan, was governor of Sind. 'Ala' al-Dm immediately sent 
an expedition to Multan, and the two princes were captured and killed.

84 I.e. the Inspector of Markets; see vol. I, p. 219, n. 130. Ra'ls was at that 
time commonly applied in the East to the officer in charge of police: see 
Cl. Cahen, in Arabica, torn. VI (Paris, 1959), p. 54 and n. 2.

86 Presumably the grain-stores in the wall, mentioned on p. 621 above.
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than store grain, and sold it to the public for six months. 
Those who had monopolized the stocks became afraid that 
their grain would be damaged by weevils and petitioned for 
permission to sell; he then gave them permission, but on 
condition that they sold it at a price less than that at which 
they had formerly refused to sell it.

He used never to go on horseback to a Friday prayer nor to 
a Festival nor on any other occasion. The reason for this was 
that he had a nephew named Sulaiman Shah whom he loved 
and held in high regard. One day when he rode out to hunt 
taking his nephew with him, the young man determined 
secretly to act with him as he had acted with his uncle Jalal 
al-Dm, namely to assassinate him. Consequently when the 
Sultan dismounted for lunch, he shot him j with an arrow and 186 
knocked him to the ground, and one of his slaves covered him 
with a shield. 86 His nephew came up to give him the coup de 
grace, but when the slaves told him that he was already dead 
he believed them, mounted, and entered the palace and 
seized the private apartments. Sultan 'Ala al-Din recovered 
from his faint, and mounted, his troops assembled around him, 
and his nephew fled, but was overtaken, brought before him 
and put to death. 87 After that he would never mount a horse.

He had the following sons: Khidr Khan, Shadi Khan, Abu 
Bakr Khan, Mubarak Khan, i.e. Qutb al-Din who afterwards 
became king, and Shihab al-Din. Qutb al-Din was harshly 
treated by him and received little share of fortune or con­ 
sideration. He gave all his brothers the ceremonial honours, 
that is to say the banners and drums,88 and gave him nothing. 
One day 'Ala al-Din said to him 'I must give you the same as 
I have given your brothers/ to which he replied 'God it is 
who | will give to me/ a reply which appalled his father and 187 
roused his fears. Sometime later the Sultan contracted the 
disease from which he died. Now his wife, the mother of his 
son Khidr Khan, whose name was Mah-i Haqq (mdh means 
'moon' in their language),89 had a brother called Sanjar, with

86 One MS. reads 'with a mantle'.
87 The fuller story of this episode from the Indian historian BaranI is 

related by K. S. Lal, Khaljis, pp. 184-6.
88 See vol. I, p. 261.
89 Her name was Mahril {Mah-i Haqq looks very like a misread note), with 

the title of Malika-i Jahan. Her brother Sanjar is known in Indian history
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whom she made a pact to raise her son Khiclr Khan to the 
throne. Malik Na'ib, the chief of the Sultan's amirs (he was 
called al-Alfi because the Sultan bought him for a thousand 
tankas, that is to say 2,500 in dinars of the Maghrib),90 got 
wind of this and disclosed their agreement to the Sultan. The 
Sultan accordingly said to his courtiers 'When San jar comes 
before me I shall give him a robe, and when he puts it on 
seize him by the sleeves, pull him to the ground and cut his 
throat.' When San jar entered his chamber they acted as 
arranged and killed him. Khidr Khan was away at the time 
at a place called Sandabat, one day's journey from Dihli, 91

188 having gone out | to visit the tombs of some martyrs there, in 
consequence of a vow which he had taken to walk that 
distance on foot and to pray for his father's recovery. On 
hearing that his father had killed his uncle he was deeply 
grieved and rent the neck of his garment, which it is cus­ 
tomary amongst the people of India to do when anyone who 
is dear to them dies. His father, learning what he had done, 
was displeased by it and when he appeared before him he 
angrily reprimanded him, ordered that his arms and legs 
should be shackled and gave him into the charge of Malik 
Na'ib, whom we have mentioned above, with orders to 
conduct him to the castle of Galiyur (or, as it is sometimes 
called, Guyalyur). This is an isolated and inaccessible castle, 
in the midst of the infidel Hindus, ten nights' journey from 
Dihli, and I have stayed in it myself for a time. 92 Having 
carried him to this castle Malik Na'ib delivered him to the 
kutwal, that is the commandant of the castle, 93 and to the

189 mufradm** who are the troops listed in the army register, | and 
said to them 'Do not say to yourselves that this is the 
Sultan's son and so treat him with respect; he is in reality
as Alp Khan. For the term malik na'ib see n. 61 above; his name was Kafur 
and he commanded several successful expeditions for 'Ala' al-Dln.

90 The tanka (tango) was a coin of 175 grains, struck in both gold and 
silver. The Moroccan dinar weighed 4-722 grammes (about 73 grains).

91 Sonpat (Sonepat), on the Jumna, 28 miles north of Delhi. In the 
following narrative I.E. has telescoped a series of events.

92 See p. 645 below.
93 See p. 606 above.
94 The term seems to imply a body of troops with special functions, but 

who and what precisely is by no means cleared up by I.B.'s following 
explanation.
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his worst enemy, so guard him as you would guard an enemy/ 
Later on, when the Sultan's illness increased in severity, he 
said to Malik Na'ib 'Send to fetch my son Khidr Khan that 
I may appoint him to the succession.' Malik Na'ib promised 
to do so but kept putting him off, and when the Sultan asked 
him about Khidr Khan would say 'He is just coming', until 
the Sultan died, God's mercy on him.

His son the Sultan Shihdb al-Dln. When the Sultan 'Ala 
al-Din died, Malik Na'ib set his youngest son Shihab al-Din 
on the throne and the people swore allegiance to him. Malik 
Na'ib kept him under control, and blinded [his brothers] 
Abu Bakr Khan and Shadi Khan and sent them to Galiyur. 
He gave orders also for the blinding | of their brother Khidr 190 
Khan who was imprisoned there, and they were all kept in 
prison, likewise Qutb al-Din but he was not blinded. The 
Sultan 'Ala al-Din had amongst his personal attendants two 
mamluks, one of whom was called Bashir and the other 
Mubashshir. The principal khatun, the wife of 'Ala al-Din 
(she was the daughter of Mu'izz al-Din), sent for them, 
reminded them of their master's generosity and said 'This 
eunuch, Na'ib Malik, has treated my sons in the way you 
know, and now he wants to kill Qutb al-Din.' They replied 
'You shall see what we will do.' Now it was their custom to 
pass the night in the apartment of Na'ib Malik and to wear 
their arms in his presence. That night they came in and 
presented themselves to him when he was in a cubicle made 
of wood and covered with blanketcloth, which they call 
al-khurmaqah;95 during the rainy season he used to sleep in 
this on the roof of the palace. It happened by chance that he 
took the sword from the hand | of one of them, brandished it 191 
and gave it back to him, whereupon the mamluk struck him 
with it and the other joined in. They cut off his head, took it 
to the prison of Qutb al-Din, threw it down at his feet, and 
brought him out. Then Qutb al-Din went to the palace of his 
brother Shihab al-Din and after remaining in attendance on 
him for a short time as though he were deputy for him, he 
decided to depose him and did so. 98

95 Khurmaqah or kharmaqah is the vocalization in the autograph. The 
Persian term is khurramgah i.e. 'pleasure chamber'.

96 All these events occurred in the early months of 1316.
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The Sultan Qutb al-Din son of the Sultan 'Aid al-Dm. Qutb 
al-Dm deposed his brother Shihab al-Dm, cut off his finger, 
and sent him to Galiyur where he was kept in custody with 
his brothers, and Qutb al-Dm was firmly established as king. 
Some time later he left the capital Dihll to go to Dawlat 
Abad, which is forty days' journey from there. The road 
between these two cities is bordered by willows and other 
trees, so that the traveller on it might imagine himself to be

192 in a garden. For every mile of this road | there are three daw at, 
i.e. post-stations, whose organization we have already 
described,97 and at each ddwa there is everything that the 
traveller requires, so that he seems to be making his way 
through one [continuous] bazaar forty days' journey in 
length. The road continues in the same manner all the way to 
the land of Tiling and al-Ma'bar, a six months' journey.98 At 
each halting place there is a palace for the Sultan and a 
hospice for travellers, so that the poor man has no need to 
carry provisions with him on that road.

When the Sultan Qutb al-Dm set out on this expedition, 
some of the amirs conspired to revolt against him and to raise 
to the throne the son of his imprisoned brother Khidr Khan. 
The boy was about ten years old at the tune and living with 
the Sultan. When the Sultan heard of this he took his 
nephew, seized him by the feet and dashed out his brains on 
the stones. Then he sent one of the amirs, called Malik Shah,

193 to Galiyur, where | this boy's father and uncles were, with 
orders to kill them all. This is the story as the qadi Zain 
al-Dm Mubarak, who was qacli of this castle, told it to me in 
his own words. 'Malik Shah reached us one day in the 
forenoon. I was with Khidr Khan in his place of confinement, 
and when he heard of his arrival he became alarmed and 
changed colour. The amir [Malik Shah] came into his chamber, 
whereupon the prince said to him "What have you come for?" 
He replied "On the business of the Master of the World." The 
prince then asked him whether his life was safe and Malik

97 See p. 594 above.
»8 Tiling stands for Telingana, a Hindu kingdom between the Godavari 

and Krishna rivers, with its capital at Warangal. Ma'bar was the Arabic 
name for the Coromandel coast, south of Telingana, visited later by I.B. 
(Selections, 261-5). Six months' journey is an excessive estimate, as the 
total distance is about twice that from Delhi to Dawlat abad.
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Shah gave him an assurance, and afterwards left him and 
summoned the kutwdl, that is the commandant of the castle, 
and the mufradin, who are the troops on the register" and 
who numbered three hundred men. He then sent for me and 
for the attestors and produced the Sultan's order. Having 
read it they went to [the prison of] Shihab al-Din, the deposed 
Sultan, and beheaded him. He maintained a firm demeanour 
and showed no fear. They then beheaded Abu Bakr Khan 
and Shadi Khan. When they came to execute Khidr Khan he 
was terror-stricken and aghast. His mother was with him | but i94 
they shut the door on her and killed him. They then dragged 
them all into a pit without grave clothes or washing, but they 
were taken out some years later and buried in the sepulchres 
of their ancestors.' The mother of Khidr Khan lived for a 
long time and I saw her in Mecca in the year 28.

This castle of Galiyur is on the top of a steep hill and looks 
as though it were carved out of the rock, with no high ground 
facing it. 100 Inside it there are cisterns of water and about 
twenty wells, attached to the castle by protecting walls on 
which are placed mangonels and stone-throwers. One goes up 
to the castle by a broad track which can be ascended by 
elephants and horses. At the gate of the castle is the image of 
an elephant carved in stone and with the image of a mahout 
upon it; anyone seeing it from a distance would not take it to 
be anything but an elephant in actual reality. At the foot of 
the fortress there is a fine town, which is built entirely of 
white free-stone, j both mosques and private houses, and there i9S 
is no wood in them except for the doors. The same applies to 
the king's palace there, and to the kiosks and bungalows. 
The majority of the common people of the town are infidels 
and there are stationed there 600 horsemen of the Sultan's 
army, who are constantly engaged in jihad because it has 
infidels all round it.

When Qutb al-Din had put his brothers to death and 
secured the sovereign power, so that there was none left to

99 See n. 94 above.
100 The old fortress of Gwalior is situated on a ridge rising to a height of 

300 feet above the plain and if miles in length, 65 miles south of Agra. It 
was used as a state prison by the Muslim kings. At the Elephant entrance 
stood the stone image of an elephant with its mahout on it, called the 
Hathiya Paur.
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compete with him nor to revolt against him, God the Exalted 
raised up against him his most favoured officer, the chief of 
his amirs and the most highly esteemed amongst them in his 
eyes, Nasir al-Din Khusru Khan. 101 This man attacked him 
by surprise, killed him and took possession of his kingdom. 
But his enjoyment of the kingship lasted no long time, for 
God raised up against him also one who killed him after 
deposing him. This was the Sultan Tughluq, as shall be ex­ 
pounded in detail hereafter, if God will and as we shall record. |

196 The Sultan Khusru Khan Ndsir al-Din. Khusru Khan was 
one of the chief of the amirs of Qutb al-Dm and was brave 
and good-looking. He had conquered the land of Jandiri and 
the land of al-Ma'bar, 102 which are among the most fertile 
lands of India and lie at a distance of six months' journey 
from Dihli. Qutb al-Din used to show great affection for him 
and to single him out for his favours, and it was this that 
brought about his own death at his hands. Qutb al-Din had a 
preceptor named Qadi Khan Sadr al-Jahan, who was chief of 
his amirs and kalid-ddr, 103 that is to say keeper of the keys of 
the castle. It was his custom to spend every night on guard at 
the Sultan's door along with the troops of the guard, number­ 
ing a thousand men who mount the night-watch in turns 
every fourth night. They form two ranks between the doors 
of the palace, each man with his weapon in front of him, so

197 that no one may enter | without passing between the two files 
of them, and when night is ended the troops of the day-watch 
relieve them. The troops of the guard have their own amirs 
and clerks who make rounds to inspect them and note in 
their registers those of them who are absent or present.

The Sultan's preceptor Qadi Khan detested the conduct of

101 The autograph again vocalizes the name here and below as Khusrft. 
The Indian historians generally write Khusraw. He was not a Khalji, but a 
Hindu convert, as mentioned below; Qutb al-Dm gave him the rank of 
vizier and the title of Khusru Khan. His origin and caste are matters of 
controversy: see Ishwari Prasad, Hist, of the Qaraunah Turks, vol. I 
(Allahabad, 1936), 8-10 and Lal, Khaljis, 348-51.

102 Chanderi, a Rajput fortress in the province of Malwa, in the district of 
Narwar, was already under Muslim government; I.E. has apparently 
mentioned it by mistake for Warangal, which was conquered by Khusru 
Khan in the course of an expedition to Ma'bar (see n. 98 above) on behalf of 
Qutb al-Din: see Lal, 338-40.

103 Persian kalld, 'key', from the Greek kleis.
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Khusru Khan and was offended by the habit he observed in 
him of showing preference and special favour to the infidel 
Indians, for he was of Indian origin. He lost no opportunity 
of speaking of this to the Sultan, but the Sultan would not 
listen to him and would say to him 'Let him do as he pleases,' 
because of God's decree that he should be killed at his hands. 
On a certain day Khusru Khan said to the Sultan 'There is a 
party of Indians who wish to embrace Islam.' Now it is their 
custom in that country that when a Hindu wishes to become 
a Muslim, he is introduced before the Sultan, who clothes him 
with a fine robe and gives him a necklace and bracelets of 
gold in proportion to his rank. So the Sultan told him to 
bring them to him and he replied 'They shrink from | coming i9s 
to you by day because of their relatives and their fellow- 
Hindus/ The Sultan said to him 'Bring them to me by night,' 
so Khusru Khan collected a body of Indian braves and chiefs, 
among whom was his own brother Khan-i-Khanan. 104 This 
was in the hot season, when the Sultan used to sleep on the 
roof of the palace and had no one with him except a few 
eunuchs. 105

When the Indians had passed through the four doors, all 
bristling with weapons, and reached the fifth door, at which 
Qadi Khan was on guard, he disliked the look of them and 
apprehended some evil. So he stopped them from entering 
and said 'I must hear from Khund 'Alam with my own ears 
his permission for their entry, and only then may they go in.' 
But when he stopped them from entering they assaulted and 
killed him. All this made a clamour at the door and the Sultan 
called out | 'What is there?' Khusru Khan answered 'These i99 
are the Indians who have come to embrace Islam; Qa^i Khan 
has stopped them from entering.' As the uproar increased the 
Sultan became alarmed and rose up with the intention of 
going into the palace; but the door leading to it was barred 
and the eunuchs were beside it. As he knocked on the door 
Khusru Khan seized him in his arms from behind, but the 
Sultan was more powerful than he and bore him to the

104 These were a corps of troops from Gujarat, probably belonging to his 
own Barvar clan or caste. Khan-i Khanan is a title frequently found in 
Indian history, literally 'khan of khans'. There are. of course, varying 
reports on this assassination in the Indian sources. The date was 720/1320.

108 or 'pages': cf. vol. II, p. 486 n. 269.
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ground. The Indians came in and Khusru Khan said to them 
'Here he is on top of me; kill him,' so they killed him, cut off 
his head and threw it down from the roof of the palace into 
the courtyard.

Khusru Khan sent on the spot for the amirs and maliks 
who were as yet unaware of what had happened. Each 
detachment as they entered found him seated on the throne 
and took the oath of allegiance to him, and in the morning he 
made public his succession and despatched the mardsim, that 
is to say the edicts, to all the provinces. He sent also to each 
amir a robe of honour and they all obeyed and submitted to

200 him except Tughluq Shah, | the father of Muhammad Shah, 
who was at that time an amir in Dibal-Bur106 in the province 
of Sind. On receiving the robe of honour from Khusru Khan 
he threw it on the ground and sat on it. The Sultan sent 
against him his brother Khan-i-Khanan but Tughluq defeated 
him and, to cut a long story short, finally put the Sultan to 
death as we shall describe in the history of Tughluq.

When Khusru Khan became king he showed special favour 
to the Indians and openly committed reprobate actions, 
including the prohibition of slaughtering oxen, according to 
the principle of the infidel Hindus. 107 For they do not permit 
their slaughter and punish anyone who kills an ox by having 
him sewn up in its skin and burned. They venerate oxen and 
drink their urine to obtain blessing and for a cure when they 
fall sick, and they daub their houses and walls with their 
dung. This was one of the things which rendered Khusru

201 Khan | odious to the Muslims and caused them to transfer 
their allegiance from him to Tughluq, so that the period of 
his government was not long and the days of his reign were 
cut short, as we shall proceed to describe.

The Sultan Ghiydth al-Dm Tughluq Shah. His name is spelt 
thus, with two u's. I was told by the pious and learned imam, 
the strict and devout shaikh Rukn al-Dm,108 son of the pious

106 Dipalpur, 80 miles S.S.W. of Lahore.
107 The Muslim tradition was naturally hostile to Khusru Khan, and 

accused him and his Barvars of various heathen and anti-Muslim practices. 
I.B.'s statement is probably the least violent accusation; whether justified 
or not, it gives evidence of the early conflict between Muslims and Hindus in 
the matter of killing cows.

108 See p. 597 above.
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shaikh Shams al-Dm Abu 'Abdallah, son of the saint and 
imam, the learned and devout Baha al-Din Zakariya al- 
Qurash! of Multan, in his hospice at that town, that the 
sultan Tughluq was one of the Turks known by the name of 
Qarawna, who inhabit the highlands between Sind and the 
land of the Turks. 109 He was in poor circumstances and came 
to Sind in the service of a certain merchant, for whom he was 
acting as gulwdm, \ that is to say, in charge of his horses. 110 2o3 
This was in the time of Sultan 'Ala al-Din, and the amir of 
Sind was then his brother Olu Khan. 111 Tughluq entered his 
service and became attached to him, and was enrolled by him 
amongst his paid troops in the biydda, 112 i.e. the infantry. 
Later on his bravery was remarked and he was enrolled in the 
cavalry, then became one of the lesser amirs and tJlu Khan 
made him master of his horse. After that he became one of 
the great amirs and was called by the title of al-Malik 
al-Ghazi. I have seen inscribed on the maqsura of the con­ 
gregational mosque at Multan, which was built at his 
orders, 'I fought with the Tatars twenty-nine times and 
drove them in defeat, whence I gained the title of al-Malik 
al-Ghazi.'

When Qutb al-Din succeeded, he made him governor of 
the city and district of Dibal-Bur, and appointed his son, who 
is the present Sultan of India, as master of his horse. The 
latter was named Jawna and on becoming king | took the name 203 
of Muhammad Shah. Subsequently, when Qutb al-Din was 
killed and Khusru Khan succeeded, he maintained him as 
master of the horse. When Tughluq resolved on revolt he had 
with him three hundred of his own troops113 upon whom he

109 From all accounts the Qarawnas (Qaraunas) were a body of unsubdued 
Turkish nomads, mainly in the fringes of Afghanistan. Whether the name 
was a tribal one or signified a population of mixed origins is still doubtful; 
in India it is said to have been applied to the offspring of Tatar or Turkish 
fathers and Indian mothers: see Ishwari Prasad and Pelliot's note. It may 
be remarked that I.B.'s statement does not in itself convey any tone of 
depreciation.

110 The corresponding Persian word is galah-bdn, apparently assimilated 
to Hindi gudld (guaitya), 'cowherd'.

111 Almas Beg, entitled Ulugh Khan after his brother's accession, governor 
of Sind 1296-1301 and of Ranthambhor 1301-2. This report is not to be 
taken at face value.

118 Persian ptyada, 'foot soldier'.
113 Literally 'associates', translated fourteen lines below as 'men'.
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could rely in battle, and he wrote to Kishlu Khan, who was 
at that time in Multan, 114 three days' journey from Dibal- 
Bur, asking him to give him support, reminding him of the 
favour shown to him by Qutb al-Din, and urging him to 
avenge his murder. Kishlu Khan's son was in Dihli, so he 
wrote to Tughluq saying 'Were my son with me I should aid 
you in your design.' Tughluq then wrote to his son 
Muhammad Shah to tell him of his resolve, and bidding him 
escape to join him and bring with him the son of Kishlu Khan. 
His son planned a ruse against Khusru Khan and it succeeded 
just as he had hoped. He said to him that the horses had

204 grown too fat and heavy and needed | yardq, that is to say 
thinning exercise. 115 The Sultan permitted him to take them 
out on exercise, so he used to ride out every day with his men 
and keep them going for an hour or two hours or three. He 
went on to four hours, and finally one day absented himself 
until the sun had passed the meridian, which is the time 
when they eat. The Sultan then gave orders to ride in pursuit 
of him, but no information about him was to be had, and he 
rejoined his father, having brought with him the son of 
Kishlu Khan.

Thereupon Tughluq Khan declared open rebellion and 
assembled the troops, and Kishlu Khan joined him with his 
followers. The Sultan sent his brother Khan-i-Khanan to 
engage them but they inflicted on him a crushing defeat; his 
army passed to their side and Khan-i-Khanan went back to 
his brother, his officers having been killed and his treasuries 
and his possessions captured. Tughluq Khan now marched 
on the capital, Dihli, and Khusru Khan came out against 
him with his troops and encamped outside Dihli at a place

205 called | Asya Abad, which means 'windmill'. 116 He ordered the 
treasuries to be opened and distributed the money in bagfuls 
without weighing or counting. When he and Tughluq con­ 
fronted one another the Indians fought with the greatest

114 Kishlu Khan only later became governor of Sind. At this time he was 
governor of Uch, and called by his name of Bahram Aiba. Otherwise, I.B.'s 
narrative seems to be generally correct.

115 Turkish yavaq.
116 Persian dsyd-bad. This was in the plain of Lahrawat, two or three miles 

to the north or north-west of Sirl (see p. 619, n. 2): Mahdi Husain, 
Muhammad bin Tughluq, 39.
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valour and Tughluq's horsemen were routed, his encampment 
was plundered and he himself was isolated with his three 
hundred oldest followers. He said to them 'Where can we 
escape to? Wherever we are caught we shall be killed.' 
Khusru Khan's troopers had [in the meantime] become 
engaged in looting and had dispersed, so that none but a few 
remained with him. Tughluq and his followers then made 
towards the place where he was, for the Sultan is recognized 
in that country by the parasol117 which is held over his head. 
This is what is called in Egypt 'the dome and bird' and is 
hoisted [over the Sultan] during the festivals [only], whereas 
in India and China it is never removed from the Sultan 
whether he is travelling or in residence.

When Tughluq and his followers made for the Sultan there 
was a fierce fight between them and the Indians, ending in 
the rout | of the Sultan's troops, and not a man remained by 206 
him. He took to flight, then dismounted, put off his outer 
garments and arms, keeping only a single shirt on, and let his 
hair loose upon his shoulders in the manner of the Indian 
faqirs, and went into a grove of trees in that neighbourhood. 
The troops assembled around Tughluq and he marched on 
the city. The kutwdl118 brought him the keys; he entered the 
palace and after occupying a wing of it said to Kishlu Khan 
'You shall be Sultan.' Kishlu Khan replied 'No, but you 
shall be Sultan/ and after some argument said to him 'Well, if 
you refuse to become Sultan then your son can take over.' 
Faced with this unwelcome proposal, he then accepted the 
Sultanate, took his seat upon the throne, and received the 
allegiance of the officers of state and the commonalty.

Three days later Khusru Khan, who was still hiding in the 
grove, came out under pressure of hunger, made a circuit of 
it, and finding the keeper asked him for some food. Since the 
keeper had no food with him | Khusru Khan gave him his ring, *07 
saying 'Go, pledge it for food.' When the man took the ring 
to the bazaar the merchants became suspicious of him .and 
took him before the shihna,119 who was the chief of police. 
The latter brought him before the Sultan Tughluq, whom he

117 Thejitr (Persian chatr), see vol. II, p. 377, n. 54. (I.B. rather strangely 
renders it by shatr here.)

118 See p. 606, n. 43. m See p. 632, n. 59.
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informed about the person who had given him the ring. The 
Sultan sent his son Muhammad to fetch him, and he seized 
him and brought him mounted on a tatu, lzo that is a common 
horse. Khusru Khan on appearing before him said to him 
'I am hungry, give me something to eat.' The Sultan ordered 
him to be served with sherbet, then with food, then with 
fuqqd', and finally with betel. When he finished eating he 
rose to his feet and said 'O Tughluq, act towards me according 
to the code of kings, and do not dishonour me.' Tughluq, 
granting him his request, gave his orders and he was beheaded 
in the very place in which he himself had killed Qutb al-Dm, 
and his head and body were thrown down from the roof as he

208 had done with the head of Qutb | al-Din. 121 Thereafter he gave 
orders to wash him and wrap him in grave-clothes, and he 
was buried in the tomb prepared for him. Tughluq enjoyed 
undisturbed rule for four years, and he was just and upright 
[in his government].

Account of his son's attempt to rebel against Him, which did 
not succeed. When Tughluq was firmly established in the 
capital, he sent his son Muhammad to conquer the land of 
Tiling, which is at a distance of three months' journey from 
the city of Dihli. 122 With him he sent a great army including 
the principal amirs, such as al-malik Tamur, al-malik Tikm, 
malik Kaffir the muhrddr [i.e. seal-keeper], malik Bairam and 
others. When he reached the land of Tiling he thought of

209 revolting. He had a boon companion, a certain | jurist and 
poet, by the name of 'Obaid, and he ordered this man to give 
out to the troops that the Sultan Tughluq had died, imagining 
that they would at once take the oath of allegiance to him 
when they heard of this. But when this report was announced 
to the troops the amirs turned against him;123 each one of 
them beat his own drum and revolted, so that he was left 
without any troops at all. They proposed to kill him, but 
malik Tamur held them back and protected him from them

120 Hindi taitu, a native-bred pony, greatly inferior to an Arab horse 
(Hobson-Jdbson, pp. 902—3).

121 This action is explained by the fact that Tughluq's rebellion was 
sparked by the motive of revenge for the massacre of the house of 'Ala' 
al-Din. The date was 720/1320.

182 I.e. Telingana: see p. 644, n. 98 above.
188 Literally 'disavowed him'.
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and he was able to escape to his father with ten horsemen 
whom he called Ydrdn muwafiq, meaning 'the constant 
friends'. 124 His father gave him money and troops and on his 
orders he returned to Tiling; but his father learned what his 
design had been and put the jurist 'Obaid to death. He gave 
orders also for the execution of malik Kafur the muhrddr', 
a stake with a sharpened end was fixed in the ground for him 
and was driven into his neck till its point came out of his side 
as he was impaled on it head downwards, and he was left in 
j this state. The rest of the amirs fled to the Sultan Shams 210 
al-Dm, son of the Sultan Nasir al-Din, son of the Sultan 
Ghiyath al-Din Balaban, and settled at his court. 125

Tughluq's expedition to the land of Laknawti, and the events 
that followed down to the time of his death. The fugitive amirs 
remained in the service of the Sultan Shams al-Din. Some 
time later Shams al-Dm died, after appointing as his successor 
his son Shihab al-Dm, who sat in his father's seat; but he was 
overpowered by his youngest brother Ghiyath al-Din Bahadur 
Bura (which means in the Indian language 'the black'),126 
who seized the kingdom and killed his brother Qutlu Khan 
and his other brothers. From among them, however, Shihab 
al-Din and Nasir al-Din fled to Tughluq, who set out with 
them in person on an expedition against their brother, leaving 
his son Muhammad as deputy for him in his kingdom. He 
made a rapid march to the land of Laknawti, conquered it, 
| captured its Sultan Ghiyath al-Dm Bahadur and brought 211 
him back to his capital as a prisoner.

There was in the city of Dihli the saint Nizam al-Din 
al-Badhawunl, 127 whom Muhammad Shah, the Sultan's son,

124 From Pers. yar, 'friend', and Ar. muwafiq, 'one who agrees with or 
approves'. The Indian historians are divided on whether Jawna (entitled at 
this time Ulugh Khan) was the victim or the instigator of the mutiny. But 
it is worth nothing that (contrary to I.B.'s statement in the preceding 
section) the revolt against Khusru Khan had been initiated by Jawna 
himself, not by his father: see Mahdi Husain, Muhammad bin Tughluq,
32-3.

125 I.e. in Lakhnawti (Bengal) (see n. 68 above). Flruz Shah, with the 
throne-title of Shams al-Din, was the independent ruler of Bengal from 1302 
to 1322, but his son Ghiyath al-Din, the governor of Sonargaon, was already 
claiming the government of Bengal before his death.

124 Hindi bhurd,
127 One of the most notable of the Indian Muslim saints, commonly 

known as Nizam al-Dm Awliya* (1238-1324), of Bukharan origin, a disciple
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used continually to visit, showing great respect to his 
disciples and always asking for his prayers. Now the shaikh 
was seized [from time to time] by mystical trances which 
took control of him and the Sultan's son said to his disciples 
'When the shaikh is in this state of ecstasy which takes 
possession of him, let me know.' They informed him, accord­ 
ingly, when the shaikh was seized by an ecstasy, and he came 
into his presence. When the shaikh saw him he said 'We give 
him the kingdom,' and afterwards died during the Sultan's 
absence, and his son Muhammad carried his bier upon his 
shoulder. All this was told to his father, who showed his 
disapproval and addressed threatening messages to him, 
[the more so that] several actions of his had already roused 
the Sultan's suspicions and he strongly resented his son's 
excessive purchases of mamluk troops, his extravagance in 
his gifts, and his efforts to captivate the hearts of the people. 

212 So he became more and more enraged against him, | and when 
he heard that the astrologers had declared that he would 
never again enter the city of Dihll after that expedition128 he 
used threatening language towards them.

When he approached the capital on returning from this 
expedition he ordered his son to build him a palace, which 
they call a kushk, 1*9 by a river-bed in those parts which is 
called Afghan-bur. 130 Muhammad Shah built it in three days, 
constructing it mostly of wood, raised upon wooden pillars to 
some height above the ground. He had it skilfully built on a 
plan which was supervised by al-Malik Zada, known later by

of Farid al-Din al-Badhawuni (see pp. 613—14 above) and promoter of the 
Chishti order in DihlT. He was exceedingly popular and influential but not 
on good terms with Tughluq. His tomb in Delhi is still a popular place of 
visitation.

128 This prediction is usually ascribed to Shaikh Nizam al-Din who, on 
being told that the Sultan had ordered him to leave Delhi before his own 
return, is reported to have said 'Dihll is yet far off' (Dihll handz dur ast). 
As mentioned above, however the saint died during the Sultan's absence in 
Bengal, and more than a year before his return.

129 Persian, shortened form of kushak. It is the origin of the word 'kiosk'.
180 Afghanpur was a village to the south-east of Tughluqabad, the new 

city built by Tughluq, about four miles to the east of the old city, (see 
vol. II, p. 274, n. 12). Whether I.B. was mistaken or not in associating the 
name with a river bed (wadl) cannot now be determined.
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the title of Khwaja Jahan, his name being Ahmad ibn Aiyas, 
the chief of the wazirs of Sultan Muhammad, 131 who was at 
that time the controller of buildings. The scheme which they 
excogitated for this kiosk was that whenever the elephants 
should tread on one particular side of it, the whole building 
would fall in ruins. The Sultan alighted at the kiosk and after 
he had given a meal to his troops132 j and they had dispersed, 213 
his son asked his permission to parade the elephants before 
him in their ceremonial trappings, and he granted it.

The Shaikh Rukn al-DIn told me that on that day he was 
with the Sultan, and the Sultan's favourite son Mahmud was 
in their company. Muhammad, the Sultan's son, came and 
said to the Shaikh 'Yd khund ["master"], it is the hour of the 
'asr prayer; go down and pray.' The shaikh continued the 
story to me as follows: 'So I went down, and the elephants 
were led up from one direction, as they had planned. When 
they walked on that side the pavilion fell in upon the Sultan 
and his son Mahmud. On hearing the noise (continued the 
Shaikh) I went back without finishing the prayer and found 
the pavilion in ruins. His son gave orders to fetch axes and 
mattocks in order to dig for him, but he made a sign to delay 
and in consequence they were not brought until after sunset. 
They then cleared away the ruins and found the Sultan with 
his back bent over his son to protect him from death; some 
said | that he was brought out dead, but others assert that he 2 i< 
was brought out alive and despatched. He was carried by 
night to the mausoleum which he had built for himself outside 
the town called Tughluq Abad after him, and he was buried 
there.' 133

We have already related the reason for his building of this 
town, which contained the treasuries and palaces of Tughluq.

131 Ahmad Aiyaz (or Ahmad ibn Aiyaz) was the name given to Har Deo, a 
kinsman (hence the name malik-zada, king's son) of the Hindu rajah of 
Deogir, on his conversion to Islam at the hand of Nizam al-DIn Awliya', 
(Mahdi Husain, p. 54, n. 3).

182 Presumably the customary repast which the Turkish rulers furnished 
to their regiments.

188 His tomb still stands, to the south of the city wall. It will be noted that 
I.B, cites a particularly well-qualified eye-witness of this incident. Although 
it cannot be accepted with absolute assurance, the statement that 
Muhammad's guilt 'has been authentically disproved' (Mahdi Husain, p. 55, 
n. i) is a considerable overestimate. See Plate 5.
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In it was the great palace whose tiles134 he had gilded, so that 
when the sun rose they shone with a brilliant light and a 
blinding glow, that made it impossible to keep one's eyes 
fixed on it. He deposited in this town vast stores of wealth 
and it is told that he constructed a tank and poured into it 
molten gold so that it became a single block. All these 
treasures were spent by his son Muhammad Shah when he 
became Sultan. It was to the mechanical skill, which we have 
described, of the wazir Khwaja Jahan in constructing the 
pavilion which fell down upon Tughluq that he owed his 

215 privileged position with his son | Muhammad Shah and the 
special favour shown to him by the latter, for there was no 
one, whether of the wazirs or of any others, who came near to 
enjoying the same position with the Sultan nor stood to him 
on the same level.

184 The precise usage of qirmid is uncertain. Although usually meaning 
'baked brick', it was also applied to tiles (v. Dozy, s.v.), and it seems more 
likely in this instance that it was the roof that was gilded.
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CHAPTER XII

Sultan Muhammad Ibn Tughluq

r he Sultan Abu'l-Mujdhid Muhammad Shah, son of the 
Sultan Ghiydth al-Din Tughluq Shah, King of al-Hind 
and al-Sind, at whose court we presented ourselves. When 

the Sultan Tughluq died his son Muhammad took possession 
of the kingdom without competition or opposition. We have 
said already that his name was Jawna, but when he became 
king he called himself Muhammad and took the kunya-na.me 
of Abu-1-Mujahid. 1 All that I have related concerning the 
Sultans of India, or most of it, is derived from what I was 
told and picked up from the shaikh Kamal al-Din Ibn al- 
Burhan of Ghazna, the Grand Qadl. 2 | On the other hand, my 216 
statements about this king are based for the most part on 
what I myself witnessed in the days when I was in his land.

Description of him. This king is of all men the most addicted 
to the making of gifts and the shedding of blood. His gate is 
never without some poor man enriched or some living man 
executed, and there are current amongst the people [many] 
stories of his generosity and courage and of his cruelty and 
violence towards criminals. For all that, he is of all men the 
most humble and the readiest to show equity and to 
acknowledge the right. The ceremonies of religion are strictly 
complied with at his court, and he is severe in the matter of 
attendance at prayer and in punishing those who neglect it.

1 The use of 'royal patronymics' compounded with Abu was taken over by 
the Sultans in India from the Ghaznevids and Ghurids of Afghanistan. Thus 
Iltutmish, Balban and Tughluq all adopted the title Abu'l-Muzaffar 
(Thomas, 52, 134, 189 ff.); the coins of Muhammad however do not bear the 
title of Abu'1-Mujahid, but al-Mujdhid fi sabll 'llah 'the warrior in the cause 
of God', along with several other Qur'anic or religious mottoes (Thomas, 
207 ff.). This use of Abu corresponds to the use of Malik in the Egyptian and 
Syrian Sultanates (cf. vol. II, p. 369, n. 34).

1 See pp. 617, 628 above, As Kamal al-Dm was himself a native of Ghazna, 
his statement that Tughluq and his son were of Qarauna origin is trustworthy.
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He is one of those kings whose felicity is unimpaired and 
whose success in his affairs surpasses all ordinary experience, 
but his dominant quality is generosity. We shall mention 
some examples of this that are marvellous beyond anything

217 heard tell of anyone | before him, and I call God and His 
Angels and His Prophets to witness that all that I shall relate 
of his extraordinary generosity is absolute truth, and God is a 
sufficient witness. I know that some of the stories I shall tell 
on this subject will be unacceptable to the minds of many 
persons, and that they will regard them as quite impossible 
in the normal order of things; but in a matter which I have 
seen with my own eyes and of which I know the accuracy and 
have myself had a large share, I cannot do otherwise than 
speak the truth. In addition, most of these facts are estab­ 
lished by numerous independent authorities3 in the lands of 
the East.

Description of his Gates and Audience Hall and of the 
ceremonial observed therein. The Sultan's palace at Dihli is 
called Ddr Sard and contains many gates. 4 At the first gate 
there are posted a number of men in charge of it, and beside 
it sit buglers, trumpeters and pipe-players. 5 When any amir

218 or person of note arrives, they sound their instruments | and 
say during this fanfare 'So-and-so has come, so-and-so has 
come.' The same takes place also at the second and third 
gates. Outside the first gate are platforms on which sit the 
jallddun,* who are the executioners, for the custom among 
them is that when the Sultan orders a man to be executed, 
the sentence is carried out at the gate of the public audience 
hall, 7 and the body lies there three nights. Between the first

8 The language of this passage is loaded with technical terms of the science 
of transmission of the Prophetic Tradition. The last term, mutawativ, in 
particular is used of a tradition guaranteed by its transmission through 
several separate and independent chains of trustworthy narrators.

4 As I.B. has already mentioned (p. 619 above), Sultan Muhammad built 
a fourth city, Jahanpanah, between old Delhi and Siri. His 'palace' (Ddr 
Sard in Arabo-Persian) in this city has been excavated (see Mahdi Husain, 
Muhammad bin Tughluq, 241-2), with the inner audience hall of 'a thousand 
pillars' (Hazdr Sutun, see p. 660 below).

6 Surnaydt: see vol. II, p. 343, n. 242. It is probable that the term is used 
here to mean wind instruments generally.

8 Arabic, etymologically meaning 'floggers'.
7 Mashwar: see vol. II, p. 291, n. 66, here obviously meaning the palace 

complex as a whole.
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and second gates there is a large vestibule with platforms 
built along both sides, on which sit those troops whose turn 
of duty it is to guard the gates. At the second gate also there 
are seated the porters who are in charge of it. Between the 
second and third gates there is a large platform on which the 
principal naqtb* sits; in front of him there is a gold mace, 
which he holds in his hand, and on his head he wears a tall 
jewelled cap of gold, surmounted by peacock feathers. 9 The 
other naqibs stand before him, each wearing a low gilded cap10 
on his head and a girdle round his waist and holding in his 
hand | a whip with a gold or silver handle. This second gate 219 
leads to a large and commodious audience hall11 in which the 
people sit.

At the third gate there are platforms occupied by the 
scribes of the door. One of their customs is that none may 
pass through this gate except those whom the Sultan has 
expressly designated to enter, and for each person he pre­ 
scribes a number of his companions and men who may enter 
along with him. Whenever any person comes to this gate 
the scribes write down 'So-and-so came at the first hour' or 
the second or later hours, until the close of the day, and the 
Sultan studies this report after the last evening prayer. They 
also take note of everything of any kind that happens at the 
gate, and certain of the sons of the maliks12 are appointed to 
transmit what they write to the Sultan. Another of their 
customs is that anyone13 who absents himself | from the 220 
Sultan's palace for three days or more, with or without

8 The term has various meanings; in this context it is applied to the 
marshals and ushers, functionaries whose duty it was to see that the proper 
order was observed.

9 The use of peacock feathers was borrowed from Hindu usage, as noted 
by Mahdi Husain (p. 57, n. 3). N.B. The autograph is replaced at this point 
by a later copyist in MS. 2291.

10 The Chief Naqlb wore a kulah (cf. vol. II, p. 301) the others a shdshiya, 
a kind of smoking-cap (French calotte) that serves as a base for the turban 
cloth.

11 Here again I.E. uses the term mashwar for what appears to be the 
antechamber to the inner audience hall.

12 'Sons of kings' normally means members of the royal family (see vol. II, 
p. 484), but evidently not in this context. Since 'king' was in Indian usage 
the term applied to principal officers, it probably refers here to their sons, 
who were apparently employed as palace pages.

13 I.e. any holder of an official position or rank.
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excuse, may not enter this door thereafter except by the 
Sultan's permission. If he has an excuse of illness or otherwise 
he presents before him a gift such as is suitable [for one of his 
rank or office] to offer to the Sultan. So also do those who 
present themselves at the court on return from their14 
journeys; the doctor of the law presents a copy of the Qur'an 
or a book or the like, the faqir15 presents a prayer-carpet, 
rosary, toothpick, etc., and the amirs and such present horses, 
camels and weapons. This third door opens into the immense 
and vast hall called Hazar Ustun, which means [in Persian] 
"A thousand pillars'. 16 The pillars are of painted17 wood and 
support a wooden roof, most exquisitely carved. The people 
sit under this, and it is in this hall that the Sultan sits for 
public audience. |

The order of his public audience. As a rule his audiences are 
held after the afternoon prayer, although he often holds them 
early in the day. He sits on a raised seat18 standing on a dais 
carpeted in white, with a large cushion behind him and two 
others as arm-rests on his right and left. [His left foot is 
tucked under him] in the same way that one sits when 
reciting the creed during prayers; this is the way in which all 
the people of India sit. When he takes his seat, the vizier 
stands in front of him, the secretaries behind the vizier, then 
the chamberlains behind them. The chief of the chamberlains 
is Firuz Malik, the son of the Sultan's uncle and his deputy,19 
and he is that one of the chamberlains who stands closest to 
the Sultan. Next to him comes the private chamberlain, then 
the deputy private chamberlain, then the steward of the 
palace and his deputy, then [an officer called] 'the honour of 
the chamberlains', [another officer called] 'the master of the

14 The nature of the presents listed in this sentence seems to indicate that 
this is the meaning of the Arabic phrase.

15 I.e. suf! shaikh.
16 Hazar, literally 'thousand', implies a large number. See Plate 4.
17 Mad'hun here certainly means 'painted': see glossary to Idrisl. s.v. 

dahana. Naqasha, on the other hand, is always used by I.E. to mean carving 
in some form or other.

18 I.E. does not use here the recognized term for 'throne' (sarir, as in the 
following paragraph) but martaba, which has the senses of both 'dais' and 
'cushion', and suggests therefore some kind of cushioned seat; cf. nn. 32 and 
48 below.

19 Son of Rajab, brother and generalissimo of Sultan Tughluq, sub­ 
sequently succeeded Sultan Muhammad and reigned 1357-88 as Firuz Shah.
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chamberlains', and a group [of officials] | under their orders; 222 
and next, following the chamberlains, the naqibs, of whom 
there are about a hundred.

As the Sultan sits down the chamberlains and naqibs say 
in their loudest voice Bismilldh. Then the 'great king' 
Qabula20 takes his place behind the Sultan, standing with a 
fly-whisk in his hand to drive off the flies. A hundred armour- 
bearers21 stand on the right of the Sultan and a like number 
on the left, carrying shields, swords, and bows. To right and 
left all the way down the hall stand the Grand Qadi, next to 
him the chief preacher, then the rest of the qadis, then the 
chief jurists, then the chiefs of the Sharifs [descendants of the 
Prophet], then the shaikhs, 22 then the Sultan's brothers and 
relations by marriage, then the principal amirs, then the 
chiefs of those called 'aziz (that is to say the foreigners), 23 
then the qa'ids. 24

Then they bring in sixty horses saddled and bridled with 
the royal harness, some of them with the trappings | of the 223 
Caliphate, namely those with bridles and girths of black silk 
gilded, and some with the same in white silk gilded, which 
are reserved for the Sultan's exclusive use. Half of these 
horses are ranged on the right and half on the left, where the 
Sultan can see them. Next fifty elephants are brought in; 
these are adorned with silken and gold cloths, and have their 
tusks shod with iron for service in killing criminals. On the 
neck of each elephant is its mahout, who carries a sort of iron 
battle-axe with which he punishes it and directs it to do what 
is required of it. Each elephant has on its back a sort of large 
box capable of holding twenty warriors or more or less, 
according to its bulk and the size of its body. At the corners 
of [each] such box there are fixed four banners. These 
elephants are trained to make obeisance to the Sultan and to 
incline their heads, | and when they do so the chamberlains 224

20 The sarjdmddr, or keeper of the fly whisk; see vol. I, p. 226, and p. 665 
below.

21 The Silahddrs (so spelled by I.B. in the Persian manner) were a corps 
of life guards, enjoying special revenues and privileges.

22 Presumably the shaikhs of the sufi brotherhoods in the capital.
23 See p. 595 above.
24 Literally, 'commanders', but the term is applied to holders not only of 

military commands but of other high administrative posts as well.
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cry in a loud voice Bismilldh. They also are arranged half on 
the right and half on the left, behind the persons [already] 
standing there. As each person enters who has an appointed 
place of standing on the right or left, he makes obeisance on 
reaching the station of the chamberlains, and the chamber­ 
lains say Bismilldh, regulating the loudness of their utterance 
by the height of reputation of the person who is making his 
obeisance, and who then retires to his appointed place on the 
right or left, beyond which he never passes. If it is one of the 
infidel Hindus who makes obeisance, the chamberlains and 
the naqibs say to him 'God guide thee'. The Sultan's slaves 
stand behind all those in attendance, having in their hands 
shields and swords, and no one can come in [to the hall] 
between their ranks, but only by passing before the chamber­ 
lains who stand in front of the Sultan. |

225 Description of the entry of strangers and of those presenting 
gifts to him. If there should be at the door anyone who has 
come to offer the Sultan a gift, the chamberlains enter the 
Sultan's presence in order of precedence. The amfr-hdjib26 
comes first followed by his deputy, then the private chamber­ 
lain followed by his deputy, then the steward of the palace 
followed by his deputy, the 'master' of the chamberlains and 
the 'honour' of the chamberlains. They make obeisance in 
three places, and inform the Sultan of the person at the door. 
If he commands them to bring him in, they place the gift 
which he has brought in the hands of men who stand with it 
in front of those present where the Sultan can see it. He then 
calls in the donor, who makes obeisance three times before 
reaching the Sultan and makes another obeisance at the 
station of the chamberlains. If he is a man of rank he stands 
on a line with the amir-hdjib, if not, he stands behind him.

226 The Sultan then addresses him | in person with the greatest 
courtesy and bids him welcome. If he is a person who is 
worthy of honour, the Sultan takes him by the hand or 
embraces him, and asks for some part of his present. It is then 
placed before him, and if it consists in weapons or fabrics he 
turns it this way and that with his hand and expresses his

26 Called above 'the chief of the chamberlains'; the unusual combination 
of the military and civil titles is presumably due to the royal rank of Malik 
Flrtiz (see n. 19 above).
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approval of it, to set the donor at ease and encourage him by 
his gracious reception. He gives him a robe of honour and 
assigns him a sum of money to wash his head, according 
to their custom in this case, 26 proportioned to the donor's 
merits.

How the gifts of his provincial officers are made to him. When 
the provincial officers27 come [to the court] with gifts and 
sums of revenue collected from taxes in the provinces, they 
have vessels made of gold and silver, such as basins, ewers 
and so forth. They also have ingots of gold and silver made 
like bricks, which they call khisht. 28 \ Thefarrdshun*9 who are M? 
the Sultan's slaves, take up their stand in a row, with the gift 
in their hands, each one of them holding one piece. Then the 
elephants are brought forward, if there should be any of them 
included in the gift, next the horses saddled and bridled, then 
the mules, then the camels carrying the money. I once saw 
the vizier Khwaja Jahan present his gift when the Sultan 
arrived from Dawlat Abad. He met him with his gift outside 
the city of Bayana,30 and the gift was brought in and 
presented to him with this ceremonial. Amongst the items 
comprised in it I saw a tray full of ruby stones, another tray 
full of emerald stones, and a third tray full of magnificent 
pearls. Hajji Kawun, the paternal cousin of the Sultan Abu 
Sa'id, king of Iraq, was present with him on this occasion, and 
the Sultan gave him a part of this gift. We shall relate this 
later on, if God will. 31 |

How he goes out for the two festivals and matters relevant 228 
thereto. On the eve of the festival the Sultan sends robes of 
honour to the maliks, the courtiers, the chief officers of state, 
the foreigners called 'aztz, the secretaries, chamberlains, 
naqibs, qa'ids, slaves, and couriers, to each and all of them. 
On the morning of the feast day all the elephants are adorned 
with silk, gold, and precious stones. There are sixteen of these

28 See p. 738 below.
27 Arabic 'ummal, technically applied to fiscal administrators, but often in 

the more general sense of administrative officers.
28 Persian, meaning 'brick'.
29 'Those who look after the furnishings', i.e. cleaners, handymen, foot­ 

men, etc., but by no means always consisting of slaves. 'The Sultan's slaves' 
presumably shorthand for 'among the slaves of the Sultan'.

30 Biana, 120 miles south of Delhi; see vol. IV, pp. 5-6 (Ar.). 
81 See pp. 667-9 below.
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elephants which no one rides, but they are reserved to be 
ridden by the Sultan himself, and over them are carried 
sixteen parasols of silk embroidered with jewels, each one 
with a shaft of pure gold. On each elephant is a silk cushion32 
adorned with precious stones. The Sultan himself rides on 
one of these elephants, and in front of him there is carried 
aloft the ghdshiya, that is his saddle-cover, 33 which is adorned 
with the most precious jewels. In front of him walk his slaves

229 and his mamluks, j each one of them wearing on his head a cap 
of gold and round his waist a girdle of gold, which some of 
them adorn with jewels. In front of him also walk the naqibs, 
about three hundred in number, each one of them wearing on 
his head a golden aqruf [high conical hat] 34 and round his 
waist a golden girdle, and carrying in his hand a whip with a 
handle of gold. Those who ride are the Grand QadI Sadr 
al-Jahan Kamal al-Din al-Ghaznawi, the Grand Qadi Sadr 
al-Jahan Nasir al-Din al-Khwarizmi, the rest of the qatfis, 
and the principal foreigners among the Khurasanians, 
'Iraqis, Syrians, Egyptians, and Moors, each one of them 
mounted on an elephant. All foreigners are called by them 
Khurasanians. The muezzins also ride on elephants and they 
keep on calling out Alldhu akbar.

The Sultan comes out of the gate of the palace [with his 
retinue] in this order. Meanwhile the troops await his coming,

230 each amir | with his company separately, along with his drums 
and flags. The Sultan advances, preceded by those whom we 
have mentioned as walking on foot; these again are preceded 
by the qadis and the muezzins reciting praises to God, and 
behind the Sultan are his 'honours', i.e. flags, drums, trumpets, 
bugles, and pipes. Behind them come all the members of his 
personal entourage, then these are followed by the Sultan's 
brother Mubarak Khan35 with his 'honours' and troops, who

32 Here again I.B. uses mavtdba (see n. 18 above), but the combination of 
adjectives seems to imply a bejewelled seat covered with a silk cushion.

83 The hoisting of thegkashiya before the Sultan on his processions became, 
under the Seljuks and later dynasties in Asia and Egypt, one of the symbols 
of sovereignty. I.B.'s explanation of the term indicates that the usage was 
not yet known in the Maghrib.

*4 See vol. II, p. 485, n. 267.
35 This half-brother is mentioned below (pp. 687, 694), but appears to have 

played an obscure role in affairs.
664



THE FESTIVAL PROCESSION

is followed by the Sultan's nephew, Bahram Khan,36 with his 
'honours' and troops, followed by the Sultan's cousin Malik 
Firuz with his 'honours' and troops, then the vizier next with 
his 'honours' and troops, then the malik Mujlr ibn Dhu'r-raja 37 
with his 'honours' and troops, then the great malik Qabula 
with his 'honours' and troops. This malik stands high in the 
Sultan's esteem, and enjoys immense prestige and vast 
wealth. The intendant of his revenue-office, 38 Thiqat | al- 23i 
Mulk 'Ala' al-Dm 'AIT al-Misri, known as Ibn al-Sharabishi, 
told me that his allowance39 and the allowance of his 
slaves together with their stipends amounted to thirty-six 
laks40 a year. Next after him comes the malik Nukbiya41 
with his 'honours' and troops, then the malik Bughra 
with his 'honours' and troops, then the malik Mukhlis42 with 
his 'honours' and troops, then the malik Qutb al-Mulk43 with 
his 'honours' and troops. These persons are the great amirs 
who are never separated from the Sultan, and these are the 
officers who ride in his company on festival days with their 
'honours', while the other amirs ride without 'honours'. All 
those who ride [in the procession] on that day do so wearing 
armour, both on themselves and on their horses, the majority 
of them being the Sultan's mamluks. When the Sultan 
reaches the gate of the musalld** he halts by the gate | and 232 
orders the judges, the principal amirs, and the chiefs of the 
foreigners to enter. Then he himself alights, and the imam 
leads the prayers and delivers the address. If it should be the

34 An adopted son of Tughluq, entitled Tatar Khan, and renamed Bahram 
Khan by Sultan Muhammad, subsequently appointed governor of Sun- 
argaon (see pp. 709-10 below).

37 In the Ta'rlkh-i Mubdrakshahl (cited by Mahdi Husain, Muhammad 
bin Tughluq, 102, n. i) called Mujir al-Din ibn Abi Raja, but his exact 
function at this time is not recorded. For Qabula see vol. I, p. 226, and n. 20 
above.

38 I take dlwdn here to mean the register of revenues derived from his 
domains, etc., in agreement with the usage of Mustawfi. The following term 
Thiqat al-Mulk ('trustworthy servant of the kingdom') is purely a civil 
title.

39 Nafaqa, i.e. the sum allotted for living expenses.
40 3,600,000 dinars, presumably silver dinars, of the standard weight of 

175 grains.
41 Chief dawadar, i.e. head of the secretariat; see p. 713 below.
42 These two offices are apparently not mentioned elsewhere.
43 Governor of Multan, see p. 605 above.
44 See vol. I, p. 13, n. 20.
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Feast of the Sacrifice, the Sultan brings a camel and stabs it 
in the throat with a javelin (which they call mza}*& first 
putting on over his clothes a silk wrapper to protect himself 
from the blood; then he mounts the elephant and returns to 
his palace.

How he holds audience on feast days and an account of the 
great throne and the great cassolette. On the day of the feast the 
palace is garnished46 and adorned in the most sumptuous 
manner. Over the whole audience hall there is erected the 
bdrka, which is like a vast tent47 supported by many stout 
poles and surrounded by pavilions on all sides. Artificial 
trees are made of silk of different colours, with artificial

233 flowers on them; three rows of them are placed | in the hall, 
and between each pair of trees there is placed a golden chair 
with a covered cushion upon it. The great throne is set up at 
the upper end of the hall; it is of pure gold throughout, and 
its legs are encrusted with jewels. Its length is twenty-three 
spans and its breadth about the half of that. It is in separate 
pieces, which are put together to form the whole throne, and 
each piece of it is carried by a number of men because of the 
weight of the gold. Upon it there is placed the cushioned 
seat,48 and the parasol encrusted with jewels is hoisted over 
the Sultan's head. As he mounts the throne the chamberlains 
and naqibs cry with a loud voice Bismilldh, then those 
present come forward to salute him. The first of them to do 
so are the qadis, preachers, doctors of the law, sharifs, shaikhs, 
and the brothers, relatives and relations-in-law of the Sultan; 
after them come the [principal] foreigners, then the vizier, 
then the amirs of the troops, then the shaikhs of the

234 mamluks, then the chiefs | of the troops. Each one 
salutes after the other without any elbowing or unseemly 
pushing.

One of their customs on the feast day is that every person 
who owns [the revenues of] a village, of which he is the 
beneficiary [by royal grant], brings some gold coins wrapped 
in a piece of cloth with his name written on it, and casts them 
into a golden basin there. These contributions amount in all 
to a vast sum, which the Sultan gives to anyone he pleases.

45 Persian. « Literally, 'spread with carpets'.
47 Cf. vol. II. p. 494. « The martaba, see p. 660, n. 18 above.
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When the people have finished presenting their salutations 
food is set before them according to their ranks. On that day 
too there is set up the great cassolette, which is a sort of 
tower of pure gold composed of separate pieces; when they 
wish to put it together they join them up, and each section of 
it is carried by a number of men. Inside it are three chambers 
which are entered by incense-burners, who set fire to qamdri 
and qdquli aloes-wood, 49 ambergris and benzoin, 60 so that the 
smoke from them fills the whole hall. There are also | gold and 235 
silver barrels carried by pages and filled with rose-water, 
with which they sprinkle those present broadcast.

This throne and this cassolette are not brought out except 
on the two festival days only. On the remaining days of the 
feast the Sultan sits on a golden throne of smaller size. A 
lofty51 bdrka is erected [on the first day, as we have said] 
which has three doors. The Sultan sits inside it, and at the 
first door stands 'Imad al-Mulk Sartlz,52 at the second door 
the malik Nukbiya, and at the third door Yusuf Bughra, On 
his right stand the officers of the mamluks of the corps of 
Arms-bearers and on his left likewise, and the general body of 
people stand in the places assigned to them by their ranks. 
The commandant of the bdrka, the malik Taghi, 53 carrying 
in his hand a golden stick, and his deputy, carrying a silver 
stick, arrange all those present in order and even up the rows. 
The vizier stands [in his place], with the secretaries behind 
him, and the chamberlains and naqibs [likewise] stand [in 
their places]. Then the musicians and dancers come in—first 
of all the daughters of the infidel Indian kings | who have been 236 
taken as captives of war during that year and whom, after 
they have sung and danced, the Sultan presents to the amirs 
and to the distinguished foreigners, then after them the rest 
of the daughters of the infidels and these, after they have

49 I.e. of Qamar (Khmer = Cambodia) and Qaqula (in Malaya), see vol. IV, 
pp. 240-2 (Ar.) and Selections, p. 276.

60 On lubdn jdrvl or 'Sumatran incense' see vol. IV, p. 240 (Ar.). Benzoin 
was compounded with ambergris in order to give a stronger and more lasting 
effect to the latter.

51 For ba'ld in the sense of 'high' cf. vol. IV, p. 367,1. 4 (Ar.).
52 Governor of Sind; see p. 593 above. The maliks Nukbiya and Bughra 

are mentioned in the preceding account of the procession.
83 Mahdi Husain calls him "superintendent of the durbar' (Muhammad bin 

Tughluq, 185).
667



SULTAN MUHAMMAD IBN TUGHLUQ

sung and danced, he gives to his brothers and kinsmen and 
relatives by marriage and to the sons of the maliks. The 
Sultan's session for this purpose takes place after the hour of 
afternoon prayer. Then on the next day also, after the hour of 
afternoon prayer, he holds a session after the same manner, 
to which are brought singing girls whom, after they have 
sung and danced, he gives to the amirs of the mamluks. On 
the third day he celebrates the marriages of his relatives 
and makes gifts to them; on the fourth day he eman­ 
cipates male slaves, on the fifth he emancipates female 
slaves, on the sixth he marries male slaves to female 
slaves and on the seventh he distributes alms, and that 
lavishly.

His ceremonial on his return from a journey. When the
237 Sultan comes back from | his journeys, the elephants are 

decorated, and over sixteen of them are raised sixteen 
parasols, some brocaded and some set with jewels. In front of 
him is carried the ghashiya, that is the saddle-cover, set with 
precious stones. 54 Wooden pavilions are built, several stories 
high, and covered with silk cloths, and in each story there are 
singing girls wearing the most beautiful dresses and orna­ 
ments, with dancing girls amongst them. In the centre of 
each pavilion there is fashioned a large tank made of skins 
and filled with rose-syrup dissolved in water, from which all 
the people, that is to say all comers, natives or strangers, may 
drink, and everyone who drinks receives [at the same time] 
betel leaves and areca nuts. The space between the pavilions 
is carpeted with silk cloths, on which the Sultan's horse 
treads. The walls of the street along which he passes from the

238 gate | of the city to the gate of the palace are hung with silk 
cloths. In front of him march footmen from his own slaves, 
several thousands in number, and behind come the squadrons 
and mounted troops. On one of his entries into the capital 
I saw three or four small catapults set up on elephants 
throwing dinars and dirhams56 amongst the people, and 
they would be scrambling to pick them up, from the

84 See p. 664, n. 33 above.
65 Not 'gold and silver coins', since I.B. clearly defines the regular Indian 

dinar as a silver coin worth eight silver (nuqra) dirhams (vol. IV. pp. 210 
[Ar.]). For the catapults (raldddt) see p. 621, n. 7 above.
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moment when he entered the city until he reached the 
palace. 66

The ceremonial at the private meals. In the Sultan's house­ 
hold there are two kinds of meals, the private meal and the 
public meal. The private meal is that of the Sultan himself, 
the one of which he partakes. It is his custom to eat in his 
saloon57 in company with those who are present, and the 
persons who attend for this purpose are the amirs of the 
household, the amir-hajib who is the son of the Sultan's 
uncle, 58 'Imad al-Mulk | Sartiz, and the amir-majlis. 59 If the 239 
Sultan wishes to honour or favour any of the distinguished 
foreigners or great amirs he invites that person, who then eats 
along with them. Sometimes also he wishes to honour one of 
those present, and taking one of the plates in his hand he puts 
a piece of bread on it and gives it to him. The recipient takes 
it and, placing it on his left palm, does homage with his right 
hand to the ground. Sometimes he sends a portion of that 
food to a person who is absent from the saloon, and the 
recipient does homage in the same way as one who is present, 
and eats it with those who are in his company. 60 1 was present 
many times at this private meal and I noticed that the 
number of those who attended it was about twenty persons.

The ceremonial at the public meals. As for the public meals, 
the food is brought from the kitchen preceded by the naqibs 
crying out bismillah; the head of the naqibs walks in front of 
them | carrying a golden mace, and with him is his deputy 24o 
carrying a silver mace. When they enter through the fourth

•• It was this passage, describing a well-authenticated Indian usage, 
which aroused the gravest suspicions of his Moroccan fellow-countrymen, 
when he related his travels on his return to Fez: see Ibn Khaldun, 
Muqaddima, Book 3, § 18, tr. F. Rosenthal, vol. I, p. 370: 'they said 
privately to one another that he was a liar.'

67 I.E. clearly distinguishes in this and in the following paragraph the 
majlis, in which the meals were served, from the mashwar or public audience- 
hall.

58 I.e. Firuz Malik; see n. 19 above. For Sartiz see n. 52 above.
69 Literally 'officer in command of the saloon'. Mahdi Husain renders as 

'master of ceremonies', but the context suggests an officer of the highest 
rank, probably the chashnigir (in Arabic jashankir) or supervisor of the 
royal table (cf. vol. I, p. 160, n. 16).

80 It is not clear from the Arabic text whether this means those who 
happen to be present at the time, or those who have come subsequently for 
this special occasion.
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door and those who axe present in the audience hall hear their 
voices they all rise to their feet, and no one remains sitting 
but the Sultan alone. When the food is placed on the ground 
the naqibs range themselves in a line and their amir61 stands 
in front of them and makes an oration in which he praises the 
Sultan with much eulogy, then he does homage and all the 
naqibs do homage in concert with him, together with all those 
who are in the audience chamber, both great and small. It is 
their custom that everyone who hears the voice of the chief 
of the naqibs on this occasion stands still, if he is walking, and 
stays in his place should he be standing. No person moves or 
quits his standing-ground until the end of this oration. After 
that his deputy also pronounces a similar oration and does 
homage, and the naqibs and all those present do homage a

241 second time, and thereafter | they all sit down. The clerks of 
the gate make a written report of the arrival of the food, 
although the Sultan already knows of its arrival, and this 
report is given to a boy selected for that duty from among the 
sons of the maliks, who takes it to the Sultan. On reading it the 
Sultan appoints whomsoever he chooses of the principal amirs 
to assign their places to those present and to preside at the 
distribution of food to them.

The food which is served to them consists of thin rounds of 
bread, roast meat, round cakes in portions62 and filled with 
sweet confections, rice, chickens, and samusak; we have 
already described this and explained how it is made. 63 It is 
their custom that the principal place at the banquet should 
be taken by the qadis, the preachers, doctors of law, sharifs 
and shaikhs; after them come the Sultan's relatives, then the 
principal amirs and then the rest of the people. No one sits 
down except in a place assigned to him, so that there is no 
pushing and elbowing between them at all. When they sit 
down, the shurbaddrs, that is to say cup-bearers, come bearing

242 vessels of gold, silver, | brass and glass, filled with candy-water. 
The guests drink this before beginning to eat, and when they

61 This use of a military title for the Chief Usher (called above and below 
simply Naqlb al-nuqabd') is surprising.

62 The phrase dhdtu'l-jawdnib (literally 'many-sided') appears to be a 
particular term; it seems rather improbable that it should simply mean 'split'.

•8 P. 608 above.
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have drunk the chamberlains say bismilldh. They then start 
eating and there is set before each person a portion of every 
dish of which the meal is composed; 64 he eats of it by himself 
and no person eats with another out of the same dish. When 
they finish eating barley-water65 is brought to them in tin 
mugs, and when they have taken this the chamberlains say 
bismilldh. Then trays are brought in with betel and areca-nut 
and each person is given a spoonful of powdered areca with 
fifteen leaves of betel tied in a bunch with red silk thread. 
When those present take the betel the chamberlains say 
bismilldh and thereupon they all stand up. The amir who is ap­ 
pointed to preside at the banquet does homage and they all do 
homage with him and then withdraw. They have meals twice a 
day, 66 once before noon, and again after the afternoon prayer. |

Some stories of his generosity and open-handedness. On this 243 
subject I shall relate only instances at which I was present 
and which I witnessed with my own eyes. God Most High 
knows the truth of what I say and He is sufficient as a witness. 
Besides, what I am about to tell is notorious and confirmed 
by the evidence of many persons, and the countries which are 
in the vicinity of India, such as al-Yaman, Khurasan and 
Fars, are full of stories of him, which their inhabitants know 
to be true. Especially well known is his generosity to 
foreigners, for he prefers them to the people of India, singles 
them out for favour, showers his benefits upon them and 
clothes them in an ample garment of bounty, appoints them 
to high offices of state, and confers upon them magnificent 
gifts. One indication of his generous treatment of them is that 
he has called them by the designation of 'aziz™ and has 
prohibited their being called strangers, for, he said, when a 
person is called 'stranger' he feels dispirited and downcast. 
| I shall now mention out of all that could be enumerated a 244 
few of his prodigal gifts and largesse, if God will.

84 Literally, 'included in the simdt' ; simdt, properly the mat upon which 
the food vessels are placed, became from early Islamic times the term 
applied to the ceremonial meal given by the sovereign to his officers and 
troops.

* 6 fuqqd'; see p. 608, n. 51 above.
66 The text does not expressly say that the simdt is held twice a day, 

although this meaning may be inferred from the context; but the sentence 
seems more like a general statement tacked on to the end of this paragraph.

•7 See p. 595 above.
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His gift to the merchant Shihdb al-Dm of Kdzarun and the 
story of the latter. This Shihab al-Dm was a friend of al- 
Kazarum, the 'king' of the merchants68 [in India], surnamed 
Pirwiz. The Sultan had given the city of Kanbaya in grant69 
to the 'king' of the merchants and had promised to appoint 
him to the office of vizier. Thereupon he sent to his friend 
Shihab al-Dm to join him, and the latter arrived, having 
prepared a gift for the Sultan consisting of a royal enclosure70 
of segmented woollen cloth decorated with gold leaf, a recep­ 
tion marquee of the same kind, a private tent with an annex, 
and a resting tent—all of this in ornamented woollen cloth— 
and a large number of mules. Shihab al-DIn, on arriving with 
this gift to join his friend, the 'king' of the merchants, found

245 him | preparing to set out for the capital with the revenues 
collected from his territories and a gift for the Sultan. The 
vizier Khwaja Jahan was informed of the Sultan's promise 
to him to appoint him vizier and was filled with jealousy and 
dismay at it. Now the territories of Kanbaya and al-Juzarat 
[Gujerat] had been previously under the government of the 
vizier, and their population had a certain attachment and 
loyalty to him and devotion to his service. Most of them are 
infidels and some of them are rebels who inhabit inaccessible 
retreats in the mountains. The vizier therefore sent secret 
instructions to them to fall upon the 'king' of the merchants 
when he came out on his way to the capital.

When therefore, he left [Kanbaya] with the treasures and 
monies, in company with Shihab al-Dm and his gift, they 
encamped one day before noon, as was their usual practice, 
and the [escorting] troops dispersed and most of them went 
to sleep. At that moment they were attacked by a consider­ 
able force of infidels, who killed the 'king' of the merchants 
and carried off as booty his money and treasures and Shihab

246 al-Din's present. | Shihab al-Dm himself escaped with his life, 
and the Sultan, on learning of this through his information 
officers, gave orders that he should be given thirty thousand

68 Malik al-tujjar, i.e. head or spokesman of the merchants (particularly 
those engaged in overseas trade) in their relations with the government. 
For Kazarun and its significance in seaborne trade see vol. II, pp. 319-20.

*' For such grants see p. 681, n. 103 below.
70 The saracha was an ornamented enclosure for the Sultan on his journeys: 

see pp. 752-3 below.
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dinars from the revenues of the province of Nahrawala, 71 and 
return to his own country. When this was offered to him, 
however, he refused to accept it, saying that he had come for 
the express purpose of seeing the Sultan and kissing the 
ground before him. They wrote to the Sultan to this effect 
and he, gratified with what Shihab al-Din had said, com­ 
manded him to proceed to the capital as an honoured visitor. 

It chanced that the day of his introduction before the 
Sultan was the same day that we too were introduced before 
him. He bestowed robes of honour upon us all and gave 
orders for our residence, and made Shihab al-Din in addition 
a handsome gift of money. Some days later the Sultan 
ordered that I should be given six thousand tangahs, 72 as I 
shall relate73 in due course, and on that same day enquired 
the reason of Shihab al-Din's absence. Baha al-Din ibn al- 
Falaki replied 'O Master of the World, namiddnam' \ which 24? 
means 'I do not know.' Then he said to him 'Shumdam 
zahmet ddrat,' meaning 'I have heard that he is ill.' The 
Sultan said to him 'Biraw hamm zamdn, dar khizdneh yak 
laki tangdh zar bagiri waplsh u babari td dili u khush shavad' 
which means 'Go at once to the treasury, take from it a 
hundred thousand tangahs of gold and bear them to him to 
set his mind at ease.' He executed the command and con­ 
veyed the gift to him, and the Sultan gave orders that he 
should buy with this money what Indian goods he pleased, 
and that no one else should buy anything at all until Shihab 
al-Din should be supplied with all his requirements. In 
addition he ordered three ships to be made ready for his 
journey furnished with all their equipment and full pay and 
provisions for the crew. So Shihab al-Dm departed and 
disembarked in the island of Hurmuz, where he built a great 
house. I saw this house later on, and I saw also Shihab 
al-Din, having lost all that he had, at Shiraz soliciting a gift 
from its Sultan, Abu Ishaq. | That is the way with riches 24s 
amassed in these Indian lands; it is only rarely74 that anyone

71 The early mediaeval city and kingdom of Anhilvara, now named 
Patan, in the former state of Baroda (23° 57' N., 72° 10' E.).

72 See p. 757 below.
71 Text: sanadhkuruhu, and cf. in the following sentence the rendering of 

namiddnam by ma nadri.
74 Reading qallama iorfalamma (as the French translation requires also).
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gets out of the country with them, and when he does leave it 
and reaches some other country, God sends upon him some 
calamity which annihilates all that he possesses, just as it 
happened to this Shihab al-Din; for everything that he had 
was taken from him in the civil war between the king of 
Hurmuz and his nephews, 75 and he left the country stripped 
of all his wealth.

The story of his gift to the Grand Shaikh Rukn al-Din. The 
Sultan had sent a present to the Caliph in Egypt, Abu'l- 
' Abbas, with a request that he should send him the decree of 
appointment to govern the lands of Hind and Sind—this 
because of a belief which he held about the authority of the 
Caliphate. 76 The Caliph Abu'1-'Abbas sent him what he had 
asked for by the hand of the principal Shaikh in the land of 
Egypt, Rukn al-Din. 77 When this envoy reached him he

249 lavished honours upon him | and made him a handsome gift 
of money, and he used to rise to meet him whenever the 
envoy entered his presence, and to show him great respect. 
At length he gave him leave to return and heaped riches upon 
him. Amongst his gifts to him on this occasion were a quantity 
of horseshoes with their nails, all made entirely of pure gold, 
and he said to him 'When you disembark after your journey, 
shoe your horses with these.' So Rukn al-Dm set out for 
Kanbaya to take ship from there to the land of al-Yaman, 
but then happened the affair of the revolt of the qadi Jalal 
al-Dm and his seizure of the property of Ibn al-Kawlami. 78 
The possessions of the Grand Shaikh were seized also and he 
himself fled to the Sultan along with Ibn al-Kawlami. When 
the Sultan saw him he said to him jestingly [in Persian] 
Amadi kazar bari bd digiri sanam khan zar nabarl wasar nihi, 
which means 'You came to carry away gold to consume with 
fair creatures, but you will carry away no gold and leave your

250 head here.' He said this to him in | a tone of amusement and 
then added 'Take good heart; I am on the point of setting out

75 See vol. II, pp. 402-3.
76 See vol. I, pp. 225-8. Abu'1-'Abbas, entitled al-Hakim bi'amri'llah II, 

held the titular Caliphate in Cairo from 1341 to 1352. Like his contemporary, 
Ibn Khaldun, and other Maghribine writers, I.B. regarded this caliphate as 
an empty pretence.

77 See vol. I, p. 228, n. 155.
78 See pp. 730-4 below.
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to deal with the rebels and I shall give you many times more 
than they have taken from you.' I heard after I had left 
India that the Sultan kept his promise to him and recom­ 
pensed him for all that he had lost and that he brought it all 
safely to Egypt.

Account of the gift which he made to the preacher from 
Tirmidh, Ndsir al-Din. This doctor of the law and homiletic 
preacher had come to the Sultan's court, and after staying 
for a year as a pensioner on his bounty, he wished to return to 
his own country. The Sultan gave him permission to do so, 
although he had not yet heard him in discourse or homily. 
When however, the Sultan [prepared to] set out on an ex­ 
pedition to the land of al-Ma'bar79 he desired to hear him 
before his departure, and gave orders that there should be 
prepared for him a pulpit of white sandalwood, called 
maqdsiri, 60 and its nails and plaques were made of gold and 
at the top of it there was inserted | an immense ruby. Nasir 251 
al-Dm was invested with an 'Abbasid robe, black, 81 em­ 
broidered with gold and encrusted with precious stones, and 
his turban was to match. The pulpit was set up for him inside 
the [Sultan's] sardcha, which we call dfrdg. BZ The Sultan took 
his seat on his throne with the principal officers on his right 
and left, and the judges, doctors of law and amirs took their 
places; then he delivered an eloquent address followed by a 
homily and exhortation. There was nothing remarkable in 
what he did, but his good fortune befriended him, and when 
he came down from the pulpit the Sultan rose up and came 
to him, embraced him, mounted him on an elephant and 
ordered all those present, of whom I was one, to walk before 
him to a sardcha which had been pitched for him in face of 
the Sultan's sardcha. This enclosure was made entirely of 
coloured silk and its marquee and private tent were both 
made of silk also. He sat there [for a reception] in which we 
joined, each sitting in his place. At one side of the sardcha

'• See p. 715 below.
80 See Dozy's note, II. 358-9. The term (pb. to be read maqasari) would 

seem in all probability derived from the island of Maqasar (Macassar), now 
Celebes: cf. Chau Ju-Kua: Or the Chinese and Arab Trade, trans. F. Hirth 
and W. W. Rockhill (St. Petersburg. 1912), pp. 208-9.

81 The black robe was the official garment of the 'Abbasid regime. 
** See pp. 752-3 below.
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there were some golden vessels which the Sultan had given
252 him, namely a large vase for holding lamps, 83 1 which was big 

enough to accommodate a man sitting inside it, two cooking 
pots, plates, I cannot say how many, a number of jugs, a 
waterskin, a tamisanda** a table with four legs and a book 
stand, all of these in pure gold. 'Imad al-Din al-Simnam86 
held up two of the tent pegs of the sardcha, one of them brass, 
the other tinned, as if to give the impression that they were 
of gold and silver, but they were not so and only as we have 
stated. [Besides this] the Sultan had given him on his arrival 
a hundred thousand silver dinars and two hundred slaves, 
some of whom he freed and some he took with him.

Account of his gift to 'Abd al-Aziz of Ardawil.** This 'Abd 
al-'Aziz was a jurist and traditionist who had studied in 
Damascus under Taqi al-Dm Ibn Taimiya, Burhan al-Dm 
ibn al-Barqah, Jamal al-Din al-Mizzi, Shams al-Din al-

253 Dhahabl | and others. Subsequently he came to the court of 
the Sultan, who received him generously and made rich gifts 
to him. It happened one day that he expounded before him 
a number of traditions relating to the merit of al-'Abbas and 
his son (God be pleased with them) and some of the memor­ 
able deeds of the Caliphs descended from them. The Sultan 
was highly delighted with this because of his attachment to 
the house of al-'Abbas and having kissed this scholar's feet 
gave orders to fetch a golden tray on which there were two 
thousand tangahs and poured them over him with his own 
hand, saying 'These are for you, and the tray as well.' We 
have related this story before in an earlier passage.

Account of his gift to Shams al-Dm al-Andukdni. The doctor 
Shams al-Dm al-Anduka.ni, who was a philosopher and a 
gifted poet, wrote a laudatory ode to the Sultan in Persian. 
The ode contained twenty-seven verses, and the Sultan gave 
him a thousand silver dinars for each verse. This is a greater

254 reward than those related of former kings, | who used to give
83 For this meaning of tannur ('oven') see Dozy, s.v.
81 Or timasanda.
85 Entitled in a later passage (p. 687 below) 'the king of kings'.
88 I.B. has already related this story in somewhat different terms: see 

vol. II, pp. 312-13. For the Damascene scholars see vol. I, pp. 135, 148; 
Shams al-Dm Muhammad b. Ahmad al-Dhahabl (d. 1347), was a celebrated 
historian.
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a thousand dirhams for each verse, which is only a tenth of 
the Sultan's gift.

Account of his gift to 'Adud al-Dln al-Shawankdrl. 'Adud 
al-Dm was a jurist and imam, a worthy man of great emi­ 
nence, highly reputed and widely known in his own country. 
The Sultan, on hearing the stories related of him and of his 
commendable qualities, sent ten thousand dinars to him in 
his own town of Shawankara, 87 without ever seeing him or 
being visited by him.

Account of his gift to the qddl Majd al-Dm. Then too when 
the Sultan heard the story of the learned and pious qadi 
Majd al-Dln of Shiraz, who was distinguished by the famous 
miracle, whose history we have written in the first volume88 and 
of whom more will be said j later on, he sent ten thousand silver 255 
dinars to him at Shiraz along with Shaikh-Zada al-Dimashqi.

Account of his gift to Burhan al-Dln of Sdgharj. 89 Burhan 
al-Dln of Sagharj was a preacher and imam so liberal in 
spending what he possessed that he used often to contract 
debts in order to give to others. The Sultan heard of him and 
sent him forty thousand dinars, with a request that he should 
come to his capital. He accepted the money and paid his 
debts with it, but went off to the land of al-Khata, and 
refused to come to the Sultan, saying 'I shall not go to [the 
court of] a Sultan in whose presence scholars have to stand.' |

Account of his gift to Hdjjl Kdwun and history of the latter. 256 
Hajji Kawun was the son of the paternal uncle of the Sultan 
Abu Sa'id, king of 'Iraq, and his brother Musa was a king in 
one of the regions of 'Iraq. 90 Hajji Kawun came to visit the 
Sultan and was received with princely hospitality, and loaded

87 Or Shabankara, the south-eastern division of Fars, so named from the 
Shabankara tribe of Kurds (or Dailamites), who settled there in the twelfth 
century. The chief cities were Darabjird and Ig, the latter being at this time 
the capital (G. le Strange, Lands, 288-9; Mustawfl, trans., 137-8).

88 See vol. II, pp. 300 sqq.
89 Sagharj or Saghirj, a township about 15 miles north-west of Samarqand. 

Burhan al-Dln is mentioned as a celebrated mystic, resident at the court of 
'the king of Khatay' (J. K. Teufel, Eine Lebensbeschreibung des Scheichs 
'All-i Hamadanl, Leiden 1962, p. 72, note x, and cf. p. 17). For al-Khata see 
above p. 551.

90 Musa Khan b. 'All Baidu was briefly recognized as the successor of 
Aba Sa'id by a confederacy of chiefs in northern Iraq, but was defeated and 
killed by Shaikh Hasan in July, 133? (see vol. II, p. 34L and n. 231). His 
brother Hajji Kawun seems to be otherwise unknown.
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with gifts. One day when the vizier Khwaja Jahan presented 
his gift [as we have related already], 91 including three trays, 
one filled with rubies, the second with emeralds, and the 
third with pearls, Hajji Kawun was present, and I myself 
saw the Sultan give him a large portion of this gift. Sub­ 
sequently he made him another immense gift, and Hajji 
Kawun set out for 'Iraq, where he found that his brother had 
died and that Sulaiman Khan reigned in his stead. 92 He 
claimed his brother's inheritance, declared himself king and 
received the homage of the troops, then set out for the land 
of Fars and encamped at the city of Shawankara, the city in

257 which the imam 'Adud | al-Din, whom we have just men­ 
tioned, was living. When he encamped outside there was 
some delay before the shaikhs went out to present themselves 
to him, and when they did so he said to them 'What hindered 
you from coming out at once to do homage to me?' They 
apologised to him but he refused to accept their excuses and 
said to his armour-bearers qilij tikhdr, gs which means 'draw 
your swords', whereupon they drew their swords and beheaded 
them, a considerable number in all. When the amirs who were 
in the vicinity of this city heard what he had done they were 
indignant and wrote to Shams al-Din al-Simnani, 94 who was 
one of the high-ranking amirs and jurists, to inform him of 
what had happened to the men of Shawankara and to ask 
his assistance in fighting against Hajji Kawun. He set out 
on a campaign with his troops, and the inhabitants of the 
region assembled to demand vengeance for those shaikhs 
whom Hajji Kawun had killed. They attacked his army 
during the night and routed it; Hajji Kawun himself was in

258 the citadel | of the town95 and they surrounded it and, finding

• l P. 663 above. In view of the following sentence, this occasion can be 
dated to the early months of 1337.

92 Sulaiman b. Yusuf Shah, a descendant of Abaqa, married to Sati Beg 
(see vol. II, p. 337, n. 217), maintained himself against Shaikh Hasan in 
Adharbaijan from 1339 to 1343/4, and thereafter in Eastern Anatolia 
(B. Spuler, Die Mongolen in Ivan, Berlin, 1955, p. 133 sqq.).

93 Presumably I.B.'s rendering of Turkish chikar.
94 The Ta'rlkh-i Guzlda (ed. E. G. Browne, Leyden-London, 1910, pp. 

636 sqq.) gives a prominent place in the conflicts in Fars at this time to 
Shams al-Din Sa'in, the qadi of Simnan (see vol. II, p. 318), but makes no 
reference to the putsch of Hajji Kawun.

95 Presumably of Ig; see n. 87 above.
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him hidden in a lavatory, cut off his head and sent it to 
Sulaiman Khan, and they distributed his members through­ 
out the province in satisfaction of their vendetta against 
him.

Account of the arrival of the Caliph's son at his court and of 
what befel him. This was the amir Ghiyath al-Dm Muhammad 
son of 'Abd al-Qahir, son of Yusuf, son of 'Abd al-'Aziz, son 
of the 'Abbasid caliph of Baghdad al-Mustansir billah. 96 He 
had gone to the court of the Sultan 'Ala al-Din Tarmashirm, 
king of the lands beyond the Oxus, who had received him 
honourably and assigned to him the hospice which is built 
round the tomb of Qutham ibn al-'Abbas97 (God be pleased 
with them both). He made his home there for some years, but 
afterwards, on hearing of the Sultan's affection for the house 
of al-'Abbas and his support of their cause, he desired to go 
to him, and despatched to him two envoys, one of whom 
was | his associate of long standing Muhammad ibn Abu'1- a59 
Sharafi al-Harbawi, and the other Muhammad al-Hamadani 
al-Sufi. These two persons therefore presented themselves 
before the Sultan. Now Nasir al-Din [the preacher] of 
Tirmidh, of whom we have spoken previously, 98 had met 
Ghiyath al-Din at Baghdad, and as the men of Baghdad had 
testified in his presence to the genuineness of his descent, so 
he now testified to this before the Sultan. Consequently, 
when his two envoys reached the Sultan he gave them five 
thousand dinars and sent by them thirty thousand dinars to 
Ghiyath al-Din to defray the expenses of his journey to join 
him. At the same time he wrote him a letter with his own 
hand expressing his veneration for him and inviting him to 
come to his court.

On receiving this letter Ghiyath al-Din set out to join him. 
When he reached the province of Sind and the intelligence 
officials wrote to announce his arrival, the Sultan sent an 
officer to receive him according to his usual custom. Next, 
on his arrival at Sarsatl, he sent also Sadr | al-Jahan, the 260 
Grand Qadi Kamal al-Din al-Ghaznawi, with a number of

90 See vol. I, pp. 225-6 (where the text has 'Abd al-Qadir for 'Abd al- 
Qahir). 'Son', of course, is used here in the sense of 'descendant'.

97 See p. 568 above.
98 See p. 675 above.
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doctors of the law to welcome him. He then sent the amirs 
also for the same purpose, and when Ghiyath al-Din halted 
at Mas'ud Abad, outside the capital," the Sultan went out 
himself to receive him. When they met Ghiyath al-Din dis­ 
mounted, then the Sultan also dismounted [to show his 
respect] for him, and he bowed and the Sultan bowed to him. 
He had brought with him a gift including some robes; the 
Sultan took one of the robes, placed it on his shoulder, and 
did homage in the same manner as people do homage to him. 
Then the horses were brought, and the Sultan took one of 
them with his hand, led it up to him, adjured him to mount, 
and himself held his stirrup until he mounted. Then the 
Sultan mounted also and rode alongside him with the 
parasol shading the two of them together. He took betel-nut 
with his own hand and offered it to him; this was the highest 
mark of the Sultan's consideration for him, for he never does 

261 that with anyone. He said to him also 'Had I not | taken the 
oath of allegiance to the Caliph Abu'1-'Abbas100 I should have 
sworn allegiance to you,' whereupon Ghiyath al-Din said to 
him 'I too am bound by the same oath.' Ghiyath al-Din said 
to him also 'The Apostle of God (God's blessing and peace 
upon him) said Whoso restores dead land to life, it belongs to 
him, and you have restored us to life.' The Sultan replied to 
him in the most courteous and the most affectionate terms, 
and when they reached the sardcha which had been prepared 
for the Sultan's occupation he assigned it to him as his resi­ 
dence, and another was pitched for the Sultan.

After passing that night outside the city they made their 
entrance into the capital on the following morning. The 
Sultan assigned him a residence in the town which is called 
Siri and known also as the 'Abode of the Caliphate', 101 in the 
castle built by 'Ala al-Din al-Khalji and his son Qutb al-Din. 
The Sultan ordered all the amirs to accompany him to the

99 See p. 617 above.
100 The date of this episode is difficult to determine. Sultan Muhammad 

struck coins in the name of the Cairo caliph al-Mustakfl billah (Abu'1-Rabi' 
Sulaiman) from 741 to 743 (1340-43), although the latter had died in 
February 1340. There is no indication that he had been in communication 
with the caliph al-Hakim II (Abu'1-'Abbas) until the arrival of the presumed 
'Abbasid robes and decree with Shaikh Sa'id (see vol. I, p. 225), when 
Ghiyath al-Din was already resident in Delhi.

101 See p. 619 above.
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castle and furnished it for him with all that he might need of 
gold and silver vessels. Among them there was even a golden 
bath tub in which to wash himself. He also sent him four 
hundred | thousand dinars to 'wash his head', according to 
the usual custom, 102 and a number of pages, servants, and 
female slaves, and assigned him three hundred dinars a day 
for his expenses, besides sending him in addition a number of 
tables with food prepared for his own use. He endowed him 
further with the whole town of Sirl as an estate, together 
with all that it contained of houses and the contiguous 
gardens and lands belonging to the public treasury, as well 
as a hundred villages and the government of the eastern 
territories attached to Dihli. 103 He gave him also thirty mules 
with gilded saddles, whose forage would be supplied by the 
treasury. He ordered him not to descend from his mount 
when he visited the Sultan's palace except at a particular 
place where no one might enter on horseback except the 
Sultan himself, and he ordered the whole population, great 
and small, to do homage to him in the same way as they do 
homage to the Sultan. When he entered | the presence of the 
Sultan the latter would come down from his throne as a mark 
of respect, and if he were on a chair he would rise to his feet. 
Each one of them would then make obeisance to one another 
and he would sit down beside the Sultan on the same carpet. 
When he rose the Sultan rose also and they made obeisance 
to one another, and when he went outside the audience hall a 
carpet was placed for him to sit on as long as he might wish, 
after which he would return home. He used to do this twice a 
day.

An anecdote showing the Sultan's respect for him. During his 
stay at Dihli the vizier arrived from the land of Bengal, and 
the Sultan gave orders to all the principal amirs to go out to 
meet him. Finally he went out himself to greet him and 
showed him great honour, and pavilions were set up in the 
city just as is done for the Sultan's entry. The Caliph's son 
went out to meet him also, together with the doctors of the

102 See p. 738 below.
103 Such assignments in the reign of Sultan Muhammad were made simply 

to provide stipends and carried no administrative duties with them: see 
W. H. Moreland, The Agrarian System of Muslim India, Cambridge 1929 
PP- 51-2-
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law, the q§4is and the notables, and when the Sultan re-
264 turned | to his palace he said to the vizier 'Go to the residence 

of Makhdum-zdda.' This was what he used to call him, and it 
means 'the son of the master'. So the vizier went to visit him 
and made him a gift of two thousand tangahs of gold and 
many woven stuffs. The amir Qatmla and others of the 
principal amirs and I myself were present on this occasion.

A similar anecdote. Amongst those who came to visit the 
Sultan was the king of Ghazna, named Bahrain, 104 between 
whom and the Caliph's son there was an enmity of long 
standing. The Sultan gave orders for his lodging in one of the 
houses of the town of Slri, which belonged to the Caliph's 
son, and ordered that a mansion should be built for him 
there. 105 The Caliph's son on hearing of this, flew into a rage 
and, going to the Sultan's palace, sat down on the carpet on 
which he was accustomed to sit, sent for the vizier and said to 
him 'Make my salutations to Khund 'Alam, and say to him

265 that everything that | he has given to me is still in my 
residence. I have disposed of none of it, but on the contrary 
it has increased under my care, and I shall no longer stay 
with you.' Then he rose and went back. The vizier asked one 
of his suite the cause of this behaviour and was informed that 
it was due to the Sultan's orders to build a mansion for the 
king of Ghazna in the town of Slri.

The vizier then went in to the Sultan and informed him of 
this, whereupon he mounted at once with ten of his household 
and came to the residence of the Caliph's son. He asked to be 
announced to him and dismounted from his horse outside the 
palace, where the general public were accustomed to dis­ 
mount, then on meeting him made his apologies to him. The 
Caliph's son accepted his apology, but the Sultan said to him 
'By God, I shall not know that you are content with me until 
you place your foot on my neck.' He replied 'This I can never 
do, even if I were condemned to death.' The Sultan then said 
T swear by my head that you positively must do this.' Then 
he placed his head on the ground and the great king Qabula

104 Not identified. Since Ghazna was a dependency of Herat (see Ta'rlkh- 
Ndma-i Hardt, 678) its 'king' was presumably the governor on behalf of 
Mu'izz al-Dln Husain.

108 This reading, adopted by the French editors, appears to be confirmed 
by what follows. The variant readings are in fact incomprehensible.
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took the foot | of the Caliph's son in his hand and set it on the 266 
Sultan's neck. Then he rose and said 'Now I know that you 
are satisfied with me and my heart is at ease.' This is a 
strange story, the like of which has not been told of any other 
king.

I was present with this person on a festival day when the 
great king [QabulaJ brought him three 'open' ceremonial 
robes106 from the Sultan; these had in place of the usual silk 
fastenings pearl buttons of the size of a large hazelnut. The 
great king stood waiting at the gate of his residence until he 
came out and then clothed him with them. What the Sultan 
gave him is beyond reckoning and limit, yet with all that the 
Caliph's son was the most miserly of God's creatures. On the 
subject of his miserliness there are told such strange stories 
and so astonishing to the hearer, that he can be said to have 
occupied in degree of avarice the position which the Sultan 
occupied in degree of generosity. We shall now mention some 
incidents of this kind. |

Stories of the avarice of the Caliph's son. He and I were on 267 
terms of friendship. I used to visit him frequently in his house 
and I even left with him a son of mine, whom I had called 
Ahmad, when I left Dihli. I do not know what God has done 
with either of them. I said to him one day 'Why do you eat 
by yourself and never invite your friends to join in your 
meals?' He replied 'I cannot bear to see them there in large 
numbers eating my food.' So he used to eat alone and to give 
his friend Muhammad ibn Abu'l-Sharafi some of the food for 
whomsoever he wished, and himself disposed of the rest.

On my visits to him I observed that the vestibule of the 
palace in which he lived was dark and unlighted. I often saw 
him picking up little pieces of wood suitable for burning in 
his garden; indeed he filled whole store houses with them and 
when I spoke to him about this he said to me 'They may be 
needed.' He used to employ his attendants, mamluks, and 
pages on | work in his garden and on laying it out, 107 and he 268 
used to say 'I am not willing that they should eat my food 
and do no work.' On one occasion I had a debt which I was 
called upon to pay, and he said to me one day Truly I did

ice jror the term mufarraj see Dozy, s.v.
107 The term (bina') perhaps implies masonry or stonework.
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intend to pay your debt for you, but I could not find it in my 
heart to do so or bring myself to it.'

Anecdote. He once told me the following story. 'I went out 
from Baghdad (he said) with three other persons (one of 
whom was his friend Muhammad ibn Abu'l-Sharafl). We were 
walking on foot and had no provisions with us. We stopped 
near a water-spring at a certain village and one of us found a 
dirham in the spring. We discussed what we should do with 
one dirham and having agreed to buy bread with it sent one 
of our number to do so. The baker in that village refused to

269 sell bread | by itself but would sell it only along with an equal 
value of straw, 108 so he brought both bread and straw from 
him. We threw away the straw since we had no animal with 
us to eat it, and divided the bread amongst us bite about. 
Now my fortunes have come to the state in which you see 
them.' I said to him 'It is your duty to praise God for His 
favour to you and to give liberally to the poor and the needy 
and justify your wealth by giving alms.' But he said 'I cannot 
do it', and in fact I never saw him being liberal with anything 
or doing a generous action—may God preserve us from 
meanness!

Anecdote. One day at Baghdad, after my return from India, 
I was sitting at the gate of the Mustansiriya college, which 
was built by his ancestor, the Commander of the Faithful 
al-Mustansir (God be pleased with him), 109 and I saw a young 
man in poor circumstances running after a man who was 
coming out of the college. One of the students said to me

270 'This | youth that you see is the son of the amir Muhammad, 
the grandson of the Caliph al-Mustansir, who is in India.' So 
I called him and said to him 'I have just come from India and 
can give you news of your father.' But he answered 'I have 
had news of him recently' and went hurrying off after that 
man. I asked who the man was and was told that he was the 
intendant of the endowment, that this youth was imam

108 Literally 'would sell bread for a qlrdt and straw for a qlrdt'. The qfrdt 
was both a monetary unit (in 'Iraq, one-twelfth of a silver dirham =0-247 
grammes) and a unit of weight (in 'Iraq, one-fourteenth of a dirham 
weight =0-247 grammes) (Hinz, Islamische Masse, Leiden, 1955, PP- 2 « 27)- 
The phrase therefore means 'one qlrdt of straw for each qlrdt of bread', or 
half a dirham's worth of each (reckoned not by weight but by price).

109 See vol. II, p. 332.
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[prayer-leader] in one of the mosques at a remuneration of 
one dirham a day, and that he was asking for the pay due to 
him from this man. My astonishment at this was unbounded 
—by God, if he had sent him a single pearl of all those pearls 
which adorned the robes of honour that he received from the 
Sultan, the boy would have been well-off. May God protect 
us from such a state of things! |

The Sultan's gift to the amir Saifal-Dm Ghadd, son of Hibat 271 
Allah son ofMuhannd, the amir of the Arabs in Syria. 110 When 
this amir came to visit the Sultan he received him hospitably 
and lodged him in the palace of the Sultan Jalal al-DIn 
inside the city of Dihli. 111 This castle is called Kushki-la'l, 
which means 'the red palace', and it is a huge mansion which 
includes an exceptionally large audience hall and an immense 
vestibule. Near the gate there is a pavilion which overlooks 
this audience hall and also the second audience hall, through 
which one enters into the palace. 112 The Sultan Jalal al-DIn 
used to sit in this pavilion while they played mall before him 
in this audience hall. I went into this palace when the amir 
took up his residence in it and I found it filled with furniture, 
beds, carpets, etc., but all of this was tattered and useless; 
for it is their custom in India to abandon a Sultan's palace | 
when he dies, with all that is in it, leaving it untouched, and 273 
his successor builds a palace for himself. When I entered it I 
went through it thoroughly and climbed up to the top of it. 
To see it in this condition served me as a lesson which 
brought tears to my eyes. With me at the time was the doctor 
of the law and of medicine, the talented Jamal al-DIn al- 
Maghribl, of Gharnata (Granada) by origin although born at 
Bijaya and now resident in India, where he had come with 
his father and now has children. He recited to me as we 
viewed this scene

As for their Sultans, ask the clay of them— 
Those powerful heads are now but empty skulls. 113

110 For Muhanna b. 'Isa, chief of the Al Fadl in Syria, see vol. I, p. 107 
and n. 152. Nine of his sons are mentioned in the biographical works, but 
Hibat Allah is not among them, and Ghada seems to be otherwise unknown.

111 See p. 638 above.
112 This was presumably an open court, the term mashwar being used 

indiscriminately for an open or a roofed-in hall.
118 The verses offer the typical word-play of later Arabic poetry: 'ask the
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It was in this palace that his marriage feast took place, as we 
shall relate shortly. The Sultan had a great affection for the 
Arabs and used to show them special favour and speak highly 
of their virtues. When this amir visited him he made large

273 gifts to him and treated him with great munificence. [ Once 
when there was brought before him the gift of A'zam Malik 
al-BayazIdi from the province of Manikbur, 114 he presented 
the amir with eleven thoroughbred horses, and on another 
occasion he gave him ten horses equipped with gilded saddles 
and with gilded bridles. Then over and above that he married 
him to his sister Firuz Khunda.

The marriage of the amir Saif al-Din with the Sultan's sister. 
When the Sultan gave orders for his sister's marriage to the 
amir Ghada he designated the malik Fathallah called 
Shawnawfs115 to make all arrangements for the marriage 
feast and its expenses, and he designated me to attend on the 
amir Ghada and to remain with him during those days. The 
malik Fathallah brought marquees and with them he covered 
the two audience halls in the Red Palace above-mentioned.

374 In each hall he erected a pavilion of extraordinary size | and 
furnished it with fine [cushions and] carpets. Shams al-Din 
al-Tabrizi, the amir of the musicians, came with the male 
singers and the female singers and dancers, all of whom are 
the Sultan's slaves. [The intendant] brought cooks, bakers, 
roasters, pastry cooks, butlers and betel-servers, and cattle 
and birds were slaughtered and they continued to supply the 
people with food for fifteen days. The principal amirs and 
distinguished foreigners were present night and day.

Two nights before the night of the wedding procession 
the khatuns came from the Sultan's palace to this mansion, 
and having decorated it and furnished it luxuriously, they 
sent for the amir Saif al-Din (who was an Arab and a 
stranger and without kinsfolk), put him in the midst of them 
and made him sit on a cushion which had been placed for him. 
The Sultan had given orders that his step-mother, the mother

clay' (sali 'ttlna) jibes with 'sultans' (saldtlnu) and 'powerful' (i?amu) with 
'empty skulls' (izdma, lit. 'bones').

114 Al-Bayazidi is mentioned later (p. 731), as a relative by marriage of the 
Sultan. For Manikpur see p. 638 above.

115 Apparently a Persian compound meaning 'marriage-writer'.
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of his brother Mubarak Khan, should take the place of the 
mother of the amir Ghada, that another lady among the 
khatuns should take j the place of his sister, another that of 275 
his paternal aunt, and another that of his maternal aunt, so 
that he might feel himself to be amongst his own people. 
When they sat him down on the cushion they dyed his hands 
and his feet with henna, 116 and the rest of them stood before 
him singing and dancing. After that they withdrew to the 
mansion in which the wedding was to take place and he 
stayed behind with his principal companions.

The Sultan designated a body of amirs to be of his party 
and another body to be of the bride's party. It is their custom 
that the bride's party stands before the door of the apart­ 
ment in which the bride will unveil herself to her husband, 
and the husband conies with his party but they cannot enter 
until they have overcome the bride's supporters, or given 
them some thousands of dinars if they cannot get the better 
of them. After sunset [on the wedding day] there was brought 
to the amir Ghada a ceremonial robe of blue silk embroidered 
and encrusted with jewels; the jewels covered it so com­ 
pletely | that its colour was not visible because of the quantity 276 
of them, and it was the same with his turban. I never saw a 
more beautiful robe than this one, although I have seen the 
robes given by the Sultan to his other brothers-in-law, like 
the son of the malik of maliks 'Imad al-Din al-Simnani, 117 the 
son of the Malik al-'Ulama, the son of the Shaikh al-Islam, 
and the son of Sadr Jahan al-Bukhari,118 and there was not 
one of them to match this robe.

The amir Saif al-Din then mounted along with his sup­ 
porters and slaves, each of them carrying in his hand a staff 
prepared for the occasion. They had made a sort of crown of 
jasmine, muskrose and raibul, 119 with a veil long enough to 
cover the head and chest of its wearer; but when they 
brought it to the amir to put over his head, he refused to do 
so. He was [after all] an Arab of the desert, unfamiliar with 
the ways of kings and settled folk. I tried to persuade him

118 This practice, universal for brides, seems to be much less commonly 
applied to bridegrooms.

117 See p. 676 above.
118 See p. 569 above. "' See p. 622, n. 16 above.
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277 and adjured him | until at last he put it on his head and [so] 
came to the bob al-sarf, 120 which they call also by the name of 
bob al-haram, at which the bride's party was stationed. He 
led a proper Arab charge upon them with his supporters and 
unhorsed all those who stood in their way. So the amir and 
his men vanquished them, and the bride's party could make 
no kind of firm resistance. When the Sultan was told of this, 
he was pleased with his exploit.

When the amir entered the audience-hall, the bride had 
already been placed on a high pulpit, adorned with brocade 
[hangings] and encrusted with jewels. The hall was filled with 
women, and the female musicians had brought all kinds of 
musical instruments; all of them were standing on their feet 
to show him honour and respect. He entered on horseback 
[and proceeded] until he came up to the pulpit, when he 
dismounted, and made the gesture of homage on reaching 
its first step. The bride rose up, standing until he mounted to 
the top, when she gave him betel with her own hand, and 
after eating it he sat down below the step on which she had

278 stood. | Gold dinars were thrown over those of his friends 
who were present, 121 and the women picked them up; at the 
same time, the singing-girls were singing away, and drums, 
bugles and fifes were sounded outside the gate. The amir then 
rose, took his bride by the hand, and came down, she follow­ 
ing him. He mounted his horse on which he rode over the 
carpets and rugs, and dinars were [again] thrown over him 
and his companions. The bride was placed in a litter, which 
was carried by slaves on their shoulders to his palace, con­ 
ducted by the khatuns riding on horseback in front of her 
while the rest of the women walked. Every time the pro­ 
cession passed by the residence of an amir or person of 
consequence, he came out to [salute] them and scattered over 
them gold and silver coins, as dictated by his interest or

120 Apparently meaning 'the gate of repelling' Bab al-fraram means only 
'gate of the secluded quarters' (i.e. for female relatives). Mahdi Husain 
notes the close similarity of the ceremony as described by I.E. to Hindu usage 
(see Mahdi Husain, pp. xlvii-xlviii), particularly the sham fight and the 
crown of flowers (sehra). See also Hughes, Dictionary of Islam s.v. Marriage.

121 This was a traditional Arab custom, so closely associated with a 
marriage that the term for 'scattering' i.e. of coins (nithar), was used as a 
synonym for it.
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concern, until they brought her to the palace of the amir Saif 
al-Dm.

On the next day, the bride sent robes and gold and silver 
coins to all of her husband's companions. The Sultan also 
gave to each one of them a horse | with its saddle and bridle 279 
and a purse of silver coins, ranging from one thousand to 
two hundred dinars. The malik Fathallah [the shawnawis\ 
presented the khatuns with silk robes of divers sorts and 
purses as well, and made similar presents to the musicians. 
It is the custom in India that no one should give presents to 
the musicians; 122 only the director of the wedding ceremony 
may do so. A meal was served to the whole populace that 
day and [with this] the wedding ceremonies came to an end. 
The Sultan gave orders that the amir Ghada should be given 
[a grant for] the lands of Malwa, al-Guzarat, Kanbaya and 
Nahrawala, and he appointed the above-mentioned Fath­ 
allah as substitute for him in their government. 123 [In fine] 
the Sultan showed him immense honour, but he was a raw 
bedouin, who did not measure up to this standard; the 
rudeness of the desert folk was his dominant trait, and it 
brought him to disaster [only] twenty days after his wedding.

The imprisonment of the amir Ghadd. Twenty days after 
his wedding | it happened that he came to the Sultan's palace 280 
and made to enter. The amir of the barddariya (who are the 
high-ranking doorkeepers) 124 stopped him, but the Arab 
would not listen to him and tried to force his way in. The 
doorkeeper then seized his dabbuqa, that is his braided lock, 125 
and pulled him back, whereupon the amir struck him with a

122 The text has the masculine plural pronoun, which, however, would 
seem from the context to include the female musicians.

123 See n. 103 above. For Malwa see p. 639 above and for Nahrawala 
p. 673 above. 'In their government', literally 'over them', presumably 
means in collecting the revenues from them.

124 Apparently Persian parda-ddr, literally 'doorkeeper of the inner 
chambers', but this does not seem to fit the situation here; the term 
kkawdss, translated as 'high-ranking', implies that they are in some way 
distinguished by special functions. Perhaps it is a conflation or confusion 
with bar dad (amir al-bdr), described as the officer in charge of admission to 
the sultan, ap. Bundari (ed. Houtsma, Leiden 1889) p. 117.

185 'Long plaits are the pride of a childishly vain (jdhil) Bedouin, and often 
lead to his undoing. When pursued, he can be easily captured if the enemy 
catches hold of his plaits' (Alois Musil, The Manners and Customs of the 
Rwala Bedouins, New York, 1928, p. 116).
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baton that he found to his hand there, and so violently as to 
cause him to bleed. Now this person who received the blows 
was one of the great amirs; his father was known as 'the 
qadi of Ghazna' and was a descendant of the Sultan Mahmud 
ibn Sabuktagin. 126 The Sultan used to address him as 'father', 
and to call this son of his 'brother'. So, when he went into the 
Sultan's presence with blood on his garments and told him 
how the amir had behaved, the Sultan pondered for a 
moment and then said 'The qadi will decide the case between 
you.' The assault was (in fact) a criminal act, for which the 
Sultan will not forgive any of his subjects and which is 
inevitably punished by death, but he showed forbearance to 
the amir because he was a foreigner.

281 The qadi Kama! J al-Din was present in the audience-hall, 
and the Sultan ordered the malik Tatar to attend the qadi's 
sitting with them. Tatar had made the pilgrimage to Mecca 
and sojourned there, and spoke Arabic well. When he came 
in with the two of them, he said to the amir [Ghada] 'You 
struck him? Rather say "No" ', 127 his intention being to 
instruct him how to plead. But the amir Saif al-Din was a light- 
witted and rash person, 128 and he said 'Of course I struck him.' 
The father of the man who had been beaten came and tried to 
get the matter settled amicably between them, but Saif 
al-Din would not yield. So the qadi ordered him to be im­ 
prisoned for that night. And by God, his wife neither sent 
him bedding to sleep on nor even asked for news of him, out 
of fear of the Sultan; his associates too were afraid and put 
their valuables into safekeeping. I had it in mind to visit him 
in the prison, but then one of the great amirs happened to 
meet me, and on gathering from me that I meant to visit 
him said to me 'Can you have forgotten?' This was to 

382 remind me of an incident | that had occurred to me in con­ 
nection with a visit to the shaikh Shihab al-Din, the son of

126 The famous sultan of Ghazna (998—1030): see p. 590 n. 203 above.
127 The malik's Arabic is somewhat loose, but the meaning is clear 

enough.
128 Jahilan is precisely the term quoted by Musil (n. 125) above: for the 

second, the obvious reading is mughtarran, the gloss for which in a con­ 
temporary dictionary (al-Misbah, see Lane s.v.) ('thinking himself secure, 
and therefore not on his guard') fits the context exactly. One cannot 
imagine I.E. suddenly using an obsolete poetic word like mughathmiran.
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the shaikh al-Jam, 129 and how the Sultan had intended to 
kill me for this reason as I shall tell later. So I turned back 
and did not visit him. The amir Ghada was released from his 
imprisonment about noon; thereafter, the Sultan ostenta­ 
tiously disregarded him, retracted the orders that he had 
given for his territorial grant, and had in mind to force him 
to leave India.

Now the Sultan had a brother-in-law named Mughith, a 
son of the 'king of kings', 130 about whose conduct the Sultan's 
sister used to complain to her brother, until finally she died. 
Her slave-girls stated that her death was due to the violence 
with which he treated her; there was, besides, some cause for 
doubt as to his legitimate descent. So the Sultan wrote [an 
order] with his own hand 'Let the foundling be expelled,' 
meaning Mughith, and then wrote after this 'and let mush 
khwdr be expelled too'. The meaning of this is 'eater of rats', 
and by that he meant the amir Ghada, because the Arabs of 
the desert eat the jerboa, which is a kind of rat. 131 On his 
orders to drive them out the naqibs came to the amir to expel 
him; he went into | his house, intending to bid farewell to his 283 
wife, 132 but the naqibs made a concerted effort to seek him 
out and he emerged in tears.

At this point I went to the Sultan's palace and spent the 
night in it. One of the amirs asked me the reason why I 
remained overnight, and when I told him that I had come to 
plead for the amir Saif al-Dm, that he might be recalled and 
not exiled, he said 'It can't be done.' But I said to him 'By 
God, I shall continue to spend the night in the Sultan's 
palace, even if I have to stay for a hundred nights until he is 
recalled'. This was reported to the Sultan, and he did order 
that he should be recalled and commanded further that he 
should be attached to the service of the amir Malik Qabula 
al-Lahawri. He remained for four years in his service, riding 
when he rode and accompanying him on his journeys, and as

129 For the story of the shaikh Shihab al-Dm see pp. 697-700 below.
130 I.e. one of the sons of the 'kings', who is called by the Sultan by that 

name.
131 This contemptuous phrase was a traditional weapon in the arsenal of 

Persian polemic against the Arabs.
132 This is the obvious meaning, although I.E. expresses himself a little 

confusedly.
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a result of this training learned good manners and refinement. 
The Sultan restored him to his former honours, gave him 
assignments of land and the command of troops, and elevated 
him in rank. |

284 The marriage arranged by the Sultan between the two daughters 
of his vizier and the two sons of Khudhdwand-Zdda Qiwdm 
al-Din, who came to his court along with us.

When Khudhawand-Zada133 came to the court, the Sultan 
bestowed on him an immense revenue and lavish benefac­ 
tions, and went to great lengths in showing him honour. 
Subsequently he married Khudhawand-Zada's two sons to the 
two daughters of the vizier Khwaja Jahan. The vizier himself 
was absent at that time, so the Sultan came to his residence 
by night and attended the ceremony of the marriage contract 
as though in the capacity of deputy for the vizier. He stood 
until the Grand Qadi read the statement of the dowry,134 
while the qadis, amirs and shaikhs remained seated. The 
Sultan took up with his own hands the fabrics and purses 
[specified in the deeds of dowry] and placed them before the 
qadi and the two sons of Khudhawand-Zada. [At this point] 
the amirs rose up, protesting that the Sultan should not take 
upon himself the placing of these gifts before the qadi and 
bridegrooms, but he commanded them to sit down, and 
after ordering one of the high amirs to take his place he 
withdrew. |

285 Anecdote on the humility of the Sultan and his sense of equity. 
One of the Hindu chiefs brought a claim against him that he 
had killed the chief's brother without just cause, and cited 
him to appear before the qadi. Whereupon he went on foot 
and unarmed to the qadfs tribunal, saluted and made the 
sign of homage, having previously sent orders to the qadi that 
on his arrival at the tribunal, he (the qadi) should not stand 
up for him nor move from his place. He walked up to the 
tribunal and remained standing before the qadl, who gave 
judgement against him, [decreeing] that he should give

188 See pp. 565-6 above.
134 Sadaq or mahr. The statement of the dowry settled upon the bride and 

the public consent of the bridegroom to it constitute the legal formality of 
marriage. The bride is not present in person, but is represented by a wall 
(father or other near male relative), and it was this function which the Sultan 
took upon himself.
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satisfaction to his opponent for his brother's blood, and he 
did so.

A similar anecdote. An individual, who was a Muslim, once 
brought a claim against the Sultan that the latter owed him 
certain moneys. They argued the case before the qadi, and 
judgement was given against the Sultan, enjoining him to 
pay the sum, which he did. |

A similar anecdote. A young boy, one of the sons of the 286 
maliks, brought a claim against the Sultan that the latter had 
struck him without just cause, and cited him before the qadi. 
Judgement was given against the Sultan, to the effect that 
he should give the plaintiff monetary compensation, if he 
would accept that, or alternatively allow him to exercise his 
right to retaliate in kind. I was present that day when the 
Sultan returned to his audience-hall, and saw him summon 
the boy, give him a stick and say to him, 'By my head, you 
shall strike me just as I struck you.' Whereupon the boy took 
the stick and gave him twenty-one blows, so that I actually 
saw his high cap fly off his head.

His insistence on the observance of the ritual prayers. The 
Sultan was strict about the observance of the prayers, making 
congregational attendance at them obligatory, and punishing 
any dereliction of them most severely. Indeed, he put to 
death for neglecting them on one day alone nine persons, j of 287 
whom one was a singer. He used to send out men, specially 
charged with this duty, to the bazaars; any person found in 
them after the commencement of prayers was punished, and 
he went so far as to punish the satd'iris, 135 [i.e. the grooms] 
who hold the riding beasts of the servitors at the gate of the 
audience-hall, when they disregarded the [hours of] prayer. 
He gave orders also that the people in general should be 
required to show a knowledge of the obligations of ablution, 
prayer, and the binding articles of Islam. They used to be 
questioned on these matters; if anyone failed to give correct 
answers he was punished, and they made a practice of study­ 
ing them with one another in the audience-hall and the 
bazaars, and setting them down in writing.

135 Dozy (s.v.) derives the word from sitara, 'saddle-cloth'. His references 
appear to indicate that the term was used chiefly in the Maghrib, but it will 
be noted that I.E. has to explain its meaning.
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His insistence on executing the legal provisions of the 
Shari'a.™ He was strict in upholding the Shari'a, and set up 
the following practice. He ordered his brother Mubarak 
Khan137 to sit [in the regular judicial sessions] in the audience- 
hall along with the Grand Qadi Kama! al-Dm. [The judge

288 sat] in [a chamber] there with a lofty cupola | and furnished 
with rugs; in it he had a raised divan smothered in cushions, 
just like the Sultan's divan, and the Sultan's brother would 
sit to his right. If a claim for debt were laid against any of the 
great amirs and he refused to discharge it to his creditor, the 
men [in the service] of the Sultan's brother would bring 
him before the qadi so that he might execute justice upon 
him.

His abolition of oppressive dues and impositions, and his 
sessions for the rendering of justice to the wronged. In the year 
forty-one138 the Sultan ordered the abolition of duties on 
goods and merchandise139 in his territories, and that nothing 
should be taken [in taxation] from the people except the 
alms-tax and the tithe exclusively. 140 He used to sit in person 
every Tuesday and Thursday in an open space in front of the 
audience-hall, for the purpose of investigating complaints of 
oppression. 141 None [of the officers of state] stood in atten-

289 dance on him on these occasions except the Amir Hajib, | the 
Khass Hajib, the 'master' of the Chamberlains, and the 
'honour' of the Chamberlains, 142 nobody else, and no person 
who wished to make a complaint might be hindered from 
presenting himself before him. He designated four of the

186 I have preferred the more familiar form sharl'a to shar'. This is the 
body of legal doctrines and rules derived from the Qur'an, Prophetic 
Tradition, and secondary sources; it includes both ritual duties and 
decisions relating to family, civil, and criminal law.

137 See p. 664 above.
138 A.H. 741 = 27 June, 1340 to 16 June, 1341.
139 Mukus, applied to all market taxes, octroi duties, etc., and commonly 

translated 'illegal taxes' since they have no basis in Islamic Law: see E.I. 
s.v. maks.

140 See p. 605 above.
141 This was the traditional tribunal of the ruler in person, for the redress­ 

ing of abuses (ma?alim) committed by high military and administrative 
officers who were out of reach of the ordinary qadi's jurisdiction. See 
E. Tyan, Histoire de V organisation judiciaive au pays d'I slam, tome II, 
Beirut 1943, esp. pp. 238 sqq.

142 See p. 660 above.
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principal amirs to sit at the four gates of the audience-hall to 
take the petitions from the complainants. The fourth of the 
amirs was his uncle's son Malik Firuz. 143 If the amir at the 
first gate accepted the complainant's petition, well and good; 
but if he did not, the second or third or fourth [amir] would 
accept it. If all of them refused to accept it, he would take it 
to Sadr al-Jahan, the qadi of the mamluks; 144 either he would 
accept it from him or else the complainant would appeal 
[directly] to the Sultan. Then, if it was proved to the Sultan 
that he had taken his petition to one of these persons, and 
that the latter had not accepted it from him, the Sultan would 
teach that person a lesson. All the complainants collected on 
the other days were examined by the Sultan after the last 
evening prayer. |

His distribution of food during the famine. When the severe 29o 
drought reigned over the lands of India and Sind and prices 
rose to such a height that the mann of wheat145 reached six 
dinars, the Sultan ordered that the whole population of 
Dihli should be given six months' supplies from the [royal] 
granary, at the rate of one and a half rails (that is to say, 
Maghrib! rails) 1 *6 per day per person, small or great, free or 
slave. The jurists and qadis went out to compile the registers 
with the [names of the] inhabitants of the various quarters) ; 147 
they would [then] present them [to the authorities] and each 
person would be given enough to provide him with food for 
six months.

This Sultan's murders and reprehensible actions. In spite of 
all that we have related of his humility, his sense of fairness,

148 But ill the passage cited in the preceding note Malik Firuz is identical 
with the Amir Hajib: see also p. 665 above.

144 This is presumably not the same person as the Grand Qadi, Sadr 
al-Jahan Kamal al-Dm [see p. 617 above], but he is not mentioned else­ 
where by I.B.

145 About 15^ kilograms: see vol. II, p. 312, n. 131.
146 The rail of Delhi was half a mann i.e. about i6£ Ibs. (Thomas, Pathan 

Kings, 223, note e). The rail of Morocco was approximately one English 
pound avoirdupois (468-75 grammes, according to Hinz, Islamische Masse, 
p. 32). In a later passage (vol. IV, p. 210 Ar.) he evaluates the rail of Delhi at 
about 20 rails of Morocco.

147 Harat, strictly the enclosed quarters into which the mediaeval Near 
Eastern city was divided (see Gibb and Bowen, Islamic Society and the West, 
vol. I, part I, London 1950, p. 279), but it is doubtful whether Delhi was 
similarly divided at this time.
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his compassion for the needy, and his extraordinary148 
liberality, the Sultan was far too free in shedding blood. It 
was but seldom that the entrance to his palace was without a

291 corpse | and I used often to see men being executed at his 
gate and [their bodies] left to lie there. One day as I arrived 
my horse shied with me; I saw a white fragment on the 
ground and said 'What is this?' One of my companions said, 
'It is the torso of a man who was cut into three pieces.' The 
Sultan used to punish small faults and great, without respect 
of persons, whether men of learning or piety or noble descent. 
Every day there are brought to the audience-hall hundreds 
of people, chained, pinioned, and fettered, and those who are 
for execution are executed, those for torture tortured, and 
those for beating beaten. It is his custom to have all persons 
who are in his prison brought to the audience-hall every day 
except Friday; on this day they are not haled [before him] 
but it is a day of respite for them, on which they may clear 
themselves and remain at ease—may God deliver us from 
misfortune! |

292 His execution of his brother. 149 He had a [half] brother named 
Mas'ud Khan, whose mother was the daughter of the Sultan 
'Ala' al-Dln, and who was one of the most beautiful persons 
I have seen on earth. The Sultan accused this brother of 
rebellion against him and questioned him on the matter. 
Mas'ud Khan confessed to the fact through fear of torture, 
for anyone who denies an accusation of this sort brought 
against him by the Sultan is put to the torture, and people 
consider execution a lighter affliction than torture. The 
Sultan gave orders for his execution and he was beheaded in 
the midst of the bazaar, and remained exposed there for three 
days, according to their usage. The mother of the executed 
prince had been stoned to death in that same place two years 
before, on her confession of adultery. Her stoning was by 
[decree of] the qadi Kamal al-Din. |

293 His execution of three hundred and fifty men at one time. On 
one occasion he designated a section of the army to proceed 
with the malik Yusuf Bughra to engage the infidels in part of

148 The term khariq al-'dda, 'breaking the natural order of things', is 
technically employed for 'miraculous'.

149 I.B. is apparently the sole narrator of this incident.
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the hill country bordering on the province of Dihli. Yusuf set 
out, and most of the troops with him, but a number of them 
stayed behind. Yusuf wrote to the Sultan to inform him of 
this, whereupon the Sultan gave orders for the patrolling of 
the city and the arrest of all who were discovered of those 
who had remained. This was done, three hundred and fifty of 
them were arrested, and he ordered the execution of the 
whole lot of them, so they were executed.

His torture and execution of the shaikh Shihdb al-Din, The 
shaikh Shihab al-Din was the son of the shaikh al-Jam al- 
Khurasa.ni after whose ancestor the city of al-Jam in 
Khurasan is named, as we have already related. 150 He was 
one of the major shaikhs | noted for probity and virtue, and 294 
used to fast uninterruptedly for fourteen days. The Sultans 
Qutb al-Din and Tughluq held him in high esteem and used 
to visit him and to solicit his blessing. When the Sultan 
Muhammad succeeded, he wished to employ the shaikh in 
some service of his, for it was his practice to assign offices to 
jurists, shaikhs and devotees, on the argument that the first 
generation [of the Caliphs] (God be pleased with them) were 
not in the habit of appointing to office any but men of 
[religious] learning and probity. The shaikh Shihab al-Din, 
however, declined to accept office, and when the Sultan 
raised the point with him in his public audience, he openly 
refused to yield and give his consent. 161 The Sultan then 
commanded the venerable shaikh and jurist Diya' al-Dm of 
Simnan to pluck out the hair of his beard. But Diya' al-Din 
refused to do so, and bluntly rejected his command, where­ 
upon the Sultan gave orders to pluck out the beards of both 
of them, and plucked out they were. He banished Diya' al- 
Dm to the land of Tiling, and subsequently appointed him as 
qadi | in Warangal, where he died. Shihab al-Din he banished 295 
to Dawlat Abad, where he remained for seven years. He then

150 The shaikh Shihab al-Din, a descendant of the shaikh al-Jam (p. 580 
above), was deeply honoured by the sultans of India, but was eventually 
disgraced by Sultan Muhammad and executed, as the following passage 
relates. As I.B. had a close relationship with the shaikh, he was deprived of 
his qadl-ship and nearly put to death.

161 Since the early centuries of Islam, the more scrupulous religious leaders 
refused all service under or association with the rulers, on the ground that 
the practice of administration was tainted by illegalities and abuses.
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sent for him, received him with great honour and respect and 
appointed him over the diwdn al-mustakhraj, 152 that is to say, 
the department that deals with the arrears of the revenue 
officers by 'extracting' them from these officials by beatings 
and exemplary punishments. Later on, he honoured him still 
more highly, and issued an order to the amirs to make 
their personal salutations to him and to carry out his 
instructions; indeed, no one in the Sultan's palace was higher 
than he.

When the Sultan removed [from Dihll] to take up residence 
on the river Gang, where he built the palace known as Sarg 
Duwdr (which means 'the likeness of Paradise'), 163 and 
ordered the people154 to build there as well, the shaikh 
Shihab al-Din asked his permission to remain in the capital. 
He was allowed to do so and moved out to some uncultivated 
land at a distance of six miles from Dihll, where he excavated 
for himself an immense cave in the interior of which he fitted 

296 up chambers, storerooms, an oven and a bath. | He supplied 
this land with water from the river Jun, brought it under 
cultivation, and gained a considerable fortune from its 
produce, because these were years of drought. He stayed 
there for two and a half years, corresponding to the period of 
the Sultan's absence. His slaves used to work that land 
during the day, and at night they would go into the cave and 
close it upon themselves and their cattle for fear of the infidel 
marauders, since these occupied an inaccessible mountain 
thereabouts.

When the Sultan returned to his capital, the shaikh went 
out to welcome him and met him some seven miles from the 
city. The Sultan showed him high honour and embraced him

152 Commonly translated 'bureau of extortion', but its functions were 
precisely as denned by I.E. on the underlying assumption that deficiencies 
in revenue payments to the central treasury were due to their dilapidation 
by the officials. The translation of tankll by 'torture' is possible but ad 
pensum rather than ad verbunt.

163 In consequence of the severe famine already mentioned (p. 695 above) 
which began in 1335 and continued for several years, the Sultan in 1338 
moved to a temporary capital near Kanauj, on the Ganges, about 200 m. 
S.E. of Delhi. His palace was called Sargadwari (i.e. Sarg-dvara; 'gate of 
Paradise').

164 Presumably meaning here the army, court, and administrative 
officers.

698



EXECUTION OF SHAIKH SHIHAB AL-DIN

on their meeting. Shihab al-Dln returned to his cave; then, 
some days later, when the Sultan sent for him, he refused to 
come at his command. Thereupon the Sultan sent Mukhlis 
al-Mulk al-Nadharbari155 (who was one of the great maliks) 
to him; the envoy spoke to him in a tactful way and warned 
him of the consequences of the Sultan's anger, | but he 297 
replied 'never shall I serve an oppressor'. When Mukhlis 
al-Mulk reported this to the Sultan on his return, he received 
the order to fetch the shaikh, which he did. The Sultan said 
to him 'Is it you who says that I am an oppressor?' The 
shaikh replied 'Indeed, you are an oppressor, and such-and- 
such are instances of your tyrannical conduct,' mentioning a 
number of things such as his devastation of the city of Dihli 
and his expulsion of its population. 156 The Sultan then took 
his own sword, handed it to [the Grand Qadi] Sadr al-Jahan, 
and said 'Establish the fact that I am an oppressor, and cut 
off my head with this sword'. Shihab al-Dm said to him, 
'Anyone who is willing to offer evidence of this will be put to 
death, but you yourself are aware of your tyrannical conduct'. 
The Sultan ordered him to be handed over to the malik 
Nukbiya, the chief of the Duwaidars, 1" who put four irons on 
his feet and pinioned his hands [to his neck]. He stayed in 
that condition for fourteen days, fasting continuously, 
neither eating nor drinking. Every day of the fourteen he was 
brought to the audience-hall, where the jurists and shaikhs 
were assembled, and they would say to him, | 'withdraw your ag» 
statement'. But he would say, 'I shall not withdraw it, and I 
wish to join the ranks of those who have witnessed to the 
Faith and suffered martyrdom.' On the fourteenth day, the 
Sultan sent him food by the hand of Mukhlis al-Mulk, but he 
refused to eat, saying 'My allotted sustenance from the 
[things of this] earth has come to an end—take your food 
back to him.' When the Sultan was informed of this, he 
straightway ordered that the shaikh should be fed with five

us I.e. of Nadharbar (see vol. IV, p. 51 Ar.). There seems to be no authority 
for the suggestion that the word should be read nudhr-bar, i.e. admonisher.

158 See pp. 707-8 below.
187 Duwaiddr is not a diminutive but stands for dawedar, a variant of 

dawadar, (dawatdar), 'pen-holder', the title of the military officer who was in 
charge of the chancery; cf. vol. I, p. 54, n. 168, and for Nukbiya pp. 665, 667 
above and 713—14 below.
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istdrs1 ** of human excrement—that is, two and a half rails of 
the Maghrib! standard. Those who are charged with carrying 
out such punishments, who are a body of Indian infidels, took 
this stuff, stretched out the shaikh on his back, opened his 
mouth with forceps, dissolved the ordure in water, and made 
him drink it. On the following day he was brought to the 
house of the qadi Sadr al-Jahan. There the jurists, shaikhs, 
and leading foreign dignitaries were assembled; they 
admonished him in homilies, they besought him to withdraw 
his accusation, but he would have none of it and was be­ 
headed—God Most High have mercy on him. j

299 His killing of the jurist and professor 'Aflf al-Din of Kdsdn169 
and of two other jurists along with him. During the years of the 
famine, the Sultan had given orders to dig wells outside the 
capital, and have grain crops sown in those parts. He pro­ 
vided the cultivators with the seed, as well as with all that 
was necessary for cultivation in the way of money and 
supplies, and required them to cultivate these crops for the 
[royal] grain-store. When the jurist 'Aflf al-Din heard of this, 
he said 'This crop160 will not produce what is hoped for.' Some 
informer told the Sultan what he had said, so the Sultan 
gaoled him, and said to him 'What reason have you to 
meddle with the government's business?' Some time later he 
released him, and as 'Aflf al-Din went to his house he was met 
on the way by two friends of his, also jurists, who said to him 
'Praise be to God for your release/ to which our jurist re­ 
plied 'Praise be to God who has delivered us from the 
evildoers'. 161 They then separated, but they had not reached 
their houses before this was reported to the Sultan, and he

300 commanded | all three to be fetched and brought before him. 
'Take out this fellow', he said, referring to 'Aflf al-Din, 'and 
cut off his head baldrickwise', that is, the head is cut off along 
with an arm and part of the chest, 'and behead the other

168 Istar is the Indian sir or ser, evaluated at one-fortieth of a ntann [see 
p. 695, n. 145 above] ap. Thomas, Pathan Kings, p. 222, n.c., i.e. a little less 
than 400 grammes or about 14 oz. avoirdupois.

168 A city to the north of Khokand, in Farghana, on a tributary of the 
Syr Darya.

160 From the context one would expect makhzan to have here its etymo­ 
logical sense rather than its Moroccan usage as 'public treasury*.

161 Qur'an, xxiii, 29.
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two.' They said to him 'He deserves punishment, to be sure, 
for what he said, but in our case for what crime are you 
killing us?' He replied 'You heard what he said and did not 
disavow it, so you as good as agreed with it.' So they were all 
put to death, God Most High have mercy on them.

His killing of two other jurists, men of Sind, who were in his 
service. The Sultan commanded these two Sindl jurists to 
accompany an amir whom he had appointed to a certain 
province, and said to them 'I have committed the affairs of 
the province and its population162 to you two, and this amir 
will go with you only to carry out your instructions to him.' 
They said | to him, 'We should act only as legal witnesses to 3oi 
his administration, and show him the right line of conduct 
for him to follow/ whereupon he replied 'All that you want 
is to devour my revenues and squander them, and lay the 
blame for it on this Turk, who has no experience.' They said 
'God forbid, O Master of the World; this was not our inten­ 
tion,' but he replied to them 'You had no other intention. 
Take them off to the Shaikh-zada al-Nihawandi,' that is, the 
officer in charge of punishment by torture.

When they were taken to him, he said to them, 'The 
Sultan intends to put you to death anyway, so admit what he 
put it into your mouths to say, and don't expose yourselves to 
the torture.' But they swore, by God, they had meant nothing 
more than they had said, so he said to his tormentors163 'Give 
them a taste of something,' meaning of torture. They were 
laid flat upon their backs and on the chest of each of them 
there was placed a red-hot iron plate, which was pulled off 
after | a moment and took with it the flesh of their chests. 3oa 
After that, urine and cinders were brought and put on these 
wounds, whereupon they confessed that their intention had 
in fact been no other than as the Sultan had said, and they 
were criminals and deserving of death, that there was nothing 
due to them as of right, nor any claim to retaliation for their 
blood whether by near relatives or others. They wrote all 
this down in their own handwriting, and testified to it before

"2 ra'iya, the traditional legal term for the subject of a ruler, generally 
implying all persons liable to taxation, irrespective of religious or social 
distinctions.

183 zabaniya, the term applied in Qur. xcvi, 18 to the tormentors of the 
damned in Hell.
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the qa4i, who then set his seal upon the attestation. It was 
stated in the document that their confession had been made 
without compulsion or coercion, for if they had said that they 
had been forced to make a confession they would have been 
most severely tortured, and they held that a quick beheading 
was better for them than to die under painful torture. So they 
were put to death, God Most High have mercy on them.

His kitting of the shaikh Hud. The shaikh-zada named Hud 
was the grandson of the pious shaikh, the saintly Rukn al-

303 Dm, son of Baha' al-DIn ibn Abi Zakariya | of Multan,164 by 
his daughter. His grandfather, the shaikh Rukn al-DIn, was 
held in high honour by the Sultan, as was also the latter's 
brother 'Imad al-DIn, who closely resembled the Sultan and 
was killed during the battle with Kishlu Khan, as we shall 
relate in due course. 165 When 'Imad al-DIn was killed, the 
Sultan gave his brother Rukn al-DIn a hundred villages, to 
use their revenues for his own maintenance and to supply 
food to wayfarers in his hospice [at Multan]. On the death of 
the shaikh Rukn al-Dm he had designated his grandson, the 
shaikh Hud, as his successor in [control of] the hospice, but 
his succession was contested by the son of the shaikh Rukn 
al-Dm's brother, who claimed that he had a prior right to 
inherit from his uncle. The two of them came before the 
Sultan while he was staying in Dawlat Abad (which is eighty 
days' journey from Multan), and the Sultan assigned the 
shaikhly office to Hud, as the shaikh [Rukn al-DIn] had 
specified in his testament. Hud was full age, whereas the 
shaikh's nephew was but a young man; and the Sultan 
honoured him highly and gave orders that he should be 
treated as a guest in every station at which he should stop, |

304 that the people of every town by which he passed should come 
out to receive him, and that a banquet should be prepared in 
it for him.

When this order reached the capital, the jurists, qa<Jis, 
shaikhs and notables went out to receive him. I was among

184 Either I.B. or his copyists again get this name wrong; see vol. II, p. 
283, n. 47, and for Rukn al-DIn and Bada' al-DIn p. 597 above. The French 
translators reject the phrase 'by his daughter' which follows this word in 
three MSS, but it no doubt refers to the relationship of Hud to his grand­ 
father.

165 P. 712 below.
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those who did so. When we met with him he was riding in a 
dula1™ carried by men [on their shoulders], and his horses 
were being led. We saluted him, but for my part I resented 
this way of his of riding in a dula and said, 'The only proper 
thing for him to do is to mount his horse and ride in alongside 
the qaqlis and shaikhs who have come out to receive him.' 
He was told what I had said and thereupon mounted his horse, 
making the excuse that his previous behaviour was due to 
some painful discomfort which had prevented him from 
riding. On his entry into Dihli there was given in his honour 
a banquet which cost a pretty penny of the Sultan's moneys, 
and was attended by the qadis, shaikhs, jurists and dis­ 
tinguished foreigners. The repast167 was spread, and the 
dishes were brought in | as usual, after which gifts of money 305 
were made to all of those present, to each according to his 
worthiness. So the Grand Qadi was given five hundred dinars, 
and I was given two hundred and fifty. This is a regular 
custom of theirs on the occasion of a royal banquet.

After this the shaikh Hud set out for his own country, 
accompanied by the shaikh Nur al-Din al-Shirazi, whom the 
Sultan had sent to seat him on the prayer-mat168 of his grand­ 
father in his hospice and to arrange a banquet for him there at 
the Sultan's expense. After he had become established in his 
hospice and remained there for some years, the governor of 
Sind, 'Imad al-Mulk, wrote to the Sultan stating that the 
shaikh and his relatives were devoting themselves to amass­ 
ing riches and to spending them in the gratification of their 
carnal appetites, without supplying any food to anyone at the 
hospice. The Sultan then sent an order to call them to ac­ 
count for the revenues [that had been assigned to Rukn al- 
Dm], whereupon 'Imad al-Mulk demanded of them the 
restitution of the money, jailed some of them, and beat 
others. | Every day for some length of time he extracted 3oe 
from them twenty thousand dinars, and eventually seques­ 
trated everything that they had. There was found in their 
possession a great quantity of specie and treasures, including

168 Hindi doll, a covered litter. Cf. vol. IV, p. 73 Ar.
187 See p. 671, n. 64 above.
188 The formal symbol of succession to the status and perquisites of a sufi 

shaikh, whose successor or khalifa is consequently called in Persian sajjada- 
nishin, 'he who sits upon the prayer mat.'
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two sandals encrusted with jewels and rubies, which were 
sold for seven thousand dinars. Some said that they belonged 
to the shaikh Hud's daughter, others that they belonged to a 
concubine that he had.

When the shaikh Hud was reduced to these straits, he fled, 
making for the land of the Turks, but was seized. This was 
duly communicated by 'Imad al-Mulk to the Sultan, who 
ordered him to despatch both the shaikh and his captor [to 
the capital] manacled like prisoners. On their arrival he 
released the man who had arrested the Shaikh Hud, and said 
to the latter, 'Where were you planning to escape to?' He 
made various efforts to excuse himself, but the Sultan said to 
him, 'What you meant to do was to go to the Turks, and then 
you would say "I am the son of the shaikh Baha' al-Dm

307 Zakariya, and the Sultan has treated me | in such and such a 
way," and bring them to fight with us. Cut off his head.' So 
they beheaded him, God Most High have mercy on him.

His imprisonment of Ibn Tdj al- Arifin and execution of his 
sons. The pious shaikh Shams al-Din, son of Taj al-'Arifin, 
lived in the city of Kuwil, 169 wholly occupied in religious 
exercises, and held in high respect. The Sultan, on entering 
the city of Kuwil [on one occasion] had sent for him, but he 
refused to come to the Sultan, whereupon the Sultan went to 
visit him but after approaching his dwelling turned back 
without seeing him. Some time later, it happened that a 
certain amir rebelled against the Sultan in some district or 
other and received the allegiance of its people. It came to the 
ears of the Sultan that some mention of that amir had been 
made in the shaikh Shams al-Din's assembly and that the

308 shaikh had commended him | and said that he possessed the 
qualities which befit a king. Thereupon the Sultan sent one 
of the amirs to [fetch] the shaikh. This officer put fetters on 
the shaikh and on his sons, as well as on the qadi and 
muhtasib170 of Kuwil, because it was reported that both of 
them had been present at the assembly in which the incident 
of the shaikh's praise of the rebel amir had occurred. [The 
Sultan] gave orders that they should all be gaoled, after first 
blinding both the qadi and the muhtasib. The shaikh died in

"» Koil, 75 miles S.S.E. of Delhi, later renamed 'Aligarh. 
170 For the office of the muhtasib see vol. I, p. 219, n. 130.
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the prison; the qadi and muhtasib used to be brought out 
under charge of one of the gaolers and to beg for alms from 
the townsfolk, and would then be taken back to the prison.

The Sultan had been informed that the shaikh's sons used 
to be on friendly terms with the Hindu infidels and rebels and 
to consort with them. When their father died, he released 
them from the prison and said to them 'Take care not to 
return to what you used to do.' They replied to him 'And 
what was it we did?/ upon which he was infuriated and 
ordered them both to be executed, and executed they were. | 
He then summoned the qadi of whom we have spoken and 309 
said, 'Tell me who used to share the views of these men who 
have been executed and to act in the same way/ The qadi 
dictated the names of numerous persons among the notables 
of the region, 171 but when the Sultan was presented with his 
list he said 'This fellow wants the country to go to ruin. Cut 
off his head/ So he was beheaded, God Most High have mercy 
on him.

The execution of the shaikh al-Haidari. The shaikh 'All 
al-Haidari used to live in the city of Kanbaya [Cambay], on 
the coast of India. He was held in high respect, well spoken 
of, and of wide reputation. The sea-traders used to vow to 
give large sums to him, and on arriving [in Cambay] they 
would go first of all to salute him. He would show them that 
he knew what was in their minds; often one of them would 
make a vow and then repent of it, but when he came to salute 
the shaikh, | the shaikh would tell him first how much he had 3io 
vowed and order him to fulfil it faithfully. He was successful 
in this sort of thing many times, and became renowned for it.

When the qadi Jalal al-Din al-Afgha.ni and his tribesmen 
revolted in those parts,172 it was reported to the Sultan that 
the shaikh al-Haidari had prayed for the qadi Jalal and had 
taken off his own cap and given it to him, 173 and it was 
alleged that he had even sworn allegiance to him. So the 
Sultan, when he went out in person to deal with them, and 
the qadi Jalal had taken flight, appointed as his representa­ 
tive in Kanbaya Sharaf al-Mulk Amir Bakht, one of those

171 MS. 2291 reads 'many persons among the infidels of the region'.
172 See p. 730 below.
178 Cf. vol. II, p. 297, lines 7-8.
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who had come to his court along with us, with orders to 
search out those involved in the rebellion. He associated also 
a number of jurists with him, on whose advice he was to pass 
judgement. The shaikh 'AH al-Haidari having been brought 
for trial before Sharaf al-Mulk, it was established that he had 
given the rebel his cap and had prayed for him, and they 
condemned him to death. When the swordsman struck him, 
however, he produced no effect. | The people marvelled at 
this, and imagined that he would be granted a pardon 
because of it; but Sharaf al-Mulk ordered another swordsman 
to behead him, and he did so—God Most High have mercy 
on him.

His execution of Tughan and his brother. Tughan al- 
Farghani and his brother were of a family of notables in the 
city of Farghana. 174 They had come to the Sultan's court, 
had been generously received by him and given a handsome 
revenue, and remained with him for some time. When their 
residence [in Dihli] lengthened out, they wished to return to 
their own land and planned to take flight. Their design was 
denounced to the Sultan by one of their companions; he 
ordered them to be cut in halves (as was duly done), and gave 
to the informer who had revealed their plan all of their 
possessions. Such is their custom in that country—when one 
person informs against another, and the substance of his 
accusation is proved, so that the accused person is executed, 
then he is given the property of the latter. | 

a His execution of the son of the Malik of the Merchants.™6 The 
son of the Malik of the Merchants was a very young man, 
with no hair as yet on his cheeks. When the rebellion and 
rising of 'Ain al-Mulk occurred, and [led to] his warfare with 
the Sultan, as we shall relate, 176 he seized this son of the 
Malik of the Merchants. The boy was thus included in the 
rebel forces against his will. Upon the defeat of 'Ain al-Mulk

174 Strictly the name of the whole province, probably applied at this 
period to Andigan (Andijan) see G. le Strange, Lands of the Eastern 
Caliphate, 478: and Tawarlkh-i Mu'lnl, pp. 106 and 296.

176 The functions of the 'king* of the merchants, malik al-tujjdr, are not 
clearly denned; on the analogy of the corresponding Egyptian office, he 
would appear to be the representative of the merchants engaged in overseas 
trade in their relations with the government.

176 See pp. 720-6 below.
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and the capture of both him and his supporters, the son of the 
Malik al-Tujjar and his brother-in-law Ibn Qutb al-Mulk 
were amongst the captives, and on the Sultan's orders they 
were strung up by the hands to a wooden stake and the sons 
of the maliks shot arrows at them until they died. After their 
death the chamberlain Khwaja Amir 'AH al-Tibrizi said to 
the Grand Qadi Kamal al-Din 'That youth should not have 
been killed/ His words were reported to the Sultan, who said, 
'Why did you not say so before his death?', and ordered him 
to be given two hundred or so lashes with the whip and to be 
cast into prison. All of his possessions were given | to the 3i3 
amir of the swordsmen. I saw this man on the following day 
dressed in the garments of the Khwaja Amir 'AIT, wearing his 
high bonnet, and riding his horse, and took him to be the 
Khwaja himself. He meanwhile remained in prison for some 
months, after which the Sultan released him and restored 
him to his former post. Later on, he again incurred the Sultan's 
wrath and was banished to Khurasan, where he settled in 
Harat, and wrote to the Sultan to beg his mercy. The Sultan 
endorsed the letter in his favour [and returned it to him with 
the following words written] on its back, Eger bdz amadi bdz 
[ay], which mean 'If you have repented, come back.' So then 
he returned to his service.

His beating to death of the chief Khatib. The Sultan had 
placed the treasury which contained the jewels during his 
travels under the guardianship of the chief Khatib of Dihli. 
It befel that some infidel thieves came by night, made for 
this treasury, | and went off with part of its contents. 3 i4 
Whereupon the Sultan commanded the Khatib to be beaten 
until he died177—God Most High have mercy on him.

His devastation of Dihli and exile of its population, and 
killing of the blind man and the cripple. One of the gravest 
charges against the Sultan is his forcing of the population of 
Dihli to evacuate the city. The reason for this is that they 
used to write missives reviling and insulting him, seal them, 
and inscribe them, 'By the head of the Master of the World, 
none but he may read this.' Then they would throw them into 
the audience-hall by night, and when the Sultan broke the

177 The Arabic is about as ambiguous as the English, but in strict usage 
should imply 'so that he died in consequence'.
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seal he found them full of insults and abuse of him. So he 
decided to lay Dihli in ruins, and having bought from all the 
inhabitants their houses and dwellings and paid their price to 
them, he commanded them to move out of the city and go

315 to Dawlat Abad. They refused, | so his herald was sent to 
proclaim that no person should remain in it after three 
nights. The majority of the citizens left, but some of them 
hid in the houses. The Sultan ordered a search to be made for 
any persons who had remained in the city, and his slaves 
found two men in its streets, one of them a cripple and the 
other blind. They were brought in, and he ordered that the 
cripple should be flung from a mangonel and the blind man 
dragged from Dihli to Dawlat Abad, a distance of forty days' 
journey. He fell to pieces on the road, and all of him that 
reached Dawlat Abad was his leg. After this action on the part 
of the Sultan, the whole of the population left the town, 
abandoning furniture and possessions, and the city was left 
desolate and disintegrating. 178 A person in whom I have 
confidence told me that the Sultan mounted one night to the 
roof of his palace and looked out over Dihli, where there was 
neither fire nor smoke nor lamp, and said 'Now my mind is

316 tranquil and my feelings are appeased.' | Afterwards he wrote 
to the inhabitants of the provinces commanding them to 
move to Dihli, in order to repopulate it. The result was that 
their cities were ruined but Dihli remained unrestored, 
because of its extent and immensity, for it is one of the 
greatest cities in the world. It was in this condition that we 
found it on our entry into it, empty and unpopulated save 
for a few inhabitants. 179

178 A traditional Qur'anic phrase (ii, 261, etc.) literally 'fallen down 
upon its roofs'.

179 The study of contemporary evidence by Mahdi Husain, Mufyammad 
bin Tughluq, pp. 108-23, suggests that I.B.'s account of the devastation of 
Dihli is greatly exaggerated (although supported in large part by some 
Indian chronicles). The order affected mainly the Muslim notables and 
shaikhs. The first order was issued in 1327; a second in 1329 may have been 
more sharply executed. But at this very time, the Sultan was building his 
new city of Jahanpanah (see p. 619 above).
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CHAPTER XIII

The Reign of Sultan Muhammad 
Ibn Tughluq

A~ we have now related many of the generous qualities 
of this Sultan, as well as the crimes with which he was 
charged, we shall proceed to give summary accounts of 

the military and political events which occurred in his time.
His inauguration of his reign by pardoning Bahadur Bur a. 

When the Sultan took possession of the kingdom after his 
father's death and the people had taken the oath of allegiance 
to him, he summoned the sultan Ghiyath al-DIn Bahadur 
Biira, who had been taken prisoner by the Sultan Tughluq, 1 
and having pardoned him and loosed him from his chains, he 
made him a munificent gift of money, horses and elephants, j 
and restored him to his kingdom. He sent along with him his 317 
brother's son Bahrain Khan2 and swore him to an agreement 
that that kingdom should be divided equally between them, 
both their names should be inscribed on the coinage and 
mentioned in the khutba, and that Ghiyath al-DIn should 
send his son Muhammad, known as Barbat, to be a hostage 
with the Sultan. Ghiyath al-DIn returned to his kingdom and 
undertook to carry out all these stipulations, but he did not 
send his son, on the pretext that he refused to go, and he used 
unseemly expressions in his discourse. The Sultan conse­ 
quently sent troops to his brother's son Bahrain Khan, under 
the command of Dulgi3 the Tatar, and they fought against

1 See pp. 637, 653 above.
2 So in MSS. 2289 and 2291 and cf. p. 665 above. Mahdi Husain (Rehla, 

introd. p. xi) corrects the reading further to 'his father's son' on the ground 
that Sultan Muhammad had no brother's son. He was, in fact, the adopted 
son of Tughluq.

8 Mahdi Husain (Muhammad bin Tughluq) calls him Diljali Tatari, better 
known as Tatar Khan, and dates this expedition in 1330-1.
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Ghiyath al-DIn, killed him and stripped off his skin and 
having stuffed it with straw sent it on tour round the 
provinces. |

3 18 The revolt of the son of his father's sister and the events con­ 
nected with it. Sultan Tughluq had a sister's son called Baha 
al-DIn Kusht-Asb, whom he appointed governor of one of the 
provinces. This man, who was brave and warlike, refused to 
take the oath of allegiance to the son of Tughluq after his 
uncle's death, and the Sultan sent troops against him, 
amongst whom were the principal amirs such as the malik 
Mujir, the vizier Khwaja Jahan being in command of the 
whole expedition. When the horsemen engaged one another 
a fierce battle ensued, each of the two armies holding its 
ground, until finally the victory was won by the Sultan's 
troops and Baha al-DIn fled to one of the kings of the infidels 
called Ray Kanbila. Ray is with them, just as it is in the 
language of the Franks, a word which means Sultan,4 and 
Kanbfla is the name of the region where this prince lived. 5 j

319 This Ray had territories situated in inaccessible mountains 
and was one of the principal Sultans of the infidels.

When Baha al-Din fled to him he was followed up by the 
Sultan's armies, who surrounded those territories. The situa­ 
tion became critical for the infidel and all the grain which he 
had was exhausted. Fearing that he should be taken by force 
he said to Baha al-Dm 'Matters have reached the pass which 
you see, and I am determined to destroy myself and my family 
and all those who follow me. Do you go to Sultan so-and-so 
(mentioning a certain Sultan of the infidels) and remain with 
him, for he will protect you'. Having sent him with someone 
to conduct him to the Sultan, Ray Kanbfla ordered a great 
fire to be lit, burnt all his possessions in it and said to his 
wives and daughters 'I intend to kill myself and any of you 
who wish to follow my example, let her do so.' So every 
woman amongst them bathed herself, perfumed herself with

4 A remark that would be unintelligible to an Easterner, since I.E. refers 
to the Spaniards by the name of al-Rum, and the Spanish rey.

6 Kampila was situated about ten miles north of Vijayanagar. According 
to Firishta, quoted by Mahdi Husain (Muh. b. Tughluq, 143-4), Baha al Din 
had been governor of Sagar, near Gulbarga, and in the first two battles 
defeated Khwaja Jahan. These events are probably to be dated about 
1327-
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yellow sandal-wood, 6 1 kissed the ground before him and threw 320 
herself into the fire, until they perished to the last one. The 
same was done by the female relatives of his amirs and 
viziers and chief officers; and all other women who wished to 
follow their example. The Ray then bathed himself, perfumed 
himself with sandal and put on his armour except for the 
breast plate. The same was done by all those of his men who 
wished to die with him, and they went out to meet the 
Sultan's army and fought until they were killed to the last 
man. The city was entered and its population taken prisoner, 
together with eleven of the sons of Ray Kanbila, who were 
brought before the Sultan. They all accepted Islam and the 
Sultan made them amirs and honoured them greatly owing 
to their noble lineage and their father's action. I saw in his 
entourage three of these princes, Nasr, Bakhtiyar, and the 
muhurddr, i.e. the keeper of the seal with which the water 
which the Sultan drinks7 is sealed; his name of address is 
Abu Muslim and he and I | became companions and friends. 32i

When Ray Kanbila was killed the Sultan's troops made 
towards the city of the infidel with whom Baha al-DIn had 
taken refuge and surrounded it. 8 This Sultan said 'I cannot do 
what Ray Kanbila did,' so he arrested Baha al-DIn and 
delivered him to the Sultan's troops, who bound him with 
chains and manacles and brought him to the Sultan. When 
he was brought before him he ordered him to be taken into 
the apartments of his female relatives, who showered abuse 
on him and spat in his face. The Sultan then ordered him to 
be flayed alive, and when he had been flayed his flesh was 
cooked with rice and sent to his sons and his family. The 
remains of him were put in a platter and thrown to the 
elephants to eat, but they would not eat it. On the Sultan's 
orders his skin was stuffed with straw and, in conjunction 
with the skin of Bahadur Bura, was exhibited in all the 
provinces in turn. When they arrived in the province of Sind, 
the ruling amir there at that time being Kishlu J Khan, the 3« 
companion of the Sultan Tughluq (he had assisted him to

6 Maqdsarl: see p. 675, n. 80 above.
7 I.e. brought from the Ganges; see pp. 594-5 above.
8 His name is given in the Indian sources as Bilal Deo, probably to be 

identified with Vira Ballala III, Hoysala raja of Dvarasamudra (see Hobson- 
Jobson, s.v. Doorsummund).
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seize the kingdom, and Sultan Muhammad used to show him 
respect and address him as uncle, and go out to meet him 
when he came from his territories to visit him), Kishlu Khan 
gave orders to bury the two skins. When the Sultan learnt of 
this he was angered by what he had done and determined to 
put him to death.

The rising and death of Kishlu Khan. When the Sultan 
learnt of his action in burying the two skins he sent for him, 
and Kishlu Khan, realising that he intended to punish him, 
refused to go and rose in revolt. 9 He distributed the revenues 
and assembled troops; he sent to the Turks, and the Afghans, 
and the men of Khurasan, and was joined by such large 
numbers of them that his army equalled that of the Sultan or 
even exceeded it in size. The Sultan went out in person to 
engage him and when the battle took place at a distance of

323 two days' journey from Multan, in the plain of | Abuhar, 10 he 
adopted a prudent measure and set in his place beneath the 
parasol the Shaikh 'Imad al-Dm, the brother of the Shaikh 
Rukn al-Din of Multan (it was the latter who told me this), 
since he closely resembled him. When the battle grew hot the 
Sultan detached himself with 4,000 of his troops, while those 
of Kishlu Khan made for the parasol in the belief that the 
Sultan was underneath it and killed 'Imad al-Dm. The report 
spread amongst the troops that the Sultan had been killed, 
whereupon Kishlu Khan's men busied themselves with 
plundering and became separated from him. When none 
remained with him but a few, the Sultan attacked him with 
the troops that had withdrawn with him, killed him and cut 
off his head. When his army learnt of this they fled and the 
Sultan entered the city of Multan. He arrested its qadi 
Karim al-Din and ordered him to be flayed, which was done,

324 and ordered Kishlu Khan's head to be set | over its gate, and 
I myself saw it there when I arrived at Multan.

The Sultan gave to the Shaikh Rukn al-Din, the brother of 
'Imad al-Din, and to 'Imad al-Din's son Sadr al-Dm a 
hundred villages, as a gift to them for their own consumption

8 The cause assigned by I.B. is obviously derived from popular rumour, 
since the rising took place at least two years before the expedition to Bengal 
(see n. 3 above). Its real causes are obscure.

10 See p. 609 above.
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and to supply food [to travellers] in their hospice, which is 
called by the name of their grandfather Baha al-Din Zaka- 
riya. 11 The Sultan commanded his vizier Khwaja Jahan to 
go to the city of Kamalpur, 12 which is a large city on the sea 
coast, whose inhabitants had revolted. A certain doctor of the 
law told me that he was present when the vizier entered the 
city. He said 'He had brought before him the qadi there and 
the khatib and gave orders that they should be flayed. They 
said to him "Put us to death without this." He said to them 
"For what reason have you deserved to be put to death?" They 
replied "For our disobedience to the Sultan's commands." 
Whereupon he said to them "Then why should I disobey his 
command when he has ordered me to put you to death this 
way?" Then he said | to those responsible for flaying them 3*5 
"Dig out hollows for them under their faces so that they may 
breathe,"' because when men are flayed (God preserve us) they 
are laid down on their faces. After all this was done the 
province of Sind was pacified and the Sultan returned to his 
capital.

Account of the defeat suffered by the Sultan's army in the 
mountain of Qardchil. This is a great range of mountains 
extending for a distance of three months' journey, and ten 
days' journey from Dihli, 13 and its Sultan is one of the most 
powerful sultans of the infidels. The Sultan [Muhammad] had 
sent Malik Nukbiya, the chief of the dawidars, to war against 
these mountains, with an army of 100,000 horsemen and 
many infantry in addition. He occupied the town of Jidya,

11 See p. 702 above for the ultimate fate of Rukn al-Din.
12 The identification of this place is uncertain. There is a Kamalpur near 

Karachi, but no city of this description is known to have existed at this time.
13 Evidently the Himalayas, but the name itself and its source are 

dubious. Yule (Cathay, IV, 17-18 note) regards it as a corruption of 
Kuverachal, the Sanskrit name of Mount Kailas (from Sanskrit achala 
'mountain'). For the numerous other forms of the name, see Mahdi Husain, 
Muh. b. Tughluq, 126, n. 2. He also (p. 129) suggests that it stands here for 
Kurmachal, the old name of Kumaun, and the placing of the expedition at 
ten days' journey from Delhi would confirm that it was directed towards the 
Kumaun-Garhwal region, ruled at this time by the Rajputs of the Chand 
dynasty. The purpose and date of the expedition are both uncertain; but 
since it almost certainly preceded the rebellions in the south described 
in the following sections, and is distinct from the expedition led by the 
Sultan in person to Nagarkot (in Kangra district, about 80 miles north of 
Simla) in 1338 it may be dated between 1330 and 1333.
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326 which lies at the foot of the mountain, and seized | the 
neighbouring regions, taking prisoners, destroying and burn­ 
ing. The infidels fled to the upper part of the mountain, 
abandoning their lands and possessions and the treasuries of 
their king. There is only one road to this mountain; below it 
there is a valley and above it the mountain itself and it can­ 
not be used except by single horsemen in file. The Muslim 
troops climbed up along this road and took possession of the 
town of Warangal, which is on the upper part of the mountain, 
and seized all that it contained. 14 On their informing the 
Sultan of their victory by letter, he sent a qadi and a khatib 
to them, together with orders to them to remain there. But 
when the rainy season began there was an epidemic in the 
army; the troops were enfeebled, the horses died, and the 
bows became slack. Thereupon the amirs wrote to the Sultan 
asking his permission to leave the mountain and to descend

327 to the foot of it until the end of the rainy | season, when they 
would go back again. On receiving his permission to do that, 
the amir Nukbiya took the goods which he had captured from 
the treasuries and the precious metals and distributed them 
amongst the troops to carry them and bring them down to 
the bottom of the mountain. As soon as the infidels learnt of 
their withdrawal they lay in wait for them at those preci­ 
pitous places and held the defile against them. They cut great15 
trees into sections and rolled them down from above, so that 
all who were in their way were thrown to destruction. In this 
way the greater part of the troops perished, and the rest of 
them were taken captive. The infidels seized the treasures, 
goods, horses and weapons, and out of the army only three of 
the amirs escaped, their commander Nukbiya, Badr al-Dm 
the malik Dawlat-Shah, and a third whose name I do not 
recall. This defeat seriously affected the army of India and 
weakened it in a manifest degree. Afterwards the Sultan made

328 peace with | the inhabitants of the mountain on condition of 
payment of tribute to him, because they possess the lands at 
the bottom of the mountain but they are unable to cultivate 
them except with his permission.

14 The town is given the name of the chief city in Telingana.
15 The word translating 'great' is corrected in the French translation to 

the reading 'adiya.
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The revolt of the sharlf Jalal al-Din in the province of al- 
Ma'bar and the death of the vizier's nephew which was connected 
with that event. The Sultan had appointed the sharlf Jalal 
al-Dm Ahsan-Shah as governor over the province of al- 
Ma'bar, which is at a distance of six months' journey from 
Dihli. He revolted, claimed the kingship for himself, killed 
the Sultan's military and civil officers, and struck dinars and 
dirhams with his own name. He had inscribed on one side of 
the dinar 'The offspring of Ta Ha and Ya Sin, the father 
of the poor and the humble, Jalal al-Dunya wa'd-Dln' and on 
the other side 'He who puts his trust | in the support of the 329 
Merciful One, Ahsan-Shah, the Sultan.'

On learning of his revolt the Sultan went out with the 
object of engaging him in battle and encamped at a place 
called Kushki Zar (which means Castle of Gold) and remained 
there for eight days for the provisioning of his troops. During 
this stay there was brought before him the sister's son of the 
vizier Khwaja Jahan, with three or four of the amirs, all of 
them chained and manacled. The Sultan had sent his vizier 
with the vanguard of the troops; on reaching the city of 
Dhihar, which is a distance of twenty-four days' journey 
from Dihli he had stayed there for some days. His sister's son 
was a brave and distinguished warrior and he came to an 
arrangement with those amirs who were arrested [with him] 
to kill his uncle and to flee to the sharlf who had risen in the 
province of al-Ma'bar with the treasures and moneys which 
were in the vizier's possession. They decided to assassinate 
the vizier as he came out to attend the Friday prayer, but | 
one of those whom they had admitted into their plot—he was 330 
called the malik Nusra, the chamberlain—denounced them 
to the vizier and told him that the proof of their intention was 
their wearing breastplates under their outer garments. The 
vizier sent for them and on finding them so dressed sent them 
to the Sultan. I was in the Sultan's suite when they were 
brought in and I saw one of them, he was a tall bearded man, 
trembling and reciting the sura of Ya Sin. On the Sultan's 
orders they were thrown to the elephants which are trained 
to kill men, and the vizier's sister's son was sent back to his 
uncle to put him to death, which he did as we shall relate later.

These elephants which kill men have their tusks fitted with
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pointed blades of iron resembling ploughshares, with edges 
like knives. The mahout mounts on the elephant and when 
a man is thrown before it it winds its trunk round him,

331 throws him in the air, then catches him with its tusks | and 
throws him after that at its feet, places one foot upon his 
chest and does with him what the mahout orders him to do in 
accordance with the Sultan's command to him. If he orders 
him to cut the victim in pieces the elephant cuts him in pieces 
with those blades; if he orders him to be left alone it leaves 
him lying on the ground and he is then flayed. It was this 
punishment which was inflicted on those amirs, and when I 
came out of the Sultan's encampment at sunset I saw the 
dogs eating their flesh, their skins having been stuffed with 
straw—God preserve us.

When the Sultan made his preparations for this expedition 
he ordered me to remain at the capital, as we shall relate, 
and set out on his march until he reached Dawlat Abad. 
At this point the amir Halajun rose in rebellion in his 
province, 16 although the vizier Khwaja Jahan had stayed 
behind in the capital to collect forces and to enlist mounted 
troops. |

332 The revolt of Halajun. When the Sultan had reached 
Dawlat Abad and was thus at a great distance from his 
province, the amir Halajun revolted in the city of Allahur 
and laid claim to the kingship. He was assisted in this enter­ 
prise by the amir Quljund, 17 whom he appointed as vizier to 
himself. On learning of this the vizier Khwaja Jahan, being 
then in Dihli, collected his forces and assembled the mounted 
troops and Khurasanians; he took the men of all the officials 
who were residing in Dihli and amongst them were taken my 
men, because I was staying there. The Sultan gave him the 
assistance of two high amirs, one being Qiran Malik Saffadar 
(which means who orders the line of troops) and the other 
the king Tamur the shurbadar (that is to say the cupbearer). 18 
Halajun came out with his troops and the battle was fought 
on the bank of one of the great rivers. Halajun was defeated

18 The amir Halajun was governor of Lahore.
17 I.e. Gul Chand, a Hindu amir. See Mahdi Husain, Muhammad bin 

Tughlug, 161.
18 Compare p. 652. MS. 2287 reads al-Samantl.
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and fled and a large part of his army was drowned in the river. 
The vizier entered | the city, flayed some of its inhabitants 333 
and put others to death in various other ways. The person 
who carried out their executions was Muhammad ibn al- 
Najib, the vizier's lieutenant, who was known by the name of 
Ajdar malik, and was also called Sag al-Sultan, sag being the 
word for 'dog' in their language. He was a violent and brutal 
man, and the Sultan used to call him 'the lion of the bazaars'. 
He used often to bite persons who were guilty of crimes with 
his own teeth out of an uncontrollable desire to inflict violence 
on them. The vizier sent about three hundred of the female 
relatives of the rebels to the fortress of Galiyur where they 
were imprisoned, and I have myself seen some of them there. 
One of the doctors of the law had a wife amongst them whom 
he used to visit, and she even bore a child to him in the 
prison.

The outbreak of plague in the Sultan's army. When the 
Sultan reached | the land of Tiling on his way to engage the 334 
Sharif in the province of Ma'bar, he halted at the city of 
Badrakut, capital of the province of Tiling, which is at a 
distance of three months' march from the land of Ma'bar. At 
that moment a pestilence broke out in his army and the 
greater part of them perished; there died black slaves, the 
mamluk troopers, and great amirs such as malik Dawlat- 
Shah, whom the Sultan used to address by the name of uncle, 
and such as the amir 'Abdallah al-Harawi, whose story has 
been related in the first voyage. 19 It was he whom the Sultan 
ordered to carry away from his treasury all the money that 
he could manage to lift, and who attached thirteen money­ 
bags to his arms and carried them off. When the Sultan saw 
what had befallen the army he returned to Dawlat Abad. | 
The provinces withdrew their allegiance and the outer regions 335 
broke away, and the sovereignty was on the point of slipping 
out of his hand had it not been for the prior decree of 
Providence to reaffirm his good fortune.

The false report of his death and the flight of king Hushanj. 
While on his way back to Dawlat Abad the Sultan fell ill, the 
rumour of his death was bruited amongst the people and 
being carried far and wide gave rise to several widespread

lf See vol. II, p. 311. 
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revolts. The malik Hushanj son of the malik Kamal al-Dm 
Gurg was at Dawlat Abad and he had given his solemn oath 
to the Sultan that he would never take the oath of allegiance 
to any other person either during the Sultan's lifetime or 
after his death. When the rumour of the Sultan's death was 
circulated, he fled to an infidel Sultan called Burabra who 
lived in some inaccessible mountains between Dawlat Abad 
and Kiikan Tanah. On learning of his flight, and fearing the 
outbreak of revolt, the Sultan made a forced march to Dawlat 
Abad, following the trail of Hushanj and surrounded him |

336 with cavalry. He invited the infidel by letter to surrender 
him, but the latter refused saying, 'I shall never surrender 
my protege even if I am forced to the same extreme as Ray 
Kanbfla.' Hushanj, however, fearing for his own safety, 
entered into correspondence with the Sultan and made an 
agreement with him that the Sultan should return to Dawlat 
Abad and leave at that place his preceptor Qutlu Khan, in 
order that Hushanj should receive guarantees from him and 
go down to him upon promise of safety. The Sultan withdrew 
accordingly, and Hushanj went down to Qutlu Khan and 
took a guarantee from him that the Sultan would not put 
him to death nor lower his rank. He then came out with his 
possessions, his household and his followers, and presented 
himself before the Sultan, who was rejoiced at his coming and 
gave him satisfaction and invested him with a robe of 
honour. Qutlu Khan was a man of his word, in whom men 
placed implicit confidence and on whose loyalty they relied. 
His position with the Sultan was very high; the respect which 
the latter showed to him was immense, and whenever he 
came before him he would rise up in honour of him. For this

337 reason therefore | Qutlu Khan never used to come into the 
Sultan's presence unless he himself should have invited him, 
so that he might not weary him by rising to greet him. He 
was a man who loved to give alms, of great liberality, and 
eager to do good to poor brethren and the indigent.

The project of revolt of the sharif Ibrahim and the end of this 
affair. The sharif Ibrahim, who was known as Kharita-ddr, 
that is to say keeper of the paper and the pens in the Sultan's 
household, was governor of the province of Hansi and Sarsati 
when the Sultan set out for the land of Ma'bar. His father
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was the governor who was in rebellion in the land of Ma'bar, 
the sharif Ahsan-Shah. When the rumour of the Sultan's 
death spread abroad, Ibrahim, who was brave and generous 
and had a fine figure, became ambitious of the sultanate. I 
was married to his sister Hurnasab; she was a pious woman, 
who used to spend part of the night in prayers and to compose 
wirds for | the recollection of God (High and Mighty is 33s 
He) and she bore a daughter by me. I do not know what 
God has done with them both. She used to read but not to 
write.

When Ibrahim proposed to revolt there passed his way one 
of the amirs of Sind with revenue moneys which he was 
carrying to Dihll. Ibrahim said to him 'The road is dangerous 
and infested by robbers; stay with me until the road is in 
order and I can convey you to safety/ but his real purpose 
was to get authentic news of the death of the Sultan so that 
he might take possession of those moneys. When he was 
assured of his life he released that amir whose name was 
Diya' al-Mulk son of Shams al-Mulk.

On the Sultan's return to the capital after an absence of 
two and a half years the sharif Ibrahim came to his court, 
but one of his dependents denounced him and told the Sultan 
of his former intention. The Sultan intended to order his 
immediate execution but procrastinated because of his affec­ 
tion for him. It happened that | one day there was brought to 339 
the Sultan a slaughtered gazelle, and he looked at the manner 
of its slaughtering and said 'It is not properly cut, throw it 
away.' Ibrahim on seeing it said 'It has been properly 
slaughtered and I shall eat it/ which was told to the Sultan 
and displeased him and furnished him with an excuse to 
seize him. On his orders Ibrahim was chained and manacled, 
then the Sultan forced him to confess to that of which he had 
been accused, namely that he intended to seize the moneys 
which Diya' al-Mulk was carrying through. Ibrahim realized 
that the Sultan really wished to put him to death because of 
his father and that no exculpation would serve him, so, fear­ 
ing that he would be put to the torture and seeing death to be 
preferable for him, he acknowledged the charge and on the 
Sultan's orders was cut in two and left there.

It is their custom that when the Sultan puts anyone to
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death he is left lying at the place of his execution for three 
days, and after the third night a corps of infidels who are

340 charged | with that duty take him away and carry him to a 
trench outside the town into which they throw him. They 
themselves live round about the trench to prevent the family 
of the executed man from coming and taking him away, but 
sometimes one of them will give money to these infidels and 
they give up to him his executed relative so that he may bury 
him. This was done in the case of the sharif Ibrahim, God 
have mercy on him.

The rebellion of the Sultan's lieutenant in the province of 
Tiling. When the Sultan returned from Tiling and the report 
of his death spread abroad, it reached the ears of Taj al-Mulk 
Nusra Khan, whom he had left as his deputy in the province 
of Tiling and who was one of his intimates of long standing. 
This man having performed and carried out the memorial 
services for the Sultan, proclaimed his own sovereignty and 
the people took the oath of allegiance to him in the capital 
city of Badrakut. When the news of this reached the Sultan 
he sent his preceptor Qutlu Khan with an immense body of

34 1 troops, j who besieged him after a violent battle in which 
whole tribes of men perished. The siege pressed heavily upon 
the people of Badrakut, although it was difficult of approach, 
and when Qutlu Khan began to undermine it Nusra Khan 
went out to him with a safe-conduct. Qutlu Khan gave him a 
promise of safety and sent him to the Sultan, and also 
pardoned the inhabitants of the city and the troops.

The Sultan's removal to the river Gang and the rising of 
'Ain al-Mulk. When the land was in the grip of famine the 
Sultan removed with his troops to the river Gang, to which 
the Indians go on pilgrimage, at a distance of ten days from 
Dihll. He gave orders to his men to erect buildings; before 
this they had made tents of grasses, which used frequently to 
catch fire and cause losses to the people, until they adopted 
the habit of making caves under the earth and when a fire

343 occurred they threw their goods | into them and covered them 
over with earth. I myself arrived about that time at the 
Sultan's camp. The districts which were west of the river, 
where the Sultan was, were suffering from severe famine, 
while the districts to the east of it were abundantly pro-
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visioned. The governor of the latter was 'Ain al-Mulk ibn 
Mahir, 20 and they included the city of 'Awd and the city of 
Zafar Abad and the city of Al-Laknaw, with others. The amir 
'Ain al-Mulk used to furnish 50,000 maunds daily, partly in 
wheat, rice, and chickpeas as fodder for the animals. The 
Sultan gave orders that the elephants and most of the horses 
and mules should be transported to the eastern district where 
there was abundance, to pasture there, and he instructed 
'Ain al-Mulk to guard them. 'Ain al-Mulk had four brothers 
named Shahrallah, Nasrallah, Fadlallah, and I do not 
remember the name of the fourth; they made an agreement 
with their brother 'Ain al-Mulk to seize the Sultan's elephants 
and riding beasts, to acknowledge 'Ain al-Mulk as their king 
and to rise against the Sultan. | 'Ain al-Mulk fled to join them 343 
by night and their plan very nearly succeeded.

It is the custom of the King of India to set alongside every 
amir, great or small, a mamluk of his, to spy upon him and 
keep him informed of everything to do with him. He also 
places slave girls in their houses, who act as spies for him 
upon his amirs, as well as women whom they call sweepers, 
who come into the houses without asking permission. The 
slave girls pass on their information to those women and the 
sweepers in turn pass that on to the 'king' of the intelligencers, 
who then informs the Sultan of it. They tell a story that a 
certain amir was in bed with his wife and wished to have 
intercourse with her; she adjured him by the head of the 
Sultan not to do so but he would not listen to her, and in the 
morning the Sultan sent for him and told him the whole 
story, and that brought him to his death. |

The Sultan had a mamluk named Ibn Malik-Shah who was 344 
a spy upon this 'Ain al-Mulk. When he informed the Sultan 
of his flight and crossing of the river, the Sultan bitterly 
repented of his action and thought that this was the decisive 
blow for himself, because horses, elephants, grain, all of 
them, were with 'Ain al-Mulk, and his own troops were widely 
scattered. He proposed therefore to go to the capital, collect 
mounted troops, and then come back to engage him in battle, 
and consulted the chief officers of the kingdom on this plan. 
The amirs of Khurasan and the foreigners were in the greatest

20 For Ibn Mahir MS. 2287 reads Ibn Mahrfl. 
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fear of this rebel, because he was an Indian, and the people of 
India hold the foreigners in hatred because of the Sultan's 
favouritism for them. They were in consequence opposed to 
his idea and said 'O Master of the World, if you do this, he 
will learn of it and his position will be strengthened; he will 
enrol troopers and will become a leader to whom all evil-

345 seeking men | and fermenters of rebellions will flock, so the 
best plan is to get a blow in quickly21 before his power is 
established.' The first man to speak in this sense was Nasir 
al-Dm Mutahhar al-Awhari, and all of them supported him. 
The Sultan accordingly acted on their advice; he wrote that 
same night to those of the amirs and regular troops who were 
in his neighbourhood and they came forthwith. In this 
connection he adopted an excellent ruse; whenever a hundred 
horsemen for example arrived at his camp he sent out some 
thousands of those who were with him to meet them by night 
and these came in with them to the camp as though the whole 
body of them were reinforcements for him. The Sultan 
marched out along the bank of the river in order to place the 
city of Qinnawj behind his back and to use it as a fortress 
because of its strength and fortifications. It lay at a distance 
of three days' march from the position which he occupied. 
When he set off on the first stage he disposed his army in 
battle order, and on their halting he formed them in a single

346 line, | each man of them having his weapons in front of him 
and his horse by his side. He had with him a small tent in 
which he used to eat and make his ablutions and then return 
to his post; the main mahalla was at some distance from them 
and during those three days the Sultan never entered a tent 
nor shaded himself with any cover.

On one of these days I was in my tent when one of my 
eunuchs named Sunbul called out my name and urged me to 
make haste. I had with me my slavegirls, and when I went 
out to him he said 'The Sultan has this hour given orders that 
every person who has with him his wife or his slave girl shall 
be put to death/ After the amirs had interceded with him, 
however, he commanded that there should not remain a 
single woman in the mahalla forthwith and that they should 
be transported to a castle thereabouts, at a distance of three

81 MS. 2287 reads mu'ajalatihi in contrast to the other MSS.
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miles, called Kanbil, 22 so no woman was left in the mahalla, 
not even with the Sultan.

We passed that night in battle order and on the following 
morning the Sultan organised his army | in troops, each troop 347 
being given mailed elephants carrying towers filled with 
fighting men. The soldiers having put on their armour and 
made ready for battle passed that night under arms. On the 
third day word was brought that the rebel 'Ain al-Mulk had 
crossed the river. The Sultan was alarmed at this news and 
suspected that he would not have taken this action without 
first corresponding with the other amirs who were still on his 
side, so he gave an immediate order to distribute the thorough­ 
bred horses [from his private stable] to his personal suite and 
he sent me a proportion of them. I had a companion called 
Amir-amlran al-Kirmani, one of the bravest of men, to whom 
I gave one of these horses, a grey, but when he set it in motion 
it ran off with him and as he was unable to hold it in, it threw 
him off its back, and he died, God have mercy on him.

That day the Sultan made a forced march and reached the 
city of Qinnawj 23 in the late afternoon, for he was afraid that | 
the rebel might reach it before him. He spent that night 348 
attending to the organisation of the troops in person and he 
came to inspect us as we were in the vanguard with his 
uncle's son Malik Firuz, having with us the amir Ghada ibn 
Muhanna, the saiyid Nasir al-DIn Mutahhar and the amirs 
of Khurasan. He added us to the circle of his personal 
attendants and said to us 'You are dear to me and must never 
leave me'. In the upshot it all turned out well, for the rebel 
made an assault towards the end of the night upon the 
vanguard, in which was the vizier Khwaja Jahan; a great 
hubbub broke out amongst the troops, whereupon the Sultan 
gave orders that no man should break ranks nor engage the 
enemy except by the sword. The troops then, drawing their 
swords, advanced towards their adversaries and a hot battle 
ensued. The Sultan gave orders that his army's password 
should be 'Dihll' and 'Ghazna'; each one of them therefore on 
meeting a horseman said to him 'Dihlf and if he received the

22 Kanbil, 28 miles north of Fatehgarh, was erected as a fortress by 
Balban.

28 In modern spelling Kannauj, situated 180 miles S.E. of Delhi.
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answer 'Ghazna' he knew that he was one of his side and if
349 not he engaged him. The aim of the rebel had been to | attack 

only the place where the Sultan was but the guide led him 
astray and he attacked the place of the vizier instead and 
consequently cut off the guide's head. In the vizier's regiment 
there were Persians, Turks and Khurasanians; these, being 
enemies of the Indians, put up a vigorous fight and though 
the rebel's army contained about 50,000 men they were put 
to flight at the rising of the day.

The malik Ibrahim, known as al-Banji the Tatar, to whom 
the Sultan had given in fief the lands of Sundila, which is a 
village in the province of 'Am al-Mulk, had joined in the 
revolt with him and been appointed his deputy. Dawud, son 
of Qutb al-Mulk, and the son of the 'king of the merchants', 
who had been in charge of the Sultan's elephants and horses, 
also combined with him and he appointed Dawud his 
chamberlain. This Dawud, at the moment when they made 
the assault on the vizier's mahalla, shouted out abuse of the

350 Sultan, reviling him in the foulest | terms, and the Sultan 
himself heard it and recognised his voice. When the rout 
began 'Ain al-Mulk said to his deputy Ibrahim the Tatar 
'What is your opinion, malik Ibrahim? Most of the army is in 
flight, including the best fighters amongst them, so shall we 
try to make our escape?' Ibrahim said to his friends in their 
language 'When 'Ain al-Mulk is about to flee I shall seize him 
by his dabbuqa,™ and when I do that do you strike his horse 
so that he will fall to the ground. Then we shall seize him and 
take him to the Sultan so that that may be an expiation of 
our crime in joining in his rebellion and a way of escape for 
me.' When 'Ain al-Mulk made ready to flee Ibrahim said to 
him '\Vhere to, O Sultan 'Ala al-DIn?' (for he used to be 
called by that name), and seized his dabbuqa while his 
companions struck his horse. So he fell to the ground and 
Ibrahim threw himself on top of him and seized him. The

351 vizier's officers came to take possession of him | but he held 
them off, saying 'I shall not let him go until I bring him before 
the vizier or die in the attempt/ so they left him alone and he 
brought him to the vizier.

That morning I was watching the elephants and standards
24 I.e. mache of hair at the back of his head. 
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being brought to the Sultan when one of the 'Iraqis came to 
me and said ' 'Ain al-Mulk has been seized and taken to the 
vizier.' I did not believe him, but a little later the malik 
Tamur the shurbaddr came up to me and taking me by the 
hand said 'Good news, for 'Ain al-Mulk has been taken and is 
now with the vizier.' At that moment the Sultan set out, and 
we in his company, for the mahalla of 'Ain al-Mulk on the 
river Gang, and the troops plundered its contents. Many of 
the soldiers of 'Ain al-Mulk rushed into the river and were 
drowned. Dawud ibn Qutb al-Mulk and the son of the 'king of 
the merchants' were seized along with many others, and the 
treasures, horses, and goods were plundered. The Sultan 
alighted at the crossing-place and the vizier brought 'Ain 
al-Mulk, who was placed on the back of an ox, naked | except 353 
for a rag over his loins tied with a rope, the end of which was 
round his neck. He halted at the gate of the enclosure, and 
the vizier went on to the Sultan who gave him the shurba as 
a special mark of attention. 25 The 'sons of the kings' came to 
'Ain al-Mulk and set about reviling him and spitting in his 
face and slapping his companions, and the Sultan sent to him 
the 'great king' [Qabula], who said 'What is this that you 
have done?' but he found no answer. On the Sultan's orders 
he was dressed in a muleteer's cloak, had four chains attached 
to his feet and his hands manacled to his neck, and was de­ 
livered to the vizier to be kept under guard.

His brothers crossed the river in flight and reached the 
town of 'Awd26 where they took their wives and children 
and all the wealth that they could, and said to the wife of 
their brother 'Ain al-Mulk 'Save yourself | and your sons by 353 
escaping with us.' She replied 'Shall I not do as the wives of 
the infidels do who burn themselves with their husbands? I 
too shall die for my husband's death and live for his life.' 
Thereupon they left her, but this was reported to the Sultan 
and became the cause of her good fortune, for he was over­ 
taken by compassion for her. The eunuch Suhail overtook 
Nasrallah, one of those brothers, killed him and brought the 
Sultan his head. He brought also the mother, sister, and wife 
of 'Ain al-Mulk, who were delivered over to the vizier and

*B The Sultan offers him the shurba, that is the ceremonial drink. 
26 The 'town of 'Awd' is the capital of the future Oudh.
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placed in a tent near the tent of 'Ain al-Mulk, who used to go 
to visit them and sit with them and then return to his prison. 

In the afternoon of the day of the rout the Sultan gave 
orders to release the lower orders of those who were with 'Ain 
al-Mulk, such as muleteers, pedlars, slaves and persons of no 
importance. The 'king' Ibrahim al-Banji, whom we have

354 mentioned, was brought in, and the 'king of the army', | the 
malik Nuwa, said 'O Master of the World, kill this man for he 
is one of the rebels.' The vizier replied 'He has ransomed 
himself by the leader of the rising/ so the Sultan pardoned 
him and set him free to go back to his own country. After the 
sunset prayer the Sultan took his seat in the wooden tower 
and sixty-two of the principal associates of the rebel were 
brought in. Then the elephants were brought and these men 
were thrown down in front of them, and they started cutting 
them in pieces with the blades placed on their tusks and 
throwing some of them in the air and catching them, and all 
the time the bugles and fifes and drums were being sounded. 
'Ain al-Mulk too was standing watching their slaughter, and 
parts of them were thrown at him, then he was taken back to 
his prison.

The Sultan remained near the river-crossing for some days 
owing to the multitude of the troops and the small number of 
boats. He sent over his personal effects and his treasures upon 
the elephants, and distributed elephants to his chief courtiers

355 to send over their effects. | He sent me one of those elephants 
on which I sent over my baggage.

The Sultan then went, taking us with him, to the city of 
Bahrayij, 27 a fine town on the bank of the river Saru, which 
is a great stream with a strong current. The Sultan crossed it 
in order to visit the tomb of the pious shaikh, the warrior 
Salar 'tJd [Mas'ud] 28 who made the conquest of most of these 
territories. There are wonderful stories told of him and 
celebrated expeditions.

There was such a crowding and scrambling of people for the 
crossing that a large vessel sank with about 300 souls, not

27 Bahrayij was a town on the river Ganges.
28 The title of Salar 't?d is the name of Mas'ud al-Ghazi who died in 557 

(1162) in the war with the Hindus. Another account is that he was born in 
1013 and was killed at Bahrayij in 1033.

726



REVOLT OF 'ALi SHAH KAR

one of whom escaped except one Arab of the party of Amir 
Ghada. We ourselves had embarked in a small boat and God 
Most High delivered us. The Arab who escaped from drown­ 
ing was called Salim ['safe'] which is a strange coincidence. 
He had intended to mount with us into our boat but he found 
that we had already j started to cross the river so he took his 356 
place in the boat which was sunk. When he came out the 
people thought that he was with us and there was great alarm 
amongst our companions and the rest of the people, imagin­ 
ing that we were drowned, and then when they saw us 
afterwards they rejoiced at our safety.

We visited the tomb of the saint whom I have mentioned, 
situated in a pavilion which we were unable to enter because 
of the multitude of the press. It was on that journey that we 
entered a thicket of canes and a rhinoceros came out of 
them against us. It was killed and the man brought its head, 
and though it is smaller in size than an elephant yet its 
head is many times bigger than an elephant's head. We have 
mentioned this animal in a previous passage.29

Account of the Sultan's return to his capital and the rebellion 
of 'All Shah Kar. When the Sultan was victorious over 'Ain 
al-Mulk, as we have related, he returned to his capital after 
an absence | of two and a half years. He pardoned 'Ain al- 357 
Mulk, and pardoned also Nusra Khan, who had revolted in 
the province of Tiling, and set them both to a common task, 
namely the supervision of the Sultan's gardens, and furnished 
them with robes and horses and fixed for them a daily allow­ 
ance of flour and meat.

News was received after that that one of the associates of 
Qutlu Khan namely 'AH Shah Kar (Kar means 'deaf'), had 
revolted against the Sultan. He was a gallant man of fine 
figure and character, and having taken possession of Badrakut 
he made it the capital of his kingdom. The troops went out 
against him and on the Sultan's orders his preceptor [Qutlu 
Khan] went out to engage him in battle with large forces. He 
besieged him in Badrakut, and when its towers were mined 
and the rebel's position became desperate he requested a 
promise of security and Qutlu Khan gave it to him and sent 
him to the Sultan in chains. The Sultan pardoned him | and 358

•• See p. 596. 
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exiled him to the city of Ghazna in the border of Khurasan. 
He stayed there for some time but subsequently he pined for 
his native land and determined to return to it in accordance 
with God's decree for his destruction. He was arrested in the 
land of Sind and brought to the Sultan, who said to him 'You 
have come solely to stir up disorder again' and gave orders 
for his execution.

Account of the flight and capture of Amir Bakht. The Sultan 
had a grievance against Amir Bakht, who was entitled 
Sharaf al-Mulk, one of those who had come to him along with 
us, and in consequence reduced his stipend from 40,000 to 
one thousand and sent him to Dihli in the service of the 
vizier. It happened that Amir 'Abdallah al-Harawi died in 
the plague at Tiling; his property was in the hands of his 
associates in Dihli and they arranged with Amir Bakht to 
take flight. When the vizier went out from Dihli to meet the

359 Sultan | they fled with Amir Bakht and his associates and 
reached the land of Sind in seven days, though it is a journey 
of forty days, for they had with them led horses. They 
determined that they would cross the river of Sind swimming 
and that Amir Bakht and his son, with those who could not 
swim, would cross on a raft of reeds which they would make, 
and they had already prepared ropes of silk with this object. 
When they reached the river they were afraid to cross it by 
swimming and so sent two of their party to Jalal al-Din, the 
governor of the city of Ccha, 30 who said to him that there 
were merchants here who wished to cross the river and sent 
him this saddle in order that he might permit them to pass 
over. The amir was suspicious that merchants should give 
him such a gift as this saddle and ordered the arrest of the 
two men. One of them escaped, rejoined Sharaf al-Mulk and 
his companions, who were sleeping in consequence of the

360 fatigue that had overtaken them | and the sequence of 
wakeful nights, and told them what had happened, where­ 
upon they mounted in panic and fled. Jalal al-Din gave orders 
to beat the man who had been seized and he confessed the 
whole story of Sharaf al-Mulk. On Jalal al-Dm's orders his 
lieutenant rode out with the troops in pursuit of them and 
finding that they had already ridden off followed up their

80 The governor of Ucha is mentioned on p. 604 as governor of tJja (Uch).
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track and overtook them. They attacked the troops with 
arrows and Tahir, the son of Sharaf al-Mulk, struck the 
lieutenant of the amir Jalal al-Dm with an arrow which 
lodged in his forearm, but they were overpowered and taken 
to Jalal al-Din. He put chains on them and manacled their 
hands and wrote to the vizier about them. The vizier ordered 
him to send them to the capital which he did. They were 
imprisoned there and Tahir died in prison, and the Sultan 
gave orders that Sharaf al-Mulk should be beaten a hundred 
lashes every day.

He continued to suffer this punishment for some time but 
eventually the Sultan pardoned him and sent him | with the 3ei 
amir Nizam al-Din Mir Najla to the province of Chandiri, 
where he was reduced to the extreme of riding oxen, having 
no horse to ride. He remained in this condition for a time but 
later on that amir [Najla] visited the Sultan with Sharaf 
al-Mulk in his company, and the Sultan appointed him 
shdshankir, that is the person who cuts up the meat in front 
of the Sultan and walks round with the food. Later on he 
raised him in honour and dignity and he reached such a 
height that when he fell ill the Sultan visited him, ordered 
him to be weighed with gold, and gave him the amount as a 
present. We have already told this story in the first journey. 31 
Afterwards the Sultan married him to his sister and gave him 
the very province of Chandiri in which he used to ride oxen in 
the service of the amir Nizam al-Dm—Glorified be the Turner 
of hearts and the Changer of conditions! |

Account of the rebellion of Shah Afghan in the land ofSind. 3* 36a 
Shah Afghan had rebelled against the Sultan in the land of 
Multan in the province of Sind, had killed the governor there, 
who was called Bihzad, and claimed the Sultanate for himself. 
When the Sultan made preparations to engage him he 
realized that he could not resist him and so fled to join his 
own people, the Afghans, who inhabit forbidding mountains 
impossible of access. The Sultan was filled with anger at his 
action and wrote to his governors to seize all those of the 
Afghans whom they found in his territories. This was one 
cause of the rebellion of the qa4i Jalal.

•» See vol. II. p. 312.
»• Shah Afghan stands for Shahfi Afghan.
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Account of the rebellion of the qaM Jalal. The qa^i Jalal and 
a body of Afghans were living in the vicinity of the city of 
Kanbaya and the city of Buludhra. 33 When the Sultan sent 
written orders to his governors to arrest the Afghans, he

363 instructed | the malik Muqbil, the lieutenant of the vizier in 
the provinces of Juzarat and Nahrawala, to find some means 
or other to arrest the qadi Jalal and those with him. The 
region of Buludhra had been given as a fief to the 'king of the 
physicians', and the 'king of the physicians' was married to 
the Sultan's step-mother, the wife of his father Tughluq, and 
she had a daughter by Tughluq, the one whom the amir 
Ghada married. The 'king of the physicians' was at that time 
in the company of Muqbil because his estates were under the 
supervision of the latter, and when they reached the provinces 
of Juzarat, Muqbil ordered the 'king of the physicians' to 
fetch the qadi Jalal and his associates. When the 'king of the 
physicians' arrived in his lands he secretly warned them, 
because they were of the people of his country, and said 
'Muqbil has sent for you in order to arrest you, so do not 
enter his presence without your arms/ They mounted 
accordingly to the number of about three hundred mailed 
men, and came to him and said, 'We shall not enter except in

364 a body.' As it was evident to him that he could not | seize them 
while they were united, he became afraid of them, ordered 
them to return home and made an appearance of guarantee­ 
ing their security. But they rose against him, entered the city 
of Kanbaya and plundered the Sultan's treasury there and 
the goods of the inhabitants. Amongst them they plundered 
the goods of the merchant Ibn al-Kawlami, the person who 
founded the fine college at Alexandria; we shall speak of him 
later on. The malik Muqbil came to engage them but they 
drove him in headlong rout; then the malik ' Aziz, the vintner, 
and the malik Jahan Bunbul (?) came to engage them with 
7,000 horsemen and they routed them also. They became 
notorious amongst the turbulent and criminal classes, who 
flocked to join them. The qaxji Jalal claimed the Sultanate 
and received the oath from his followers, and when the Sultan 
sent troops against him they defeated them. At Dawlat Abad

88 Bulddhra is I.B.'s word for Broach which is called in al-ldrlsl 
Broch.
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too there was a company of Afghans and they also rose in 
rebellion. |

Account of the rebellion of the son of the malik Matt. The son 3e5 
of the malik Mall was residing in Dawlat Abad with a body of 
Afghans. The Sultan sent written orders to his lieutenant 
there, who was Nizam al-Dln, the brother of his preceptor 
Qutlu Khan, to arrest them, sending him at the same time 
many loads of shackles and chains and also the winter robes. 
It is the custom of the King of India to send to every amir in 
command of a city and to the principal officers of his troops 
two robes of honour every year, a winter robe and a summer 
robe. When the robes arrive the amir and the troops go out 
to receive them, and on reaching the person who has brought 
them they alight from their horses and each one takes his 
robe, lays it on his shoulder, and does homage in the direction 
of the Sultan. The Sultan wrote to Nizam al-Dln that when 
the Afghans came out and dismounted to receive their robes 
he should arrest j them at that moment, but one of the 366 
horsemen who had brought the robes came to the Afghans 
and told them what was planned for them. The result was 
that Nizam al-Din became one of those who made a plan and 
it turned against him. He rode out and the Afghans rode out 
with him, but when they met the robes and Nizam al-Din 
dismounted from his horse the Afghans attacked him and his 
companions, seized him, killed many of his companions, 
entered the city and seized the treasuries. They appointed as 
their chief Nasir al-Din the son of the malik Mall, and the 
disturbers of the peace flocked to join them so that they 
became very powerful.

Account of the Sultan's expedition in person to Kanbaya. The 
Sultan, on learning of the action of the Afghans at Kanbaya 
and Dawlat Abad, went out in person, and decided to begin 
with Kanbaya and then return to Dawlat Abad. He sent out 
his relative by marriage A'zam malik j al-Bayazidi with 4,000 367 
troops in advance, but they were met by the troops of the 
qadi Jalal, who defeated them, surrounded them in Buludhra 
and fought with them there. There was in the army of the 
qatfi Jalal an old man named Jalul, a man of great bravery, 
who was continually attacking the troopers and killing them, 
and inviting them to single combat, but no one was bold
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enough to engage him singly. It happened one day that he 
spurred on his horse and it stumbled with him in a ditch so 
that he fell off it and was killed. They found on him two 
breastplates. They sent his head to the Sultan, crucified his 
body on the wall of Buludhra and sent his hands and feet 
round the provinces.

After that the Sultan came up with his troops. It was 
impossible for the qadi Jalal to resist and he fled with his 
associates, abandoning their property and their children, and 
all that was plundered. The city was entered and the Sultan

368 remained there for some days, then set out from it | leaving 
in it his brother-in-law Sharaf al-Mulk Amir Bakht, whom we 
mentioned above, relating the story of his flight, capture in 
Sind, imprisonment and all that happened to him first in the 
way of humiliation and then in the way of honour. The Sultan 
ordered him to seek out those who had given their allegiance 
to Jalal al-Din and left with him some doctors of the law so 
that he might decide according to their judgements, and this 
brought about the killing of the shaikh 'All al-Haidari, as we 
have already related. 34

After his flight the qadi Jalal joined Nasir al-Din the son 
of the malik Mall at Dawlat Abad and enrolled amongst his 
partisans. When the Sultan came to meet them in person they 
assembled, about 40,000 in all, consisting of Afghans, Turks, 
Indians, and black slaves, and swore together that they 
would never flee but would fight against the Sultan. Then the 
Sultan came to engage them but without raising the parasol 
which is an emblem of his, and when the battle grew hot the 
parasol was displayed. The rebels on seeing it were struck with

369 astonishment and were driven | in ignominious flight. The 
son of the malik Mall and the qadi Jalal with about 400 of 
their chief officers took refuge in the fortress of al-Duwaiqir, 
which we shall describe later on and which is one of the 
strongest natural fortresses in the world. 35 The Sultan took 
up his residence in the city of Dawlat Abad (of which Duwaiqir 
is the citadel) and sent messages to them to surrender at his 
discretion, but they refused to surrender except on guarantee 
of safety. The Sultan, however, refused to give them any 
guarantee but sent them foodstuffs as a sign of contempt for 

34 See pp. 705-6 above. »5 See vol. IV, pp. 46-51 Ar.
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them and continued to stay there, and that is the last of my 
information about them.

Account of the battle between Muqbil and Ibn al-Kawlami. 
This took place before the rising and rebellion of the qadl 
Jalal. Taj al-Din ibn al-Kawlami was one of the principal 
merchants, who had come to the Sultan from the land of the 
Turks with magnificent gifts, including | mamluks, camels, 3?o 
merchandise, weapons and woven stuffs. The Sultan was 
highly delighted with his action and gave him twelve laks, 
though it is said that the value of his gift was no more than 
one lak, and appointed him to the government of the city of 
Kanbaya, which was under the supervision of the 'king' 
al-Muqbil, the lieutenant of the vizier.

On reaching the city he sent vessels to the towns of 
Mulaibar, the island of Sailan and elsewhere, and valuable 
articles and gifts came to him in these vessels and he became 
enormously wealthy. When the time came36 to send the 
revenues of those parts to the capital, the malik Muqbil 
instructed Ibn al-Kawlami to send what he had received in 
the way of gifts and moneys along with the gifts from those 
parts, according to the usual custom. Ibn al-Kawlami, 
presuming upon the honour and the generous gift which the 
Sultan had bestowed on him, refused to do so and said 'I 
shall transport them myself or send them by my own servants, 
for neither the vizier's lieutenant nor the vizier has any 
authority over me.' | Thereupon Muqbil wrote to the vizier 371 
and the vizier endorsed his letter with the words 'If you are 
incapable of maintaining order in our lands, leave them and 
return to us.' On receiving this reply Muqbil set out with his 
troops and mamluks and the two of them met outside 
Kanbaya; Ibn al-Kawlami was defeated, a number on both 
sides were killed, and Ibn al-Kawlami sought concealment in 
the house of the ndkhuda Ilyas, one of the leading merchants.

Muqbil on entering the town executed the commanders of 
Ibn al-Kawlami's army but sent a guarantee of safety to him 
on condition that he should retain his own private possessions, 
and release the Sultan's property and the gifts due to him 
and the revenues of the town. Muqbil despatched all of this 
by his own servants to the Sultan along with a letter of

88 The word ana is omitted.
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complaint against Ibn al-Kawlami, who also wrote complain­ 
ing of Muqbil. The Sultan then sent the 'king of the physi­ 
cians' to mediate between them but immediately afterwards |

372 the rising of the qadl Jalal al-Din took place and Ibn al- 
Kawlami's property was plundered and he himself fled with 
some of his mamluks and rejoined the Sultan.

Account of the dearth which occurred in the land of India. 
During the Sultan's absence from his capital, he having set 
out towards the province of al-Ma'bar, the dearth broke out 
and became severe. The maund [of corn] reached sixty dir- 
hams and afterwards rose even higher; there was general 
distress and severe hardship. One day when I went out to 
meet the vizier I saw three women cutting pieces from the 
hide of a horse which had died some months before and eating 
it. Skins were cooked and sold in the bazaars and when cattle 
were slaughtered people used to collect the blood and eat 
that. Some of the law-students from Khurasan told me that

373 they went into a township called Akruha between Hansi | and 
Sarsati, and finding it abandoned they went to one of its 
dwellings in order to pass the night, and found in a room in 
the house a man who had lit a fire and had in his hand a 
human foot which he was roasting in the fire and eating— 
God preserve us.

When conditions became serious the Sultan gave orders 
that all the inhabitants of Dihli should be supplied with six 
months' sustenance. The qadis, secretaries and amirs, there­ 
fore, went round all the streets and quarters, writing down 
their inhabitants and giving each one of them six months' 
provision at the rate of one and a half pounds (Barbary 
weight) a day for each person. During this time I used to 
provide food for the people out of the provisions which I 
prepared in the mausoleum of the Sultan Qutb al-Din, as 
will be related in due course, and the people were sustained37 
in this way—may God Most High reward according to the 
purpose of that action!

87 Yata'ayyashuna 'were fed'.
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CHAPTER XIV

Ibn Battuta's Stay in Dihli

N ow since we have related enough stories about the 
Sultan and of the events concerning him which took 
place in his days, | let us return to what concerns 374 

ourselves in all this, and relate the circumstances of our 
arrival in the first place at his court and our changes of 
fortune until we left his service, and our subsequent departure 
from the Sultan on a mission to China and our return there­ 
from to our own land, if God Most High will.

Account of our coming to the Sultan's palace on our arrival 
during his absence. When we entered the capital of Dihli we 
proceeded directly to the Sultan's court. We passed through 
the first door, then the second and the third, finding at each 
the naqlbs, of whom a description has already been given, and 
when we came to them the chief naqib introduced us into a 
great and spacious audience-hall. Here we found the vizier 
Khwaja Jahan awaiting us. The first to go forward was Diya 
al-Din Khudhawand-Zada, followed by his brother Qiwam 
al-Dm, then by their brother | 'Irnad al-DIn; I came next 375 
and was followed by their brother Burhan al-DIn, then the 
amir Mubarak of Samarqand, then the Turk Arun Bugha, 
then Malik-Zada, the sister's son of Khudhawand-Zada, and 
finally Badr al-DIn al-Fassal.

On entering from the third door the vast hall called Hazdr 
Ustun, which means 'thousand pillars', met our eyes. Here 
the Sultan sits in public audience. On entering, the vizier 
made obeisance until his head nearly touched the ground, 
and we too made obeisance by inclining the body and 
touched the ground with our fingers, our obeisance being in 
the direction of the Sultan's throne. All who were with us 
made obeisance also and when we finished this ceremony the 
naqlbs cried in a loud voice Bismilldh and we all retired. |
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376 Account of our visit to the palace of the Sultan's mother and 

of her virtuous qualities. The Sultan's mother is called 
Makhduma Jahan ['Mistress of the World']. She is one of the 
most virtuous of women and munificent in charity, and has 
founded many hospices and endowed them to supply food to 
all travellers. She is blind, and the reason for this is that 
when her son came to the throne she was visited by all the 
princesses and daughters of the 'kings' and the amirs wearing 
their finest apparel. As she was sitting on a golden couch 
encrusted with jewels and they all made obeisance before 
her, her sight went suddenly and although she has been 
treated in all kinds of ways it has done no good. Her son is of 
all men the most filial in his respect for her, and here is an 
example. Once when she went on a journey with him the 
Sultan returned some time before her, and on her arrival he 
went out to meet her, alighted from his horse, and kissed her 
foot as she was in her litter1 in the sight of all the people.

377 To return to | our subject. When we withdrew from the 
Sultan's palace the vizier went out, taking us in his company, 
to the Bab al-Sarf, which they call also by the name of Bab 
al-Haram, where the Makhduma Jahan has her residence. 
When we reached her gate we alighted from our mounts, each 
of us having brought a gift proportioned to his quality. The 
chief judge of the mamluks, 2 Kamal al-Din ibn al-Burhan, 
went in with us; both he and the vizier did homage at her 
gate and we did homage in the same manner. The clerk at her 
gate made a list of our presents and then a company of 
eunuchs came out, the chief of whom presented themselves 
to the vizier and spoke with him privately. They then went 
back into the palace, then came out again to the vizier, then 
went back to the palace while we stood waiting. At length we 
were commanded to sit down in an arcade at that place, after 
which they served us with food, bringing golden vessels

378 which they call suyun, \ resembling our pitchers, with golden 
saucers on which they stand called subuk,* as well as drinking

1 The edition translated by M. Gayangos has JMhfat in place of mahaffat. 
The term is used for palanquins for ladies.

2 This represents the reading in one manuscript quddt al-mamdlik in place 
of the other reading which is quddt al-mamdlikl, that is chief judge of the 
state.

3 The reading sttbuh is apparently sublka.
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vessels, plates and jugs all in gold. They set out the food in 
two tables, with two rows [of guests] at each table, and at the 
head of each row was the principal of the persons present. 
When we went forward to the tables the chamberlains and 
naqibs did homage and we did homage likewise, after which 
they brought a sherbet and we drank and the chamberlain 
said Bismilldh. We then ate, and after they had brought the 
barley-water followed by the betel the chamberlains said 
Bismilldh and we all did homage. We were then invited to go 
to a certain place there and were invested with silk robes of 
honour embroidered in gold. Next we were taken to the gate 
of the palace where we did homage and the chamberlains 
said Bismilldh. The vizier remained standing and we with 
him until there was brought out from inside the palace a 
chest containing unsewn fabrics | of silk, linen and cotton, 379 
and each one of us was given his share of them. Then they 
brought a golden platter containing dried fruits, a similar 
platter with juleps, and a third with betel. It is their custom 
that the person to whom this is brought out takes the platter 
in his hand, places it on his shoulder and then does homage 
with his other hand touching the ground. The vizier took the 
platter in his hand with the purpose of showing me what I 
should do, out of kindly condescension on his part and 
courteous solicitude, may God reward him with good, and I 
did as he had done. We then withdrew to the mansion which 
had been prepared for our occupation in the city of Dihli and 
in the neighbourhood of the darwdza of Palam, and the 
hospitality gift was sent to us.

Account of the hospitality. On arrival at the mansion which 
had been prepared for my occupation I found in it everything 
that was required in the way of furniture, carpets, mats, 
vessels, j and bed. Their beds in India are light and one of 3so 
them can be carried by a single man; every person when 
travelling has to transport his own bed, which his slave-boy 
carries on his head. It consists of four conical legs with four 
crosspieces of wood on which braids of silk or cotton are 
woven. 4 When one lies down on it, there is no need for any­ 
thing to make it pliable, for it is pliable of itself. Along with 
the bed they brought two mattresses and pillows and a

• This is apparently the Hindi charpay.
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coverlet, all made of silk. Their custom is to use white slips 
made of linen or cotton as cover for the mattresses and 
coverlets, so that when they become dirty they wash the 
slips, while the bedding inside is kept clean. That night they 
came with two men, one of them the miller, whom they call 
the kharrds, and the other the butcher, whom they call the

381 qassdb. 6 They told us to take from the one so much | flour and 
from the other so much meat—the exact weights I do not 
remember now. It is their custom that the meat which they 
give is equal to the weight of the flour, and this which we 
have described was the hospitality gift of the Sultan's mother. 
Later on there was delivered to us the hospitality gift of the 
Sultan, which we shall describe in due course.

Next day we rode to the Sultan's palace and saluted the 
vizier, who gave me two purses, each containing a thousand 
silver dinars, saying 'This is sarshushti' which means 'for 
washing your head', 6 and in addition gave me a robe of fine 
goathair. A list was made of all my companions, servants, 
and slave boys, and they were divided into four categories; 
those in the first category were each given two hundred 
dinars, in the second a hundred and fifty, the third a hundred,

382 and the fourth sixty-five, j There were about forty of them, 
and the total sum given to them was four thousand odd 
dinars. After that the Sultan's hospitality gift was fixed. 
This consisted of a thousand Indian pounds of flour, one 
third of it in mira, that is fine flour, and two-thirds in 
khushkdr, that is coarsely-ground flour, 7 a thousand pounds 
of flesh-meat, and I cannot say how many pounds of sugar, 
ghee, salif, 6 and areca-nuts, with a thousand betel leaves. 
The Indian pound equals twenty of our Moroccan pounds 
and twenty-five Egyptian pounds. The hospitality gift to 
Khudhawand-Zada was four thousand pounds of flour and 
the same of meat, together with similar quantities of the 
other things we have mentioned.

Account of the death of my daughter and their action on that
8 Qassab is the usual term for butcher.
6 Cf. p. 663 above.
7 Mlra and khushkar are the Indian equivalents.
• The reading sallf is not given in any dictionary. It is probably from the 

Indian saleb, which is a restorative made from the tubers of various species 
of orchis (Hobson-Jobson, s.v. Saleb).
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occasion. One and a half months after our arrival a daughter 
of mine died, aged less than a year. When the report of her 
death reached | the vizier he gave orders that she should be 3s3 
buried in a hospice which he had built outside the darwdza of 
Palam, close to a tomb there of our Shaikh Ibrahlm al- 
Qunawi. 9 After we had buried her there he wrote to the 
Sultan about her and the reply reached him in the evening of 
the next day, although the distance between the Sultan's 
hunting-field and the capital was ten days' journey.

It is their custom to go to visit the grave of the dead 
person in the morning of the third day after burial. They 
spread carpets and silk fabrics on all sides of the tomb and 
place on it flowers, of which there is a never-ending supply 
there in all seasons of the year, such as jasmine, and gul 
shabah10 which has yellow flowers, raibiil which is white, and 
nisrin, which is of two kinds, white and yellow. They also set 
up branches of orange and lemon trees with their fruits, and 
if there should be no fruit on them they attach some to them 
with threads, and they heap upon the tomb dried fruits and 
coconuts. 11 Then the people assemble | and copies of the 384 
scriptures are brought and they recite the Koran. When they 
have completed the recitation servants bring julep and give 
it to the people to drink, then rose-water is sprinkled over 
them profusely and they are given betel and retire.

On the morning of the third day after the burial of this 
daughter I went out at dawn according to the custom, having 
made ready what I could of all this. Then I found that the 
vizier had already commanded everything to be put in order 
for the ceremony and that a sardcha had been erected over 
the tomb on his order. Among those present were the 
chamberlain Shams al-DIn al-Fushanji, who had welcomed 
us in Sind, the qadi Ni?am al-Dln al-Karwanl, and a number 
of the principal men of the city. I did not enter until all these 
persons had taken their seats with the chamberlain in front of 
them, and all reciting the Koran, then I sat down with my 
companions in the vicinity of the tomb. When they finished

9 Shaikh Ibrahlm al-Qiinawi was buried at Konia. His tomb at Palam is 
unknown.

10 See p. 622 nn. 15, 16 and 17.
11 Mahdi Husain takes the meaning of n&vjll to be copra.

739



IBN BATTUTA'S STAY IN DIHLI
their recital the professional Koran-readers gave a recita- 

383 tion | with beautiful voices, after which the qadi rose and 
recited an elegy on the dead girl and a panegyric on the 
Sultan. As his name was mentioned the whole assembly rose 
to their feet and did homage, then sat down again and the 
qadi pronounced a beautiful invocation. After this the 
chamberlain and his companions took barrels of rose-water 
and sprinkled it over those present. They then went round 
with cups of sherbet made of candy, after which they dis­ 
tributed betel to them, then eleven robes of honour were 
brought for me and my companions.

The chamberlain then mounted and we rode with him to 
the Sultan's palace, where we did homage to the throne, 
according to the custom, and I returned to my house. I had 
scarcely arrived when there came from the palace of the 
Makhduma Jahan so much food as filled my house and my 
companions' houses. After they had all eaten and the poor 
had eaten also, there were left over quantities of bread-cakes 
and sweetmeats and candy, the remains of which lasted for

386 several days. All this was done | by the Sultan's orders.
Some days later the eunuchs from the palace of the 

Makhduma Jahan brought a dula, that is a litter in which 
women are carried, though men also use it for journeys, 
resembling a couch. 12 The roof of the Utter is made of braids 
of silk or cotton and on top of these there is a curved piece of 
wood like that on the top of parasols in our country, made 
of curved Indian bamboo. 13 It is carried by eight men in two 
lots of four, who rest and carry in turn. These dulas in India 
are like the donkeys in Egypt, it is on them that most people 
go about on business; if a man has slaves of his own they 
carry him, and if he has no slaves he hires men to carry him. 
In the town there are always a number of these men standing 
in the bazaars and at the Sultan's gate and at the gates of 
other persons for hire. The dulas of women are covered with

387 silk curtains, and it was a dula of this kind | which the 
eunuchs brought from the palace of the Sultan's mother and 
in which they carried my slave-girl, who was the mother of

18 The dula is apparently the Indian doll resembling a small palanquin. 
See p. 703, n. 166.

13 This is the explanation of the Indian cane.
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the daughter that died. I for my part sent with her a Turkish 
slave-girl as a gift. The girl that was the mother of the 
daughter stayed with them for a night and came back the 
next day after they had given her a thousand silver dinars, 
and bracelets of gold set with jewels and a crescent of gold 
also set with jewels, and a linen chemise embroidered with 
gold and a silk robe gilded and a chest full of clothing. 
When she brought all of this I gave it to my companions and 
to the merchants to whom I was indebted, in order to protect 
myself and to guard my honour, because the intelligencers 
were sending reports to the Sultan about everything that 
concerned me. |

Account of the generosity shown to me by the Sultan and the 388 
vizier during the Sultan s absence from the capital. While I was 
waiting, the Sultan gave orders to assign to me such a number 
of villages as would produce a revenue of 5,000 dinars a year. 
The vizier and the officers of the administration assigned them 
to me accordingly, and I went out to visit them. One was a 
village called Badali, another a village called Basahi, and 
half of a village called Balara. 14 These villages were at a 
distance of sixteen kuruhs that is to say miles, in a sadl 
known as the sadi of Hind-But, the sadl being in their usage 
a group of a hundred villages. The territories of the city 
[also] are divided into hundreds, each hundred of which has 
a.jawtari, 16 that is to say a shaikh, from among the infidels of 
those lands, and a mutasarrif, who is the person who collects 
the revenues.

There had arrived at that | time some captives taken from 389 
the infidels and the vizier sent me ten girls from among them. 
I gave the man who brought them one of them—he was not 
at all pleased with that—and my companions took three 
young ones amongst them; as for the rest I do not know what 
happened to them. Female captives there are very cheap 
because they are dirty and do not know civilized ways. Even 
the educated ones are cheap, so that no one there needs to 
buy captives. The infidels in the land of India inhabit a 
territory which is not geographically separated from that of

14 These villages are about sixteen miles north of Delhi in the hundred of 
Hind But. The sadl is written as hindlyat by error. 

16 Al-Jawfari is the Hindi chowdhri.
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the Muslims, and their lands are contiguous, but though the 
Muslims have the upper hand over them yet the infidels 
maintain themselves in inaccessible mountains and rugged 
places, and they have forests of reeds, and as their reeds are 
not hollow but of large growth and are interlaced with one 
another, fire makes no impression on them and they are of 
great strength. The infidels live in these forests which are for 
them as good as city walls, and inside them they have their 
cattle and grain and supplies of water collected from the 
rains, so that they cannot be overcome except by strong

390 armies | of men who go into those forests and cut down those 
reeds with instruments made for the purpose.

Account of the festival which I attended during the Sultan's 
absence. The feast of the fast-breaking now approached, and 
the Sultan had not yet returned to the capital. On the day of 
the festival the khatib mounted an elephant, on whose back 
there had been constructed for him a kind of divan, with four 
banners planted at its four corners. The khatib was dressed 
in livery of black. The muezzins also rode on elephants, 
chanting Alldhu akbar in front of him, and the jurists and 
judges of the town were mounted, each one of them carrying 
with him an alms to bestow as he came out of the city to go to 
the musalld. Over the musalld there was spread a marquee of 
cotton, and it was furnished with carpets. The people 
assembled there reciting the praises of God the Most High,

391 and when the khatib had led them in prayer | and delivered 
the address, they returned to their dwellings. We returned to 
the Sultan's palace where food was served, attended by the 
'kings', the amirs, and the 'honourables' (that is to say, the 
foreigners) and after they had eaten they withdrew.

Account of the Sultan's arrival and our meeting with him. On 
the fourth of Shawwal [8th June 1334] the Sultan alighted at 
a castle called Tilbat, seven miles from the capital, and the 
vizier ordered us to go out to him. We set out, each man with 
his present of horses, camels, fruits of Khurasan, Egyptian 
swords, mamluks, and sheep brought from the land of the 
Turks, and came to the gate of the castle where all the 
newcomers were assembled. They were then introduced before 
the Sultan in order of precedence and were given robes of

392 linen, embroidered | in gold. When my turn came I entered
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and found the Sultan seated on a chair. At first I took him to 
be one of the chamberlains until I saw him with the 'king' of 
the royal intimates, Nasir al-Din al-Kafi of Harat, whom I 
had come to know during the Sultan's absence. The chamber­ 
lain made obeisance and I did so too, then the amir Hajib, 
who was the son of the Sultan's uncle named Firuz, came 
forward to meet me and I made obeisance a second time along 
with him. After this the 'king' of the intimate courtiers said to 
me 'Bismilldh, Mawlana Badr al-Din', for in India they used 
to call me Badr al-Din, and mawldnd [Our Master] is a title 
given to all scholars. I approached the Sultan, who took my 
hand and shook it, and continuing to hold it addressed me 
most affably, saying in Persian 'This is a blessing; your 
arrival is blessed; be at ease, I shall be compassionate to you 
and give you such favours that your fellow-countrymen will 
hear of it | and come to join you.' Then he asked me where 1 393 
came from and I said to him 'From the land of the Maghrib'. 
He said to me 'The land of 'Abd al-Mu'min?' and I said 'Yes'. 
Every time he said any encouraging word to me I kissed his 
hand, until I had kissed it seven times, and after he had given 
me a robe of honour I withdrew.

All the persons present then assembled and a meal was 
served to them. At the head of them were placed the Grand 
Qadi Sadr al-Jahan Nasir al-Din of Khwarizm, who was one 
of the most eminent of jurists, the grand qadi of the mamluks 
Sadr al-Jahan Karna.1 al-Din al-Ghaznawi, 'Imad al-Mulk, 
the inspector of mamluks, the malik Jalal al-Din al-Kfji, and 
a number of the chamberlains and amirs. Present also was 
Khudhawand-Zada Ghiyath al-Din, the son of the paternal 
uncle of Khudhawand-Zada Qiwam al-Din the qadi of 
Tirmidh, who had arrived in our party. The Sultan used to 
hold him in high esteem and address him by the title of 
'brother', and he in turn frequently made the journey from j 
his own country to visit the Sultan. 394

The new arrivals upon whom the robes of honour were 
bestowed on this occasion were: Khudhawand-Zada Qiwam 
al-Din and his three brothers, Diya al-Din, 'Imad al-Din and 
Burhan al-Din, as well as his sister's son Amir Bakht, the son 
of the Sayyid Taj al-Dm (his grandfather, Wajih al-DIn, was 
the vizier of Khurasan and his maternal uncle 'Ala al-Din
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Amir Hind was a vizier too), the amir Hibatallah son of 
al-Falaki al-TabrizI (his father was the deputy of the vizier 
in al-'Iraq and it was he who built the Falaklya College in 
Tabriz), 18 Malik Karay, one of the descendants of Bahrain 
Jur,17 the associate of Kisra—he was an inhabitant of the 
mountain of Badhakhshan, from which the balaksh ruby and 
lapis lazuli are obtained—the amir Mubarak-Shah of

395 Samarqand; Arun Bugha of Bukhara; Malik-Zada | of 
Tirmidh; and Shihab al-DIn of Kazarun, the merchant who 
came from Tabriz with the present for the Sultan and was 
robbed of it on the way.

Account of the Sultan's entry into his capital and the mounts 
which he ordered for us. On the day following that on which 
we went out to the Sultan each one of us was given a horse 
from the Sultan's stables, with a richly ornamented saddle 
and bridle, and when the Sultan mounted for the entry into 
his capital we rode in the front part of the procession 
together with [the Grand Qadi] Sadr al-Jahan. The elephants 
were decorated [and paraded] in front of the Sultan, with 
standards fixed on them and sixteen parasols, some of them 
gilded and some set with precious stones. Over the Sultan's 
head there was displayed a parasol of the same kind and in 
front of him was carried the ghdshiya, which is a saddlecloth 
studded with gems. 18 On some of the elephants there were 
mounted small military catapults, and when the Sultan

396 came | near the city parcels of gold and silver coins mixed 
together were thrown from these machines. The men on foot 
in front of the Sultan and the other persons present scrambled 
for the money, and they kept on scattering it until the 
procession reached the palace. There marched before him 
thousands of foot-soldiers, and wooden pavilions covered 
with silk fabrics were constructed with singing-girls in them, 
as we have already related.

Our entry into his presence and the gifts and offices which he 
conferred on us. On the Friday, the day after the entry of the 
Sultan, we came to the gate of the audience-hall and sat down 
in the galleries of the third door, since permission for us to

w See vol. II, p. 310.
17 Bahrain Gur is one of the heroes of the Persian epic.
18 Seep. 664 n. 33.
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enter had not yet been given. After the chamberlain Shams 
al-Dm al-Fushanji had come out and instructed | the clerks 397 
to make a list of our names, he authorized them to allow us 
to enter together with some of our companions, and fixed the 
number to enter with me at eight, so we went in and they 
came with us. They then brought bags of money and qabban, 
that is to say the balance, and after the Grand Qacli and 
the clerks had taken their seats they summoned those of the 
'honourables' (that is to say foreigners) who were at the 
door, and assigned to each man his share of those moneybags, 
of which I got 5,000 dinars. The total amount of the money 
was 100,000 dinars, which the Sultan's mother had distributed 
as alms on the arrival of her son, and we retired for that day.

Afterwards the Sultan used to summon us to eat in his 
presence and would enquire how we fared and address us 
most affably. He said to us one day 'You have honoured us 
by your coming and we cannot sufficiently reward you. The 
elder amongst you is in the place of my father, the man of 
mature age is my brother, | and the young man like my son. 398 
There is in my kingdom nothing greater than this city of 
mine and I give it to you,' whereupon we thanked him and 
invoked blessings upon him. Later on he assigned us stipends 
giving me twelve thousand dinars a year, and added two 
villages to the three he had already commanded for me, one 
of them the village of Jawza, and the other the village of 
Malikpur. 19

One day he sent Khudhawand-Zada Ghiyath al-Din and 
Qutb al-Mulk, the governor of Sind, to us to say, 'The Master 
of the World says to you "Whoever amongst you is capable of 
undertaking the function of vizier or secretary or commander 
or judge or professor or shaikh, I shall appoint to that office" *. 
Everyone was silent at first, for what they were wanting was 
to gain riches and return to their countries. Amir Bakht, son 
of the sayyid Taj al-Din, of whom mention has been made 
above, spoke up and said 'As for | the office of vizier, it is my 399 
inheritance, and the duty of secretary is my occupation, but 
I know nothing of the other functions'. Hibatallah ibn 
al-Falaki said the same. Then Khudhawand-Zada said to me 
in Arabic 'What do you say, yd sayyidil' (The people of that

19 Two villages in the vicinity of Delhi.
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country never address an Arab except by the title of sayyid, 
and it is by this title that the Sultan himself addresses him, 
out of respect for the Arabs.) I replied 'Vizierships and 
secretaryships are not my business, but as to qadis and 
shaikhs, that is my occupation, and the occupation of my 
fathers before me. And as for military commands, you know 
that the non-Arabs were converted to Islam only at the point 
of the sword of the Arabs'. The Sultan was pleased when he 
heard what I had said.

He was at the time in the Thousand Columns eating a 
meal, and he sent for us and we ate in his presence as he was 
eating. We then withdrew to the outside of the Thousand 
Columns and my companions sat down, while I retired on 
account of a boil which prevented me from sitting. When the

400 Sultan summoned us | a second time my companions pre­ 
sented themselves and made excuses to him on my behalf. I 
came back after the 'asr prayer and I performed the sunset 
and night prayers in the audience-hall.

The chamberlain then came out and summoned us. 
Khudhawand-Zada Diya' al-Din, the eldest of the brothers 
whom we have mentioned, went in and the Sultan appointed 
him amir-dad, who is one of the great amirs. He had a seat in 
the qadi's tribunal, and if anyone had a claim against an 
amir or man of rank he summoned him before him. The 
Sultan fixed his stipend for this office at 50,000 dinars a year 
and assigned to him a number of manors20 whose revenues 
came to that amount. He also ordered him to be given 50,000 
dinars forthwith and placed on him a silk robe of honour with 
gold embroidery of the kind called surat al-shir, which means 
'picture of a lion' because it has on its breast and its back the

401 figure of a lion. Inside the robe there was sewn a tag | showing 
the amount of gold used in its embroidering. He also ordered 
him to be given a horse of the first class, for the horses with 
them are of four classes, and their saddles are like those of the 
Egyptians, and they cover the greater part of them with 
silver-gilt.

The next to enter was Amir Bakht, and the Sultan ordered 
him to sit alongside the vizier on his couch and to examine 
the accounts of the government departments. He fixed for

20 The word for manors is majashir which is used in N. Africa for villages.
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him a stipend of 40,000 dinars a year, assigning him villages 
which yielded that amount of revenue, and gave him 40,000 
[dinars] on the spot and a horse with full equipment, and 
bestowed on him a robe of honour like the one described 
above, and he was given the title of Sharaf al-Mulk. The next 
to enter was Hibatallah ibn al-Falaki. The Sultan appointed 
him rasulddr, which means the chamberlain21 for missions, 
and assigned him a stipend of 24,000 dinars a year, giving 
him villages whose revenues would produce that sum, along 
with 24,000 | dinars on the spot, a horse with full equipment 402 
and a robe of honour, and he assigned as his title Baha al- 
Mulk.

Then I went in and found the Sultan on the terrace of the 
palace with his back leaning on the [royal] couch, the vizier 
Khwaja Jahan before him, and the 'great king' Qabula 
standing there upright. When I saluted him the 'great king' 
said to me 'Do homage, for the Master of the World has 
appointed you qadi of the royal city of Dihli and has fixed 
your stipend at 12,000 dinars a year, and assigned to you 
villages to that amount, and commanded for you 12,000 
dinars in cash, which you shall draw from the treasury 
tomorrow (if God will), and has given you a horse with its 
saddle and bridle and has ordered you to be invested with a 
maharibi robe of honour/ that is, a robe which has on its 
breast and on its back the figure of a mihrab. So I did homage 
and when he had taken me by the hand and presented me 
before the Sultan, the Sultan said to me | 'Do not think that 4o3 
the office of qadi of Dihli is one of the minor functions; it is 
the highest of functions in our estimation.' I understood what 
he said though I could not speak [in Persian] fluently, but the 
Sultan understood Arabic although he could not speak it 
fluently, so I said to him 'O Master, I belong to the school of 
Malik and these people are Hanafis, and I do not know the 
language.' He replied 'I have appointed Baha al-Din al- 
Multani and Kamal al-Din al-Bijanawri to be your substi­ 
tutes; they will be guided by your advice and you will be the 
one who signs all the documents, for you are in the place of a 
son to us,' to which I replied 'Nay, but your slave and your

21 One manuscript reads sahib which means the officer responsible for 
receiving messages.
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servant.' He said to me in Arabic with humility and friendly 
kindness 'No, but you are our lord and master,' then he said 
to Sharaf al-Mulk Amir Bakht 'If the stipend which I have 
fixed for him is not enough for him, for he is very prodigal in 
spending, I shall give him a hospice, if he is able to look after |

404 the poor brethren.' Then he said 'Say this to him in Arabic' 
for he thought that he [Amir Bakht] spoke Arabic well, but 
it was not the case, and when the Sultan realised that he said 
to him Biraw wa-yakjd bikhusbi wa-dn hikdyah bar u bigu'i 
wa-tafhlm kuni td fardd in shd'alldh pish man biyd'i jawdbi u 
bigu'i, which means 'Go away for tonight and sleep in the 
same room; tell him the meaning of what I said just now and 
come to me in the morning, if God will, and tell me his 
answer.'

Thereupon we retired, and as this was in the first third of 
the night, after the beating of retreat (it being the custom 
with them that when it is beaten no person goes out), we 
waited for the vizier until he came out and went out in his 
company. We found the gates of Dihli closed and therefore 
spent the night at the house of the sayyid Abu'l-Hasan 
al-'Ibadi of 'Iraq in the lane called Sarapur-Khan. This

405 shaikh used | to trade with the Sultan's money and to buy 
weapons and goods for him in 'Iraq and Khurasan. On the 
following day the Sultan sent for us and we took possession 
of the moneys, horses and robes of honour. Each one of us 
took the sack containing the money, put it on his shoulder, 
and we came like this into the Sultan's presence and did 
homage. When the horses were brought we kissed their hoofs 
after some rags of cloth had been put over them, and then 
led them ourselves to the gate of the Sultan's palace, where 
we mounted them. All this ceremony is customary with them, 
and after it we withdrew. The Sultan commanded for my 
companions 2,000 dinars and ten robes of honour, but he 
gave nothing to the companions of any of the others, for my 
companions made a good impression on the Sultan by their 
appearance and won his admiration and they did homage 
before him and he thanked them.|

406 A ccount of a second gift which he ordered to be given to me and 
of its suspension for some time. One day I was in the audience- 
hall some time after my appointment as a qa^i and the
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Sultan's gift to me. As I was sitting under a tree there with 
Mawlana Nasir al-Din of Tirmidh, the learned preacher, 
beside me, one of the chamberlains came up and summoned 
Mawlana Nasir al-Din. He went into the presence of the 
Sultan, who bestowed a robe of honour upon him and gave 
him a Koran with a jewelled binding. Afterwards one of the 
chamberlains came to me and said 'Give me something, and I 
shall get for you a khatti-khurd for 12,000 dinars which the 
Master of the World has ordered to be paid to you/ I did not 
believe him, thinking that he was playing a trick on me, but 
when he insisted on what he said one of my companions said 
'I shall give him something.' So he gave him two or three 
dinars, and he came back with a khatti-khurd, that is the 
minor certificate, inscribed with the chamberlain's notifi­ 
cation to the effect that 'The Master of the World has given 
orders that there shall be given from the abounding treasury | 
so much to so-and-so on the notification of such and such a 407 
person/ that is to say on his certification of it.

After the certifying official has written his name this 
authority for payment is signed by three of the amirs, namely 
the Great Khan Qutlu-Khan, the Sultan's preceptor, the 
kharitaddr, who is the keeper of the portfolio of paper and 
pens, and the amir Nukbiya the dawdddr, i.e. keeper of the 
inkhorn. When each one of these has appended his signature, 
the document is taken to the diwan of the vizier, where the 
clerks of the diwan make a copy of it for their records, then it 
is registered in the diwan of the inspector of finances, and 
after that registered again in the diwan of supervision, then 
there is written the parwdna, that is the order from the vizier 
to the treasurer to make payment, after which the treasurer 
registers it in his diwan, and he writes every day a summary 
report showing the amount of money the Sultan has ordered 
to be paid that day and presents it to him. If the Sultan 
wishes payment to be expedited to anyone he gives orders to 
that effect, | and those in whose cases he wishes payment to 4os 
be delayed he suspends, but payment of that sum is always 
made even if a long time after. These twelve thousand dinars 
were in fact suspended for six months, after which I received 
them along with other moneys, as will be related. It is their 
custom that when the Sultan gives orders for a grant of
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money to any person a tenth is deducted from it, so that a 
person in whose favour an order has been made, for instance, 
for 100,000 is given 90,000, or for 10,000 is given 9,000.

Account of my creditors' demand for payment of my debt to 
them, of my panegyric addressed to the Sultan, of his order for 
the acquittal of my debt, and the suspension of that for some 
time. As I have already mentioned, I had borrowed from the 
merchants a sum of money for my expenses on my journey, 
for the present which I had furnished to the Sultan, and what 
I spent in staying [at Dihli]. When they were about to set

409 out for | their own lands they pressed me for payment of 
their loans, so I wrote a long ode in praise of the Sultan, 
beginning as follows:

Commander of the Faithful, lord revered,
To thee we come, through deserts toward thee hasting. 

A pilgrim I, thy glory's shrine to visit,
A refuge meet for sanctuary thy dwelling. 

Had majesty a rank above the sun,
Fit pattern wert thou for its most excelling. 

Thou art the Imam, unique and glorious, ever
Thy words infallibly with deeds investing. 

I am in need, thy bounty's overflow
My hope, and by thy greatness eased my questing. 

Shall I declare it—or thy blush suffice?
—To say 'thy bounty's plash' were seemlier punning. |

4 10 Make speed to aid the votary to thy shrine,
And pay his debt—the creditors are dunning.

I then presented it to him in person as he was sitting upon 
a chair; he placed it upon his knee and held one end of it in 
his hand, with the other end in my hand. Whenever I 
finished one line of it I said to the Grand QadI Kama! al-Dm 
of Ghazna 'Explain its meaning to Khund-'Alam' and he did 
so, to the Sultan's delight, for they are fond of Arabic poetry. 
When I came to the verse 'Make speed to aid the votary to 
thy shrine' he said 'Marhama* which means 'I have com­ 
passion upon you,' whereupon the chamberlains took me by 
the hand to conduct me to their ranks [in the audience hall] 
and that I should do homage, according to the custom. But 
the Sultan said 'Leave him until he finishes it,' so I finished
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it and did homage. Those present congratulated me on this; 
then I waited for a few days and wrote | a petition, which 4n 
they call 'ard-dasht and delivered it to Qutb al-Mulk, the 
governor of Sind. He delivered it to the Sultan, who said to 
him 'Go to Khwaja Jahan and tell him that the man's debt 
is to be acquitted.' Qutb al-Mulk therefore went to him and 
informed him of this, to which he replied 'Certainly', but this 
dragged on for some days, during which the Sultan ordered 
him to set out for Dawlat Abad, and in the meantime the 
Sultan himself went on a hunting expedition. The vizier 
set out, and so I received none of this money until much 
later.

The reason for which the payment of this sum was sus­ 
pended I shall now relate in detail. When my creditors were 
ready to travel I said to them 'When I go to the palace of the 
Sultan, "assail" me for your debt according to the custom of 
this country/ for I knew that when the Sultan learned of 
that he would pay them. Their custom is this; when anyone 
has lent money to a person under the Sultan's protection and 
is unable | to obtain payment of it, the creditor awaits the 4i3 
debtor at the door of the palace, and when the debtor is on 
the point of entering he says to him 'Daruhai as-Sultanzz ["O 
enemy of the Sultan"], by the head of the Sultan you shall 
not enter until you have paid me what you owe.' The debtor 
may not leave his place after this until he pays him or obtains 
a delay from him.

It happened one day that the Sultan went out to visit his 
father's grave and alighted at a palace there. I said to my 
creditors 'This is your moment/ so when I was about to enter 
they waited for me at the gate of the palace and said to me 
'Daruhai as-Sultdn, you shall not enter until you pay us 
what you owe/ The clerks at the gate sent a written report of 
this to the Sultan, whereupon the hajib qissa, Shams al-DIn, 
who was one of the principal doctors of the law, came out and 
asked them why they had assailed me. When they replied 
that I was in debt to them, he returned to the Sultan with 
this information, and on receiving the Sultan's orders to ask

82 The phrase 'Darflhai as-Sultan' is an exclamation uttered by a peti­ 
tioner calling for redress by the Sultan. The term is commonly 'Doha!', 
meaning 'justice' (Hobson-Jobson, s.v. Doai).
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the merchants the size of the debt he asked them and they

413 said to him | 'Fifty-five thousand dinars'. The chamberlain 
returned to the Sultan and informed him of this, whereupon 
he ordered him to return to them and to say to them, 'The 
Master of the World says to you "The money is in my pos­ 
session, and I shall give you justice; do not demand it of 
him".' He then commanded 'Imad al-Dm al-Simnanl and 
Khudhawand-Zada Ghiyath al-DIn to sit in the Hall of the 
Thousand Columns to examine and verify the creditors' 
documents. They did so, the creditors brought their docu­ 
ments, and they went in to the Sultan and informed him that 
the accounts were in order, whereupon he laughed and said 
jestingly 'I know he is a qadi and has seen to his business 
with them.' He then commanded Khudhawand-Zada to issue 
that sum to me from the treasury, but he greedily demanded 
a bribe to do so and refused to write the khatti-khurd. I sent 
him two hundred tangas, but he returned them and would 
not accept that amount. One of his servants told me from

414 him that he demanded j five hundred tangas, but I refused to 
pay it and informed 'Amid al-Mulk, the son of 'Imad al-DIn 
al-Simna.ni, about this and he informed his father of it. It 
came to the ears of the vizier, between whom and Khudha­ 
wand-Zada there was a feud, and he informed the Sultan of 
the matter, telling him at the same time many of the doings 
of Khudhawand-Zada. The Sultan, displeased with the latter, 
ordered him to be detained in the city saying 'Why has so- 
and-so given him this money? Suspend this order until it is 
known whether Khudhawand-Zada pays out anything 
when I have given it23 or refuses to pay when I give it.' 
So it was for this reason that the payment of my debt was 
suspended.

Account of the Sultan's leaving for the hunt, of my going out 
with him, and of what I did on that occasion. When the Sultan 
went out to hunt I went out along with him without any 
delay, as I had already made ready all that was required, and

415 in accordance with the practice | of the people of India I had 
bought a sardcha, that is to say an dfrdj. Anyone there is at 
liberty to pitch a sardcha, and it is indispensable for all men 
of high rank. The Sultan's sardcha is distinguished by its red

88 The reading is 'given it' although one manuscript reads 'forbidden it'.
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colour, while the others are white embroidered with blue. I 
bought also the stwdn, which is the tent under which one 
shelters inside the sardcha', it is supported upon two stout 
poles, and the whole thing is carried on their shoulders by 
men called kaiwdniya. z* It is the custom there for the traveller 
to hire the kaiwdmya, whom we have spoken of already, and 
also to hire men who furnish him with green fodder for the 
animals, because the Indians do not feed them with hay. He 
hires also kahdrs™ that is those men who carry cooking 
utensils, as well as men to carry him in a dula, the palanquin 
which we have already described, and to carry the palanquin 
itself when it is empty, and farrdshes whose business it is to 
erect the sardcha and to furnish it with carpets and to load 
up | the camels, and also dawddawiya, whose business it 4 ie 
is to walk ahead of him carrying torches at night. So I too 
hired all of these servants that I needed, and showed such 
vigour and energy that I left the city on the same day as 
the Sultan while the rest remained for two or three days after 
him.

After the 'asr prayer on the day of his departure the Sultan 
mounted his elephant with the object of investigating how 
matters stood with regard to his officers, and of finding out 
who had been quick in leaving and who had delayed. He 
[first] took his seat outside the sardcha on a chair, and when 
I came up and saluted and took up my place on the right he 
sent to me the 'great king' Qabula, the sar-jdmaddr (it is he 
who whisks the flies away from him),26 and commanded me 
to sit as a special mark of attention. Nobody sat down that 
day except me. After that | the elephant was brought and he 417 
mounted it by a ladder placed against it, and the parasol was 
raised over his head. The principal officers rode along with 
him and he spent some time making a tour of inspection and 
then returned to the sardcha.

It is his custom when he rides that the amirs also ride in 
squadrons, each amir with his squadron, his standards, his 
drums, bugles and flutes, and this they call the mardtib 
[ceremonial honours]. No one rides in front of the Sultan

84 See p. 563 above.
25 Hindi kahdr, 'scullion*, 'water-carrier'.
28 Sar-jdmadar is the supervisor of the wardrobe (of the Sultan).
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except the chamberlains, the musicians, the drummers, who 
carry small drums slung round their necks, and the men who 
play the flutes. On the Sultan's right there are about fifteen 
men and on his left the same number; amongst these are the 
Grand Qadi, the vizier, some of the principal amirs and some 
of the 'honourables'. I myself was one of the group on his 
right. In front of the Sultan there are the foot-soldiers and 
guides, and behind him his standards, which are of silk with

4 18 gold embroidery, and drums upon camels; behind | these 
again are his mamluks and his household familiars, and 
behind them the amirs and the general body of troops, and 
no one knows where the halt will be made. When the Sultan 
passes by a place where he would like to encamp, he gives the 
order to halt and no one's sardcha is set up before his. After 
that, those persons who are responsible for the camping 
arrangements come and assign his place to each person. 
Meanwhile the Sultan encamps on the bank of a river or 
among trees and there is brought before him flesh of sheep, 
fattened fowls, cranes, and other kinds of game. The 'sons of 
the kings' present themselves, each of them carrying a spit in 
his hand, and they light a fire and roast these meats. A small 
sardcha is brought and set up for the Sultan; he takes his seat 
outside of it with those who are present of his intimate 
courtiers, and when the food is brought he invites anyone 
whom he wishes to eat with him.

One day when the Sultan was in his sardcha he enquired
419 who were outside. The sayyid Nasir | al-DIn Mutahhar al- 

Awhari, one of his familiars, said 'So-and-so, the Moroccan, 
who is very upset.' 'Why so?' asked the Sultan, and he 
replied 'Because of his debt, since his creditors are pressing 
for payment. The Master of the World had commanded 
the vizier to pay it, but he left before doing so. Would not the 
Master of the World order the creditors to wait until the 
vizier returns or else give orders for their claims to be met?' 
The 'king' Dawlat-Shah, whom the Sultan used to address as 
'Uncle', was present at this conversation and added '0 
Master of the World, every day this man talks to us in 
Arabic, and I do not know what he is saying. Do you know, 
Sayyid Nasir al-Din?' He said this so that Nasir al-DIn might 
repeat what he had said. Nasir al-Din answered 'He talks
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about the debt which he has contracted.' The_Sultan said 
'When we return to the capital, go yourself, O Umdr" (that 
is, O Uncle), to the treasury and give him this money.' 
Khudhawand-Zada also was present | and said 'O Master of 4ao 
the World, he is very extravagant. I have seen him before, in 
our own land, at the court of the Sultan Tarmashirm.' After 
this conversation the Sultan invited me to his meal, I being in 
total ignorance of what had taken place. As I went out the 
sayyid Nasir al-Din said 'Thank the king Dawlat-Shah,' and 
Dawlat-Shah said to me 'Thank Khudhawand-Zada.'

On one of these days when we were out hunting with the 
Sultan, he mounted in the camp and took a road which led 
past my encampment, I myself being with him on the right 
and my companions in the escort. There were some tents 
belonging to me beside the sardcha and my companions 
halted at them and saluted the Sultan. He sent 'Imad al- 
Mulk and malik Dawlat-Shah to ask who owned these tents 
and sardcha: they were told that they belonged to so-and-so 
and when they informed the Sultan of this he smiled. On the 
following day an order was issued that I should return to 
town | along with Nasir al-Din Mutahhar al-Awhari and the 4« 
son of the Qadi of Egypt and Malik Sabih, and we were given 
robes of honour and returned to the capital.

Account of the camel which I presented to the Sultan.™ In the 
course of these days the Sultan had asked me whether al- 
Malik al-Nasir rode camels. I replied 'Yes, he rides mahdri 
camels at the pilgrimage season, and they make the journey 
to Mecca from Cairo in ten days, but these camels are not like 
the camels in this country.' I told him that I had with me one 
of the mahdri camels and when I returned to the capital I 
sent for one of the Arabs of Egypt, who made for me a model 
in wax of the saddle used for riding on mahdri camels. 29 I 
showed this to a carpenter, who made the saddle very skil­ 
fully, and I covered it with blanket cloth and furnished it 
with stirrups. I placed on the camel a fine striped cloak and

27 O Cmar, translated by 'oh uncle', is not known. Mahdi Husain is 
inclined to read it as audar, which means father's brother. All the readings 
in the manuscripts are confused.

28 See the reference in Chauvin. Bibliographie, VII, p. 19.
29 The maharl camels (plural of mahri) are noted for their excellence for 

riding.
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made for it a bridle of silk. I had with me a man from Yemen
422 who was very skilful in making | sweetmeats, and he prepared 

some which resembled dates and other objects. I sent the 
camel and the sweets to the Sultan and ordered the bearer to 
deliver them into the hand of malik Dawlat-Shah, to whom I 
sent also a horse and two camels. When this reached him he 
went in to the Sultan and said 'O Master of the World, I have 
seen a wonder' and on the Sultan asking him what it was, 
said 'So-and-so has sent a camel carrying a saddle.' The 
Sultan said 'Bring it in', so the camel was led into the sardcha. 
The Sultan was delighted with it and said to my man 'Mount 
it'. So he mounted it and walked it about in front of him, and 
the Sultan ordered him to be given two hundred silver dinars 
and a robe of honour. When the man came back and told me 
about it I was full of joy, and I sent him two more camels 
after his return to the capital. |

423 Account of the two camels which I presented to the Sultan, 
and of the sweetmeats, and of his order for the settlement of my 
debt and matters relating thereto. When my man whom I had 
sent to conduct the camel came back to me and told me how 
it had been received, I had two camel-saddles made. The 
front and the back of each I had covered with silver- 
gilt plates and both of them covered with blanket cloth, 
and I made a head-rope ornamented with plaques of 
silver; for both of them also I made horse-cloths of zardkhana 
lined with kamkha, and for both camels I made anklets 
of silver. I prepared also eleven platters and filled them 
with sweetmeats, and covered each platter with a silk 
napkin.

When the Sultan came back from the hunt and took his 
seat, on the day after his arrival, in his place of public 
audience, I put in an early appearance and presented the 
camels to him, and on his orders they were exercised in front 
of him. As they were trotting the anklet of one of them flew

424 off, | and he said to Baha al-Din ibn al-Falaki Pdyal warddn, 
which means 'Pick up the anklet,' and he did so. Then the 
Sultan looked at the platters and said Che ddrl dar an tabaqhd 
halwd ast, which means 'What have you got in those plates? 
Surely it is sweetmeats/ and I said to him 'Yes.' He then said 
to the doctor of the law and preacher Nasir al-Din of Tirmidh,
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'I have never eaten nor ever seen such sweetmeats as those 
which he sent to us when we were in the camp.' After this he 
ordered that the platters should be taken to his private 
sittingroom, which was done, and when he rose to go to his 
sittingroom, he summoned me and ordered food to be brought 
and I ate.

He then asked me about a particular kind of the sweet­ 
meats which I had sent him previously. I said to him 'O 
Master of the World, those sweetmeats were of many kinds 
and I do not know which kind you are asking about.' He said 
'Bring those plates' (for they call a platter | a plate), and 425 
when they brought them and laid them before him and 
removed their covers, he said 'It was about this one that I 
asked' and took the dish in which it was. I said to him 'This 
kind is called al-muqarrasa,' then he took another kind and 
said 'What is the name of this?' and I said to him 'These are 
the "judge's sweet-mouthfuls" '. Now there was present a 
merchant, one of the shaikhs of Baghdad, called al-Samarri, 
who claimed to be descended from the house of al-'Abbas 
(God be pleased with him) and a wealthy man, whom the 
Sultan used to address as 'My father'. This man was jealous 
of me, and wishing to humiliate me said 'These are not the 
"judge's sweet-mouthfuls." but those are,' and he took apiece 
of the kind which is called jild al-faras. There was opposite 
him the 'king' of the intimate courtiers Nasir al-Din al-Kafi 
of Harat, who used often to jest with this shaikh in the 
Sultan's presence, and he said to him 'O khoja, you lie and it 
is the qadi who speaks the truth.' | The Sultan said to him 426 
'How so?' He replied 'O Master of the World, he is the qadi 
and these are his sweet mouthfuls, for he brought them' and 
the Sultan laughed and said 'You are right.'

At the end of the meal the sweetmeats were eaten; after 
that the barley-water was drunk and we took betel and 
withdrew. A few moments later the treasurer came to me and 
said 'Send your friends to receive the money,' so I sent them, 
and on returning to my house after the sunset prayer found 
the money there in three sacks, containing 6,233 tangas, this 
being the balance of the fifty-five thousand which was the 
amount of my debt, together with the twelve thousand which 
the Sultan had previously commanded to be paid to me, less
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one-tenth according to their custom. The exchange value of 
the tanga is two and a half dinars in the gold coinage of the 
Maghrib, j

427 The Sultan's departure and command to me to remain in the 
capital. On the 9th of First Jumada30 the Sultan went out 
with the design of proceeding to al-Ma'bar and engaging the 
rebel leader in that province. I had settled with my creditors 
and was all prepared to accompany the expedition, having 
paid nine months' wages to the kahars, the farrashes, the 
kaiwans and the dawadis, of whom I have already spoken. At 
that moment a command was issued that I should remain 
behind with some others, and the chamberlain took written 
acknowledgements of the order from us as proof that he had 
communicated it. This is their custom as a precaution against 
the denial of receipt by the person so notified. The Sultan 
ordered that I should be given 6,000 dinars and that the son 
of the Qadi of Cairo should receive 10,000 and similar amounts 
should be paid to all of the 'honourables' who remained 
behind; as for the natives they were not given anything. The

428 Sultan also commanded me to take charge of | the mausoleum 
of Sultan Qutb al-Dln, whose history has been related above. 
The Sultan used to hold his tomb in great respect because he 
had been one of his servitors. I have seen him on coming to 
his grave take Qutb al-DIn's sandal, kiss it and place it on his 
head, for it is their custom to put the sandals of the dead man 
on a cushion beside his grave. Whenever he came to the grave 
he would do homage to it, as he used to do homage in Qutb 
al-Dm's lifetime, and he held Qutb al-DIn's wife in great 
respect and used to address her as his sister. He gave her a 
place amongst the women of his own household and married 
her later on to the son of the Qadi of Cairo and on her account 
he showed him special favour; he used also to go to visit her 
every Friday.

When the Sultan went out he sent for us to bid us farewell. 
The son of the Qadi of Cairo stood up and said 'I shall not bid 
farewell to nor be separated from the Master of the World.' 
This brought him good fortune and the Sultan said to him 
'Go and make ready for the journey.' I came forward after to

429 say farewell, | and I was pleased to be staying behind, although
30 Equivalent to 21 October 1341. 
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the consequences were not happy. He said 'What requests 
have you?' so I took out a piece of paper with six petitions, 
but he said to me 'Speak with your own tongue.' I said to him 
The Master of the World has commanded me to act as a qadl 
but I have not yet sat for that purpose; and I do not desire to 
have nothing but the honour of the qadiship,' whereupon he 
commanded me to sit as a judge and that two substitutes 
should sit with me. Then he said to me 'Well?' and I said 
The Mausoleum of Sultan Qutb al-Din, what shall I do about 
it, for I have already given appointments in connection with 
it to four hundred and sixty persons, and the income from its 
endowments does not cover their wages and their food?' He 
said to the vizier Panjdh Hazdr, which means '50,000', and 
then added 'You must have an anticipatory crop.' This 
means 'Give him a hundred thousand maunds of the corn 
produce (that is to say wheat and rice) to be expended during j 
this year until the crops of the endowment for the tomb come 430 
in.' The maund is twenty pounds Barbary weight.

He then said to me 'And what more'? so I replied 'My 
friends have been imprisoned on account of the villages 
which you gave me, for I have exchanged them for other 
revenues; but the officials of the diwan have demanded from 
me either to pay what I have received from them or to present 
the order of the Master of the World to be dispensed from 
that.' He said 'How much did you receive from them?' I 
replied 'Five thousand dinars'. He said They are a gift to 
you.' I then said to him 'And my house which you have 
ordered for me as my residence is in need of repairs.' He said 
to the vizier 'Imdrat kunld, that is to say 'Have it repaired,' 
and went on to say to me Digar namdnad, which means 'Have 
you anything more to say?' and I said to him 'No'. He then 
said to me Waslyat digar hast, which means There is another 
recommendation, and that is that you incur no debts and so 
avoid being pressed for payment, for you will not find 
anyone | to bring me news of them. Regulate your expenses 431 
according to what I have given you, as God has said [in the 
Koran] Keep not thy hand bound to thy neck, neither open it to 
fullest extent, and again Eat and drink, and be not prodigal, 
and again And those who, when they spend, neither incline to 
excess nor fall short through niggardliness, but between these
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there is an upright mean.' 31 I desired to kiss his foot, but he 
prevented me and held back my head with his hand, so I 
kissed that and retired.

I returned to the capital and busied myself with repairing 
my house; on this I spent four thousand dinars, of which I 
received from the diwan six hundred and paid the rest myself. 
I also built a mosque opposite my house, and occupied myself 
with the dispositions for the mausoleum of the Sultan Qutb 
al-Din. The Sultan had ordered that a dome should be built

432 over it to the height of 100 cubits, exceeding by | 20 cubits 
the height of the dome built over [the tomb of] Qazan, the 
king of al-'Iraq. He had given orders also that thirty villages 
were to be purchased to constitute an endowment for it, and 
he placed them in my hands on the understanding that I 
should enjoy the tenth part of their revenue according to 
custom.

Account of the ceremonial which 7 established for the mauso­ 
leum. It is the custom for the people of India to observe in 
regard to their dead a ceremonial similar to that observed in 
their lifetime. Elephants fully caparisoned are brought and 
picketed at the gate of the tomb chamber. I organised every­ 
thing in this tomb-chamber in accordance with that custom 
and enrolled of reciters of the Koran, whom they call 
khatmlyun, a hundred and fifty, of theological students 
eighty, of assistant teachers, whom they call mukarrirun, 
eight, one professor, of the sufis eighty, and the imam, the 
muezzins, reciters who possessed fine voices, rhapsodists, |

433 and clerks to note the name of absentees, and announcers of 
names. All these people are known in that country by the 
designation of arbdb.

I appointed also another category of persons known as the 
hdshiya: these are the farrdshes, cooks, dawdcKs, dbddris (who 
are water carriers), shurbadarls (who serve the drink called 
shurba), tanbulddris (who present the betel), silahddns, 
naizaddris, shatraddris, tishtddris, chamberlains and naqlbs. 
The total number of these was four hundred and sixty. The 
Sultan had fixed the daily issue of food there at twelve 
maunds of flour and a like quantity of meat. I saw that this 
amount was too small, and that the produce which the

31 Qur'an, xvii, 31; vii, 29, xxv, 67.
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Sultan had put at my disposal was plentiful, and consequently 
I dispensed every day thirty-five maunds of flour and thirty- 
five of meat, together with the usual subsidiaries of sugar, 
candy, ghee and betel, | in feeding not only the salaried 434 
employees but also visitors and travellers. The famine at that 
time was severe, but the population was relieved by this 
food, and the news of it spread far and wide. The 'king' 
Sabih, having gone to join the Sultan at Dawlat Abad, was 
asked by him for news of the doings of the people [in Dihll] 
and answered 'If there were in Dihll two such men as so-and- 
so there would be no complaints of famine.' The Sultan was 
pleased at this and sent me a robe of honour from his own 
wardrobe.

I used to prepare on the occasion of the major festivals, 
namely the two feasts [of the fast-breaking and of the 
pilgrimage], the noble birthday [of the Prophet Muhammad], 
the day of 'Ashurd, the night of mid-Sha'ban, and the 
anniversary of the death of Sultan Qutb al-Din, a hundred 
maunds of flour and the same of meat. This was eaten by the 
poor brethren and the destitute; as for the dignitaries there 
is placed before each one of them a portion for his own use 
and we shall now describe their custom in this matter. |

Description of their custom in serving food at banquets. In the 435 
land of India and in the land of Sara32 it is their custom at a 
feast, when the guests finish eating, to place in front of each 
of the sharifs, doctors of the law, shaikhs, and qadis a 
container shaped like a cradle, with four legs and the upper 
part woven of palm-fibre. On this table are set thin cakes of 
bread, a roasted sheep, four bread-cakes kneaded with ghee 
and filled with marzipan then covered with four pieces of 
sweetmeats in the shape of bricks, also two small saucers 
made of leather containing sweetmeats and samusak. The 
whole container is covered over with a piece of new cotton. 
Those who are of a rank below those whom we have men­ 
tioned have set before them the half of a sheep, which they 
call zallah, and half the amounts of the other dishes that we 436 
have mentioned. Those who are of lower rank than these 
again have set before them the equivalent of a quarter of all 
this. Each person's servants remove and take away what is

33 Referring to the land of Sara, i.e. the capital of the Khan of Qipchaq.
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set before him. The first time that I saw them practising this 
custom was in the city of Sara, the capital of Sultan Ozbak, 
when I prevented my men from taking it away since I was 
unfamiliar with the custom. In the same way also they send 
some of the meats of the banquets to the houses of the chief 
personages.

Account of my excursion to Hazdr Amruha. The vizier had 
delivered to me 10,000 maunds of the grain which had been 
commanded for me and had given me an assignation for the 
rest on Hazar Amruha. The controller of revenues in this 
place was 'Aziz al-Khammar, and its commandant was 
Shams al-Din of Badhakhshan. I sent my men, who collected

437 part of the assignation but complained of | the fraudulence 
of 'Aziz al-Khammar, so I went out myself in order to obtain 
the balance. From Dihll to this region it is a three days' 
journey and this happened during the period of the rains. I 
took out with me about thirty of my companions and added 
to my company two brothers, accomplished singers, who 
used to sing to me on the way. When we reached the town of 
Bijnaur, I found there three other brothers, singers also, so I 
took them with me as well and they and the first two used to 
sing to me in turn.

We then came to Amruha, which is a small and pretty 
town, and its officials came out to meet me, followed by its 
qadi, the sharif Amir 'All and the shaikh of its hospice, who 
gave me jointly a fine banquet. 'Aziz al-Khammar was at a 
place called Afghan-pur on the river Saru; the river was 
between us and him and there was no ferry, but we took our

438 baggage on a raft | which we constructed of planks and 
vegetable matter, and crossed on the following day. Najib, 
the brother of 'Aziz, came with a number of his companions 
and pitched a sardcha for us, and later on his brother the 
tax-collector came to visit me. He had made a name for 
oppressiveness; the villages which were in his district were 
1,500 in number and their revenue amounted to sixty laks in 
a year, 33 of which he enjoyed one twentieth.

A surprising thing about the river beside which we en­ 
camped is that no person drinks from it during the rainy 
season and no animal is watered at it. We stayed on its banks

" The revenue amounted to sixty lakhs of silver tankas in the year.
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for three nights and not one of us took a cupful of water from 
it, indeed we scarcely approached it. 34 The reason is that it 
comes down from the mountains of Qarachil, in which there 
are gold mines, and passes over poisonous grasses, 35 so that 
whoever drinks from it dies. These mountains form a con­ 
tinuous chain for a distance of three | months' journey, and 439 
from them one descends to the land of Tubbat, where the 
muskdeer are found. We have previously related the disaster 
that befel the army of the Muslims in these mountains. It 
was in this place that I was visited by a company of Haidari 
brethren who held a musical recital and lit fires and walked 
through them without any injury to themselves. We have 
already given an account of this. 36

A dispute had arisen between Shams al-Din of Badhakh- 
shan, the commander of this district, and its finance director 
'Aziz al-Khammar, and Shams al-Dln had brought up troops 
to engage the latter, who defended himself against him in his 
house. When the complaint of one of the parties reached the 
vizier in Dihli he sent word to me and to the malik Shah, 
commander of the mamluks at Amruha (who were about 
4,000 mamluks belonging to the Sultan), and to Shihab 
al-Dm al-Rumi to look into their affair and to send the one of 
them who was | in the wrong to the capital in chains. They 440 
all assembled in my camp, when 'Aziz formulated a number 
of charges against Shams al-Dln, amongst them that a 
subordinate of his called al-Rida al-Multa.ni had alighted at 
the house of the treasurer of the aforesaid 'Aziz, had drunk 
wine in it, and stolen 5,000 dinars of the moneys which were 
held by the treasurer. I interrogated al-Rida on this subject 
and he said to me 'I have never drunk wine since I left 
Multan, which is eight years ago.' I said to him 'Then you 
did drink it in Multan?,' and when he said 'Yes' I ordered 
him to be given eighty lashes and imprisoned him on the 
charge preferred, because of the presumptive evidence 
against him.

I returned from Amruha after an absence from Dihli of
•4 The three manuscripts all read 'we scarcely knew of it' but the correct 

reading is evidently 'approached it'.
38 There are no gold mines in the Himalayas and if there are poisonous 

grasses they must be due to another cause.
36 See vol. II, pp. 274-5.
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about two months. Every day I used to kill an ox for my 
companions, and I left them behind to bring the grain which 
had been assigned to me upon 'Aziz and for the transport of 
which he was responsible. Consequently he distributed among 
the population of the villages which were under his jurisdic-

441 tion 30,000 maunds to be transported by them on | 3,000 
oxen. The people of India use no animals but oxen as beasts 
of burden and it is on them that they load their baggage on 
journeys. To ride asses is regarded by them as a terrible 
disgrace; their asses are small in body and called Idsha37 and 
when they wish to expose anyone after he has been beaten 
they mount him on an ass.

Account of a generous action by one of my friends. The 
Sayyid Nasir al-Din al-Awhari had left 1,060 tangas with me 
when he left, and I had spent them. When I returned to 
Dihli I found that he had given a credit on this sum to 
Khudhawand-Zada Qiwam al-Din, who had arrived as 
deputy for the vizier. I was ashamed to tell him that I had 
spent the money and after giving him about a third of it I 
stayed in my house for some days and it was given out that I 
was ill. Nasir al-Din al-Khwarizmi, Sadr al-Jahan, came to

442 visit me and on | seeing me said 'You do not seem to me to be 
ill.' I said to him 'I am ill at heart,' and when he asked me to 
explain what I meant I said to him 'Send your deputy, the 
Shaikh al-Islam, to me and I shall tell him the whole story.' 
He did so and when I told the Shaikh and he returned to the 
Sadr with the story, he sent me a thousand silver dinars, 
although I already owed him another thousand. I was then 
asked for the balance of the money and I said to myself 'No 
one can get me out of this but Sadr al-Jahan' (that is, the 
same person), because he is very wealthy. So I sent him a 
saddled horse whose value together with the value of its 
saddle was 1,600 dinars, a second horse whose value with 
that of its saddle was 800 dinars, two mules worth 1,200 
dinars, a silver quiver and two swords with scabbards 
veneered with silver, and I said to him 'Estimate the value of 
all this and send me the money.' He took it all and fixed for

443 the whole of it a value of 3,000 | dinars and sent me a 
thousand, deducting the 2,000 which I owed him. I felt sore

37 A Persian term for a carcase. 
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at this and fell ill of a fever, but I said to myself 'If I complain 
of this to the vizier I shall disgrace myself; so I took five 
horses, two slave girls and two mamluks, and sent them all 
to the king Mughith al-Dm Muhammad, son of the 'king of 
kings' 'Imad al-Dm al-Simnanl, who was a young man. He 
returned them to me at the same time, sending me two 
hundred tangas 'with his excuses', 38 and I was able to get 
clear of that debt—what a difference between the action of 
one Muhammad and the other!

My departure for the mahalla of the Sultan. The Sultan, 
after setting out on the expedition to the land of al-Ma'bar, 
had reached Tiling when a epidemic broke out among his 
troops. Accordingly he returned to Dawlat Abad and then 
marched to the river Gang, where he encamped and ordered 
his men to put up buildings. I went out during this time to 
join his mahalla. It was at this time also that the events 
which we have related of the revolt | of 'Ain al-Mulk occurred 444 
and I remained constantly with the Sultan during this 
period. He gave me some thoroughbred horses on distributing 
them to his courtiers and included me in the number of the 
latter. I was present with him at the battle against 'Ain 
al-Mulk and at his capture, and I crossed with him the river 
Gang and the river Saru to visit the tomb of the warrior saint 
Salar 'Cd, all of which I have already related in detail, and I 
returned with him to Dihli when he returned to it.

Account of the Sultan's intention to punish me and of my 
escape from this by the mercy of God. The cause of this was that 
I went one day to visit Shaikh Shihab al-Din son of Shaikh 
al-Jam in the cave which he had dug for himself outside 
Dihli. 39 My object was to see that cave, but when the Sultan 
seized him and asked his sons about those who used to visit 
him, they mentioned my name amongst those of others. 
Thereupon the Sultan gave orders that four of | his slaves 44s 
should remain constantly beside me in the audience-hall, 
and customarily when he takes this action with anyone it 
rarely happens that that person escapes. The day on which 
they began to guard me was a Friday and God Most High 
inspired me to recite His words Sufficient for us is God and

38 For aghzara read a'dhara 'he excused himself.
39 See above p. 698.
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excellent the Protector.™ I recited them that day 33,000 times 
and passed the night in the audience-hall. I fasted five days 
on end, reciting the Koran from cover to cover each day, and 
tasting nothing but water. After five days I broke my fast 
and then continued to fast for another four days on end, and 
I was released after the execution of the Shaikh, praise be to 
God Most High.

Account of my withdrawal from the Sultan's service and 
leaving of the world. Sometime later I withdrew from the 
Sultan's service and attached myself to the shaikh and imam, 
the learned, devout, ascetic, humble-minded, pious Kamal 
al-D!n 'Abdallah al-Ghari, the unique and unequalled

446 personality of his age. | He was one of the saints and had 
performed many miracles, some of which that I saw with my 
own eyes I have already related on speaking of him pre­ 
viously. 41 I devoted myself to the service of this shaikh and 
gave my possessions to the poor brethren and the needy. The 
shaikh used to fast for ten days on end, and sometimes for 
twenty days, but when I wished to fast continuously he would 
check me and bid me not to overstrain myself in devotional 
exercise, saying to me 'He who breaks down from exhaustion 
has neither covered ground nor spared a mount.' 42 There 
seemed to me to be a certain sluggishness in me because of 
something which remained in my possession, so I rid myself 
of everything that I had, little or much, and I gave the 
clothes off my back to a mendicant and put on his clothes. I 
remained with this shaikh as a disciple for five months, the 
Sultan being at that time absent in the land of Sind. |

447 Account of the Sultan's sending for me and my refusal to 
return to his service and my zeal in devotional exercises. When 
the Sultan was informed of my leaving the world he sum­ 
moned me, being at that time in Siwasitan. I entered his 
presence dressed as a mendicant, and he spoke to me with the 
greatest kindness and solicitude, desiring me to return to his 
service. But I refused and asked him for permission to travel 
to the Hijaz, which he granted. I withdrew from him and 
lodged in a hospice known by the name of the malik Bashlr. 
This was in the last days of Second Jumada of the year

40 Qur'an, iii, 167.
11 See p. 627 above. « 2 From a saying of the Prophets.
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forty-two. 43 1 remained there engaged in devotional exercises 
during the month of Rajab and ten days of Sha'ban and at 
length was able to fast for five days in succession, after which 
I tasted a little rice without any seasoning. I used to recite 
the Koran every day and to keep vigils by night as God 
willed. Whenever | I ate food it was disagreeable to me and 448 
when I discarded it I found relief. I remained in this state for 
forty days and then the Sultan sent for me again.

Account of his command to me to proceed to China on embassy. 
When I had completed forty days the Sultan sent me saddled 
horses, slave girls and boys, robes and a sum of money, so I 
put on the robes and went to him. I had a quilted tunic of 
blue cotton which I wore during my retreat, and as I put it 
off and dressed in the Sultan's robes I upbraided myself. 
Ever after, when I looked at that tunic, I felt a light within 
me, and it remained in my possession until the infidels de­ 
spoiled me of it on the sea. When I presented myself before 
the Sultan, he showed me greater favour than before, and 
said to me 'I have expressly sent for you to go as my am­ 
bassador to | the king of China, for I know your love of 44$ 
travel and sightseeing'. He then provided me with everything 
I required, and appointed certain other persons to accompany 
me, as I shall relate presently.

43 June 1341.
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